THE ROLE OF INFLAMMATION IN THE ETIOLOGY AND TREATMENT OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

EDITED BY: Ole Köhler-Forsberg, Belinda Lennox and Norbert Müller PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-269-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-269-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

THE ROLE OF INFLAMMATION IN THE ETIOLOGY AND TREATMENT OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

Topic Editors:

Ole Köhler-Forsberg, Aarhus University, Denmark **Belinda Lennox**, University of Oxford, United Kingdom **Norbert Müller**, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

Citation: Köhler-Forsberg, O., Lennox, B., Müller, N., eds. (2020). The Role of Inflammation in the Etiology and Treatment of Schizophrenia. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-269-2

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: The Role of Inflammation in the Etiology and Treatment of Schizophrenia

Ole Köhler-Forsberg, Norbert Müller and Belinda R. Lennox

- **07** Inflammation and Negative Symptoms of Schizophrenia: Implications for Reward Processing and Motivational Deficits David R. Goldsmith and Mark Hyman Rapaport
- 21 Schizophrenia and Influenza at the Centenary of the 1918-1919 Spanish Influenza Pandemic: Mechanisms of Psychosis Risk Adrianna P. Kępińska, Conrad O. Iyegbe, Anthony C. Vernon, Robert Yolken, Robin M. Murray and Thomas A. Pollak
- **40** The Role of Inflammation in the Treatment of Schizophrenia Guillaume Fond, Christophe Lançon, Theo Korchia, Pascal Auquier and Laurent Boyer
- 46 Studies on Haloperidol and Adjunctive α-Mangostin or Raw Garcinia mangostana Linn Pericarp on Bio-Behavioral Markers in an Immune-Inflammatory Model of Schizophrenia in Male Rats
 Jana Lotter, Marisa Möller, Olivia Dean, Michael Berk and Brian H. Harvey
- 61 Perspective: Solving the Heterogeneity Conundrum of TSPO PET Imaging in Psychosis

Livia De Picker and Manuel Morrens

- 70 Anti-N-Methyl-D-Aspartate-Receptor Encephalitis: A 10-Year Follow-Up Sophie Meixensberger, Ludger Tebartz van Elst, Tina Schweizer, Simon J. Maier, Harald Prüss, Bernd Feige, Dominik Denzel, Kimon Runge, Kathrin Nickel, Miriam Matysik, Nils Venhoff, Katharina Domschke, Horst Urbach, Evgeniy Perlov and Dominique Endres
- 79 Complex Gastrointestinal and Endocrine Sources of Inflammation in Schizophrenia

Emily G. Severance, Faith Dickerson and Robert H. Yolken

88 Risk of Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder in Patients With Multiple Sclerosis: Record-Linkage Studies

Ute-Christiane Meier, Sreeram V. Ramagopalan, Michael J. Goldacre and Raph Goldacre

93 Novel Antineuronal Autoantibodies With Somatodendritic Staining Pattern in a Patient With Autoimmune Psychosis

Dominique Endres, Sebastian Rauer, Alexander Pschibul, Patrick Süß, Nils Venhoff, Kimon Runge, Bernd Feige, Dominik Denzel, Kathrin Nickel, Tina Schweizer, Simon Maier, Karl Egger, Katharina Domschke, Philipp T. Meyer, Harald Prüss and Ludger Tebartz van Elst

100 Emerging Developments in Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Microglia: Implications for Modelling Psychiatric Disorders With a Neurodevelopmental Origin

Bjørn Hanger, Amalie Couch, Lawrence Rajendran, Deepak P. Srivastava and Anthony C. Vernon

115 The Challenge of Assessing Mild Neuroinflammation in Severe Mental Disorders

Karl Bechter





Editorial: The Role of Inflammation in the Etiology and Treatment of Schizophrenia

Ole Köhler-Forsberg^{1,2,3*}, Norbert Müller⁴ and Belinda R. Lennox⁵

¹ Psychosis Research Unit, Aarhus University Hospital – Psychiatry, Aarhus, Denmark, ² Department for Affective Disorders, Aarhus University Hospital – Psychiatry, Aarhus, Denmark, ³ Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁴ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, Munich, Germany, ⁵ Department of Psychiatry, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

Keywords: schizophrenia, inflammation, immunopsychiatry, anti-inflammatory, psychose, autoimmune psychosis

Editorial on the Research Topic

The Role of Inflammation in the Etiology and Treatment of Schizophrenia

INTRODUCTION

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Ingrid Melle, University of Oslo, Norway

> *Correspondence: Ole Köhler-Forsberg karkoe@rm.dk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 06 September 2020 Accepted: 22 September 2020 Published: 22 October 2020

Citation:

Köhler-Forsberg O, Müller N and Lennox BR (2020) Editorial: The Role of Inflammation in the Etiology and Treatment of Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 11:603296. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.603296 Schizophrenia is a severe mental disorder with heterogeneous clinical presentations and several psychological, social, and biological mechanisms. One potential biological mechanism, which has received increasing attention during the recent three decades, is that inflammatory processes may contribute to the etiology of schizophrenia and affect treatment response patterns. The inflammatory hypothesis is based on several observations, here among studies showing that (1) patients with schizophrenia have increased peripheral and central pro-inflammatory markers (1, 2), (2) genes coding for the immune system are more frequently expressed in patients with schizophrenia (3), (3) infections have been associated with an increased risk for subsequent development of schizophrenia (4), and (4) clinical trials have found treatment effects of antiinflammatory medications on schizophrenia symptoms (5). The potential for this research is in defining an inflammatory subgroup and potentially leading to more tailored treatment possibilities for some patients, i.e., personalized medicine. However, before this can happen, several aspects of the interaction between inflammation and the development and course of schizophrenia need to be investigated and the potential for confounding factors need to be addressed, e.g., lifestyle, genetic, and disease-related factors. It is for example well-known that patients with schizophrenia have a more sedentary and unhealthier lifestyle, which may all contribute to an inflammatory profile.

The present Frontiers Psychiatry Research Topic "The Role of Inflammation in the Etiology and Treatment of Schizophrenia" represents a collection of 11 research papers approaching and describing different aspects of the inflammatory hypothesis in schizophrenia while at the same time putting the present knowledge into perspective and discussing future perspectives. The papers cover historical perspectives, preclinical studies, register-based studies, case reports, and reviews and give a broad, thorough and up-to-date overview of this field of psychiatric research.

4

The association between infection, inflammation, and psychosis is not a new observation. Kepińska et al. present the historical evidence including potential mechanisms for the association between influenza and psychosis with a specific focus on the Spanish Influenza Pandemic in 1918-1919. During active infection with the influenza virus, some otherwise healthy individuals developed psychiatric including psychotic symptoms which disappeared after recovery from the flu. This aspect is of particular current interest due to the suspected psychiatric symptoms caused by the ongoing Corona-virus disease (COVID-19) pandemic (6). The high comorbidity between schizophrenia and inflammatory diseases is further emphasized in a large UK database study, where Meier et al. investigated the bidirectional comorbidity between multiple sclerosis with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Whether inflammatory processes also may contribute to negative symptoms, some of the most disabling and difficult-to-treat symptoms of schizophrenia, is reviewed by Goldsmith and Rapaport. The authors also discuss the literature on depression and inflammation regarding certain aspects of negative symptoms and the potential of anti-inflammatory drugs for negative symptoms. The complex integrated pathways of the potential association between the inflammatory cascade and schizophrenia is emphasized in a study on 409 individuals with schizophrenia by Severance et al., indicating that gastrointestinal and endocrine abnormalities may contribute to inflammation in schizophrenia.

However, the clinical challenge is to identify those patients with a clinically relevant inflammatory state, for example those patients where an immune-related disease, e.g., autoimmune encephalitis, has led to the psychiatric symptoms. Two cases are presented in this Research Topic. Meixensberger et al. present the case of a 39-year-old female patient who developed an anti-NMDA-R encephalitis in 2009 with predominant severe catatonic symptoms. Anti-inflammatory treatment led to full recovery with some discrete symptoms. The authors discuss the treatment during the subsequent 10 years and the findings from the 10-year follow-up investigation. Endres et al. present the case of an 18-year-old male patient with autism spectrum disorder who developed a severe catatonic syndrome over 2.5 years. Most standard tests for autoimmune psychosis were negative, but the serum and CSF tissue-based assay revealed antineuronal autoantibodies against an unknown epitope, leading to the conclusion that the patient was most probably experiencing an autoimmune psychosis; Immunosuppressive treatment led to partial improvement. These cases highlight the importance of keeping autoimmune causes of psychosis in mind and emphasize the importance of having psychiatry as part of the multidisciplinary treatment of people with autoimmune encephalitis (7). The clinical challenges and opportunities to measure mild neuroinflammation in the individual patient are described in the review article by Bechter.

While immune-modulating drugs are the treatment of choice against autoimmune encephalitis, another interesting question

is whether treatments targeting inflammation may help in treating patients with schizophrenia. Several antipsychotic drugs are available, but with varying efficacy and primarily effect on psychotic symptoms (8), while negative symptoms are very challenging to treat. Fond et al. review which cytokines may be best used to indicate inflammation in patients with schizophrenia, which anti-inflammatory therapies have been found to yield better treatment effects, and potential next steps to tailor anti-inflammatory therapies in schizophrenia. Lotter et al. performed a preclinical study to investigate the therapeutic effects of *Garcinia mangostana* Linn and one of its active constituents, α -mangostin, alone, and as adjunctive treatment with haloperidol on schizophrenia related bio-behavioral alterations in a maternal immune-activation rat model.

As for future directions, several aspects need to be investigated in order to explore whether the association between inflammation and schizophrenia represents causality or rather a confounded epiphenomenon. One important aspect is to explore whether the peripheral inflammation also translates to central nervous system (CNS) inflammation. Glial cells and particularly microglia, the resident CNS macrophages, might yield further clues to understand CNS inflammatory processes. Hanger et al. give an introduction to microglia, their role in brain development and present protocols to differentiate microglia from human induced pluripotent stem cells and thereby study these cells in more detail. As in-vivo studies of neuroinflammation are challenging, imaging techniques give the possibility of visualizing and quantifying the activity of glial inflammatory responses in the CNS. De Picker and Morrens present a critical review of studies on psychotic patients using Positron emission tomography with ligands targeting translocator protein 18 kDa (TSPO PET), a method aiming to measure microglial activity. The authors discuss five hypotheses which may explain the observed variability in TSPO PET findings.

In conclusion, the role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia represents an exciting and hopeful area of research, with the potential for different treatment approaches, addressing the cause of the disorder, rather than solely the symptoms. Whilst further work is required to firmly establish the causal role for inflammation in the development of psychosis, and to characterize the subgroup of patients that would benefit from immunotherapy approaches, we feel that we are approaching the point where there is a critical mass of evidence that inflammation into clinical practice. We look forward to the time when psychotic disorders are investigated, diagnosed and treated according to their immunophenotype.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

OK-F wrote the first draft of the manuscript. NM and BL provided critical revision of the manuscript and important intellectual contributions. All authors read and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Orlovska-Waast S, Kohler-Forsberg O, Brix SW, Nordentoft, M, Kondziella D, Krogh J, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid markers of inflammation and infections in schizophrenia and affective disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2019) 24:869–87. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0220-4
- Yuan N, Chen Y, Xia Y, Dai J, Liu C. Inflammation-related biomarkers in major psychiatric disorders: a cross-disorder assessment of reproducibility and specificity in 43 meta-analyses. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2019) 9:233. doi: 10.1038/s41398-019-0570-y
- Sekar A, Bialas AR, de Rivera H, Davis A, Hammond TR, Kamitaki N, et al. Schizophrenia risk from complex variation of complement component 4. *Nature*. (2016) 530:177–83. doi: 10.1038/nature16549
- Kohler O, Petersen L, Mors O, Mortensen PB, Yolken RH, Gasse C, et al. Infections and exposure to anti-infective agents and the risk of severe mental disorders: a nationwide study. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2017) 135:97– 105. doi: 10.1111/acps.12671
- Nitta M, Kishimoto T, Müller N, Weiser M, Davidson M, Kane JM, et al. Adjunctive use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for schizophrenia: a meta-analytic investigation of randomized controlled trials. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 39:1230–41. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt070
- Rohde C, Jefsen OH, Nørremark B, Danielsen AA, Østergaard SD. Psychiatric symptoms related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Acta Neuropsychiatr. (2020) 32:1-3. doi: 10.1101/2020.04.16.2006 7744

- Pollak TA, Lennox BR, Müller S, Benros ME, Prüss H, van Elst PL, et al. Autoimmune psychosis: an international consensus on an approach to the diagnosis and management of psychosis of suspected autoimmune origin. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2020) 7:93–108. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30290-1
- Leucht S, Leucht C, Huhn M, Chaimani A, Mavridis D, Helfer B, et al. Sixty years of placebo-controlled antipsychotic drug trials in acute schizophrenia: systematic review, Bayesian meta-analysis, and meta-regression of efficacy predictors. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2017) 174:927–42. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.16121358

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Köhler-Forsberg, Müller and Lennox. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Inflammation and Negative Symptoms of Schizophrenia: Implications for Reward Processing and Motivational Deficits

David R. Goldsmith * and Mark Hyman Rapaport

Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, United States

Negative symptoms of schizophrenia are debilitating and chronic in nature, are difficult to treat, and contribute to poor functional outcomes. Motivational deficits are a core negative symptom and may involve alterations in reward processing, which involve subcortical regions such as the basal ganglia. More specifically, dopamine-rich regions like the ventral striatum, have been implicated in these reward-processing deficits. Inflammation is one mechanism that may underlie negative symptoms, and specifically motivational deficits, via the effects of inflammatory cytokines on the basal ganglia. Previous work has demonstrated that inflammatory stimuli decrease neural activity in the ventral striatum and decrease connectivity in reward-relevant neural circuitry. The immune system has been shown to be involved in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, and inflammatory cytokines have been shown to be altered in patients with the disorder. This paper reviews the literature on associations between inflammatory markers and negative symptoms of schizophrenia as well as the role of anti-inflammatory drugs to target negative symptoms. We also review the literature on the role of inflammation and reward processing deficits in both healthy controls and individuals with depression. We use the literature on inflammation and depression as a basis for a model that explores potential mechanisms responsible for inflammation modulating certain aspects of negative symptoms in patients with schizophrenia. This approach may offer novel targets to treat these symptoms of the disorder that are significant barriers to functional recovery and do not respond well to available antipsychotic medications.

Keywords: inflammation, cytokines, negative symptoms, reward, motivation, schizophrenia

NEGATIVE SYMPTOMS: A FOCUS ON MOTIVATIONAL DEFICITS AND REWARD PROCESSING

Schizophrenia is a severe mental illness that affects 1% of the population and accounts for over \$60 billion in US healthcare costs (1, 2). Up to 30% of individuals with schizophrenia are considered "treatment-resistant," adding to even greater morbidity and socioeconomic burden (3, 4). The disorder is a major public health concern, and many people with schizophrenia suffer chronic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Müller, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

Reviewed by:

Margaret K. Hahn, University of Toronto, Canada Francesca Managò, Italian Institute of Technology (IIT), Italy

> *Correspondence: David R. Goldsmith drgolds@emory.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 28 October 2019 Accepted: 20 January 2020 Published: 20 February 2020

Citation:

Goldsmith DR and Rapaport MH (2020) Inflammation and Negative Symptoms of Schizophrenia: Implications for Reward Processing and Motivational Deficits. Front. Psychiatry 11:46. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00046

7

debilitating symptoms (5, 6), have high rates of unemployment and homelessness in the US (7, 8), and have a significantly reduced life expectancy (9).

In contrast to delusions and hallucinations that constitute the positive symptoms of schizophrenia, negative symptoms characterize absent or diminished behavior and include motivational deficits, social withdrawal, poverty of speech, decreased emotional reactivity and psychomotor expression, and deficits in volition (10, 11). Negative symptoms are common and are thought to be present in over half of patients, with reports in the literature ranging from 60 to 90% (12, 13). These negative symptoms may be primary in nature (i.e., thought to be driven by underlying pathophysiology of the disorder). Alternatively, they may be secondary to other causes, including positive symptoms (i.e., amotivation to leave the house secondary to paranoid delusions), depression, anxiety, or side effects of medications (i.e., lack of facial affect secondary to extrapyramidal symptoms) (14). The literature has also described a subtype of schizophrenia referred to as "deficit schizophrenia," which is marked by primary and enduring negative symptoms, and is thought to occur in ~20% of individuals with schizophrenia (15). Negative symptoms are common in individuals with treatment resistant schizophrenia, and may explain the most variance in disease severity and mediate the relationship between disease severity and cognitive deficits in this patient population (16, 17). Importantly, negative symptoms are consistently shown to be predictive of functional impairment and poor outcome in patients with schizophrenia, more so than positive symptoms of the disorder (18-22). Current antipsychotics do not adequately treat negative symptoms, which remain a distinct challenge in the treatment and management of patients with schizophrenia (23, 24).

Impaired reward processing and motivational deficits are the negative symptoms most predictive of poor quality of life and functional impairment (11, 25–28): patients often fail to expend effort to seek out rewarding activities such as work and social interaction. These motivational deficits can be further delineated into four measurable domains: decreased reward anticipation, impaired reinforcement learning, reward prediction errors, and reduced effort-cost computation (29). It is also important to note that given the current focus of the National Institute of Mental Health to discover mechanisms underlying dimensions of behavior using a transdiagnostic approach (Research Domain Criteria, RDoC), decreases in motivation and reward processing seen in negative symptoms of schizophrenia as well as depression fall under the RDoC domain of Positive Valence Systems (30–32).

Subcortical brain regions including the basal ganglia, and specifically the ventral striatum, are part of a distributed brain network that subserves all of these domains, which also include the ventral tegmental area, prefrontal cortex, and anterior cingulate cortex among others (33, 34). Neuroimaging studies demonstrate reduced ventral striatal responses to reward anticipation (35–38), reinforcement learning (39, 40), and positive prediction errors for patients with schizophrenia (41– 44). Patients with schizophrenia also have decreased objective reward processing as measured by assessments of effort expenditure for reward and reinforcement learning (45–56), which are known to involve ventral striatal circuits (35–37, 48, 57–59). Decreased activity in the ventral striatum on a monetary reward based neuroimaging task has been directly related to both objective and clinical assessments of decreased motivation in patients with schizophrenia (48). Decreased ventral striatal activity and task performance have been consistently related to severity of negative symptoms (39, 46, 48, 51, 53, 54, 56, 60). Moreover, patients with treatment resistant schizophrenia with significant negative symptom severity, may have different neural reward processing responses relative to those who are treatmentresponsive (61). These converging findings suggest that reward processing deficits are a core component of negative symptoms in schizophrenia.

Heterogeneity in clinical presentation and etiology of schizophrenia presents a challenge to discovering pathways and mechanisms that underlie the complex symptoms of the disorder (62-64). Despite the challenges of disentangling this heterogeneity, understanding mechanisms that may underlie symptoms of the disorder are important to consider and investigate. Inflammation may represent one pathophysiologic mechanism that underlies motivational and reward processing deficits in patients with schizophrenia. Although multiple aspects of the immune system have been implicated in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, we will focus on the role of inflammation. Our previous meta-analysis (65) demonstrated alterations in peripheral inflammatory markers in patients with not only acute exacerbations of symptoms of schizophrenia, but also in chronically ill patients with schizophrenia where negative symptoms tend to be most prominent. This paper presents the evidence for the role of inflammation in schizophrenia, reviews data showing associations between inflammatory markers and negative symptoms, and presents data from treatment trials with anti-inflammatory medications. This review will also discuss data showing relationships between inflammatory cytokines and motivational deficits in other psychiatric disorders that may provide a framework for studying these relationships in patients with schizophrenia. Finally, we will propose future directions to drive forward research investigating novel mechanisms that may be responsible for negative symptoms and motivational deficits in some patients with schizophrenia.

MULTIPLE LINES OF EVIDENCE IMPLICATE INFLAMMATION AND THE IMMUNE SYSTEM IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

Epidemiological studies demonstrated that exposure to infections *in utero* and in childhood increases the risk for schizophrenia (66–68). Autoimmune conditions are more prevalent in both individuals with schizophrenia and their first-degree relatives (69, 70). Moreover, genome-wide

association studies have repeatedly shown an association between schizophrenia and immune genes, including the major histocompatibility complex region on chromosome 6 (71–73). These findings are consistent with data that the complement pathway (innate immune system) may play a fundamental role in the development and progression of the syndrome *via* effects on synaptic pruning (74). In a meta-analysis, we reported that patients with schizophrenia reproducibly exhibit alterations in peripheral inflammatory marker concentrations (65), and several of the included studies reported associations between cytokines and negative symptoms (75–80).

INSIGHTS INTO THE EFFECTS OF INFLAMMATION ON NEGATIVE SYMPTOM OF SCHIZOPHRENIA

A number of groups have reported associations between inflammatory markers and negative symptoms of schizophrenia, although many of these studies have only investigated a single inflammatory marker. Another of the challenges with these studies has been the focus on a variety of different stages of illness. Moreover, the majority of these analyses are correlative in nature. Thus it is challenging to formulate a coherent understanding of the role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of negative symptoms. **Table 1** summarizes these findings that report an association between inflammation and negative symptoms.

A few studies have investigated the role of C-reactive protein (CRP), an acute phase protein synthesized by the liver that can be induced by cytokines (88, 89), and has been shown to be elevated in patients with schizophrenia in multiple meta-analyses (90, 91). Early work (81) demonstrated that inpatients with schizophrenia (n = 5)with CRP > 0.5 mg/dl had higher scores on the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) negative symptom score than those inpatients with schizophrenia with CRP< 0.5 mg/dl (n = 21). The high CRP group had higher scores on all subscales (and total score) of the PANSS, which could reflect the effect of the stress of acute psychosis stimulating an inflammatory response rather than a specific interaction between inflammation and negative symptoms. Boozalis et al. found a modest relationship between CRP and negative symptoms as assessed by the PANSS in a small sample (n = 39) of patients with schizophrenia that remained significant after adjusting for age, sex, race, and body mass index (BMI) (82). Similarly, Liemburg et al. found that CRP was correlated to PANSS negative score (as well as positive score) in a large sample (n = 2,132) of outpatients with chronic schizophrenia in the Netherlands (83).

Inflammatory markers such as CRP have been elevated in patients with deficit schizophrenia, which is a term used to describe patients who suffer mostly primary and enduring negative symptoms despite attempts to optimize medication interventions (14, 92). In a study of deficit compared to nondeficit patients, both CRP and interleukin (IL)-6 concentrations were higher in the deficit group (75). Goldsmith et al. extended this work, finding higher concentrations of the proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and interleukin (IL)-6 in deficit patients compared to both nondeficit patients and healthy controls (84). Moreover, TNF (but not IL-6) was associated with PANSS negative scores (and not other subscale scores) in linear regression models.

Other studies have examined the relationship between a number of different inflammatory cytokines and negative symptoms across the spectrum of psychosis, from individuals at clinical high risk to first episode to chronic schizophrenia. Stojanovic and colleagues found that increased concentrations of IL-6 were associated with higher negative symptom scores on the PANSS in both individuals determined to be at an at-risk mental state as well as young individuals diagnosed with a psychotic disorder (77). In a study of clinically high risk individuals from the North American Prodromal Longitudinal Study (NAPLS), higher concentrations of TNF predicted worse negative symptom trajectories at 1 year follow up whereas lower IL-6 concentrations predicted worsening negative symptoms trajectories (85). Although it is unclear why the findings for TNF and IL-6 diverged, one possible explanation may have to do with the pleiotropic nature of IL-6 in the immune response (93, 94). For example, IL-6 may exert its pro-inflammatory effect via trans-signaling with its soluble receptor, whereas IL-6 may also have anti-inflammatory properties via classical signaling pathways involving membrane-bound IL-6 receptors and the signal transducing beta-subunit glycoprotein 130 (gp130) (95, 96).

One study has examined the relationship between inflammatory biomarkers and negative symptoms in first episode psychosis. Xiu et al. found that drug naïve first episode patients had decreased concentrations of IL-10, an antiinflammatory cytokine, relative to matched controls, and IL-10 was inversely correlated with negative symptoms severity on the PANSS (78). Interestingly, recent work from Zhu *et al.* showed elevated TNF-a and IL-1beta in patients with chronic schizophrenia compared to healthy controls, whereas drug naïve first episode patients had lower concentrations compared to both the chronic patients and controls (86). Both TNF and IL-1beta were correlated with PANSS negative subscale scores in chronic patients, but not in the first-episode cohort.

Other studies of chronic patients with schizophrenia have also shown relationships between cytokines and cytokine receptors and negative symptoms. Asevedo *et al.* found that individuals with chronic schizophrenia had lower concentrations of IL-2 compared to controls, and IL-2 was negatively correlated with PANSS negative symptoms scores (76), consistent with findings from Bresee and Rapaport who demonstrated that soluble IL-2 receptor (sIL-2r) was correlated with PANSS negative, general, and total scores (87).

All of the above studies (save for the two from Goldsmith et al.) measured single inflammatory markers, which may not provide a full understanding of which inflammatory markers

	Markers studied	Serum/ plasma	Assay	Population studied	Ν	Factors controlled for/included in statistical models	Comments
Fan et al. (81)	CRP	Serum	Particle enhanced immunonephelometry	Inpatients with schizophrenia/ schizoaffective disorder; no control group	26	None	High CRP group (>0.5 mg/dl; n=5) had higher PANSS scores on all subscales, including negative symptoms
Boozalis et al. (82)	CRP	Plasma	ELISA	Inpatients with schizophrenia; no control group	39	Age, sex, race, BMI	Positive correlation between CRP and PANSS negative symptoms both unadjusted and after adjusting for age, sex, race and BMI
Liemburg et al. (83)	CRP	Plasma and Serum collected from different sites	Varied by sites; specific assays not disclosed	Outpatients from four different sites in the northern Netherlands; no control group	2123	Age, sex, smoking, use of anti- histaminergic antipsychotics, statins, fibrates, corticosteroids, antibiotics, chlorpromazine equivalents, BMI, metabolic syndrome, metabolic sffects of antipsychotics (high, medium, low)	Association between CRP and PANSS negative symptom subscale in linear regression models
Garcia-Rizo e al. (75)	CRP and IL-6	Not described	IL-6: ELISA CRP: not described	Antipsychotic naïve patients with first episode nonaffective psychosis; no control group	20 patients with deficit psychosis and 42 patients with non-deficit psychosis	Groups matched for age, sex, BMI, smoking	Higher concentrations of CRP and IL-6 in the deficit group compared to the non-deficit group
Goldsmith et al. (84)	IFN-γ, IL- 1β, IL-6, sIL-2R, TNF	Plasma	Multiplex immunoassay	Outpatients with schizophrenia and healthy controls	17 with deficit schizophrenia, 39 with non-deficit schizophrenia, 28 controls	Smoking, BMI, education	Higher concentrations of IL-6 and TNF in deficit patients compared to non-deficit and controls. TNF associated with PANSS negative symptoms in linear regression models
Stojanovic et al. (77)	IL-6, CRP, fibrinogen	Serum	CRP by immunoturbidimetry assay; IL-6 by ELISA	Outpatients with psychotic disorder (PD), ARMS subjects, healthy controls	77 with psychotic disorder, 17 ARMS subjects, 25 controls	Sex, BMI, substance use, antipsychotic treatment, IL-6 rs1800795 genotype	Higher concentrations of IL-6 in ARMS compared to control group and in PD compared to control that becomes trend-leve after Bonferroni correction. CRF differences between groups do not meet significance after Bonferroni correction. IL-6 associated with negative symptoms in linear regression models for both PD and ARMS subjects
Goldsmith et al. (85)	IFN-γ, IL- 1β, IL- 1RA, IL-4,	Plasma	Multiplex Immunoassay	CHR subjects; no control group	37	Age, sex, race, weight, baseline negative symptoms,	Higher concentrations of TNF and lower concentrations of IL- predicted worse negative

TABLE 1 | Description of studies showing associations between inflammatory markers and negative symptoms of schizophreni

(Continued)

IL-6, IL-8,

Serum

Serum

ELISA

ELISA

IL-10,

TNF

IL-10

TNF and

IL-1β

Xiu et al. (78)

Zhu et al. (86)

First episode drug

with schizophrenia;

First episode drug

naïve patients with

naïve inpatients

heathy controls

symptom trajectories at one year

Decreased IL-10 concentrations

in the patients compared to

controls. IL-10 was inversely

TNF and IL-1β concentrations

were lower in first episode

correlated with negative symptoms severity on the

follow up

PANSS.

baseline CDSS

smoking, BMI

Sex, age, education,

Age, sex, course of

scores

illness

128 patients with

schizophrenia; 62

69 first episode

patients, 87

controls

TABLE 1 | Continued

	Markers studied	Serum/ plasma	Assay	Population studied	Ν	Factors controlled for/included in statistical models	Comments
				schizophrenia (both in and outpatients), chronic patients with schizophrenia (both in and outpatients), and healthy controls	patients with chronic schizophrenia, 61 healthy controls		patients compared to healthy controls and higher in chronic patients compared to controls. Concentrations of both were correlated with the PANSS negative subscale in chronic, but not first episode patients.
Asevedo et al. (76)	IL-2	Plasma	Cytometric bead array	Outpatients with chronic schizophrenia and healthy controls	29 patients with schizophrenia; 26 controls	Differences between clozapine and other atypical antipsychotics was assessed	IL-2 concentrations were lower in patients compared to controls. IL-2 concentrations were negatively correlated with PANSS negative subscale score
Bresee et al. (87)	sIL-2R	Serum	ELISA	Outpatients with schizophrenia and healthy controls	59 patients with schizophrenia; 57 controls	Sex, age, smoking, BMI, type of pharmacotherapy	sIL-2R concentrations were elevated in patients compared to controls. sIL-2R concentrations were correlated with PANSS negative subscale score
El Kissi et al. (79)	IFN-γ,IL- 4, TGF-β, IL-17, BAFF	Serum	ELISA	Antipsychotic free acute inpatients with schizophrenia and healthy controls	60 patients with schizophrenia; 28 controls	None	Positive correlation between IFN- γ and SANS total score; Negative correlation between IL- 17 and SANS total score
Noto et al. (80)	CCL11, CCL24, MCP-1, MIP-1α, IL-8, IP- 10, sTNF- R1, sTNF- R2, TNF, IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL- 10, IFNγ, IL-17	Serum	ELISA	Outpatients with schizophrenia and healthy controls	54 patients with schizophrenia, 118 healthy controls	Sex, age, BMI, smoking, drug/ alcohol use, ethnicity, monthly income (but not controlled for in all analyses)	Negative correlation between IL- 2 and PANSS negative subscale score; Positive correlation between CCL11 and PANSS negative score

CRP, C-Reactive Protein; PANSS, Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale; BMI, body mass index; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; CDSS, Calgary Depression Scale for Schizophrenia; IL-6, interleukin 6; IFN-γ interferon gamma; IL-1β, interleukin 1 beta; sIL-2R, soluble interleukin 2 receptor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; ARMS, at risk mental state; IL-1RA, interleukin 1 receptor antagonist; IL-4, interleukin 4; IL-8, interleukin 8; IL-10, interleukin 10; CHR, clinical high risk; IL-2, interleukin 2; TGF-β, transforming growth factor beta; IL-17, interleukin 17; BAFF, B cell activating factor of the tumor necrosis factor family; SANS, Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms; CCL11, eotaxin-1; CCL24, eotaxin-2; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; MIP-1α, macrophage inflammatory protein 1α; IP-10, interferon-γ-inducible protein 10; sTNF-R1, soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor 1; sTNF-R2, soluble tumor necrosis factor z.

may play a role in negative symptoms. Moreover, the measurement of a uniform panel of inflammatory markers would allow for comparison of markers across studies and inform the field's understanding of the overall patterns of immune activation relative to these symptoms (65). Two studies in patients with schizophrenia investigated more than one or two individual markers. El Kissi et al. measured five inflammatory/immune markers in acute drug-free patients with schizophrenia and found a positive correlation between interferon-gamma and negative symptoms on the Scale for the Assessment of Negative Symptoms (SANS) and a negative correlation between IL-17 and SANS scores (79). Noto and colleagues measured 15 inflammatory/immune biomarkers and found a significant negative relationship between PANSS negative score and IL-2 and a positive association with the chemokine CCL11 (80).

NEGATIVE SYMPTOMS AND ANTI-INFLAMMATORY TREATMENT TRIALS

There is a growing literature on the role of anti-inflammatory treatments in individuals with schizophrenia (97–99). Given the heterogeneity of inflammatory markers in the studies demonstrating relationships with negative symptom severity, blocking inflammation in treatment trials represents a complementary approach to understanding these relationships. The most well-studied anti-inflammatory medications have been the non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medications, including COX-2 inhibitors and aspirin. For example, the COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib showed significant benefit for negative symptoms (in addition to positive and general symptom scores on the PANSS) as an add-on treatment to antipsychotics in a number of studies (100, 101). Results from meta-analyses have been mixed depending on which

studies are included. For example, Muller *et al.* found benefit for the cyclo-oxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitor celecoxib as an adjuvant treatment with the antipsychotic amisulpride on negative symptoms in early stage schizophrenia (101), whereas Rapaport *et al.* found no such benefit for celecoxib in chronically ill patients treated with either olanzapine or risperidone (102). In meta-analyses, Sommer *et al.* found a significant benefit for nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS) for negative symptoms across five studies (103), whereas Nitta *et al.* did not find a significant benefit for negative symptoms (104). A more recent meta-analysis has demonstrated a significant benefit for NSAIDS in first-episode patients, but not individuals with chronic schizophrenia (105).

Minocycline, a tetracycline antibiotic that has been shown to purportedly be neuroprotective *via* it's anti-inflammatory and antiapoptotic properties (106), has also been investigated in patients with schizophrenia. A recent meta-analysis demonstrated benefit for minocycline across eight randomized controlled trials (107), although the largest study to date showed no benefit for minocycline for negative symptoms, which was the primary outcome for the study (108). The heterogeneity in results across studies (both individual and meta-analyses) for NSAIDs and minocycline may suggest that there are some individuals who would benefit from anti-inflammatory medications. Individuals with elevated inflammation may represent such a group, as has shown to be the case in patients with depression (109–111), though this was not the case in the recent minocycline trial (108).

THE ROLE OF INFLAMMATION IN REWARD PROCESSING DEFICITS IN PSYCHIATRIC ILLNESS: INSIGHTS INTO NEGATIVE SYMPTOMS

Deficits in reward processing and decreased motivation have been consistently shown to be present in various psychiatric disorders, including major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, as well as schizophrenia (112), which have all been shown to have altered peripheral inflammatory marker concentrations (65). The effect of peripheral inflammatory cytokines on the ventral striatum and other regions of the basal ganglia has been linked to deficits in reward processing and decreased motivation (113). Peripheral inflammation alters neural activity in ventral striatal regions following administration of several inflammatory stimuli including interferon (IFN)-alpha, typhoid vaccination, and endotoxin (113-116). Increased inflammation mediates deficits in effort expenditure in studies of laboratory animals and nonhuman primates (117-120). Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) of subjects with major depressive disorder (MDD) and increased inflammation (as measured by peripheral C-reactive protein; CRP) has been associated with decreased functional connectivity between ventral striatum and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (121). Decreased connectivity between these regions was correlated with decreased motivation and increased peripheral levels of interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RA). The TNF antagonist infliximab has been shown to markedly reduce inflammatory marker concentrations and symptoms of depression, including motivational deficits, in people with major depression with increased inflammation (> 5 mg/L) (109).

Patients with schizophrenia who exhibit motivational deficits (52, 60), show decreased activation of the ventral striatum to reward anticipation in fMRI tasks, and decreased activation in the ventral striatum has been shown to be inversely correlated with negative symptom severity (36). We believe that these findings as well as the corelative data discussed above suggests that there is an opportunity to employ a transdiagnostic approach studying the effects of inflammation on reward processing and negative symptoms. Recent evidence from Park and colleagues using task-based fMRI begins to identify both similarities and differences in the neural circuit responses to an effort-based reinforcement task for patients with major depression and schizophrenia (122). One transdiagnostic finding that has been similar for subjects with



with schizophrenia.

schizophrenia and major depression has been the positive relationship between dopamine transporter availability and the fMRI BOLD response in the nucleus accumbens to reward anticipation has been described in both disorders (123). Individuals at clinical high-risk for schizophrenia from the North American Prodrome Longitudinal Study (NAPLS) cohort have depressive symptoms that have been shown to be associated with negative symptoms (124). This association has also been reported in longitudinal data of patients with schizophrenia extending from the first episode to 10+ years of chronic psychosis (125). Furthermore, a recent meta-analysis reported a relationship between negative symptoms of schizophrenia and defeatist personal beliefs, a cognitive construct thought to underlie motivational deficits in individuals with depression (126). In summary, neural mechanisms underlying motivational deficits may be similar in depression and in negative symptoms of schizophrenia, and we hypothesize that these findings may reflect the impact of inflammation on reward circuitry across diagnoses (see Figure 1).

INFLAMMATION, DOPAMINERGIC/ GLUTAMATERGIC SIGNALING, AND REWARD CIRCUITRY ALTERATIONS IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

It is important to note that the majority of studies (including all studies listed in Table 1) measure inflammatory markers in peripheral blood, which raises the question: do similar inflammatory changes also occur centrally in the brain? This is especially important given that inflammatory markers such as CRP and cytokines are large molecules (~15-25 kD) and are not freely able to cross the blood brain barrier (BBB). These markers are able to access the brain to activate local inflammatory markers via a number of different mechanisms including 1) movement through leaky parts of the BBB, 2) active uptake via transporter systems, 3) activation of endothelial and immune cells in cerebral vasculature and subsequent release of inflammatory markers in the brain, and 4) via peripheral afferents, such as the vagus nerve, that may relay cytokine signals to the brain (127-129). One piece of evidence that suggests similar changes in inflammatory marker concentrations are occurring centrally comes from studies measuring cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) which demonstrate similar patterns in inflammatory marker concentrations in patients with schizophrenia relative to healthy controls (130, 131). Recent evidence in patients with major depressive disorder demonstrates that peripheral CRP and inflammatory cytokines are strongly correlated with CSF markers, which suggests that peripheral markers may reflect similar findings in the central nervous system (132).

Inflammation leads to decreases in dopamine release and increased glutamate activity in some patients with depression and this has been correlated with reward processing and motivational deficits (112, 133). Inflammation impacts dopaminergic and glutamatergic signaling *via* a variety of potential mechanisms (134). Inflammation decreases dopamine availability and dopamine release (135), and may decrease concentrations of tetrahydrobiopterin, a necessary co-factor in dopamine synthesis (136). Similarly, proinflammatory cytokines decease glutamate transporter expression on the cell surface of astrocytes and induce glutamate release. Proinflammatory cytokines also modulate the kynurenine pathway, leading to increased quinolinic acid release from microglia, which binds to N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors and can stimulate glutamate release and block reuptake from astrocytes (137).

Dopaminergic and glutamatergic dysfunction has been postulated to be central to the underlying pathophysiology of schizophrenia, with putative hyperdopaminergic states in subcortical regions as well as NMDA-receptor hypofunction (138–140). Dopaminergic and glutamatergic signaling have also been consistently implicated in reward processing and effort cost computation in healthy subjects and individuals with schizophrenia (29, 46, 53, 141–145). Evidence suggests downstream effects of dopamine and glutamate on connectivity in brain circuitry in patients with schizophrenia (146, 147) including disrupted resting state networks (148, 149).

As expected in a heterogeneous syndrome such as schizophrenia and given the complex circuit-dependent actions of neurotransmitters, some studies (150, 151), have demonstrated that individuals with treatment resistant schizophrenia, who may have persistent negative symptoms (16, 152), may have decreased dopamine synthesis capacity. This is further supported by recent evidence that phase of illness and antipsychotic medications may alter dopaminergic tone by increasing presynaptic dopamine capacity (153). As such, there may be heterogeneity in dopamine signaling pathways such that the underlying hyperdopaminergic state in subcortical regions, which was long thought to be the field's understanding of dopamine signaling in patients with schizophrenia (154), may only be present in a subgroup of patients. Other patients may have hypodopaminergic signaling in these regions, as reflected by decreased presynaptic dopamine synthesis capacity. These patients may also have different glutamatergic signaling profiles suggestive of a different underlying neurobiology. In fact, there is recent evidence demonstrating increased glutamatergic signaling in the anterior cingulate of treatment resistant patients with schizophrenia compared to antipsychotic responsive patients with schizophrenia (155). Thus, there seems to be a complex and possibly circuit specific interplay between dopamine, glutamate, and potentially other neurotransmitters. It is possible that known effects of inflammation on dopamine and glutamate signaling could be responsible for at least one of the different neurotransmitter signaling profiles that have been described in patients with schizophrenia. Future work will be necessary to test this hypothesis as it relates to inflammation and dopamine/glutamate signaling in patients with schizophrenia.

INFLAMMATION AND NEGATIVE SYMPTOMS: FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Despite effective treatments that target positive symptoms of schizophrenia, the treatment of negative symptoms remains a challenge; this is particularly important since negative symptoms are responsible for significant disability and poor function (24, 156, 157). Multiple pathophysiologic mechanisms outside of traditional dopamine-2 antagonism have been studied in an attempt to palliate negative symptoms, including alpha-7 nicotinic agonists/partial agonists, D-amino acid oxidase inhibitors, NMDA receptor glycine site antagonists, glycine transporter 1 inhibitors, mGluR2/3 positive allosteric modulators, muscarinic acetylcholine agonists, and amphetamine based compounds, with limited success (24). More recent strategies to target negative symptoms include modulating cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) (158), trace amine-associated receptor 1 (TAAR1) agonists (159), cannabidiol (160) but are in early phases of development (161).

Some of these novel strategies may involve pathways that impact the immune system. Given increasing recognition of the role that the immune system plays in schizophrenia (162), future work should seek to understand the mechanism by which the immune system, and specifically inflammation, may impact the brain to lead to negative symptoms of schizophrenia. Work in depression may serve as a model to test hypotheses regarding these mechanisms. For example, much of the work in depression has focused on inflammation's impact on anhedonia and motivational deficits. Although both are core negative symptoms in patients with schizophrenia, it is unclear whether other negative symptoms, such as deficits in affect may also be driven by inflammatory mediators. Future work may be aided by using some of the more recently developed negative symptoms scales, such as the Brief Negative Symptom Scale (163) or the Clinical Assessment Interview for Negative Symptoms (164), which have separate subscales that reflect deficits in affect and deficits in motivation. These scales may allow for the greater differentiation of negative symptoms from depression. Moreover, scales that directly address motivation, such as the Motivation and Pleasure Scale (165) may be a more specific outcome measure. Similarly, behavioral tasks that directly assess effort-based motivation (166) have been shown to be sensitive to the effects of inflammation (167) as well to deficits and negative symptoms in patients with schizophrenia (47, 53, 55, 168).

In order to better investigate relationships between inflammation and negative symptoms, the field must move away

from simple correlations between measured inflammatory markers and negative symptoms. Due to the heterogeneity in clinical presentations of schizophrenia, focusing on those symptoms that are known to be targeted by the effects of inflammation would represent a hypothesis-driven approach. The impact of peripheral inflammation on the brain appears to be an evolutionarily conserved process (169) via effects on the basal ganglia, dopamine signaling, and subsequent motivational deficits. Focusing on these deficits and on the impact of inflammation on the basal ganglia using neuroimaging strategies could provide evidence suggesting that a similar process occurs in patients with persistence of negative symptoms of schizophrenia. For example, studies may choose to compare patients with high versus low inflammation [i.e., CRP cutoffs based on American Heart Association/Center for Disease Control and Prevention guidelines (170)] or high versus low negative symptom severity. This may partially explain seemingly negative findings from treatment trials using cytokine antagonists, such as a recent study that showed no benefit from tocilizumab, an anti-IL-6 receptor antagonist (171). Approaches such as stratifying patients based on a marker such as CRP, as has been done in depression (109, 111, 172), should be considered in treatment trials in patients with schizophrenia. Moreover, in order to disentangle heterogeneity, considering phase of illness will be important as well. Given known differences in inflammatory marker concentrations in individuals at clinical high risk, first episode psychosis, acute psychosis, and chronic schizophrenia, studying a heterogeneous group of patients who are at different phases of illness may obscure important biological findings (65, 173-175). Similarly, designing longitudinal studies to measure inflammatory cytokines over time and phase of illness are essential for investigating the trajectory of negative symptom and functioning.

Another important consideration is the need for agreement about which inflammatory markers to measure and what assay platform to use: this would facilitate greater reproducibility and comparison across studies. Studying patterns of immune activation with a uniform panel of markers also allows the field to create more reliable ratios of pro-inflammatory to anti-inflammatory markers (e.g., TNF : IL-10) which may provide more useful insights into the role these cytokines play in the pathophysiology of the symptoms compared to individual cytokines alone.

Increasingly, inflammatory markers such as IL-6, largely thought to be pro-inflammatory, has been shown to be pleiotropic in nature and may even have anti-inflammatory properties (176). Furthermore, individual differences in the expression and regulation of these inflammatory markers is complex and may lead to different behavioral effects (177, 178). The field must also consider and agree upon a common set of variables to control for in analyses that could confound the relationship between inflammation and brain regions/circuits and behavior. For example, sex, BMI, or other measures of insulin resistance, smoking, illicit drug use, antipsychotic exposure, stage of illness, and education or other proxy of socioeconomic status have all been shown to be associated with alterations in inflammatory molecules (65, 179). Variables related to metabolism/insulin resistance are important and have been demonstrated to be important even for drug-naïve first episode and clinical high-risk individuals who have been shown to have alterations in metabolic markers at the first episode (180). Collaborations with immunologists may help us better understanding the role these markers play and allow for more nuance in interpretation of the growing data in this field.

Outstanding questions also remain regarding how inflammation may impact dopaminergic and glutamatergic systems. In healthy controls exposed to inflammatory stimuli and in patients with depression, inflammation appears to decrease dopaminergic signaling (112, 115, 181) and increased glutamate in subcortical regions (133, 182). How these putative mechanisms alter known dopaminergic and glutamatergic abnormalities in patients with schizophrenia is an important question that must be addressed. Furthermore, understanding the interplay of the immune system with metabolism (180, 183, 184) or the kynurenine pathway (185, 186) may offer an approach to understand the complexities of how the immune system may impact the brain in patients with schizophrenia to lead to negative symptoms. Strategies such as challenges with drugs that target inflammation and/or these neurotransmitter systems, neuroimaging approaches such as positron emission tomography (PET) or magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) or perhaps using novel approaches such as induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) from patients with schizophrenia may help elucidate these mechanisms.

Novel approaches to understand and treat negative symptoms of schizophrenia are of paramount importance.

REFERENCES

- Goeree R, Farahati F, Burke N, Blackhouse G, O'Reilly D, Pyne J, et al. The economic burden of schizophrenia in Canada in 2004. *Curr Med Res Opin* (2005) 21(12):2017–28. doi: 10.1185/030079905X75087
- 2. McEvoy JP. The costs of schizophrenia. J Clin Psychiatry (2007) 68(Suppl 14):4–7.
- Suzuki T, Remington G, Mulsant BH, Uchida H, Rajji TK, Graff-Guerrero A, et al. Defining treatment-resistant schizophrenia and response to antipsychotics: a review and recommendation. *Psychiatry Res* (2012) 197(1-2):1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012.02.013
- Kennedy JL, Altar CA, Taylor DL, Degtiar I, Hornberger JC. The social and economic burden of treatment-resistant schizophrenia: a systematic literature review. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol* (2014) 29(2):63–76. doi: 10.1097/ YIC.0b013e32836508e6
- Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020: global burden of disease study. *Lancet* (1997) 349 (9064):1498–504. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(96)07492-2
- Kooyman I, Dean K, Harvey S, Walsh E. Outcomes of public concern in schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry Suppl (2007) 50:s29–36. doi: 10.1192/ bjp.191.50.s29
- Marwaha S, Johnson S. Schizophrenia and employment a review. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2004) 39(5):337–49. doi: 10.1007/s00127-004-0762-4
- Foster A, Gable J, Buckley J. Homelessness in schizophrenia. Psychiatr Clin North Am (2012) 35(3):717–34. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2012.06.010
- Laursen TM, Nordentoft M, Mortensen PB. Excess early mortality in schizophrenia. Annu Rev Clin Psychol (2014) 10:425–48. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-clinpsy-032813-153657
- Kirkpatrick B, Fenton WS, Carpenter WTJr., Marder SR. The NIMH-MATRICS consensus statement on negative symptoms. *Schizophr Bull* (2006) 32(2):214–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbj053

The immune system has been implicated in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and previous studies of psychopathology and anti-inflammatory trials offer clues to the possibility that the immune system may underlie negative symptoms of the disorder. The role of the immune system in depression offers important and intriguing hypotheses as to the mechanism behind inflammations and negative symptoms *via* its impact on basal ganglia regions and neurotransmitter systems. Similar approaches should be undertaken in patients with schizophrenia to investigate whether these mechanisms are transdiagnostic. Given the burden of negative symptoms on patients with schizophrenia, further understanding the impact of the immune system on these symptoms is of great necessity.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DG conducted the literature review. Both DG and MR conceptualized, wrote, and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

DG is supported by a NIMH K23 MH114037, NIMH L30 MH114414.

- Strauss GP, Horan WP, Kirkpatrick B, Fischer BA, Keller WR, Miski P, et al. Deconstructing negative symptoms of schizophrenia: avolition-apathy and diminished expression clusters predict clinical presentation and functional outcome. J Psychiatr Res (2013) 47(6):783–90. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychires.2013.01.015
- Bobes J, Arango C, Garcia-Garcia M, Rejas J. Prevalence of negative symptoms in outpatients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders treated with antipsychotics in routine clinical practice: findings from the CLAMORS study. J Clin Psychiatry (2010) 71(3):280–6. doi: 10.4088/JCP.08m04250yel
- Szkultecka-Debek M, Walczak J, Augustynska J, Miernik K, Stelmachowski J, Pieniazek I, et al. Epidemiology and treatment guidelines of negative symptoms in schizo-phrenia in central and eastern europe: a literature review. *Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health* (2015) 11:158–65. doi: 10.2174/1745017901511010158
- Kirkpatrick B, Buchanan RW, Ross DE, Carpenter WTJr. A separate disease within the syndrome of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2001) 58 (2):165–71. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.58.2.165
- Kirkpatrick B, Galderisi S. Deficit schizophrenia: an update. World Psychiatry (2008) 7(3):143–7. doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2008.tb00181.x
- Caspi A, Davidson M, Tamminga CA. Treatment-refractory schizophrenia. Dialogues Clin Neurosci (2004) 6(1):61–70.
- 17. Iasevoli F, Avagliano C, Altavilla B, Barone A, D'Ambrosio L, Matrone M, et al. Disease severity in treatment resistant schizophrenia patients is mainly affected by negative symptoms, which mediate the effects of cognitive dysfunctions and neurological soft signs. *Front Psychiatry* (2018) 9:553. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00553
- Rapaport MH, Bazzetta J, McAdams LA, Patterson T, Jeste DV. Validation of the scale of functioning in older outpatients with schizophrenia. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry (1996) 4(3):218–28. doi: 10.1097/00019442-199622430-00005
- Leifker FR, Bowie CR, Harvey PD. Determinants of everyday outcomes in schizophrenia: the influences of cognitive impairment, functional capacity,

and symptoms. Schizophr Res (2009) 115(1):82-7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.09.004

- Harvey PD. Assessment of everyday functioning in schizophrenia: implications for treatments aimed at negative symptoms. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 150(2-3):353-5. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.04.022
- Fervaha G, Foussias G, Agid O, Remington G. Motivational and neurocognitive deficits are central to the prediction of longitudinal functional outcome in schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2014) 130 (4):290–9. doi: 10.1111/acps.12289
- Green MF, Llerena K, Kern RS. The "right stuff" revisited: what have we learned about the determinants of daily functioning in schizophrenia? *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(4):781–5. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv018
- Carbon M, Correll CU. Thinking and acting beyond the positive: the role of the cognitive and negative symptoms in schizophrenia. *CNS Spectr* (2014) 19 Suppl 1:38–52; quiz 35-37, 53. doi: 10.1017/S1092852914000601
- Davis MC, Horan WP, Marder SR. Psychopharmacology of the negative symptoms: current status and prospects for progress. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2014) 24(5):788–99. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2013.10.010
- Blanchard JJ, Cohen AS. The structure of negative symptoms within schizophrenia: implications for assessment. *Schizophr Bull* (2006) 32 (2):238–45. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbj013
- Strauss GP, Harrow M, Grossman LS, Rosen C. Periods of recovery in deficit syndrome schizophrenia: a 20-year multi-follow-up longitudinal study. *Schizophr Bull* (2010) 36(4):788–99. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn167
- Horan WP, Kring AM, Gur RE, Reise SP, Blanchard JJ. Development and psychometric validation of the clinical assessment interview for negative symptoms (CAINS). *Schizophr Res* (2011) 132(2-3):140–5. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2011.06.030
- Strauss GP, Hong LE, Gold JM, Buchanan RW, McMahon RP, Keller WR, et al. Factor structure of the brief negative symptom scale. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 142(1-3):96–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.09.007
- Strauss GP, Waltz JA, Gold JM. A review of reward processing and motivational impairment in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40 Suppl 2:S107–116. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt197
- Insel T, Cuthbert B, Garvey M, Heinssen R, Pine DS, Quinn K, et al. Research domain criteria (RDoC): toward a new classification framework for research on mental disorders. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) 167(7):748–51. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09091379
- Cuthbert BN. Research domain criteria: toward future psychiatric nosologies. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* (2015) 17(1):89–97.
- Barch DM, Pagliaccio D, Luking K. Mechanisms underlying motivational deficits in psychopathology: similarities and differences in depression and schizophrenia. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci* (2016) 27:411–49. doi: 10.1007/ 7854_2015_376
- Wise RA. Brain reward circuitry: insights from unsensed incentives. *Neuron* (2002) 36(2):229–40. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00965-0
- Russo SJ, Nestler EJ. The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci (2013) 14(9):609–25. doi: 10.1038/nrn3381
- 35. Juckel G, Schlagenhauf F, Koslowski M, Filonov D, Wustenberg T, Villringer A, et al. Dysfunction of ventral striatal reward prediction in schizophrenic patients treated with typical, not atypical, neuroleptics. *Psychopharmacol* (*Berl*) (2006a) 187(2):222–8. doi: 10.1007/s00213-006-0405-4
- Juckel G, Schlagenhauf F, Koslowski M, Wustenberg T, Villringer A, Knutson B, et al. Dysfunction of ventral striatal reward prediction in schizophrenia. *Neuroimage* (2006b) 29(2):409–16. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuroimage.2005.07.051
- Juckel G, Friedel E, Koslowski M, Witthaus H, Ozgurdal S, Gudlowski Y, et al. Ventral striatal activation during reward processing in subjects with ultra-high risk for schizophrenia. *Neuropsychobiology* (2012) 66(1):50–6. doi: 10.1159/000337130
- Nielsen MO, Rostrup E, Wulff S, Bak N, Lublin H, Kapur S, et al. Alterations of the brain reward system in antipsychotic naive schizophrenia patients. *Biol Psychiatry* (2012) 71(10):898–905. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.02.007
- Reiss JP, Campbell DW, Leslie WD, Paulus MP, Ryner LN, Polimeni JO, et al. Deficit in schizophrenia to recruit the striatum in implicit learning: a functional magnetic resonance imaging investigation. *Schizophr Res* (2006) 87(1-3):127–37. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.04.027

- Weickert TW, Goldberg TE, Callicott JH, Chen Q, Apud JA, Das S, et al. Neural correlates of probabilistic category learning in patients with schizophrenia. J Neurosci (2009) 29(4):1244–54. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4341-08.2009
- Murray GK, Corlett PR, Clark L, Pessiglione M, Blackwell AD, Honey G, et al. Substantia nigra/ventral tegmental reward prediction error disruption in psychosis. *Mol Psychiatry* (2008) 13239(3):267–76. doi: 10.1038/ sj.mp.4002058
- Schlagenhauf F, Sterzer P, Schmack K, Ballmaier M, Rapp M, Wrase J, et al. Reward feedback alterations in unmedicated schizophrenia patients: relevance for delusions. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 65(12):1032–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.12.016
- Morris RW, Vercammen A, Lenroot R, Moore L, Langton JM, Short B, et al. Disambiguating ventral striatum fMRI-related BOLD signal during reward prediction in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* (2012) 17235(3):280–39. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.75
- Segarra N, Metastasio A, Ziauddeen H, Spencer J, Reinders NR, Dudas RB, et al. Abnormal frontostriatal activity during unexpected reward receipt in depression and schizophrenia: relationship to anhedonia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2016) 41(8):2001–10. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.370
- 45. Fervaha G, Graff-Guerrero A, Zakzanis KK, Foussias G, Agid O, Remington G. Incentive motivation deficits in schizophrenia reflect effort computation impairments during cost-benefit decision-making. J Psychiatr Res (2013) 47(11):1590–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.08.003
- Gold JM, Strauss GP, Waltz JA, Robinson BM, Brown JK, Frank MJ. Negative symptoms of schizophrenia are associated with abnormal effortcost computations. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74(2):130–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2012.12.022
- Barch DM, Treadway MT, Schoen N. Effort, anhedonia, and function in schizophrenia: reduced effort allocation predicts amotivation and functional impairment. J Abnorm Psychol (2014) 123(2):387–97. doi: 10.1037/a0036299
- Wolf DH, Satterthwaite TD, Kantrowitz JJ, Katchmar N, Vandekar L, Elliott MA, et al. Amotivation in schizophrenia: integrated assessment with behavioral, clinical, and imaging measures. *Schizophr Bull* (2014a) 40 (6):1328–37. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu026
- Docx L, de la Asuncion J, Sabbe B, Hoste L, Baeten R, Warnaerts N, et al. Effort discounting and its association with negative symptoms in schizophrenia. *Cognit Neuropsychiatry* (2015) 20(2):172–85. doi: 10.1080/ 13546805.2014.993463
- Fervaha G, Duncan M, Foussias G, Agid O, Faulkner GE, Remington G. Effort-based decision making as an objective paradigm for the assessment of motivational deficits in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 168(1-2):483– 90. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.07.023
- 51. Hartmann MN, Hager OM, Reimann AV, Chumbley JR, Kirschner M, Seifritz E, et al. Apathy but not diminished expression in schizophrenia is associated with discounting of monetary rewards by physical effort. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(2):503–12. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu102
- 52. Reddy LF, Horan WP, Barch DM, Buchanan RW, Dunayevich E, Gold JM, et al. Effort-based decision-making paradigms for clinical trials in schizophrenia: part 1-psychometric characteristics of 5 paradigms. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(5):1045–54. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv089
- Treadway MT, Peterman JS, Zald DH, Park S. Impaired effort allocation in patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 161(2-3):382–5. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.11.024
- Wang J, Huang J, Yang XH, Lui SS, Cheung EF, Chan RC. Anhedonia in schizophrenia: deficits in both motivation and hedonic capacity. *Schizophr Res* (2015) 168(1-2):465–74. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.06.019
- McCarthy JM, Treadway MT, Bennett ME, Blanchard JJ. Inefficient effort allocation and negative symptoms in individuals with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 170(2-3):278–84. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.12.017
- 56. Strauss GP, Whearty KM, Morra LF, Sullivan SK, Ossenfort KL, Frost KH. Avolition in schizophrenia is associated with reduced willingness to expend effort for reward on a progressive ratio task. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 170 (1):198–204. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.12.006
- 57. McClure SM, York MK, Montague PR. The neural substrates of reward processing in humans: the modern role of FMRI. *Neuroscientist* (2004) 10 (3):260–8. doi: 10.1177/1073858404263526

- Salamone JD, Correa M, Farrar A, Mingote SM. Effort-related functions of nucleus accumbens dopamine and associated forebrain circuits. *Psychopharmacol (Berl)* (2007) 191(3):461–82. doi: 10.1007/ s00213-006-0668-9
- Treadway MT, Zald DH. Parsing anhedonia: translational models of rewardprocessing deficits in psychopathology. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci* (2013) 22 (3):244–9. doi: 10.1177/0963721412474460
- 60. Horan WP, Reddy LF, Barch DM, Buchanan RW, Dunayevich E, Gold JM, et al. Effort-based decision-making paradigms for clinical trials in schizophrenia: part 2-external validity and correlates. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(5):1055–65. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv090
- Vanes LD, Mouchlianitis E, Collier T, Averbeck BB, Shergill SS. Differential neural reward mechanisms in treatment-responsive and treatment-resistant schizophrenia. *Psychol Med* (2018) 48(14):2418–27. doi: 10.1017/ S0033291718000041
- Tamminga CA, Ivleva EI, Keshavan MS, Pearlson GD, Clementz BA, Witte B, et al. Clinical phenotypes of psychosis in the Bipolar-Schizophrenia Network on Intermediate Phenotypes (B-SNIP). *Am J Psychiatry* (2013) 170(11):1263–74. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12101339
- Lang FU, Walther S, Stegmayer K, Anderson-Schmidt H, Schulze TG, Becker T, et al. Subtyping schizophrenia: a comparison of positive/ negative and system-specific approaches. *Compr Psychiatry* (2015) 61:115– 21. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2015.05.014
- Bosia M, Bechi M, Bosinelli F, Politi E, Buonocore M, Spangaro M, et al. From cognitive and clinical substrates to functional profiles: disentangling heterogeneity in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2019) 271:446–53. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.12.026
- 65. Goldsmith DR, Rapaport MH, Miller BJ. A meta-analysis of blood cytokine network alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21 (12):1696–709. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.3
- Brown AS, Derkits EJ. Prenatal infection and schizophrenia: a review of epidemiologic and translational studies. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) 167(3):261– 80. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09030361
- Khandaker GM, Zimbron J, Dalman C, Lewis G, Jones PB. Childhood infection and adult schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of population-based studies. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 139(1-3):161-8. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2012.05.023
- Khandaker GM, Zimbron J, Lewis G, Jones PB. Prenatal maternal infection, neurodevelopment and adult schizophrenia: a systematic review of population-based studies. *Psychol Med* (2013) 43(2):239–57. doi: 10.1017/ S0033291712000736
- Eaton WW, Byrne M, Ewald H, Mors O, Chen CY, Agerbo E, et al. Association of schizophrenia and autoimmune diseases: linkage of Danish national registers. *Am J Psychiatry* (2006) 163(3):521–8. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.163.3.521
- Benros ME, Nielsen PR, Nordentoft M, Eaton WW, Dalton SO, Mortensen PB. Autoimmune diseases and severe infections as risk factors for schizophrenia: a 30-year population-based register study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(12):1303–10. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11030516
- Shi J, Levinson DF, Duan J, Sanders AR, Zheng Y, Pe'er I, et al. Common variants on chromosome 6p22.1 are associated with schizophrenia. *Nature* (2009) 460(7256):753–7. doi: 10.1038/nature08192
- Ripke S, Neale BM, Corvin A, Walters JT, Farh KH, Holmans PA, et al. Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. *Nature* (2014) 511(7510):421–7. doi: 10.1038/nature13595
- Andreassen OA, Harbo HF, Wang Y, Thompson WK, Schork AJ, Mattingsdal M, et al. Genetic pleiotropy between multiple sclerosis and schizophrenia but not bipolar disorder: differential involvement of immunerelated gene loci. *Mol Psychiatry* (2015) 20(2):207–14. doi: 10.1038/ mp.2013.195
- Sekar A, Bialas AR, de Rivera H, Davis A, Hammond TR, Kamitaki N, et al. Schizophrenia risk from complex variation of complement component 4. *Nature* (2016) 530(7589):177–83. doi: 10.1038/nature16549
- Garcia-Rizo C, Fernandez-Egea E, Oliveira C, Justicia A, Bernardo M, Kirkpatrick B. Inflammatory markers in antipsychotic-naive patients with nonaffective psychosis and deficit vs. nondeficit features. *Psychiatry Res* (2012) 198(2):212–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2011.08.014

- 76. Asevedo E, Rizzo LB, Gadelha A, Mansur RB, Ota VK, Berberian AA, et al. Peripheral interleukin-2 level is associated with negative symptoms and cognitive performance in schizophrenia. *Physiol Behav* (2014) 129:194–8. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.02.032
- 77. Stojanovic A, Martorell L, Montalvo I, Ortega L, Monseny R, Vilella E, et al. Increased serum interleukin-6 levels in early stages of psychosis: associations with at-risk mental states and the severity of psychotic symptoms. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2014) 41:23–32. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen. 2013.12.005
- Xiu MH, Yang GG, Tan YL, Chen DC, Tan SP, Wang ZR, et al. Decreased interleukin-10 serum levels in first-episode drug-naive schizophrenia: relationship to psychopathology. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 156(1):9–14. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.03.024
- El Kissi Y, Samoud S, Mtiraoui A, Letaief L, Hannachi N, Ayachi M, et al. Increased Interleukin-17 and decreased BAFF serum levels in drug-free acute schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 225(1-2):58–63. doi: 10.1016/ j.psychres.2014.10.007
- Noto C, Maes M, Ota VK, Teixeira AL, Bressan RA, Gadelha A, et al. High predictive value of immune-inflammatory biomarkers for schizophrenia diagnosis and association with treatment resistance. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 16(6):422–9. doi: 10.3109/15622975.2015.1062552
- Fan X, Pristach C, Liu EY, Freudenreich O, Henderson DC, Goff DC. Elevated serum levels of C-reactive protein are associated with more severe psychopathology in a subgroup of patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2007) 149(1-3):267–71. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2006.07.011
- Boozalis T, Teixeira AL, Cho RY-J, Okusaga O. C-reactive protein correlates with negative symptoms in patients with schizophrenia. *Front Public Health* (2018) 5(360)1–6. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00360
- Liemburg EJ, Nolte IM, Klein HC, Knegtering H. Relation of inflammatory markers with symptoms of psychotic disorders: a large cohort study. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2018) 86:89–94. doi: 10.1016/ j.pnpbp.2018.04.006
- Goldsmith DR, Haroon E, Miller AH, Strauss GP, Buckley PF, Miller BJ. TNF-alpha and IL-6 are associated with the deficit syndrome and negative symptoms in patients with chronic schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2018) 199:281–4. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.02.048
- 85. Goldsmith DR, Haroon E, Miller AH, Addington J, Bearden C, Cadenhead K, et al. Association of baseline inflammatory markers and the development of negative symptoms in individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Brain Behav Immun* (2019) 76:268–74. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbi.2018.11.315
- Zhu F, Zhang L, Liu F, Wu R, Guo W, Ou J, et al. Altered serum tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-1beta in first-episode drug-naive and chronic schizophrenia. *Front Neurosci* (2018) 12:296. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00296
- Bresee C, Rapaport MH. Persistently increased serum soluble interleukin-2 receptors in continuously ill patients with schizophrenia. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2009) 12(6):861–5. doi: 10.1017/S1461145709000315
- Marnell L, Mold C, Du Clos TW. C-reactive protein: ligands, receptors and role in inflammation. *Clin Immunol* (2005) 117(2):104–11. doi: 10.1016/ j.clim.2005.08.004
- Sproston NR, Ashworth JJ. Role of c-reactive protein at sites of inflammation and infection. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:754. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00754
- Miller BJ, Culpepper N, Rapaport MH. C-reactive protein levels in schizophrenia: a review and meta-analysis. Clin Schizophr Relat Psychoses (2014) 7(4):223–30. doi: 10.3371/CSRP.MICU.020813
- Fernandes BS, Steiner J, Bernstein HG, Dodd S, Pasco JA, Dean OM, et al. C-reactive protein is increased in schizophrenia but is not altered by antipsychotics: meta-analysis and implications. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21 (4):554–64. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.87
- Kirkpatrick B, Mucci A, Galderisi S. Primary, enduring negative symptoms: an update on research. *Schizophr Bull* (2017) 43(4):730–6. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/sbx064
- Rose-John S, Winthrop K, Calabrese L. The role of IL-6 in host defence against infections: immunobiology and clinical implications. Nat Rev Rheumatol (2017) 13(7):399–409. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2017.83
- Del Giudice M, Gangestad SW. Rethinking IL-6 and CRP: Why they are more than inflammatory biomarkers, and why it matters. *Brain Behav Immun* (2018) 70:61–75. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2018.02.013

- Scheller J, Chalaris A, Schmidt-Arras D, Rose-John S. The pro- and antiinflammatory properties of the cytokine interleukin-6. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2011) 1813(5):878–88. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.01.034
- Wolf J, Rose-John S, Garbers C. Interleukin-6 and its receptors: a highly regulated and dynamic system. *Cytokine* (2014b) 70(1):11–20. doi: 10.1016/ j.cyto.2014.05.024
- Muller N. Inflammation in schizophrenia: pathogenetic aspects and therapeutic considerations. *Schizophr Bull* (2018) 44(5):973–82. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby024
- Cakici N, van Beveren NJM, Judge-Hundal G, Koola MM, Sommer IEC. An update on the efficacy of anti-inflammatory agents for patients with schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. *Psychol Med* (2019) 49(14):2307–19. doi: 10.1017/S0033291719001995
- Pandurangi AK, Buckley PF. Inflammation, antipsychotic drugs, and evidence for effectiveness of anti-inflammatory agents in schizophrenia. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci* (2019) 44:224–44. doi: 10.1007/7854_2019_91
- 100. Muller N, Riedel M, Scheppach C, Brandstatter B, Sokullu S, Krampe K, et al. Beneficial antipsychotic effects of celecoxib add-on therapy compared to risperidone alone in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2002) 159(6):1029–34. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.6.1029
- 101. Muller N, Krause D, Dehning S, Musil R, Schennach-Wolff R, Obermeier M, et al. Celecoxib treatment in an early stage of schizophrenia: results of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of celecoxib augmentation of amisulpride treatment. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 121(1-3):118–24. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.04.015
- 102. Rapaport MH, Delrahim KK, Bresee CJ, Maddux RE, Ahmadpour O, Dolnak D. Celecoxib augmentation of continuously ill patients with schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2005) 57(12):1594–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2005.02.024
- 103. Sommer IE, de Witte L, Begemann M, Kahn RS. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs in schizophrenia: ready for practice or a good start? A meta-analysis. J Clin Psychiatry (2012) 73(4):414–9. doi: 10.4088/ JCP.10r06823
- 104. Nitta M, Kishimoto T, Muller N, Weiser M, Davidson M, Kane JM, et al. Adjunctive use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for schizophrenia: a meta-analytic investigation of randomized controlled trials. *Schizophr Bull* (2013) 39(6):1230–41. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt070
- 105. Zheng W, Cai DB, Yang XH, Ungvari GS, Ng CH, Muller N, et al. Adjunctive celecoxib for schizophrenia: A meta-analysis of randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. *J Psychiatr Res* (2017) 92:139–46. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychires.2017.04.004
- Domercq M, Matute C. Neuroprotection by tetracyclines. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2004) 25(12):609–12. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2004.10.001
- 107. Xiang YQ, Zheng W, Wang SB, Yang XH, Cai DB, Ng CH, et al. Adjunctive minocycline for schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2017) 27(1):8–18. doi: 10.1016/ j.euroneuro.2016.11.012
- 108. Deakin B, Suckling J, Barnes TRE, Byrne K, Chaudhry IB, Dazzan P, et al. The benefit of minocycline on negative symptoms of schizophrenia in patients with recent-onset psychosis (BeneMin): a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2018) 5(11):885–94. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30345-6
- 109. Raison CL, Rutherford RE, Woolwine BJ, Shuo C, Schettler P, Drake DF, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. JAMA Psychiatry (2013) 70(1):31–41. doi: 10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.4
- Miller AH, Raison CL. Are anti-inflammatory therapies viable treatments for psychiatric disorders?: where the rubber meets the road. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2015) 72(6):527–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.22
- 111. Rapaport MH, Nierenberg AA, Schettler PJ, Kinkead B, Cardoos A, Walker R, et al. Inflammation as a predictive biomarker for response to omega-3 fatty acids in major depressive disorder: a proof-of-concept study. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21(1):71–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.22
- Felger JC, Treadway MT. Inflammation effects on motivation and motor activity: role of dopamine. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2017) 42(1):216–41. doi: 10.1038/npp.2016.143

- 113. Capuron L, Pagnoni G, Drake DF, Woolwine BJ, Spivey JR, Crowe RJ, et al. Dopaminergic mechanisms of reduced basal ganglia responses to hedonic reward during interferon alfa administration. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2012) 69 (10):1044–53. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.2094
- 114. Brydon L, Harrison NA, Walker C, Steptoe A, Critchley HD. Peripheral inflammation is associated with altered substantia nigra activity and psychomotor slowing in humans. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 63(11):1022–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.12.007
- 115. Eisenberger NI, Berkman ET, Inagaki TK, Rameson LT, Mashal NM, Irwin MR. Inflammation-induced anhedonia: endotoxin reduces ventral striatum responses to reward. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 68(8):748–54. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2010.06.010
- 116. Harrison NA, Voon V, Cercignani M, Cooper EA, Pessiglione M, Critchley HD. A neurocomputational account of how inflammation enhances sensitivity to punishments versus rewards. *Biol Psychiatry* (2016) 80(1):73– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.07.018
- 117. Salamone JD, Cousins MS, Bucher S. Anhedonia or anergia? Effects of haloperidol and nucleus accumbens dopamine depletion on instrumental response selection in a T-maze cost/benefit procedure. *Behav Brain Res* (1994) 65(2):221–9. doi: 10.1016/0166-4328(94)90108-2
- Felger JC, Alagbe O, Hu F, Mook D, Freeman AA, Sanchez MM, et al. Effects of interferon-alpha on rhesus monkeys: a nonhuman primate model of cytokine-induced depression. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 62(11):1324–33. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.05.026
- 119. Vichaya EG, Hunt SC, Dantzer R. Lipopolysaccharide reduces incentive motivation while boosting preference for high reward in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2014) 39(12):2884–90. doi: 10.1038/ npp.2014.141
- Treadway MT. The neurobiology of motivational deficits in depression-an update on candidate pathomechanisms. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci* (2016) 27:337–55. doi: 10.1007/7854_2015_400
- 121. Felger JC, Li Z, Haroon E, Woolwine BJ, Jung MY, Hu X, et al. Inflammation is associated with decreased functional connectivity within corticostriatal reward circuitry in depression. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21(10):1358–65. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.168
- 122. Park IH, Lee BC, Kim JJ, Kim JI, Koo MS. Effort-based reinforcement processing and functional connectivity underlying amotivation in medicated patients with depression and schizophrenia. *J Neurosci* (2017) 37(16):4370– 80. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2524-16.2017
- 123. Dubol M, Trichard C, Leroy C, Sandu AL, Rahim M, Granger B, et al. Dopamine transporter and reward anticipation in a dimensional perspective: a multimodal brain imaging study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2018) 43 (4):820–7. doi: 10.1038/npp.2017.183
- 124. Addington J, Shah H, Liu L, Addington D. Reliability and validity of the Calgary Depression Scale for Schizophrenia (CDSS) in youth at clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 153(1-3):64–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2013.12.014
- 125. An der Heiden W, Leber A, Hafner H. Negative symptoms and their association with depressive symptoms in the long-term course of schizophrenia. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci (2016) 266(5):387–96. doi: 10.1007/s00406-016-0697-2
- 126. Campellone TR, Sanchez AH, Kring AM. Defeatist performance beliefs, negative symptoms, and functional outcome in schizophrenia: A Metaanalytic Review. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(6):1343–52. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbw026
- 127. Goehler LE, Gaykema RP, Hansen MK, Anderson K, Maier SF, Watkins LR. Vagal immune-to-brain communication: a visceral chemosensory pathway. *Auton Neurosci* (2000) 85(1-3):49–59. doi: 10.1016/S1566-0702(00)00219-8
- Quan N, Banks WA. Brain-immune communication pathways. Brain Behav Immun (2007) 21(6):727–35. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2007.05.005
- 129. D'Mello C, Le T, Swain MG. Cerebral microglia recruit monocytes into the brain in response to tumor necrosis factoralpha signaling during peripheral organ inflammation. J Neurosci (2009) 29(7):2089–102. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.3567-08.2009
- 130. Gallego JA, Blanco EA, Husain-Krautter S, Madeline Fagen E, Moreno-Merino P, Del Ojo-Jimenez JA, et al. Cytokines in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders: New data and an updated

meta-analysis. Schizophr Res (2018) 202:64-71. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2018.07.019

- 131. Wang AK, Miller BJ. Meta-analysis of cerebrospinal fluid cytokine and tryptophan catabolite alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression. *Schizophr Bull* (2018) 44(1):75–83. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx035
- 132. Felger JC, Haroon E, Patel TA, Goldsmith DR, Wommack EC, Woolwine BJ, et al. What does plasma CRP tell us about peripheral and central inflammation in depression? *Mol Psychiatry* (2018). doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0096-3
- Haroon E, Miller AH. Inflammation effects on brain glutamate in depression: mechanistic considerations and treatment implications. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci* (2017) 31:173–98. doi: 10.1007/7854_2016_40
- Miller AH, Haroon E, Felger JC. Therapeutic implications of brain-immune interactions: treatment in translation. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2017) 42 (1):334–59. doi: 10.1038/npp.2016.167
- 135. Felger JC, Miller AH. Cytokine effects on the basal ganglia and dopamine function: the subcortical source of inflammatory malaise. *Front Neuroendocrinol* (2012) 33(3):315-27. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne. 2012.09.003
- 136. Neurauter G, Schrocksnadel K, Scholl-Burgi S, Sperner-Unterweger B, Schubert C, Ledochowski M, et al. Chronic immune stimulation correlates with reduced phenylalanine turnover. *Curr Drug Metab* (2008) 9(7):622–7. doi: 10.2174/138920008785821738
- Haroon E, Miller AH, Sanacora G. Inflammation, glutamate, and glia: a trio of trouble in mood disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2017) 42(1):193– 215. doi: 10.1038/npp.2016.199
- Gonzalez-Burgos G, Lewis DA. NMDA receptor hypofunction, parvalbumin-positive neurons, and cortical gamma oscillations in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull (2012) 38(5):950–7. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbs010
- 139. Moghaddam B, Javitt D. From revolution to evolution: the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia and its implication for treatment. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2012) 37(1):4-15. doi: 10.1038/ npp.2011.181
- 140. Howes O, McCutcheon R, Stone J. Glutamate and dopamine in schizophrenia: an update for the 21st century. J Psychopharmacol (2015) 29(2):97–115. doi: 10.1177/0269881114563634
- 141. Schultz W. Predictive reward signal of dopamine neurons. J Neurophysiol (1998) 80(1):1–27. doi: 10.1152/jn.1998.80.1.1
- 142. Waltz JA, Frank MJ, Robinson BM, Gold JM. Selective reinforcement learning deficits in schizophrenia support predictions from computational models of striatal-cortical dysfunction. *Biol Psychiatry* (2007) 62(7):756–64. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.09.042
- 143. Shin JH, Adrover MF, Wess J, Alvarez VA. Muscarinic regulation of dopamine and glutamate transmission in the nucleus accumbens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(26):8124–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1508846112
- 144. White DM, Kraguljac NV, Reid MA, Lahti AC. Contribution of substantia nigra glutamate to prediction error signals in schizophrenia: a combined magnetic resonance spectroscopy/functional imaging study. NPJ Schizophr (2015) 1:14001. doi: 10.1038/npjschz.2014.1
- 145. Salamone JD, Pardo M, Yohn SE, Lopez-Cruz L, SanMiguel N, Correa M. Mesolimbic Dopamine and the regulation of motivated behavior. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci* (2016) 27:231–57. doi: 10.1007/7854_2015_383
- 146. Stephan KE, Friston KJ, Frith CD. Dysconnection in schizophrenia: from abnormal synaptic plasticity to failures of self-monitoring. *Schizophr Bull* (2009) 35(3):509–27. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn176
- 147. McNabb CB, Tait RJ, McIlwain ME, Anderson VM, Suckling J, Kydd RR, et al. Functional network dysconnectivity as a biomarker of treatment resistance in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2018) 195:160–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2017.10.015
- 148. Lynall ME, Bassett DS, Kerwin R, McKenna PJ, Kitzbichler M, Muller U, et al. Functional connectivity and brain networks in schizophrenia. J Neurosci (2010) 30(28):9477–87. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0333-10.2010
- 149. Menon V. Large-scale brain networks and psychopathology: a unifying triple network model. *Trends Cognit Sci* (2011) 15(10):483–506. doi: 10.1016/ j.tics.2011.08.003

- Demjaha A, Murray RM, McGuire PK, Kapur S, Howes OD. Dopamine synthesis capacity in patients with treatment-resistant schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2012) 169(11):1203–10. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12010144
- 151. Kim E, Howes OD, Veronese M, Beck K, Seo S, Park JW, et al. Presynaptic dopamine capacity in patients with treatment-resistant schizophrenia taking clozapine: an [(18)F]DOPA PET Study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2017) 42 (4):941–50. doi: 10.1038/npp.2016.258
- 152. Kinon BJ, Kane JM, Chakos M, Munne R. Possible predictors of neurolepticresistant schizophrenic relapse: influence of negative symptoms and acute extrapyramidal side effects. *Psychopharmacol Bull* (1993) 29(3):365–9.
- 153. Eisenberg DP, Yankowitz L, Ianni AM, Rubinstein DY, Kohn PD, Hegarty CE, et al. Presynaptic dopamine synthesis capacity in schizophrenia and striatal blood flow change during antipsychotic treatment and medicationfree conditions. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2017) 42(11):2232–41. doi: 10.1038/npp.2017.67
- Howes OD, Kapur S. The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: version III-the final common pathway. *Schizophr Bull* (2009) 35(3):549–62. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp006
- 155. Mouchlianitis E, Bloomfield MA, Law V, Beck K, Selvaraj S, Rasquinha N, et al. Treatment-resistant schizophrenia patients show elevated anterior cingulate cortex glutamate compared to treatment-responsive. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(3):744–52. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv151
- 156. Foussias G, Siddiqui I, Fervaha G, Agid O, Remington G. Dissecting negative symptoms in schizophrenia: opportunities for translation into new treatments. J Psychopharmacol (2015) 29(2):116–26. doi: 10.1177/ 0269881114562092
- 157. Galderisi S, Mucci A, Buchanan RW, Arango C. Negative symptoms of schizophrenia: new developments and unanswered research questions. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2018) 5(8):664–77. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30050-6
- 158. Shim S, Shuman M, Duncan E. An emerging role of cGMP in the treatment of schizophrenia: a review. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 170(1):226–31. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2015.11.015
- 159. Revel FG, Moreau JL, Pouzet B, Mory R, Bradaia A, Buchy D, et al. A new perspective for schizophrenia: TAAR1 agonists reveal antipsychotic- and antidepressant-like activity, improve cognition and control body weight. *Mol Psychiatry* (2013) 18(5):543–56. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.57
- 160. McGuire P, Robson P, Cubala WJ, Vasile D, Morrison PD, Barron R, et al. Cannabidiol (CBD) as an adjunctive therapy in schizophrenia: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. Am J Psychiatry (2018) 175(3):225–31. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.17030325
- 161. Krogmann A, Peters L, von Hardenberg L, Bodeker K, Nohles VB, Correll CU. Keeping up with the therapeutic advances in schizophrenia: a review of novel and emerging pharmacological entities. CNS Spectr (2019) 24(S1):38– 69. doi: 10.1017/S109285291900124X
- 162. Miller BJ, Goldsmith DR. Towards an immunophenotype of schizophrenia: progress, potential mechanisms, and future directions. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2017) 42(1):299–317. doi: 10.1038/npp.2016.211
- 163. Kirkpatrick B, Strauss GP, Nguyen L, Fischer BA, Daniel DG, Cienfuegos A, et al. The brief negative symptom scale: psychometric properties. *Schizophr Bull* (2011) 37(2):300–5. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbq059
- 164. Kring AM, Gur RE, Blanchard JJ, Horan WP, Reise SP. The Clinical Assessment Interview for Negative Symptoms (CAINS): final development and validation. Am J Psychiatry (2013) 170(2):165–72. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.2012.12010109
- 165. Llerena K, Park SG, McCarthy JM, Couture SM, Bennett ME, Blanchard JJ. The motivation and pleasure scale-self-report (MAP-SR): reliability and validity of a self-report measure of negative symptoms. *Compr Psychiatry* (2013) 54(5):568–74. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2012.12.001
- 166. Treadway MT, Buckholtz JW, Schwartzman AN, Lambert WE, Zald DH. Worth the 'EEfRT'? The effort expenditure for rewards task as an objective measure of motivation and anhedonia. *PloS One* (2009) 4(8):e6598. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006598
- 167. Lasselin J, Treadway MT, Lacourt TE, Soop A, Olsson MJ, Karshikoff B, et al. Lipopolysaccharide alters motivated behavior in a monetary reward task: a randomized trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2017) 42(4):801–10. doi: 10.1038/npp.2016.191
- 168. Cooper JA, Barch DM, Reddy LF, Horan WP, Green MF, Treadway MT. Effortful goal-directed behavior in schizophrenia: Computational subtypes

and associations with cognition. J Abnorm Psychol (2019) 128(7):710-22. doi: 10.1037/abn0000443

- 169. Miller AH, Raison CL. The role of inflammation in depression: from evolutionary imperative to modern treatment target. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2016) 16(1):22–34. doi: 10.1038/nri.2015.5
- 170. Pearson TA, Mensah GA, Alexander RW, Anderson JL, Cannon RO3rd, Criqui M, et al. Markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease: application to clinical and public health practice: a statement for healthcare professionals from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American Heart Association. *Circulation* (2003) 107 (3):499–511. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000052939.59093.45
- 171. Girgis RR, Ciarleglio A, Choo T, Haynes G, Bathon JM, Cremers S, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial of tocilizumab, an interleukin-6 receptor antibody, for residual symptoms in schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2018) 43(6):1317–23. doi: 10.1038/npp.2017.258
- 172. Jha MK, Minhajuddin A, Gadad BS, Greer T, Grannemann B, Soyombo A, et al. Can C-reactive protein inform antidepressant medication selection in depressed outpatients? Findings from the CO-MED trial. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2017) 78:105–13. doi: 10.1016/ j.psyneuen.2017.01.023
- 173. Miller BJ, Buckley P, Seabolt W, Mellor A, Kirkpatrick B. Meta-analysis of cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: clinical status and antipsychotic effects. *Biol Psychiatry* (2011) 70(7):663–71. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.04.013
- 174. Upthegrove R, Manzanares-Teson N, Barnes NM. Cytokine function in medication-naive first episode psychosis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Schizophr Res (2014) 155(1-3):101-8. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2014.03.005
- 175. Park S, Miller BJ. Meta-analysis of cytokine and C-reactive protein levels in high-risk psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2019). doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.03.012
- 176. Murakami M, Kamimura D, Hirano T. Pleiotropy and specificity: insights from the interleukin 6 family of cytokines. *Immunity* (2019) 50(4):812–31. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.03.027
- 177. Hodes GE, Pfau ML, Leboeuf M, Golden SA, Christoffel DJ, Bregman D, et al. Individual differences in the peripheral immune system promote resilience versus susceptibility to social stress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111 (45):16136–41. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1415191111
- 178. Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Masuda K, Kishimoto T. Regulation of IL-6 in Immunity and Diseases. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2016) 941:79–88. doi: 10.1007/ 978-94-024-0921-5_4

- 179. Kowalchuk C, Kanagasundaram P, Belsham DD, Hahn MK. Antipsychotics differentially regulate insulin, energy sensing, and inflammation pathways in hypothalamic rat neurons. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2019) 104:42–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.01.029
- 180. Pillinger T, Beck K, Gobjila C, Donocik JG, Jauhar S, Howes OD. Impaired glucose homeostasis in first-episode schizophrenia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2017) 74(3):261–9. doi: 10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2016.3803
- 181. Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Dolan RJ, et al. Neural origins of human sickness in interoceptive responses to inflammation. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 66(5):415-22. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2009.03.007
- 182. Haroon E, Chen X, Li Z, Patel T, Woolwine BJ, Hu XP, et al. Increased inflammation and brain glutamate define a subtype of depression with decreased regional homogeneity, impaired network integrity, and anhedonia. *Transl Psychiatry* (2018) 8(1):189. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0241-4
- O'Neill LA, Kishton RJ, Rathmell J. A guide to immunometabolism for immunologists. Nat Rev Immunol (2016) 16(9):553-65. doi: 10.1038/ nri.2016.70
- 184. Treadway MT, Cooper JA, Miller AH. Can't or won't? immunometabolic constraints on dopaminergic drive. *Trends Cognit Sci* (2019) 23(5):435–48. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2019.03.003
- 185. Plitman E, Iwata Y, Caravaggio F, Nakajima S, Chung JK, Gerretsen P, et al. Kynurenic acid in schizophrenia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Schizophr Bull* (2017) 43(4):764–77. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbw221
- 186. Savitz J. The kynurenine pathway: a finger in every pie. *Mol Psychiatry* (2019) 1:131–47 doi: 10.1038/s41380-019-0414-4

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Goldsmith and Rapaport. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author (s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Schizophrenia and Influenza at the Centenary of the 1918-1919 Spanish Influenza Pandemic: Mechanisms of Psychosis Risk

Adrianna P. Kępińska¹, Conrad O. lyegbe¹, Anthony C. Vernon^{2,3}, Robert Yolken⁴, Robin M. Murray¹ and Thomas A. Pollak^{1*}

¹ Department of Psychosis Studies, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ² Department of Basic and Clinical Neuroscience, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ³ MRC Centre for Neurodevelopmental Disorders, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Stanley Laboratory of Developmental Neurovirology, Johns Hopkins Medical Center, Baltimore, MD, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Belinda Lennox, University of Oxford, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Sabina Berretta, McLean Hospital, United States Teresa Sanchez-Gutierrez, Universidad Internacional De La Rioja, Spain

*Correspondence: Thomas A. Pollak thomas.pollak@kcl.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 07 November 2019 Accepted: 28 January 2020 Published: 26 February 2020

Citation:

Kepińska AP, lyegbe CO, Vernon AC, Yolken R, Murray RM and Pollak TA (2020) Schizophrenia and Influenza at the Centenary of the 1918-1919 Spanish Influenza Pandemic: Mechanisms of Psychosis Risk. Front. Psychiatry 11:72. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00072 Associations between influenza infection and psychosis have been reported since the eighteenth century, with acute "psychoses of influenza" documented during multiple pandemics. In the late 20th century, reports of a season-of-birth effect in schizophrenia were supported by large-scale ecological and sero-epidemiological studies suggesting that maternal influenza infection increases the risk of psychosis in offspring. We examine the evidence for the association between influenza infection and schizophrenia risk, before reviewing possible mechanisms *via* which this risk may be conferred. Maternal immune activation models implicate placental dysfunction, disruption of cytokine networks, and subsequent microglial activation as potentially important pathogenic processes. More recent neuroimmunological advances focusing on neuronal autoimmunity following infection provide the basis for a model of infection-induced psychosis, potentially implicating autoimmunity to schizophrenia-relevant protein targets including the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. Finally, we outline areas for future research and relevant experimental approaches and consider whether the current evidence provides a basis for the rational development of strategies to prevent schizophrenia.

Keywords: infection, epidemiology, autoimmunity, neurodevelopment, maternal immune activation (MIA), influenza, schizophrenia

INTRODUCTION: WHAT IS THE EVIDENCE FOR AN ASSOCIATION BETWEEN INFLUENZA AND SCHIZOPHRENIA?

Schizophrenia risk is associated with a variety of environmental and genetic factors (1), including those associated with immunity and inflammation (2). Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) implicate loci at the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) which encodes multiple genes involved in immunity such as the *human leukocyte antigen* (*HLA*) genes (3–6) and complement

21

component 4 (C4) (7), among others, and enhancers related to B-lymphocyte lineages (CD19 and CD20 lines) involved in acquired/adaptive immunity (8). Overall there is strong evidence supporting the involvement of specific immune variants in schizophrenia risk (7), some evidence of convergence across genomics, transcriptomic, and methylomic processes (9), but conflicting evidence for both (i) enrichment of specific immune cell types or pathways (10) and (ii) for genetic overlap between SZ and specific immune diseases (11, 12).

Substantial epidemiological evidence exists suggesting that maternal, perinatal, childhood, and adult infection may all increase the risk of schizophrenia diagnosis (13–19). While many organisms and infection types have been implicated in schizophrenia risk, the influenza virus has special status: not only is maternal influenza infection the most well-replicated infective risk factor for schizophrenia, but the history of schizophrenia research has been shaped at crucial points by observations concerning the apparent, sometimes surprising, role of influenza as an exposure. This review aims to present the current state of knowledge on mechanisms by which influenza infection may confer schizophrenia risk, along with the implications of this understanding for future research, prevention, and treatment.

Before the focus of this review moves to schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders, it should be noted that some of the associations that will be discussed are now thought not to be specific to schizophrenia risk. The late winter/spring season of birth effect has also been reported in bipolar disorder (BD) (20), but the evidence for a link between BD and influenza is somewhat mixed (21) and addressed in limited studies (22). Influenza (including serologically documented infection) has been reported as a risk factor for BD with psychotic features but not nonpsychotic BD [reviewed in (22-24)]. Furthermore, some evidence suggests an association between maternal infection and autism spectrum disorders (ASD) [reviewed in (25)]. A substantial body of work from Scandinavian (largely Danish) health register studies supports the notion that clinically diagnosed maternal, childhood, or adulthood infection is a pluripotent risk factor for the subsequent development of psychiatric disorder, with effects observed across diagnostic boundaries (13–16, 26, 27). Therefore, while the focus of this review is on schizophrenia and psychosis, the potential transdiagnostic relevance of some of the mechanisms reviewed here should not be ignored.

Currently, influenza is regarded predominantly as a respiratory illness, but before the last century a far broader conceptualisation existed. As early as a 1732 epidemic, clinicians made note of the nervous sequelae of infection, with manifestations including neurasthenia, melancholy, hysteria, mental prostration, and insanity (28). According to the historian of medicine Mark Honigsbaum: "in the mid-1890s British medical journals were full of tales of Victorian professionals driven to the brink of madness and beyond by the nervous sequelae of influenza... for some 30 years, from the first epidemics of Russian influenza in the 1890s through to the 'Spanish' influenza of 1918-19, the 'psychoses of influenza' were a widely recognised psychiatric phenomenon" (29). In 1919, Karl Menninger published a now-classic paper reporting the characteristics of 100 patients with mental disturbances associated with influenza infection admitted in a 3-month period to the Boston Psychopathic Hospital. Of 80 on whom full data were available, 16 were diagnosed with delirium, 25 with "dementia praecox," 23 with "other psychoses," and 16 were unclassified (30). Interestingly, two-thirds of the "dementia praecox" patients were reported to have fully recovered at 5year follow up (31). A further historically important strand of evidence came from von Economo's (32) research on encephalitis lethargica (EL), a still poorly understood inflammatory CNS condition featuring psychotic and catatonic symptoms, which was broadly contemporaneous with and potentially aetiologically related to the 1918-1919 Spanish influenza pandemic. Table 1 provides an overview of historical influenza pandemics that have been linked to the occurrence of psychosis.

While suggestive, these reports do not provide evidence of a causal link between influenza infection and psychotic disorders. Renewed interest in the second half of the 20th century shifted focus towards maternal infection, following consistent findings

Name of influenza pandemic	Dates	Influenza strain involved	Relationship to psychosis	References
1889–1892 influenza pandemic (Russian influenza)	1889–1892	H2N2	psychosis, suicidal thoughts, paranoia following infection	(29, 33, 34)
1918 Spanish influenza pandemic	1918–1920	H1N1	delirium, dementia praecox, acute psychosis (35); encephalitis lethargica (32) following infection	(31, 32, 35)
Asian influenza pandemic	1957–1958	H2N2	acute psychotic manifestations: anxiety, confusion, restlessness, paranoia, abnormal electroencephalography 2-10 days after influenza onset, (36); excess of female births with an increased schizophrenia risk five months after the onset of the 1957 epidemic (37); however, no significant excess of schizophrenia cases in births in the 1959 epidemic (37);	(33, 36–43)
2009 influenza pandemic (swine flu)	2009–2010	H1N1	encephalitis, psychosis, including depressive-type psychosis and repetitive transient psychosis in children following infection	(44, 45)

of an increased risk for schizophrenia in late winter/spring season births (20, 46), raising the possibility of winter-borne infection as a plausible mechanism. Beginning with Mednick et al.'s 1988 study of a Finnish population exposed to the 1957 influenza A2 pandemic, epidemiological studies in the 1980s-1990s, of an ecological nature, described increased risk for schizophrenia in children who were in utero during an influenza epidemic (37-41). These studies are comprehensively reviewed in (47). Frequently, rates were highest for second trimester exposures, although the first trimester appeared also to be a period of increased risk. Some subsequent studies however-often with more accurate case ascertainment and larger samples-were not able to replicate these initial findings [e.g. (48, 49)]. While estimates of risk varied greatly and heterogeneity in methodology somewhat limits generalisability, a 2010 review calculated that maternal influenza exposure increased schizophrenia risk with an odds ratio of 3.0 and a population attributable proportion of 14% (47).

Partly because of the manifold methodological problems involved in imputing precisely who was exposed to influenza, these ecological studies were followed by so-called "seroepidemiological" studies, in which infection was verified using archived biological specimens: in one such early study first trimester maternal exposure was associated with a sevenfold increase in offspring schizophrenia risk, with threefold increase in risk associated with early-to-mid gestation exposure (50).

Other studies explored whether other viral and bacterial infections are associated with differential schizophrenia risk. A meta-analysis found that childhood viral infection was associated with a nearly twofold increased risk of adult nonaffective psychosis and that of all childhood infections, viral infections in particular, were associated with a nearly twofold increased risk of adult schizophrenia (18). However, bacterial infections were not associated with risk for psychosis, suggesting that risk may be specific for childhood viral infections.

Some controversy persists as to whether the evidence for maternal influenza as a schizophrenia risk factor is sufficient. A recent review of studies of schizophrenia risk in relation to the 1957 influenza pandemic criticised the serological studies for using strain-specific antibody titres that were too low to be specific for recent infection and so were insufficient as proxy measures of recent infection; furthermore, a pooled metaanalysis of eight ecological studies and one serological study found no overall increased risk of schizophrenia in children of influenza-exposed mothers (51). This review was in turn criticised as inappropriate given the heterogeneity of methods used in the pooled studies (52); furthermore it appeared to omit some relevant serological data [e.g. (39, 40)] and as it focuses on the 1957 pandemic only, it does not include studies on other strains of influenza infection and psychosis.

Complicating interpretation of ecological/epidemiological and serological studies is the fact that obstetric complications are more likely following influenza or influenza-like illness, and that obstetric complications are an independent risk factor for the subsequent development of psychotic disorders and/or symptoms (53–55).

Reconciling Maternal Infection With Influenza With the Neurodevelopmental Hypothesis of Schizophrenia

The late 1980s and 1990s saw the emergence of neurodevelopmental theories offering mechanistic accounts of how schizophrenia develops. The neurodevelopmental hypothesis (56, 57) posits that schizophrenia results from a pathological disruption of normal brain development which commences many years before schizophrenia onset (58). Infection and other insults could disrupt developmental processes such as cell proliferation, cell migration, arborisation, and myelination (59) with resulting brain structural alterations [e.g. ventricular enlargement, grey matter reductions, and white matter disruption; (60)]; activation of pathologically developed brain systems in adolescence or young adulthood then manifests in schizophrenia symptoms (59).

Amongst other criticisms, the theory fails to account for lateronset schizophrenia [45 years or older; (61)] and postadolescence changes (62). Extended neurodevelopmental models posited further "hits," e.g., genetic and environmental factors first predisposing to schizophrenia prenatally and then later in life ["three-hit" model, (63); multiple hit theory, (64)]. Infection is a possible "hit"; for instance, human endogenous retrovirus infections, activated by viruses including influenza, were suggested as late "hits" (64). This theory is consistent with evidence that maternal infection contributes to later increased offspring risk for childhood infections, which in turn contribute to schizophrenia development (65).

There is no clear evidence that genetic liability to schizophrenia increases the likelihood of influenza infection or predisposes to a disrupted immune response to influenza, or that influenza genetic risk loci are implicated in schizophrenia. In terms of genetic risk for influenza infection, while significant genetic effects accounting for the antibody level in influenza A and B (66, 67) have been reported with h^2 (heritability) range of 0.20-0.27 and c^2 (shared environnment) = 0.19 for influenza A and B (66), results for discrete serostatus (seropositive/seronegative) were significant for influenza B only. However, another GWAS of IgG response to viruses identified HLA class II residues as causal variants and found an overlap between variants affecting the humoral response to influenza A and variants linked to influenza-related autoimmune disorders including narcolepsy (68). Neither of these studies nor any others to date have directly addressed the issue of overlap between genetic risk for schizophrenia and specific risk for influenza infection, although this has been explored for other pathogens (69-71). A UK population-based cohort study of 7,921 mothers found no association between schizophrenia polygenic risk score (PRS) and perinatal infection (using a single "any infection" category) (72). Similarly, a case-control study by Benros et al. explored an association between schizophrenia PRS and a history of hospital contacts for viral infections, including influenza infection: PRS for schizophrenia did not account for the association between hospitalisation for infection and subsequent schizophrenia risk, indicating that schizophrenia risk does not increase proneness to such severe infections (73).

THE INFLUENZA VIRUS AND POTENTIAL PATHOLOGICAL MECHANISMS UNDERLYING THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN SCHIZOPHRENIA AND INFLUENZA INFECTION

Influenza: Structure and Pathophysiology

The influenza virus is an enveloped RNA virus from the family *Orthomyxoviridae*, with three genera, influenza A, B, and C (74). Given that influenza type A is responsible for pandemics (75) historically linked to schizophrenia and psychotic symptoms (see **Table 1**), we will focus on this alone. Influenza A viruses are classified into subtypes based on the antigenic properties of their envelope glycoproteins (see **Figure 1**), hemagglutinin, and neuraminidase. The viral envelope is a lipid membrane derived from plasma membrane of an infected host cell. Influenza strain targets also differ. Notably, the H5N1 virus and other avianderived strains are neurotropic while H1N1 is thought not to be (76–78).

For infection to be successful, hemagglutinin binds the influenza virus to its receptors, sialyloligosaccharides, on the host cell surface. The viral envelope and the host cell membrane fuse giving the viral RNA access to the host cell (74, 79). Neuraminidase facilitates virus release (74, 75). Following the production of viral particles in the nucleus of the host cell, the host cell lyses and dies (75). Protective immune responses from the cell occur; the viral hemagglutinin, neuraminidase, and matrix 2 (M2) proteins are targeted by antibodies; matrix 1 (M1) proteins are targeted by T cells (80); and nucleoproteins are targeted by T cells (81).

Experimental Paradigms of Maternal Infection

While maternal infection is reported to be a risk factor for schizophrenia, controversy remains concerning which biological processes underlie this risk. There is scant evidence for transplacental passage and persistence of the influenza virus in the offspring brain (82). More likely to be relevant are the effects of infection-induced maternal immune activation (MIA) on the developing brain (83).



MIA cannot be easily modelled in humans and longitudinal, prospective research on effects of infection during pregnancy on human development is scarce (84). Hence, translational animal models of MIA have been developed: these models have been critical in providing causality to the epidemiological data and are starting to provide clues as to the cellular and molecular mechanisms that may underlie the associations (83). Rodents in gestational periods are exposed either directly to a pathogen such as influenza, or more commonly to nonvirulent immuneactivating agents such as the viral mimetic polyriboinosinicpolyribocytidilic acid (poly(I:C)) or the bacterial endotoxin lipopolysaccharide (LPS), the inflammatory agent turpentine, or specific proinflammatory cytokines (83, 85). These animal models of MIA provide evidence for behavioral, neurochemical, neuroanatomic, and neurophysiologic disruptions in the offspring which map onto endophenotypes observed across human psychiatric disorders with a neurodevelopmental onset (83, 86). Such translational research complements the insights from human epidemiology by establishing causal relationships, identifying cellular and molecular mechanisms and offering the potential to explore therapeutic interventions (85, 86). Frequently, these aforementioned deficits in the MIA model demonstrate a maturational delay, such that they are not evident before young adulthood, and many studies have sought to mitigate these deficits with treatments (e.g., pharmacological, immunological, behavioral) (83). Another important etiological advance for such animal models is to recapitulate a "two-hit" approach, in which pathology becomes evident in MIA-exposed offspring only after a second hit, such as unpredictable psychological stress (87).

MIA may lead straightforwardly to damage to the foetal brain during the early stages of neurodevelopment (82), but may also provide entry into a deviant trajectory of neural development which predisposes offspring to behavioral deficits depending on the intensity of the infection and when in gestation it occurs [early vs. late—and potentially as late as the lactation stage (88)]. MIA-associated abnormalities have been described, sometimes inconsistently, for multiple brain cell types, all of which are implicated across psychiatric disorders from postmortem data and genetic studies to a greater or lesser extent: Schwann cells (89), astrocytes and microglia (90, 91), hippocampal GABAergic cells (92, 93), dopaminergic neurons (94), and parvalbumin interneurons (95, 96).

Notably, most rodent (and primate) MIA models use a dose of poly(I:C) which models a high intensity, acute and transient (<24 h) infection, the physiological relevance of which could be questioned. Furthermore, factors such as the source, molecular weight, and endotoxin contamination of experimental poly(I:C) may be unrecognised sources of variability in foetal outcomes (97). Although MIA models specifically using pathogens as the immune activating stimulus have become rarer in recent years, primarily due to increasingly stringent safety frameworks around the use of potentially virulent pathogens (98), a series of MIA studies using human H1N1 influenza infection by the group of S. Hossein Fatemi are particularly valuable in elucidating potential mechanisms of psychosis risk. Broadly, maternal human H1N1 infection has been demonstrated to cause abnormalities, within the offspring, of the following [summarized in (99) and (59)]:

Gene Expression: the breadth of gene expression changes was greater the later in embryonic development infection occurred; for example embryonic day 16 or 18 (E16 or E18) infection disrupted more genes, across more brain regions, than did E7 infection. Furthermore, infection at later embryonic stages disrupted expression of genes involved in myelination and implicated in schizophrenia risk.

Protein Expression: increase in production of potentially harmful neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS), reduction of reelin expression indicating abnormal neuronal migration and decreased synaptic plasticity, and downregulation of myelin basic protein.

Brain Structure: reduced cerebral cortical volume; increased total brain volume after early embryonic infection, decreased total brain volume after late infection.

Behavior: decreased prepulse inhibition (PPI), increased head twitch response.

Neurotransmitter Levels: reduced serotonin and taurine levels.

Placental Development: increased cytoarchitectural disorganisation, increased presence of immune cells, presence of variously sized thrombi, and dysregulation of placental gene expression.

Additional selected studies, focused on models of infection with influenza virus, are presented in **Table 2**.

Other animal studies have demonstrated associations between maternal influenza infection and schizophrenia-related neurotransmitter dysfunction including elevated serotonin 5-HT2A receptor expression in the frontal cortex (121), reductions of cerebellar serotonin levels at postpartum days (P) 14 and P35 (111, 115), downregulation of the metabotropic glutamate receptor 2 in the frontal cortex (121), and decrease in dopamine levels at P14 and P56 (115). Changes following poly (I:C) MIA exposure included subtle metabolic perturbations of postnatal prefrontal cortex maturation (124), and dynamic changes in volumes of multiple brain structures (125), including adult changes which can be prevented by periadolescent administration of antipsychotic medication (at nonantipsychotic dose equivalents) (126). Supporting the translational relevance of these studies, there is an emerging parallel literature in humans suggesting that early immune activation affects subsequent brain development and behavior: for example, maternal IL-6 levels during pregnancy predicted greater neonatal amygdala volumes and connectivity, which in turn predicted poorer impulse control at two years of age (127); complementary results for amygdala connectivity and internalizing behaviors have been reported for maternal cortisol levels (128).

An important mediator of the maternal immune response to infection is likely to be disruption of cytokines regulating brain development. Notably maternal infection could dysregulate cytokine networks either by direct transplacental transfer of cytokines to the foetus, by placental cytokine production or by increased foetal production of cytokines, including within the CNS (129). Cytokine dysregulation can result in perturbations of both proinflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines. The deleterious or protective effects of any individual cytokine are likely determined by its context within a network of proinflammatory and antiinflammatory mediators, dynamically responding to external and endogenous challenges with differential expression in different brain regions over time (130). For example, macrophage-driven expression of antiinflammatory IL-10 in a mouse model can attenuate the long-term effects of prenatal viral infection, but in the absence of inflammatory stimulus, IL-10 itself precipitates offspring behavioral abnormalities (131).

Cytokines are induced in response to inflammation by neurons, astrocytes, and microglia, with the role of activated microglia in schizophrenia pathogenesis being the object of much recent attention (132). MIA exposure leads to alterations of the microglial transcriptome, with an initial shift to a more reactive state proximal to the MIA insult, followed by a delay in the maturation of brain microglia, as compared to controls (133). Alterations in the microglial transcriptome also lead to phagocytic function abnormalities and behavioral abnormalities in the adult MIA offspring (134). Results from the MIA literature are heterogenous with regards to microglial activation in offspring (91). Some studies report increased microglial density [e.g. (135)], morphology [e.g. (136)] or expression of activation markers [e.g. (137)], while other studies using late MIA have failed to demonstrate long-term changes in microglia density, morphology, or activation (138). Inference regarding the translational relevance of these findings, too, has been limited by a lack of clarity around the utility of the putative human markers of microglial activation such as translocator protein (TSPO), bound by ligands in Positron Emission Tomography (PET) studies, and of microglial markers used in post-mortem studies; notably, in addition to microglia, both astrocytes and vascular endothelial cells show dynamic changes in TSPO expression in response to inflammatory stimuli, and in a mouse model schizophreniarelevant behavioral abnormalities and increased inflammatory cytokine expression were associated with reduced, rather than increased, prefrontal TSPO levels (139).

Both neurotropic and nonneurotropic influenza strains can cause microglial activation and potentially contribute to inflammation (76, 77). Innate immune training against influenza confers protection against infection with antiviral interferon-stimulated defence genes, including MXA (prevents nuclear import of the virus), IFITM3 and other IFITM proteins (block host-virus cell membrane fusion), and viperin [blocks influenza virus release; (140)]. Innate immune training also promotes disease tolerance of host tissues (140) and previous activation primes microglia to respond strongly to a new stimulus (141). Previous neuropathology potentially attunes microglia to respond more strongly to systemic inflammation (142), including inflammation by chronic mild stress in periadolesence following MIA (86). Consequently, infection could prime microglia towards heightened activation, potentially increasing the risk of developing psychotic symptoms (143); alternatively, the opposite could be true, i.e., that the microglia become tolerant and as such cannot respond flexibly to new stimuli.

Study	Year	Influenza virus type	Animal	Animal infected	Age of animal at assessment	Behavioral and physical outcomes	Pathological outcomes
Cotter et al. (100)	1995	A/ Singapore/ 1/57 (H2N2)	Mice	Mice between day 9-16 of pregnancy	Offspring 21 days postpartum	N/A	No excess pyramidal cell disarray when compared with influenza-free, age-matched controls. Cell disarray greater among mice exposed on day 13 of pregnancy
Fatemi et al. (101)	1998	AWSN/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 9 of pregnancy	Neonate pups at postnatal day 0 (P0; day of delivery)	N/A	Increased expression of membrane protein synaptosome-associated protein 25 kDa [SNAP-25), a presynaptic neuronal marker in the neonatal brain: 40%–347% over control in most septal–dorsal hippocampal layers; 10%–114% over control in all mid septo-temporal hippocampus layers, except for the hippocampal plate; but SNAP-25 expression was reduced in all temporal–ventral levels, infected layers by 21%–33% below control except for mild increases of 8.8% and 10% in subplate and hippocampal plate layers
Fatemi et al. (102)	1999	A/WSN/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 9 of pregnancy	Neonate pups at P0	N/A	Changes influencing levels of reelin, a protein responsible for normal lamination of the brain. Significant reductions in reelin-positive cell counts in layer I of neocortex and other cortical and hippocampal layers. Layer I Cajal–Retzius cells produced significantly less reelin. Decreases in neocortical and hippocampal thickness
Fatemi et al. (103)	2000	A/WSN/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 9 of pregnancy	Adolescent offspring (P35) and young adults (P56)	N/A	Changes in the levels of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) involved in synaptogenesis and excitotoxicity: increase of 147% in nNOS levels in the brain at P35, with an eventual 29% decrease on P56. Reductions in nNOS in middle and caudal brain areas on P35 and P56.
Aronsson et al. (104)	2001	A/WSN/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Four-week-old <i>Tap1</i> (antigen peptide transporter 1) gene knockout mice	7 days and 10, 12, and 17 months p.i.	N/A	Viral RNA encoding the nonstructural NS1 protein was detected in sections at midbrain levels in most animals. Negative-strand genomic RNA and positive- strand RNA, including mRNA, were found. RNA encoding nucleoprotein and polymerases, which form the replicative complex of the virus, were detected in fewer brains. RNA encoding envelope proteins were found only in occasional brains. No viral cDNA could be identified
Aronsson et al. (82)	2002	A/WSN/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 14 of pregnancy	Foetuses at pregnancy day 17; offspring 10, 20, 35, 60, and 90 days of age	N/A	Viral RNA encoding matrix and/or nucleoprotein detected in a proportion of foetal brains and lungs, viral RNA detected in some placentas. RNA persisted for at least 90 days of postnatal life
Fatemi et al. (105)	2002	A/WSN/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 9 of pregnancy	Offspring at P0, P14 and P35	N/A	Altered expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), a marker of gliosis, neuron migration, and reactive injury: increases in GFAP-positive density in exposed cortical and hippocampal cells; ependymal cell layer GFAP-IR cell counts showed increases with increasing brain age from P0 to P14 and P35 in infected groups. The GFAP-positive cells in showed 'hypertrophy' and more stellate morphology
Fatemi et al. (106)	2002	A/WSN/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 9 of pregnancy	Neonates at P0 and 14-week-old offspring	One exposed group with deficient prepulse inhibition (PPI), one group did not show abnormal PPI	The rate of pyramidal cell proliferation per unit area decreased from birth to adulthood in both control and exposed groups, nonpyramidal cell growth rate
Shi et al. (107)	2003	A/NWS/ 33CHINI (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 9.5 of pregnancy	Adult offspring	Show abnormal PPI Deficient PPI; deficient responses to acute administration of clozapine, chlorpromazine and ketamine; deficient exploratory behavior in open-field and novel-object	increased only in the exposed adult mice N/A

TABLE 2 | Continued

Study	Year	Influenza virus type	Animal	Animal infected	Age of animal at assessment	Behavioral and physical outcomes	Pathological outcomes
						tests; deficient social interaction	
Asp et al. [108)	2005	A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 14 of pregnancy	Offspring sampled at E17 and sex- matched animals on P35, P60, and P90	N/A	Levels of transcripts encoding neuroleukin and fibroblast growth factor 5 were significantly elevated the brains of the virus-exposed offspring at 90 and 280 days of age, but not at earlier time-points. For neuroleukin, this difference could also be observed a the protein level
Fatemi et al. (109)	2005	A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 9 of pregnancy	Newborn offspring	N/A	Significant upregulation of 21 genes and downregulation of 18 genes in brains of day 0 exposed offspring, including genes involved in signal transduction/cell communication, solute transport, protein metabolism, energy metabolism, nucleic acic metabolism, immune response, and cell growth and maintenance
Asp et al. (110)	2007	A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Newborn offspring infected on P3	Newborn offspring on P3; whole brains were sampled at: embryonal day (E)17 and P7, P13, and P24. From two animals, the hippocampus, cortex, and cerebellum were dissected from freshly prepared brains at P3, P10, P15, and P27	N/A	Increased levels of transcripts encoding Gcm1 and syncytin B, but not syncytin A, in NIH-3T3 cells as we as in mouse primary neurons or glia. Overexpression of human GCM1 in NIH-3T3 cells resulted in increase levels of transcripts encoding syncytin B but not syncytin A. Systemic administration of neurotropic influenza A virus resulted in a neuronal infection and increased levels of Gcm1-encoding transcripts in brains of young mice
Fatemi et al. (111)	2008	A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 18 of pregnancy	Male offspring tested at birth (P0), childhood (P14), adolescence (P35), and young adulthood (P56)	N/A	Altered gene expression of Sema3a, Trfr2 and Vldlr and altered protein levels of Foxp2. Embryonic day 1 mother infection led to significant gene alterations in frontal, hippocampal and cerebellar cortices of developing offspring. Significant atrophy in several brain areas and white matter thinning in corpus callosum. Altered levels of serotonin (P14, P35), 5- Hydroxyindoleacetic acid (P14) and taurine (P35)
Fatemi et al. (112)	2008	A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 9 of pregnancy	Offspring tested at birth (P0), childhood (P14), adolescence (P35), and young adulthood (P56)	N/A	Changes in mRNA and protein levels of nucleolin, aquaporin 4, and connexin 43 (markers involved in ribosomal RNA transcription, potentially viral replication, water transport, and changes in brains of subjects with autism): nucleolin mRNA and aquaporii 4 significantly decreased in neocortex at P0 and P35 Protein levels were significantly upregulated at P35 and P56 in neocortex and P56 in cerebellum Microcephalin mRNA was significantly decreased in neocortex at P56 and protein levels were significantly decreased at P56 in the cerebellum
Fatemi et al. (113)		A/NWS/33 (H1N1)		Mice on day 16 of pregnancy	Offspring at P35 and P56		Twofold or greater upregulation of 103 genes and downregulation of 102 genes in cerebellum at P35. Twofold or greater upregulation of 27 genes and downregulation of 23 genes in the cerebellum at P56 Genes with their regulation disrupted are involved in cell growth and/or maintenance, channel proteins, membrane receptors, signalling, and transcription regulation, among other functions
Holtze et al. (114)	2008	A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice infected at infected at P3 or P4	Whole brains from both sexes sampled at P7, P13, or P24	N/A	Altered levels of transcripts encoding several key enzymes of the kynurenine pathway observed in the brain on P7 and P13 but not on day P24. On P13, infiltrating T lymphocytes and increased levels of kynurenic acid in the brains of the infected animals

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Study	Year	Influenza virus type	Animal	Animal infected	Age of animal at assessment	Behavioral and physical outcomes	Pathological outcomes
Winter et al. (115)	2008	A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 16 of pregnancy	Male offspring tested at P0, P14, P35, and P56	N/A	A significant decrease in serotonin levels in the cerebella of offspring of virally exposed mice at P14. No differences in dopamine levels between exposed and control mice. A significant decrease in dopamine at P14 and P56 compared to P0
Asp et al. (116)	2009	A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Wild-type mice and <i>Tap1</i> gene knockout mice infected at P3 or P4	3–4-months-old male mice	Infected <i>Tap1</i> gene knockout mice, but not wild type mice, exhibited deficits in working memory, increased rearing activity, and anxiety	Reduced levels of type III $Nrg1$ transcripts in the medial prefrontal cortices of $Tap1$ gene knockout mice were observed. The lack of CD8 ⁺ T cells appeared to contribute to a more pronounced glia response in $Tap1$ gene knockout mice than in wild-type mice
Shi et al. (117)	2009	A/NWS/ 33CHINI (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 9.5 of pregnancy	Adult offspring and offspring 11 days of age	N/A	Purkinje cells deficit in the cerebellum
Fatemi et al. (118)	2009	(H1N1) A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 16 of pregnancy	Male offspring tested at P0, P14, P35, and P56	N/A	Altered expression of myelination-related genes, including <i>Mbp</i> , <i>Mag</i> , and <i>Plp1</i> , and altered levels of proteins Mbp, Mag, and DM20. Significant atrophy in cerebellum at P14, reduced fractional anisotropy in white matter of the right internal capsule at P0, increased fractional anisotropy in white matter in corpus callosum at P14 and right middle cerebellar peduncle at P56
Fatemi et al. (119)	2009	A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 16 of pregnancy	Male offspring tested at P0, P14, P35, and P56	N/A	Altered gene expression in the hippocampus at P0, P14, and P56 including <i>Aqp4</i> , <i>Mbp</i> , <i>Nts</i> , <i>Foxp2</i> , <i>Nrcam</i> , and <i>Gabrg1</i> . Downregulation of myelination genes <i>Mag</i> , <i>Mog</i> , <i>Mobp</i> , <i>Mal</i> , and <i>Plp1</i> at P0. Reduction in hippocampal volume at P35
Asp et al. (120)	2010	A/WSN/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Wild-type mice and <i>Tap1</i> gene knockout mice infected at P3 or P4	Male mice at age 5– 6 months tested for PPI; whole brains of the <i>Tap1</i> gene knockout mice sampled at P7, P13, and P24 to explore the kynurenine pathway	Tap1 gene knockout mice, but not wild-type mice, exhibited a reduction in PPI at 5–6 months of age	Levels of several transcripts in the kynurenine pathway altered at P7, P13 and P24. Transcripts encoding indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), degrading tryptophan in the first step of the kynurenine pathway were consistently up-regulated
Moreno et al. (121)	2011	A/WSN/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 9.5 of pregnancy	Adult offspring (10– 12 weeks of age)	Increased head-twitch response to hallucinogens, diminished antipsychotic- like effect of the glutamate agonist	In frontal cortex, the upregulated 5-HT(2A) receptor and the downregulated mGlu(2) receptor. The cortical 5-HT(2A) receptor-dependent signalling pathways altered, showing higher c-fos, egr-1, and egr-2 expression in response to the hallucinogenic drug DO
Landreau et al. (94)	2012	A/New Caledonia/ 20/99-like (H1N1) (A/ NC-L/99), A/Sydney/ 5/97-like (H3N2) (A/ Sy-L/97), A/WSN/33 (H1N1)	Rats and mice	Primary cultures of rat mesencephalon infected after day 14 of pregnancy; mothers on day 9–11 of pregnancy	Neurons from rat embryos recovered at day 14 of pregnancy; offspring of mice infected in pregnancy tested at 30 and 90 days of age	The A/WSN/33 strain associated with greater behavioral impairment (exploration, novel objects, and spontaneous activity) than A/NC-L/99. Offspring of mother infected with both influenza virus strains showed behavioral abnormalities in exploration, anxiety and working memory. Behavioral alterations emerged in different neurodevelopmental stages depending on the strain, appearing in adult life in offspring of mothers infected with A/NC-L/99	Selective loss of dopaminergic neurons. H1N1 strains had the greatest affinity for dopaminergic neurons, an H3N2 strain induced apoptosis preferentially in other cell types and did not result in NFkB activation. Only following the H1N1 strains infection a selective loss of dopaminergic neurons in substantia nigra pars compacta and ventral tegmental area of the offspring. Loss of dopaminergic neurons more pronounced in the adult offspring of mothers infected with the neuroadapted A/WSN/33 than with the respiratory strain A/NC-L/99

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Study	Year	Influenza virus type	Animal	Animal infected	Age of animal at assessment	Behavioral and physical outcomes	Pathological outcomes
Fatemi et al. (122)	2012	A/WSN/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 7 of pregnancy	Placentae of pregnant mice; male offspring tested at P0, P14, P35, and P56	N/A	Upregulation of 77 genes and significant downregulation of 93 genes in placentas. Changes ir gene expression in prefrontal cortex (6 upregulated and 24 downregulated at P0; 5 upregulated and 14 downregulated at P56) and hippocampus (4 upregulated and 6 downregulated at P0; 6 upregulated and 13 downregulated at P56) of exposed offspring. Placentas from infected mice with morphological abnormalities including presence of thrombi and increased presence of immune cells. No H1N1 viral-specific genes for M1/M2, NA, and NS1 i placentas of infected mice and brains of exposed offspring
Fatemi et al. (123)	2017	A/NWS/33 (H1N1)	Mice	Mice on day 16 of pregnancy	Male offspring tested at P0, P14, P35, and P56	N/A	Changes in proteins FMRP, VLDLR, GAD65, and GAD67 in cerebella of exposed offspring on specific postnatal dates which implies disrupted FMRP, glutamatergic, and Reelin signalling leading to developmental abnormalities

In terms of potential downstream consequences of such foetal microglial activation, there is an emerging literature implicating the role of microglia in shaping brain development, including the potential for synaptic pruning via the full or partial engulfment [phago- or trogocytosis (144)] and putative degradation of synaptic inputs, a process mediated at least in the rodent visual thalamus in a complement and activity-dependent manner (145), which may also involve other molecular mediators such as TREM2 for example or the fractalkine receptor [CX3CR1; (146)] [potential mechanisms are reviewed in (147)]. Given the well-replicated finding of reduced dendritic spine number in schizophrenia (148), and evidence that patient-derived microglia-like cells are capable of synapse elimination at least in vitro (149), it is plausible also that maternal infection-induced foetal microglial activation could lead to later psychopathology through upregulation of synaptic pruning mechanisms (or conversely, loss of them: for example, early in development, microglia contact of neurons actually stimulates dendritic spine formation (150) suggesting the underexplored possibility that different pathologies play out in a potentially time- and region-specific manner).

Additionally, influenza infection may lead to placental abnormalities that result in hypoxia and/or nutritional deficiency or foetal brain growth restriction (122). Brain abnormalities may also stem from the maternal immune response whereby maternal autoantibodies are transported *via* the placenta and interact with foetal brain antigens to disrupt brain development [the teratogenic antibody hypothesis of schizophrenia; (151–153)]. The concept of infection-induced brain autoimmunity is explored in the next section.

INFLUENZA AND AUTOIMMUNITY

Research on autoimmune disorders and schizophrenia dates to the 1950s, when schizophrenia was found to be protective against the development of rheumatoid arthritis (154, 155). Subsequently, the cooccurrence of schizophrenia with celiac disease was noted [e.g. (156)]. Recent meta-analysis suggests a positive association between nonneurological autoimmune disorders and psychosis (157). The risk for developing schizophrenia in people with autoimmune disorders was found to increase in association with increasing number of hospitalisations for infections (158), suggesting a synergistic effect. Drawing on the clinical observation that patients with autoantibody-mediated encephalitis frequently presented with psychosis (159), serological research has reported the presence of these same autoantibodies against cell surface neuronal antigens in some patients with schizophrenia [e.g. (160, 161)]. An extensive literature also focuses on markers of previous infection (usually IgG antibodies to specific pathogens, including influenza) in adults with psychotic disorders, with exposure to several organisms associated with increased schizophrenia risk or risk for a specific psychosis symptom profile (e.g. impaired cognition) (17, 162).

Viral infection, Neuronal Surface Autoantibodies and Psychosis: Anti-NMDAR Encephalitis as a Model of Autoimmune Psychosis With Potential Infective Antecedents

Autoimmune encephalitis (AE) frequently presents with acute psychosis in adults (163, 164). Autoantibodies to a variety of CNS cell surface antigens (neuronal surface autoantibodies; NSAbs) have been implicated in AE, including the NMDAR and more rarely LGI1, CASPR2, AMPAR, GABA_AR, GABA_BR, D2R, DPPX, mGluR5, and GlyR (165–169). Of the autoimmune encephalitides associated with the above antigens, NMDAR encephalitis presents most frequently with psychosis. The typical pattern includes prodromal malaise, or influenza-like symptoms, before the emergence of psychiatric symptoms. 4%

of patients show isolated psychotic episodes at presentation or relapse (170) and behavioral and cognitive impairments including psychosis are predominant early symptoms (171). The psychosis reported in anti-NMDAR encephalitis is distinctive, polymorphic (with significant affective elements) and does not correspond clearly to currently existing categories of psychotic disorder in mainstream psychiatric use (172). Anti-NMDAR encephalitis is caused by IgG antibodies directed against an epitope on the N-terminal domain of the NR1 subunit of the NMDA glutamate receptor (173, 174), with intrathecal antibody production by B lymphocyte descendants thought to be essential for pathogenesis.

Anti-NMDAR encephalitis is associated with ovarian teratoma in under a third of cases. An intriguing association between infection and the development of the disorder became apparent when it was observed that a number of patients experiencing "relapses" following herpes simplex virus (HSV) encephalitis had cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) NMDAR antibodies, suggesting that these "relapses" were in fact a postinfectious AE, rather than the result of reinfection or viral reactivation (175). Subsequent work has established that NMDAR antibody production can occur following HSV encephalitis even in the absence of clear "relapse" or encephalopathy (176), and that nonencephalitic HSV infection is also more common in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis (177). Other viral pathogens-including Epstein Barr Virus, Human Herpesvirus 6, cytomegalovirus, adenovirus and HIVhave been implicated in this and other autoimmune encephalitides [including those characterized by antibodies to the GABA_A and GABA_B receptors, the AMPA receptor and the dopamine D2 receptor; reviewed in (178)].

A potential association between anti-NMDAR encephalitis and influenza is supported by reports of at least five patients who developed the disorder following influenza vaccination (179– 182)—although in none of these cases can causation be proven. A phylogenetic relationship has been suggested between microRNAs related to anti-NMDAR encephalitis and the H1N1 influenza virus, with some authors suggesting a theoretical basis for the possibility that anti-NMDAR encephalitis could be induced by influenza vaccination [(183); see also next section].

Anti-NMDAR encephalitis shares clinical features with EL in children, and indeed NMDAR antibodies have been reported in children with contemporary EL (184). When considered in the light of classic research on EL following the 1918-1919 Spanish influenza pandemic (32), this suggests a potential relationship between influenza infection, NSAbs and psychosis in anti-NMDAR encephalitis. [The association between influenza and EL is, however, highly controversial, not least because of temporal and geographical discrepancies between the start of the pandemic and the first recorded EL cases, as well as studies on post-mortem tissue which have frequently failed to find evidence of influenza virus; but given historical issues with case ascertainment and storage of biological samples potentially undermining efforts at viral detection, the association remains a plausible hypothesis for some authors (185)].

This interpretation is supported by findings that anti-NMDAR encephalitis may be seasonal, with a peak in incidence during winter (186), potentially converging with seasonality of influenza. Recent research found that Māori and Pacific Island populations have higher incidence and potentially more severe outcomes of anti-NMDAR encephalitis, a finding of significance given that population's apparent increased susceptibility to severe influenza infection (187, 188).

NMDAR antibodies are of interest in schizophrenia because of their links to the glutamate/NMDAR hypofunction hypothesis of psychotic disorders: NMDAR antibodies found in patients with schizophrenia can disrupt NMDAR dynamics *in vivo* (189, 190) providing *prima facie* support for the NMDAR hypofunction hypothesis. Crucially, Hammer et al. (191) reported the presence of influenza virus A or B IgG was significantly associated with NMDAR antibody seropositivity in a large cohort of adult patients with psychotic disorders and disease and healthy controls, a finding that was subsequently replicated in an independent cohort (192).

Acquired Neuronal Autoimmunity and Its Relevance to the Maternal Exposure Model

As described above, infection-induced neuronal autoimmunity may have relevance for some acute psychoses. However neuronal autoimmunity also has relevance in the context of maternal transmission. Maternal-foetal transfer of pathogenic antibodies has long been proposed as a potential mechanism in the development of ASD and, to a lesser extent, for schizophrenia also (153). Although not formally regarded as part of the MIA paradigm, recent animal models have had some successes in recapitulating neurodevelopmental phenotypes in immunisation paradigms whereby maternal antibodies are transferred to the offspring, resulting in neuropathological and behavioral abnormalities (193-195). Two of these studies used CASPR2 antibodies, cell surface IgG antibodies which have been implicated in encephalitis and a variety of peripheral nerve manifestations. Intriguingly, a study by Coutinho et al. found that NMDAR antibodies were more frequent in mothers of children with neurodevelopmental disorders, who themselves (i.e. the mothers) subsequently developed psychosis. This finding was not replicated in another cohort in which the mothers did not go on to develop psychosis, but clearly mandates attempts at replication (196). A recent animal study has shown that maternal-foetal transfer of recombinant NMDAR NR1 antibodies-at levels that did not affect the behavior of the pregnant mother-resulted in impaired neurodevelopmental reflexes, reduced anxiety, motor hyperactivity, and impaired sensorimotor gating, the latter two of which were regarded as psychosis-like phenotypes (197) (but see section "Experimental paradigms of maternal infection" for transdiagnostic relevance of these behaviors).

Influenza and Molecular Mimicry

The association between influenza infection and NMDAR autoantibody status may have structural molecular basis. The influenza A M2 channel and NMDAR share a ligand, the antiviral compound amantadine (198), suggesting putative structural homology which could form the basis for NMDAR autoimmunity occurring after infection. In molecular mimicry,

there is sharing of sequences, such as linear amino acid sequences, by molecules from dissimilar genes or their protein products. In infection, if the virus shares cross-reactive epitopes for B or T cells with the host, the host immune cells can target both the infecting agent and the host itself, potentially inducing autoimmune disease (199). The processes involved include T_c cells damaging self-tissue by lysis or T_h cells releasing cytokines. Cytokines in turn activate macrophages or stimulate secretion of antibodies, and antibodies bind to cross-reactive epitopes on the surface of tissues, triggering further cytokine production by macrophages (200). Damaged tissues can also release new selfepitopes which activate autoantigen-reactive T and B cells, recognising those self-epitopes [epitope spreading; (201)].

There are multiple strands of evidence that influenza infection may have an aetiological role in systemic autoimmunity, including in Henoch-Schonlein purpura, type 1 diabetes mellitus and antiphospholipid syndrome [reviewed in (202)]. In one study, influenza vaccination induced autoimmunity (primarily antiphospholipid antibodies) in apparently healthy volunteers (203). H1N1 infection in rabbits has also been shown to induce brain-reactive antibodies, including to a 37kDa target also present in humans (204). Precedent for the role of influenza exposure initiating neurological disorder, potentially via molecular mimicry, exists for Guillain-Barre syndrome (205) and narcolepsy, in which hypocretin-producing neurons could be an autoimmune target due to molecular mimicry between H1N1 virus-derived antigen and a neuronal autoantigen in HLA-DQB1*06:02 positive patients (206, 207); see (208) for an example model of narcolepsy. This association is supported by epidemiological findings of an increased risk of narcolepsy in children following the H1N1 vaccination, Pandemrix (209, 210), and by serological findings that antibodies to influenza nucleoprotein might cross-react with hypocretin receptor 2 in patients with Pandemrix vaccination [(211), although see (212–214)].

Further evidence for molecular mimicry as a bridging link between influenza infection, the adaptive immune response and neurodevelopmental risk for schizophrenia comes from gene sequence overlap between the H5N1 virus and genes abnormally regulated in schizophrenia (215). Furthermore, the H1N1 influenza antiviral protein hemagglutinin was found to share peptide structure with a variety of human axon guidance proteins; the majority of proteins identified as containing homologous sequences are involved in processes which, if disrupted, could lead to deviant neurodevelopmental trajectories. The observed peptide matches were conserved across influenza strains and frequently involved experimentally validated hemagglutinin epitopes (216). Finally, the NMDAR 2A subunit was found to share peptides with several pathogens, including the influenza A virus (217). The findings suggest that anti-pathogen immune responses to the influenza A virus may cross-react with multiple schizophrenia-related proteins. This reaction could potentially trigger processes which may ultimately lead to schizophrenia. Work from our group has confirmed the higher-than-expected overlap between the influenza proteome and schizophrenia-relevant proteins, additionally identifying hemagglutinin as contributing, amongst influenza proteins, the

most extensive peptide sharing [Kepinska et al., *in submission*; see also (218)].

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Converging evidence demonstrates that infection with the influenza virus has a multiplicity of effects on prenatal and postnatal processes which, when disrupted, could result in increased risk of the development of schizophrenia or acute psychoses in adulthood. **Figure 2** outlines potential prenatal and postnatal pathogenic contributions. Nonetheless, it is important to emphasise that infection has been linked with increased risk of several psychiatric disorders (see *Introduction*). It is therefore not clear to what extent the mechanisms discussed in this review are schizophrenia-specific, or whether, as is highly likely, other factors may shape the clinical expression of disease.

Outstanding questions and possible future experimental approaches are summarized in **Box A**. Future immunityfocused research on schizophrenia and influenza should further explore the relationship between infection and the innate and adaptive immune response in schizophrenia using animal models and large-scale serological studies in patients at different stages of disease. To date, MIA models typically include very little deep immunophenotyping, and discussion of the adaptive immune response in these models has been almost entirely lacking. Standardised and more sensitive testing technologies are required, including improved noninvasive methods to assess central neuroinflammation in humans and nonhuman animals (222, 223).

Recent developments in stem cell technology suggest the possibility of using induced pluripotent stem-cell (iPSC) microglia-like cells [as per (149)] to assess how influenza infection affects the phenotype of these cells. Potentially, iPSC-derived cerebral organoids [so-called 'mini brains' (224)] could offer a window into the effects of influenza infection on relevant aspects of neurodevelopment.

While this paper reviews limited case studies and series indicating that in some instances influenza vaccination has been linked to CNS-directed autoimmunity, there is currently no evidence demonstrating a clear association between influenza vaccination and the development of schizophrenia or other psychotic disorders. The limited reported cases constitute a weight of evidence which is far weaker than the many epidemiological studies supporting the association between maternal influenza infection and schizophrenia. Influenza vaccination-both pandemic and seasonal-has saved and continues to save countless millions of lives worldwide, with an overwhelming evidence base supporting its efficacy. Within this context, influenza vaccination may nonetheless represent an asyet underutilised opportunity for epidemiological and mechanistic explorations of potential influenza-psychosis associations. For example, healthy volunteers having the vaccination could be assessed using immunophenotyping, brain imaging, and behavioral measures to further characterize the acute response to influenza exposure [analogous to similar



Box A | Outstanding questions for future research.

- Do influenza MIA models, or models of adulthood influenza infection, demonstrate an antibody response to brain antigens including, for example, the NMDAR?

- Is there an epidemiological association between influenza vaccination (maternal, childhood or adulthood; seasonal or pandemic) with differential risk of subsequent development of psychotic disorder?

- Is antiviral use in pregnancy associated with a reduced risk of psychotic disorders in offspring?

- Is the acute response to influenza infection or vaccination in healthy individuals instructive for understanding the development of psychosis? Relevant approaches could include neuroimaging and behavioral testing following vaccination, similar to paradigms using LPS or typhoid vaccine administration (219–221).

- Will next generation viral metagenomic sequencing reveal differential presence of virus in biofluids from patients with psychotic disorders?

- Can an *in silico* approach be used to assess the plausibility of the molecular mimicry hypothesis, potentially assessing linear or structural overlap between viral proteome and schizophrenia-relevant proteins?

human studies of the acute response to LPS or typhoid vaccine administration (219–221)].

From the perspective of prevention of psychosis, consideration has been given to the potential use of antiviral medication in at-risk pregnant women. Although human studies are lacking, pilot studies in mice suggest that giving oseltamivir to pregnant mice can prevent some influenza-induced changes in the offspring (99). And while oseltamivir is regarded as having a favourable profile in pregnancy, there are no data on the long-term effects on neurodevelopment in human children.

Consideration has also been given to the potential role of influenza vaccines prior to, or during, pregnancy as a preventive measure to limit the prenatal teratogenic influence of viruses (225-227). The seasonal influenza vaccine has established efficacy in preventing maternal infection, as well as partially preventing the infant through passive immunity, and its administration remains best practice for protection of mother and child, with the World Health Organisation recognising pregnant women as a priority vulnerable group. In addition, educating pregnant women to contact their healthcare provide if they have a fever is recommended in order to expedite administration of antiviral medication and supportive care (228). Some authors consider the fact that influenza vaccination is not recommended in the first trimester in some countries as cause for concern, leaving women and the developing foetus vulnerable during a critical neurodevelopmental window (228). Epidemiologically, first trimester (or any other trimester) pandemic influenza vaccination does not appear to be associated with increased childhood morbidity (229). Although neurodevelopmental outcome data are largely lacking, some mouse models suggested that influenza vaccination early in pregnancy can indeed promote behavioral function and neurogenesis in the offspring, and confer protection from the effects of MIA with LPS (230, 231). One note of caution has been raised by a cohort study of nearly 200,000 children in California which reported a small but statistically significantly increased risk of ASD following first

trimester vaccination (232); unsurprisingly the report was controversial, with ensuing disagreement concerning interpretation of the findings and whether the correct statistical measures were used (233, 234).

Given that the vast majority of children of mothers who experience an infection do not develop psychiatric disease, recent consideration has been given to maternal and foetal mechanisms of resilience to perinatal infection and inflammation: these include maternal nutritional status, the microbiome, and a variety of postnatal environmental factors (235). In terms of interventions within the MIA paradigm that have potential widespread relevance, dietary supplementation with omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) may represent an attractive preventative strategy (236, 237).

An increase in our understanding of neuro-immune interactions has enabled a fuller understanding of the mechanistic underpinnings of the neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia and have contributed to a more nuanced picture of schizophrenia pathogenesis which can accommodate the influence of influenza infections after the perinatal period. Our understanding of both influenza and schizophrenia has changed immensely since the 1918-1919 pandemic. The development of next-generation genetic, immunological and bioinformatic technologies may bring a resolution of the centuries-old puzzle of the relationship between influenza and psychosis.

REFERENCES

- Owen MJ, Sawa A, Mortensen PB. Schizophrenia. Lancet (2016) 388 (10039):86–97. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01121-6
- Khandaker GM, Cousins L, Deakin J, Lennox BR, Yolken R, Jones PB. Inflammation and immunity in schizophrenia: implications for pathophysiology and treatment. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2(3):258–70. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(14)00122-9
- Corvin A, Morris DW. Genome-wide association studies: findings at the major histocompatibility complex locus in psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75(4):276–83. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.09.018
- Purcell SM, Wray NR, Stone JL, Visscher PM, O'Donovan MC, Sullivan PF, et al. Common polygenic variation contributes to risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Nature* (2009) 460(7256):748–52. doi: 10.1038/nature08185
- McGuffin P, Power RA. Schizophrenia as a human leukocyte antigenassociated disease revisited. Am J Psychiatry (2013) 170(8):821–3. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13030336
- Consortium, S.G.o.t.P.G. Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. Nature (2014) 511(7510):421–7. doi: 10.1038/nature13595
- Sekar A, Bialas AR, de Rivera H, Davis A, Hammond TR, Kamitaki N, et al. Schizophrenia risk from complex variation of complement component 4. *Nature* (2016) 530(7589):177–83. doi: 10.1038/nature16549
- Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics, C. Biological insights from 108 schizophrenia-associated genetic loci. *Nature* (2014) 511 (7510):421–7. doi: 10.1038/nature13595
- van Mierlo HC, Schot A, Boks MPM, de Witte ,LD. The association between schizophrenia and the immune system: review of the evidence from unbiased 'omic-studies'. Schizophr Res (2019) in press. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.05.028
- Network and Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, C.,. Psychiatric genome-wide association study analyses implicate neuronal, immune and histone pathways. *Nat Neurosci* (2015) 18(2):199–209. doi: 10.1038/nn.3922

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TP, RM, CI and AK developed the initial idea for the review. AK and TP wrote the first draft of the manuscript. AK, CI, AV, RY, RM and TP contributed to revision and editing of the manuscript.

FUNDING

TP was supported in a Clinical Research Training Fellowship by the Wellcome Trust (grant number: 105758/Z/14/Z) and in a clinical lectureship by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). AK is funded by the NIHR Maudsley Biomedical Research Centre at South London and Maudsley Foundation Trust and King's College London. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care. AV acknowledges financial support from the Medical Research Council (New Investigator Research Grant (NIRG), MR/N025377/1). The work (at King's College, London) was also supported by the Medical Research Council (MRC) Centre grant (MR/N026063/1). AV has received research funding from F. Hoffman La Roche Ltd and UBC Biopharma SPRL as part of a research programme on early life immune activation. The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of F. Hoffman La Roche or UCB Biopharma SPRL. These funders had no influence on the decision to publish this work.

- Pouget JG. The emerging immunogenetic architecture of schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull (2018) 44(5):993–1004. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby038
- Pouget JG, Schizophrenia Working Group of the Psychiatric Genomics Consortium, Han B, Wu Y, Mignot E, Ollila HM, et al. Cross-disorder analysis of schizophrenia and 19 immune-mediated diseases identifies shared genetic risk. *Hum Mol Genet* (2019) 28(20):3498–513. doi: 10.1093/ hmg/ddz145
- Benros ME, Mortensen PB, Eaton WW. Autoimmune diseases and infections as risk factors for schizophrenia. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2012) 1262:56–66. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06638.x
- Benros ME, Nielsen PR, Nordentoft M, Eaton WW, Dalton SO, Mortensen PB. Autoimmune diseases and severe infections as risk factors for schizophrenia: a 30-year population-based register study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(12):1303–10. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11030516
- Kohler O, Petersen L, Mors O, Mortensen PB, Yolken RH, Gasse C, et al. Infections and exposure to anti-infective agents and the risk of severe mental disorders: a nationwide study. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2017) 135(2):97–105. doi: 10.1111/acps.12671
- Lydholm CN, Kohler-Forsberg O, Nordentoft M, Yolken RH, Mortensen PB, Petersen L, et al. Parental infections before, during, and after pregnancy as risk factors for mental disorders in childhood and adolescence: a Nationwide danish study. *Biol Psychiatry* (2019) 85(4):317–25. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.09.013
- Yolken RH, Torrey EF. Are some cases of psychosis caused by microbial agents? a review of the evidence. *Mol Psychiatry* (2008) 13(5):470–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2008.5
- Khandaker GM, Zimbron J, Dalman C, Lewis G, Jones PB. Childhood infection and adult schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of population-based studies. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 139(1-3):161–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.05.023
- Khandaker GM, Zimbron J, Lewis G, Jones PB. Prenatal maternal infection, neurodevelopment and adult schizophrenia: a systematic review of population-based studies. *Psychol Med* (2013) 43(2):239–57. doi: 10.1017/ S0033291712000736

- Torrey EF, Miller J, Rawlings R, Yolken RH. Seasonality of births in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a review of the literature. *Schizophr Res* (1997) 28(1):1–38. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(97)00092-3
- Barichello T, Badawy M, Pitcher MR, Saigal P, Generoso JS, Goularte JA, et al. Exposure to perinatal infections and bipolar disorder: a systematic review. *Curr Mol Med* (2016) 16(2):106–18. doi: 10.2174/ 1566524016666160126143741
- Marangoni C, Hernandez M, Faedda GL. The role of environmental exposures as risk factors for bipolar disorder: a systematic review of longitudinal studies. J Affect Disord (2016) 193:165–74. doi: 10.1016/ j.jad.2015.12.055
- Brown AS. The Kraepelinian dichotomy from the perspective of prenatal infectious and immunologic insults. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(4):786–91. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv063
- Canetta SE, Bao Y, Co MD, Ennis FA, Cruz J, Terajima M, et al. Serological documentation of maternal influenza exposure and bipolar disorder in adult offspring. *Am J Psychiatry* (2014) 171(5):557–63. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.2013.13070943
- Brown AS. Epidemiologic studies of exposure to prenatal infection and risk of schizophrenia and autism. *Dev Neurobiol* (2012) 72(10):1272–6. doi: 10.1002/dneu.22024
- 26. Kohler-Forsberg O, Petersen L, Gasse C, Mortensen PB, Dalsgaard S, Yolken RH, et al. A nationwide study in Denmark of the association between treated infections and the subsequent risk of treated mental disorders in children and adolescents. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2019) 76(3):271–9. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.3428
- Benros ME, Waltoft BL, Nordentoft M, Ostergaard SD, Eaton WW, Krogh J, et al. Autoimmune diseases and severe infections as risk factors for mood disorders: a nationwide study. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70(8):812–20. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.1111
- Honigsbaum M. A History of the Great Influenza Pandemics: Death, Panic and Hysteria. London: I.B. Tauris (2014) p. 1830–920.
- Honigsbaum M. "An inexpressible dread": psychoses of influenza at fin-desiecle. Lancet (2013) 381(9871):988–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60701-1
- Menninger KA. Psychoses associated with influenza: i. general data: statistical analysis. JAMA (1919) 72(4):235-41. doi: 10.1001/ jama.1919.02610040001001
- Menninger KA. Influenza and schizophrenia. An analysis of post-influenzal "dementia precox," as of 1918, and five years later further studies of the psychiatric aspects of influenza 1926. *Am J Psychiatry* (1994) 151(6 Suppl):182–7. doi: 10.1176/ajp.151.6.182
- von Economo C. Encephalitis lethargica: its sequelae and treatment. Oxford, England: Oxford Univ. Press (1931). xvi, 200.
- Hilleman MR. Realities and enigmas of human viral influenza: pathogenesis, epidemiology and control. *Vaccine* (2002) 20(25-26):3068–87. doi: 10.1016/ S0264-410X(02)00254-2
- Kraepelin E. Ueber psychosen nach influenza. Dtsch Med Wochenschr (1890) 16(11):209–12. doi: 10.1055/s-0029-1207083
- Menninger KA. Psychoses associated with influenza I general data statistical analysis. J Am Med Assoc (1919) 72:235–41. doi: 10.1001/ jama.1919.02610040001001
- Bental E. Acute psychoses due to encephalitis following Asian influenza. Lancet (1958) 2(Jul5):18–20. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(58)90005-9
- McGrath JJ, Pemberton MR, Welham JL, Murray RM. Schizophrenia and the influenza epidemics of 1954, 1957 and 1959 - a southern-hemisphere study. Schizophr Res (1994) 14(1):1–8. doi: 10.1016/0920-9964(94)90002-7
- Mednick SA, Machon RA, Huttunen MO, Bonett D. Adult schizophrenia following prenatal exposure to an influenza epidemic. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (1988) 45(2):189–92. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1988.01800260109013
- 39. Kunugi H, Nanko S, Takei N, Saito K, Hayashi N, Kazamatsuri H. Schizophrenia following in utero exposure to the 1957 influenza epidemics in Japan. Am J Psychiatry (1995) 152(3):450-2. doi: 10.1176/ ajp.152.3.450
- Adams W, Kendell RE, Hare EH, Munk-Jorgensen P. Epidemiological evidence that maternal influenza contributes to the aetiology of schizophrenia. an analysis of Scottish, English, and Danish data. Br J Psychiatry (1993) 163:522–34. doi: 10.1192/bjp.163.4.522

- O'Callaghan E, Sham P, Takei N, Murray RM, Glover G. Schizophrenia after prenatal exposure to 1957 A2 influenza epidemic. *Lancet* (1991) 337 (8752):1248–50. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(91)92919-S
- 42. Still RM. Psychosis following Asian influenza in Barbados. *Lancet* (1958) 2 (7036):20–1. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(58)90006-0
- Selten JP, Frissen A, Lensvelt-Mulders G, Morgan VA. Schizophrenia and 1957 pandemic of influenza: meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull* (2010) 36(2):219– 28. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp147
- Khandaker G, Zurynski Y, Buttery J, Marshall H, Richmond PC, Dale RC, et al. Neurologic complications of influenza A(H1N1)pdm09: surveillance in 6 pediatric hospitals. *Neurology* (2012) 79(14):1474–81. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.0b013e31826d5ea7
- Chang CH, Chang YC, Tzang RF. Childhood psychosis after H1N1 influenza. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci (2015) 27(1):e87-9. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.14010012
- 46. Davies G, Welham J, Chant D, Torrey EF, McGrath J. A systematic review and meta-analysis of Northern Hemisphere season of birth studies in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2003) 29(3):587–93. doi: 10.1093/ oxfordjournals.schbul.a007030
- Brown AS, Derkits EJ. Prenatal infection and schizophrenia: a review of epidemiologic and translational studies. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) 167(3):261– 80. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09030361
- Erlenmeyer-Kimling L, Folnegovic Z, Hrabak-Zerjavic V, Borcic B, Folnegovic-Smalc V, Susser E. Schizophrenia and prenatal exposure to the 1957 A2 influenza epidemic in Croatia. Am J Psychiatry (1994) 151 (10):1496–8. doi: 10.1176/ajp.151.10.1496
- Susser E, Lin SP, Brown AS, Lumey LH, Erlenmeyer-Kimling L. No relation between risk of schizophrenia and prenatal exposure to influenza in Holland. Am J Psychiatry (1994) 151(6):922–4. doi: 10.1176/ ajp.151.6.922
- Brown AS, Begg MD, Gravenstein S, Schaefer CA, Wyatt RJ, Bresnahan M, et al. Serologic evidence of prenatal influenza in the etiology of schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2004) 61(8):774–80. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.61.8.774
- Selten JP, Termorshuizen F. The serological evidence for maternal influenza as risk factor for psychosis in offspring is insufficient: critical review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res* (2017) 183:2–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2016.11.006
- Brown AS, Meyer U. Comment on: "The serological evidence for maternal influenza as risk factor for psychosis in offspring is insufficient: critical review and meta-analysis". *Schizophr Res* (2017) 189:223–4. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2017.02.023
- Wright P, Takei N, Rifkin L, Murray RM. Maternal influenza, obstetric complications, and schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry (1995) 152(12):1714–20. doi: 10.1176/ajp.152.12.1714
- Hultman CM, Sparen P, Takei N, Murray RM, Cnattingius S. Prenatal and perinatal risk factors for schizophrenia, affective psychosis, and reactive psychosis of early onset: case-control study. *BMJ* (1999) 318(7181):421–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.318.7181.421
- 55. Dreier JW, Berg-Beckhoff G, Andersen AMN, Susser E, Nordentoft M, Strandberg-Larsen K. Fever and infections during pregnancy and psychosislike experiences in the offspring at age 11. A prospective study within the Danish National Birth Cohort. *Psychol Med* (2018) 48(3):426–36. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717001805
- Murray RM, Lewis SW. Is schizophrenia a neurodevelopmental disorder? Br Med J (Clin Res ed.) (1987) 295(6600):681–2. doi: 10.1136/bmj.295.6600.681
- Weinberger DR. Implications of normal brain development for the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1987) 44(7):660–9. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1987.01800190080012
- Fatemi SH, Folsom TD. The Neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia, revisited. Schizophr Bull (2009) 35(3):528–48. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/sbn187
- Rapoport JL, Giedd JN, Gogtay N. Neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia: update 2012. *Mol Psychiatry* (2012) 17(12):1228–38. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.23
- Howes OD, Murray RM. Schizophrenia: an integrated sociodevelopmentalcognitive model. *Lancet* (2014) 383(9929):1677–87. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736 (13)62036-X

- Folsom DP, Lebowitz BD, Lindamer LA, Palmer BW, Patterson TL, Jeste DV. Schizophrenia in late life: emerging issues. *Dialog Clin Neurosci* (2006) 8 (1):45–52.
- Kochunov P, Hong LE. Neurodevelopmental and neurodegenerative models of schizophrenia: white matter at the center stage. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40 (4):721–8. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu070
- Keshavan MS. Development, disease and degeneration in schizophrenia: a unitary pathophysiological model. J Psychiatr Res (1999) 33(6):513–21. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3956(99)00033-3
- 64. Davis J, Eyre H, Jacka FN, Dodd S, Dean O, McEwen S, et al. A review of vulnerability and risks for schizophrenia: Beyond the two hit hypothesis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2016) 65:185–94. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2016.03.017
- 65. Blomström Å., Karlsson H, Gardner R, Jorgensen L, Magnusson C, Dalman C. Associations between maternal infection during pregnancy, childhood infections, and the risk of subsequent psychotic disorder–a Swedish cohort study of nearly 2 million individuals. *Schizophr Bull* (2016) 42(1):125–33. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv112
- Rubicz R, Leach CT, Kraig E, Dhurandhar NV, Duggirala R, Blangero J, et al. Genetic factors influence serological measures of common infections. *Hum Hered* (2011) 72(2):133–41. doi: 10.1159/000331220
- Rubicz R, Yolken R, Drigalenko E, Carless MA, Dyer TD, Kent JJr., et al. Genome-wide genetic investigation of serological measures of common infections. *Eur J Hum Genet* (2015) 23(11):1544–8. doi: 10.1038/ ejhg.2015.24
- Hammer C, Begemann M, McLaren PJ, Bartha I, Michel A, Klose B, et al. Amino acid variation in HLA Class II proteins is a major determinant of humoral response to common viruses. *Am J Hum Genet* (2015) 97(5):738– 43. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.09.008
- 69. Avramopoulos D, Pearce BD, McGrath J, Wolyniec P, Wang R, Eckart N, et al. Infection and inflammation in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a genome wide study for interactions with genetic variation. *PloS One* (2015) 10(3):e0116696. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116696
- Wang AW, Avramopoulos D, Lori A, Mulle J, Conneely K, Powers A, et al. Genome-wide association study in two populations to determine genetic variants associated with Toxoplasma gondii infection and relationship to schizophrenia risk. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2019) 92:133–47. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.12.019
- Grove J, Borglum AD, Pearce BD. GWAS, cytomegalovirus infection, and schizophrenia. *Curr Behav Neurosci Rep* (2014) 1(4):215–23. doi: 10.1007/ s40473-014-0022-1
- Leppert B, Havdahl A, Riglin L, Jones HJ, Zheng J, Davey Smith G, et al. Association of maternal neurodevelopmental risk alleles with early-life exposures. JAMA Psychiatry (2019) 76(8):834–42. doi: 10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2019.0774
- Benros ME, Trabjerg BB, Meier S, Mattheisen M, Mortensen PB, Mors O, et al. Influence of Polygenic risk scores on the association between infections and schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2016) 80(8):609–16. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2016.04.008
- Shaw M, Palese P. Orthomyxoviridae. In: Knipe DM, Howley PM, editors. *Fields virology*. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins (2013). p. 1151–84.
- 75. Treanor J. Influenza (including avian influenza and swine influenza). In: D.R. Bennett JE, Blaser MJ, editors. *Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases*, 8th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Saunders (2015). p. 2000–24.
- Sadasivan S, Zanin M, O'Brien K, Schultz-Cherry S, Smeyne RJ. Induction of microglia activation after infection with the non-neurotropic A/CA/04/2009 H1N1 influenza virus. *PloS One* (2015) 10(4):e0124047. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0124047
- 77. Wang G, Zhang J, Li W, Xin G, Su Y, Gao Y, et al. Apoptosis and proinflammatory cytokine responses of primary mouse microglia and astrocytes induced by human H1N1 and avian H5N1 influenza viruses. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2008) 5(2):113–20. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2008.14
- Jang HM, Boltz D, Sturm-Ramirez K, Shepherd KR, Jiao Y, Webster R, et al. Highly pathogenic H5N1 influenza virus can enter the central nervous system and induce neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. *Proc Natl*

Acad Sci United States America (2009) 106(33):14063-8. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0900096106

- Kash JC, Taubenberger JK. The role of viral, host, and secondary bacterial factors in influenza pathogenesis. *Am J Pathol* (2015) 185(6):1528–36. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.08.030
- Kreijtz JH, Fouchier RA, Rimmelzwaan GF. Immune responses to influenza virus infection. Virus Res (2011) 162(1-2):19–30. doi: 10.1016/ j.virusres.2011.09.022
- Carragher DM, Kaminski DA, Moquin A, Hartson L, Randall TD. A novel role for non-neutralizing antibodies against nucleoprotein in facilitating resistance to influenza virus. *J Immunol* (2008) 181(6):4168–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.6.4168
- Aronsson F, Lannebo C, Paucar M, Brask J, Kristensson K, Karlsson H. Persistence of viral RNA in the brain of offspring to mice infected with influenza A/WSN/33 virus during pregnancy. *J Neurovirol* (2002) 8(4):353– 7. doi: 10.1080/13550280290100480
- Brown AS, Meyer U. Maternal immune activation and neuropsychiatric illness: a translational research perspective. *Am J Psychiatry* (2018) 175 (11):1073–83. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17121311
- Estes ML, McAllister AK. Maternal immune activation: implications for neuropsychiatric disorders. *Science* (2016) 353(6301):772–7. doi: 10.1126/ science.aag3194
- Meyer U. Prenatal poly(i:C) exposure and other developmental immune activation models in rodent systems. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75(4):307–15. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.011
- Harvey L, Boksa P. Prenatal and postnatal animal models of immune activation: relevance to a range of neurodevelopmental disorders. *Dev Neurobiol* (2012) 72(10):1335–48. doi: 10.1002/dneu.22043
- Giovanoli S, Engler H, Engler A, Richetto J, Voget M, Willi R, et al. Stress in puberty unmasks latent neuropathological consequences of prenatal immune activation in mice. *Science* (2013) 339(6123):1095–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1228261
- Arad M, Piontkewitz Y, Albelda N, Shaashua L, Weiner I. Immune activation in lactating dams alters sucklings' brain cytokines and produces non-overlapping behavioral deficits in adult female and male offspring: a novel neurodevelopmental model of sex-specific psychopathology. *Brain Behav Immun* (2017) 63:35–49. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.01.015
- Levine J, Buchman CA, Fregien N. Influenza A virus infection of human Schwann cells in vitro. Acta Oto-Laryngologica (2003) 123(1):41–5. doi: 10.1080/0036554021000028092
- Nakai Y, Itoh M, Mizuguchi M, Ozawa H, Okazaki E, Kobayashi Y, et al. Apoptosis and microglial activation in influenza encephalopathy. *Acta Neuropathol* (2003) 105(3):233–9. doi: 10.1007/s00401-002-0605-x
- Smolders S, Notter T, Smolders SMT, Rigo JM, Brone B. Controversies and prospects about microglia in maternal immune activation models for neurodevelopmental disorders. *Brain Behav Immun* (2018) 73:51–65. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2018.06.001
- Brask J, Owe-Larsson B, Hill RH, Kristensson K. Changes in calcium currents and GABAergic spontaneous activity in cultured rat hippocampal neurons after a neurotropic influenza A virus infection. *Brain Res Bull* (2001) 55(3):421–9. doi: 10.1016/S0361-9230(01)00536-6
- Pearce BD, Valadi NM, Po CL, Miller AH. Viral infection of developing GABAergic neurons in a model of hippocampal disinhibition. *Neuroreport* (2000) 11(11):2433–8. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200008030-00019
- 94. Landreau F, Galeano P, Caltana LR, Masciotra L, Chertcoff A, Pontoriero A, et al. Effects of two commonly found strains of influenza A virus on developing dopaminergic neurons, in relation to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *PloS One* (2012) 7(12):e51068. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0051068
- Canetta S, Bolkan S, Padilla-Coreano N, Song LJ, Sahn R, Harrison NL, et al. Maternal immune activation leads to selective functional deficits in offspring parvalbumin interneurons. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21(7):956–68. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.222
- Thion MS, Mosser CA, Ferezou I, Grisel P, Baptista S, Low D, et al. Biphasic impact of prenatal inflammation and macrophage depletion on the wiring of neocortical inhibitory circuits. *Cell Rep* (2019) 28(5):1119–1126 e4. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.06.086
- 97. Kowash HM, Potter HG, Edye ME, Prinssen EP, Bandinelli S, Neill JC, et al. Poly(I:C) source, molecular weight and endotoxin contamination affect dam and prenatal outcomes, implications for models of maternal immune activation. *Brain Behav Immun* (2019) 82:160–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbi.2019.08.006
- Meyer U, Feldon J. To poly(I:C) or not to poly(I:C): advancing preclinical schizophrenia research through the use of prenatal immune activation models. *Neuropharmacology* (2012) 62(3):1308–21. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuropharm.2011.01.009
- Kneeland RE, Fatemi SH. Viral infection, inflammation and schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 42:35–48. doi: 10.1016/ j.pnpbp.2012.02.001
- 100. Cotter D, Takei N, Farrell M, Sham P, Quinn P, Larkin C, et al. Does prenatal exposure to influenza in mice induce pyramidal cell disarray in the dorsal hippocampus? *Schizophr Res* (1995) 16(3):233–41. doi: 10.1016/0920-9964 (94)E0082-I
- 101. Fatemi SH, Sidwell R, Kist D, Akhter P, Meltzer HY, Bailey K, et al. Differential expression of synaptosome-associated protein 25 kDa [SNAP-25] in hippocampi of neonatal mice following exposure to human influenza virus in utero. *Brain Res* (1998) 800(1):1–9. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(98) 00450-8
- 102. Fatemi SH, Emamian ES, Kist D, Sidwell RW, Nakajima K, Akhter P, et al. Defective corticogenesis and reduction in Reelin immunoreactivity in cortex and hippocampus of prenatally infected neonatal mice. *Mol Psychiatry* (1999) 4(2):145–54. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4000520
- 103. Fatemi SH, Cuadra AE, El-Fakahany EE, Sidwell RW, Thuras P. Prenatal viral infection causes alterations in nNOS expression in developing mouse brains. *Neuroreport* (2000) 11(7):1493–6. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200005150-00027
- Aronsson F, Karlsson H, Ljunggren H-G, Kristensson K. Persistence of the influenza A/WSN/33 virus RNA at midbrain levels of immunodefective mice. J NeuroViro (2001) 7(2):117–24. doi: 10.1080/13550280152058771
- 105. Fatemi SH, Emamian ES, Sidwell RW, Kist DA, Stary JM, Earle JA, et al. Human influenza viral infection in utero alters glial fibrillary acidic protein immunoreactivity in the developing brains of neonatal mice. *Mol Psychiatry* (2002) 7(6):633–40. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4001046
- 106. Fatemi SH, Earle J, Kanodia R, Kist D, Emamian ES, Patterson PH, et al. Prenatal viral infection leads to pyramidal cell atrophy and macrocephaly in adulthood: implications for genesis of autism and schizophrenia. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* (2002) 22(1):25–33. doi: 10.1023/A:1015337611258
- 107. Shi L, Fatemi SH, Sidwell RW, Patterson PH. Maternal influenza infection causes marked behavioral and pharmacological changes in the offspring. *J Neurosci* (2003) 23(1):297–302. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-01-00297.2003
- 108. Asp L, Beraki S, Aronsson F, Rosvall L, Ogren SO, Kristensson K, et al. Gene expression changes in brains of mice exposed to a maternal virus infection. *Neuroreport* (2005) 16(10):1111–5. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200507130-00016
- 109. Fatemi SH, Pearce DA, Brooks AI, Sidwell RW. Prenatal viral infection in mouse causes differential expression of genes in brains of mouse progeny: a potential animal model for schizophrenia and autism. *Synapse* (2005) 57 (2):91–9. doi: 10.1002/syn.20162
- 110. Asp L, Nellaker C, Karlsson H. Influenza A virus transactivates the mouse envelope gene encoding syncytin B and its regulator, glial cells missing 1. *J Neurovirol* (2007) 13(1):29–37. doi: 10.1080/13550280601103125
- 111. Fatemi SH, Reutiman TJ, Folsom TD, Huang H, Oishi K, Mori S, et al. Maternal infection leads to abnormal gene regulation and brain atrophy in mouse offspring: implications for genesis of neurodevelopmental disorders. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 99(1-3):56–70. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.11.018
- 112. Fatemi SH, Folsom TD, Reutiman TJ, Sidwell RW. Viral regulation of aquaporin 4, connexin 43, microcephalin and nucleolin. *Schizophr Res* (2008) 98(1-3):163–77. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.09.031
- Fatemi SH, Reutiman TJ, Folsom TD, Sidwell RW. The role of cerebellar genes in pathology of autism and schizophrenia. *Cerebellum* (2008) 7 (3):279–94. doi: 10.1007/s12311-008-0017-0
- 114. Holtze M, Asp L, Schwieler L, Engberg G, Karlsson H. Induction of the kynurenine pathway by neurotropic influenza A virus infection. *J Neurosci Res* (2008) 86(16):3674–83. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21799

- 115. Winter C, Reutiman TJ, Folsom TD, Sohr R, Wolf RJ, Juckel G, et al. Dopamine and serotonin levels following prenatal viral infection in mouseimplications for psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia and autism. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2008) 18(10):712–6. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro. 2008.06.001
- 116. Asp L, Beraki S, Kristensson K, Ogren SO, Karlsson H. Neonatal infection with neurotropic influenza A virus affects working memory and expression of type III Nrg1 in adult mice. *Brain Behav Immun* (2009) 23(6):733–41. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2009.04.004
- 117. Shi L, Smith SE, Malkova N, Tse D, Su Y, Patterson PH. Activation of the maternal immune system alters cerebellar development in the offspring. *Brain Behav Immun* (2009) 23(1):116–23. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2008.07.012
- 118. Fatemi SH, Folsom TD, Reutiman TJ, Abu-Odeh D, Mori S, Huang H, et al. Abnormal expression of myelination genes and alterations in white matter fractional anisotropy following prenatal viral influenza infection at E16 in mice. *Schizophr Res* (2009) 112(1-3):46–53. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.04.014
- 119. Fatemi SH, Folsom TD, Reutiman TJ, Huang H, Oishi K, Mori S. Prenatal viral infection of mice at E16 causes changes in gene expression in hippocampi of the offspring. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2009) 19(9):648– 53. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2009.03.004
- 120. Asp L, Holtze M, Powell SB, Karlsson H, Erhardt S. Neonatal infection with neurotropic influenza A virus induces the kynurenine pathway in early life and disrupts sensorimotor gating in adult Tap1-/- mice. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol (2010) 13(4):475-85. doi: 10.1017/ S1461145709990253
- 121. Moreno JL, Kurita M, Holloway T, Lopez J, Cadagan R, Martinez-Sobrido L, et al. Maternal influenza viral infection causes schizophrenia-like alterations of 5-HT(2)A and mGlu(2) receptors in the adult offspring. *J Neurosci* (2011) 31(5):1863–72. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4230-10.2011
- 122. Fatemi SH, Folsom TD, Rooney RJ, Mori S, Kornfield TE, Reutiman TJ, et al. The viral theory of schizophrenia revisited: abnormal placental gene expression and structural changes with lack of evidence for H1N1 viral presence in placentae of infected mice or brains of exposed offspring. *Neuropharmacology* (2012) 62(3):1290–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm. 2011.01.011
- 123. Fatemi SH, Folsom TD, Liesch SB, Kneeland RE, Karkhane Yousefi M, Thuras PD. The effects of prenatal H1N1 infection at E16 on FMRP, glutamate, GABA, and reelin signaling systems in developing murine cerebellum. J Neurosci Res (2017) 95(5):1110–22. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23949
- 124. Vernon AC, So PW, Lythgoe DJ, Chege W, Cooper JD, Williams SC, et al. Longitudinal in vivo maturational changes of metabolites in the prefrontal cortex of rats exposed to polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid in utero. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2015) 25(12):2210–20. doi: 10.1016/ j.euroneuro.2015.09.022
- 125. Crum WR, Sawiak SJ, Chege W, Cooper JD, Williams SCR, Vernon AC. Evolution of structural abnormalities in the rat brain following in utero exposure to maternal immune activation: a longitudinal in vivo MRI study. *Brain Behav Immun* (2017) 63:50–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.12.008
- 126. Piontkewitz Y, Arad M, Weiner I. Risperidone administered during asymptomatic period of adolescence prevents the emergence of brain structural pathology and behavioral abnormalities in an animal model of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (2011) 37(6):1257–69. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbq040
- 127. Graham AM, Rasmussen JM, Rudolph MD, Heim CM, Gilmore JH, Styner M, et al. Maternal systemic interleukin-6 during pregnancy is associated with newborn amygdala phenotypes and subsequent behavior at 2 years of age. *Biol Psychiatry* (2018) 83(2):109–19. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.05.027
- 128. Graham AM, Rasmussen JM, Entringer S, Ben Ward E, Rudolph MD, Gilmore JH, et al. Maternal cortisol concentrations during pregnancy and sex-specific associations with neonatal amygdala connectivity and emerging internalizing behaviors. *Biol Psychiatry* (2019) 85(2):172–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2018.06.023
- 129. Urakubo A, Jarskog LF, Lieberman JA, Gilmore JH. Prenatal exposure to maternal infection alters cytokine expression in the placenta, amniotic fluid, and fetal brain. *Schizophr Res* (2001) 47(1):27–36. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964 (00)00032-3
- 130. Garay PA, Hsiao EY, Patterson PH, McAllister AK. Maternal immune activation causes age- and region-specific changes in brain cytokines in

offspring throughout development. Brain Behav Immun (2013) 31:54-68. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.07.008

- 131. Meyer U, Murray PJ, Urwyler A, Yee BK, Schedlowski M, Feldon J. Adult behavioral and pharmacological dysfunctions following disruption of the fetal brain balance between pro-inflammatory and IL-10-mediated antiinflammatory signaling. *Mol Psychiatry* (2008) 13(2):208–21. doi: 10.1038/ sj.mp.4002042
- Mondelli V, Vernon AC, Turkheimer F, Dazzan P, Pariante CM. Brain microglia in psychiatric disorders. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2017) 4(7):563–72. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30101-3
- 133. Matcovitch-Natan O, Winter DR, Giladi A, Vargas Aguilar S, Spinrad A, Sarrazin S, et al. Microglia development follows a stepwise program to regulate brain homeostasis. *Science* (2016) 353(6301):aad8670. doi: 10.1126/ science.aad8670
- 134. Mattei D, Ivanov A, Ferrai C, Jordan P, Guneykaya D, Buonfiglioli A, et al. Maternal immune activation results in complex microglial transcriptome signature in the adult offspring that is reversed by minocycline treatment. *Transl Psychiatry* (2017) 7(5):e1120. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.80
- 135. Li WY, Chang YC, Lee LJ, Lee LJ. Prenatal infection affects the neuronal architecture and cognitive function in adult mice. *Dev Neurosci* (2014) 36 (5):359–70. doi: 10.1159/000362383
- 136. Juckel G, Manitz MP, Brune M, Friebe A, Heneka MT, Wolf RJ. Microglial activation in a neuroinflammational animal model of schizophrenia–a pilot study. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 131(1-3):96–100. doi: 10.1016/j.schres. 2011.06.018
- 137. Van den Eynde K, Missault S, Fransen E, Raeymaekers L, Willems R, Drinkenburg W, et al. Hypolocomotive behaviour associated with increased microglia in a prenatal immune activation model with relevance to schizophrenia. *Behav Brain Res* (2014) 258:179–86. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbr.2013.10.005
- 138. Giovanoli S, Notter T, Richetto J, Labouesse MA, Vuillermot S, Riva MA, et al. Late prenatal immune activation causes hippocampal deficits in the absence of persistent inflammation across aging. J Neuroinflamm (2015) 12:221. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0437-y
- 139. Notter T, Coughlin JM, Gschwind T, Weber-Stadlbauer U, Wang Y, Kassiou M, et al. Translational evaluation of translocator protein as a marker of neuroinflammation in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* (2017) 23(2):323–4. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.248
- 140. Iwasaki A, Pillai PS. Innate immunity to influenza virus infection. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14:315. doi: 10.1038/nri3665
- 141. Schroder K, Sweet MJ, Hume DA. Signal integration between IFNgamma and TLR signalling pathways in macrophages. *Immunobiology* (2006) 211(6-8):511–24. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2006.05.007
- 142. Perry VH, Nicoll JA, Holmes C. Microglia in neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Neurol (2010) 6(4):193–201. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2010.17
- 143. Salam AP, Borsini A, Zunszain PA. Trained innate immunity: a salient factor in the pathogenesis of neuroimmune psychiatric disorders. *Mol Psychiatry* (2018) 23(2):170–6. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.186
- 144. Weinhard L, di Bartolomei G, Bolasco G, Machado P, Schieber NL, Neniskyte U, et al. Microglia remodel synapses by presynaptic trogocytosis and spine head filopodia induction. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):1228. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03566-5
- 145. Schafer DP, Lehrman EK, Kautzman AG, Koyama R, Mardinly AR, Yamasaki R, et al. Microglia sculpt postnatal neural circuits in an activity and complement-dependent manner. *Neuron* (2012) 74(4):691–705. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.026
- 146. Zhan Y, Paolicelli RC, Sforazzini F, Weinhard L, Bolasco G, Pagani F, et al. Deficient neuron-microglia signaling results in impaired functional brain connectivity and social behavior. *Nat Neurosci* (2014) 17(3):400–6. doi: 10.1038/nn.3641
- 147. Wilton DK, Dissing-Olesen L, Stevens B. Neuron-Glia signaling in synapse elimination. Annu Rev Neurosci (2019) 42:107–27. doi: 10.1146/annurevneuro-070918-050306
- Glantz LA, Lewis DA. Decreased dendritic spine density on prefrontal cortical pyramidal neurons in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2000) 57(1):65–73. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.57.1.65

- 149. Sellgren CM, Gracias J, Watmuff B, Biag JD, Thanos JM, Whittredge PB, et al. Increased synapse elimination by microglia in schizophrenia patientderived models of synaptic pruning. *Nat Neurosci* (2019) 22(3):374–85. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0334-7
- 150. Miyamoto A, Wake H, Ishikawa AW, Eto K, Shibata K, Murakoshi H, et al. Microglia contact induces synapse formation in developing somatosensory cortex. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:12540. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12540
- 151. Wright P, Laing P, Donaldson PT, Murray RM. Schizophrenia: the teratogenic antibody hypothesis. In: Müller N, editor. *Psychiatry Psychoimmunology and Viruses. Key Topics in Brain Research.* Vienna: Springer (1999). p. 89–99.
- 152. Brown AS, Begg MD, Gravenstein S, Schaefer CA, Wyatt RJ, Bresnahan M, et al. Serologic-evidence of prenatal influenza in the etiology of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2004) 61(8):774–80. doi: 10.1001/ archpsyc.61.8.774
- Wright P, Murray RM. Schizophrenia: prenatal influenza and autoimmunity. Ann Med (1993) 25(5):497–502. doi: 10.3109/07853899309147318
- 154. Trevathan RD, Tatum JC. Rarity of concurrence of psychosis and rheumatoid arthritis in individual patients; report of a case. J Nerv Ment Dis (1954) 120(1-2):83–4.
- Pilkington TL. The coincidence of rheumatoid-arthritis and schizophrenia. J Nerv Ment Dis (1956) 124(6):604–6. doi: 10.1097/00005053-195612000-00007
- Graff H, Handford A. Celiac syndrome in the case histories of five schizophrenics. *Psychiatr Q* (1961) 35:306–13. doi: 10.1007/BF01566581
- 157. Cullen AE, Holmes S, Pollak TA, Blackman G, Joyce DW, Kempton MJ, et al. Associations between non-neurological autoimmune disorders and psychosis: a meta-analysis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2019) 85(1):35–48. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.06.016
- 158. Benros ME, Nielsen PR, Nordentoft M, Eaton WW, Dalton SO, Mortensen PB. Autoimmune Diseases and Severe Infections as Risk Factors for Schizophrenia: A 30-Year Population-Based Register Study. Am J Psychiatry (2011) 168(12):1303–10. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11030516
- 159. Graus F, Saiz A, Dalmau J. Antibodies and neuronal autoimmune disorders of the CNS. J Neurol (2010) 257(4):509–17. doi: 10.1007/s00415-009-5431-9
- 160. Steiner J, Walter M, Glanz W, Sarnyai Z, Bernstein HG, Vielhaber S, et al. Increased prevalence of diverse N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor antibodies in patients with an initial diagnosis of schizophrenia: specific relevance of IgG NR1a antibodies for distinction from N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor encephalitis. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70(3):271–8. doi: 10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.86
- 161. Zandi MS, Irani SR, Lang B, Waters P, Jones PB, McKenna P, et al. Diseaserelevant autoantibodies in first episode schizophrenia. J Neurol (2011) 258 (4):686–8. doi: 10.1007/s00415-010-5788-9
- 162. Pollak TA, Rogers JP, Nagele RG, Peakman M, Stone JM, David AS, et al. Antibodies in the diagnosis, prognosis, and prediction of psychotic disorders. *Schizophr Bull* (2019) 45(1):233–46. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby021
- 163. Pollak TA, McCormack R, Peakman M, Nicholson TR, David AS. Prevalence of anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor [corrected] antibodies in patients with schizophrenia and related psychoses: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychol Med* (2014) 44(12):2475–87. doi: 10.1017/ S003329171300295X
- 164. Al-Diwani A, Pollak TA, Langford AE, Lennox BR. Synaptic and neuronal autoantibody-associated psychiatric syndromes: controversies and hypotheses. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:13. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00013
- 165. Coutinho E, Harrison P, Vincent A. Do neuronal autoantibodies cause psychosis? a neuroimmunological perspective. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75 (4):269–75. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.040
- Deakin J, Lennox BR, Zandi MS. Antibodies to the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor and other synaptic proteins in psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75 (4):284–91. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.018
- 167. Höftberger R, van Sonderen A, Leypoldt F, Houghton D, Geschwind M, Gelfand J, et al. Encephalitis and AMPA receptor antibodies Novel findings in a case series of 22 patients. *Neurology* (2015) 84(24):2403–12. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000001682

- Kayser MS, Dalmau J. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis, autoimmunity, and psychosis. Schizophr Res (2016) 176(1):36–40. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.10.007
- 169. Pollak TA, Beck K, Irani SR, Howes OD, David AS, McGuire PK. Autoantibodies to central nervous system neuronal surface antigens: psychiatric symptoms and psychopharmacological implications. *Psychopharmacol (Berl)* (2016) 233 (9):1605–21. doi: 10.1007/s00213-015-4156-y
- 170. Kayser MS, Titulaer MJ, Gresa-Arribas N, Dalmau J. Frequency and characteristics of isolated psychiatric episodes in anti-N-methyl-daspartate receptor encephalitis. *JAMA Neurol* (2013) 70(9):1133–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.3216
- 171. Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangue T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Neurol* (2013) 12(2):157–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70310-1
- 172. Al-Diwani A, Handel A, Townsend L, Pollak T, Leite MI, Harrison PJ, et al. The psychopathology of NMDAR-antibody encephalitis in adults: a systematic review and phenotypic analysis of individual patient data. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2019) 6(3):235–46. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30001-X
- 173. Dalmau J, Gleichman AJ, Hughes EG, Rossi JE, Peng X, Lai M, et al. Anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis: case series and analysis of the effects of antibodies. *Lancet Neurol* (2008) 7(12):1091–8. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422 (08)70224-2
- 174. Dalmau J, Tuzun E, Wu HY, Masjuan J, Rossi JE, Voloschin A, et al. Paraneoplastic anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. Ann Neurol (2007) 61(1):25–36. doi: 10.1002/ana.21050
- 175. Armangue T, Leypoldt F, Malaga I, Raspall-Chaure M, Marti I, Nichter C, et al. Herpes simplex virus encephalitis is a trigger of brain autoimmunity. *Ann Neurol* (2014) 75(2):317–23. doi: 10.1002/ana.24083
- 176. Westman G, Studahl M, Ahlm C, Eriksson BM, Persson B, Ronnelid J, et al. N-Methyl-D-Aspartate receptor autoimmunity affects cognitive performance in herpes simplex encephalitis. *Clin Microbiol Infect* (2016) 22(11):934–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2016.07.028
- 177. Salovin A, Glanzman J, Roslin K, Armangue T, Lynch DR, Panzer JA. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis and nonencephalitic HSV-1 infection. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2018) 5(4):e458. doi: 10.1212/ NXI.000000000000458
- Pruss H. Postviral autoimmune encephalitis: manifestations in children and adults. Curr Opin Neurol (2017) 30(3):327-33. doi: 10.1097/ WCO.000000000000445
- 179. Dalmau J, Lancaster E, Martinez-Hernandez E, Rosenfeld MR, Balice-Gordon R. Clinical experience and laboratory investigations in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol* (2011) 10(1):63–74. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70253-2
- 180. Baltagi SA, Shoykhet M, Felmet K, Kochanek PM, Bell MJ. Neurological sequelae of 2009 influenza A (H1N1) in children: a case series observed during a pandemic. *Pediatr Crit Care Med* (2010) 11(2):179–84. doi: 10.1097/ PCC.0b013e3181cf4652
- Cartisano T, Kicker J. Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis in 7month old infant following influenza vaccination (P5.136). *Neurology* (2016) 86(16 Supplement). P5.136.
- Hung TY, Foo NH, Lai MC. Anti-N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor encephalitis. *Pediatr Neonatol* (2011) 52(6):361–4. doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2011.08.012
- Wang H. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis and vaccination. Int J Mol Sci (2017) 18(1):193. doi: 10.3390/ijms18010193
- Dale RC, Irani SR, Brilot F, Pillai S, Webster R, Gill D, et al. N-methyl-Daspartate receptor antibodies in pediatric dyskinetic encephalitis lethargica. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 66(5):704–9. doi: 10.1002/ana.21807
- McCall S, Vilensky JA, Gilman S, Taubenberger JK. The relationship between encephalitis lethargica and influenza: a critical analysis. J Neurovirol (2008) 14(3):177–85. doi: 10.1080/13550280801995445
- Pillai SC, Hacohen Y, Tantsis E, Prelog K, Merheb V, Kesson A, et al. Infectious and autoantibody-associated encephalitis: clinical features and long-term outcome. *Pediatrics* (2015) 135(4):e974–84. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-2702
- 187. Wilson N, Barnard LT, Summers JA, Shanks GD, Baker MG. Differential mortality rates by ethnicity in 3 influenza pandemics over a century, New Zealand. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2012) 18(1):71–7. doi: 10.3201/eid1801.110035
- Jones HF, Mohammad SS, Reed PW, Dunn PPJ, Steele RH, Dale RC, et al. Anti-N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor encephalitis in Maori and Pacific Island

children in New Zealand. Dev Med Child Neurol (2017) 59(7):719-24. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13420

- 189. Jezequel J, Rogemond V, Pollak T, Lepleux M, Jacobson L, Grea H, et al. Celland single molecule-based methods to detect anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor autoantibodies in patients with first-episode psychosis from the OPTiMiSE project. *Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 82(10):766–72. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2017.06.015
- 190. Jezequel J, Johansson EM, Dupuis JP, Rogemond V, Grea H, Kellermayer B, et al. Dynamic disorganization of synaptic NMDA receptors triggered by autoantibodies from psychotic patients. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):1791. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01700-3
- 191. Hammer C, Stepniak B, Schneider A, Papiol S, Tantra M, Begemann M, et al. Neuropsychiatric disease relevance of circulating anti-NMDA receptor autoantibodies depends on blood-brain barrier integrity. *Mol Psychiatry* (2014) 19(10):1143–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.110
- 192. Castillo-Gomez E, Kastner A, Steiner J, Schneider A, Hettling B, Poggi G, et al. The brain as immunoprecipitator of serum autoantibodies against N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit NR1. Ann Neurol (2016) 79(1):144–51. doi: 10.1002/ana.24545
- 193. Brimberg L, Mader S, Jeganathan V, Berlin R, Coleman TR, Gregersen PK, et al. Caspr2-reactive antibody cloned from a mother of an ASD child mediates an ASD-like phenotype in mice. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21 (12):1663–71. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.165
- 194. Coutinho E, Menassa DA, Jacobson L, West SJ, Domingos J, Moloney TC, et al. Persistent microglial activation and synaptic loss with behavioral abnormalities in mouse offspring exposed to CASPR2-antibodies in utero. *Acta Neuropathol* (2017) 134(4):567–83. doi: 10.1007/s00401-017-1751-5
- 195. Jones KL, Pride MC, Edmiston E, Yang M, Silverman JL, Crawley JN, et al. Autism-specific maternal autoantibodies produce behavioral abnormalities in an endogenous antigen-driven mouse model of autism. *Mol Psychiatry* (2018) in press. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0126-1
- 196. Coutinho E, Jacobson L, Pedersen MG, Benros ME, Norgaard-Pedersen B, Mortensen PB, et al. CASPR2 autoantibodies are raised during pregnancy in mothers of children with mental retardation and disorders of psychological development but not autism. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2017) 88 (9):718–21. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-315251
- 197. Jurek B, Chayka M, Kreye J, Lang K, Kraus L, Fidzinski P, et al. Human gestational NMDAR autoantibodies impair neonatal murine brain function. *Ann Neurol* (2019) 86(5):656–70. doi: 10.1002/ana.25552
- Blanpied TA, Clarke RJ, Johnson JW. Amantadine inhibits NMDA receptors by accelerating channel closure during channel block. *J Neurosci* (2005) 25 (13):3312–22. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4262-04.2005
- 199. Kohm AP, Fuller KG, Miller SD. Mimicking the way to autoimmunity: an evolving theory of sequence and structural homology. *Trends In Microbiol* (2003) 11(3):101–5. doi: 10.1016/S0966-842X(03)00006-4
- Ercolini AM, Miller SD. The role of infections in autoimmune disease. Clin Exp Immunol (2009) 155(1):1–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03834.x
- Munz C, Lunemann JD, Getts MT, Miller SD. Antiviral immune responses: triggers of or triggered by autoimmunity? *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9(4):246– 58. doi: 10.1038/nri2527
- 202. Toplak N, Avcin T. Influenza and autoimmunity. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2009) 1173:619–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04759.x
- 203. Toplak N, Kveder T, Trampus-Bakija A, Subelj V, Cucnik S, Avcin T. Autoimmune response following annual influenza vaccination in 92 apparently healthy adults. *Autoimmun Rev* (2008) 8(2):134–8. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2008.07.008
- 204. Laing P, Knight JG, Hill JM, Harris AG, Oxford JS, Webster RG, et al. Influenza viruses induce autoantibodies to a brain-specific 37-kDa protein in rabbit. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (1989) 86(6):1998–2002. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.6.1998
- Vellozzi C, Iqbal S, Broder K. Guillain-Barre syndrome, influenza, and influenza vaccination: the epidemiologic evidence. *Clin Infect Dis* (2014) 58(8):1149–55. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciu005
- 206. Kornum BR, Faraco J, Mignot E. Narcolepsy with hypocretin/orexin deficiency, infections and autoimmunity of the brain. *Curr Opin In Neurobiol* (2011) 21(6):897–903. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2011.09.003
- 207. Singh AK, Mahlios J, Mignot E. Genetic association, seasonal infections and autoimmune basis of narcolepsy. J Autoimmun (2013) 43:26–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2013.02.003

- Partinen M, Kornum BR, Plazzi G, Jennum P, Julkunen I, Vaarala O. Narcolepsy as an autoimmune disease: the role of H1N1 infection and vaccination. *Lancet Neurol* (2014) 13(6):600–13. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70075-4
- 209. Miller E, Andrews N, Stellitano L, Stowe J, Winstone AM, Shneerson J, et al. Risk of narcolepsy in children and young people receiving AS03 adjuvanted pandemic A/H1N1 2009 influenza vaccine: retrospective analysis. *BMJ* (2013) 346:f794. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f794
- 210. Partinen M, Saarenpaa-Heikkila O, Ilveskoski I, Hublin C, Linna M, Olsen P, et al. Increased incidence and clinical picture of childhood narcolepsy following the 2009 H1N1 pandemic vaccination campaign in Finland. *PloS One* (2012) 7(3):e33723. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033723
- Ahmed SS, Volkmuth W, Duca J, Corti L, Pallaoro M, Pezzicoli A, et al. Antibodies to influenza nucleoprotein cross-react with human hypocretin receptor 2. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7(294):294ra105. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aab2354
- 212. Vassalli A, Li S, Tafti M. Comment on "Antibodies to influenza nucleoprotein cross-react with human hypocretin receptor 2". Sci Transl Med (2015) 7(314):314le2. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aad2353
- 213. Luo G, Lin L, Jacob L, Bonvalet M, Ambati A, Plazzi G, et al. Absence of antihypocretin receptor 2 autoantibodies in post pandemrix narcolepsy cases. *PloS One* (2017) 12(12):e0187305. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187305
- 214. Luo G, Ambati A, Lin L, Bonvalet M, Partinen M, Ji X, et al. Autoimmunity to hypocretin and molecular mimicry to flu in type 1 narcolepsy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2018) 115(52):E12323–32. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1818150116
- 215. Kanduc D. Describing the hexapeptide identity platform between the influenza A H5N1 and Homo sapiens proteomes. *Biologics : Targets Ther* (2010) 4:245–61. doi: 10.2147/BTT.S12097
- Lucchese G, Capone G, Kanduc D. Peptide sharing between influenza a H1N1 hemagglutinin and human axon guidance Proteins. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40(2):362–75. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs197
- 217. Lucchese G. Understanding neuropsychiatric diseases, analyzing the peptide sharing between infectious agents and the language-associated NMDA 2A protein. Front In Psychiatry (2016) 7:60. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00060
- 218. Kepinska A, Pollak T, Iyegbe C, Murray R. T189. Peptide sharing between schizophrenia-related proteins and the influenza a virus may offer a window into the immune aetiology of psychotic disorders. *Schizophr Bull* (2018) 44 (suppl_1):S189–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby016.465
- Harrison NA, Cercignani M, Voon V, Critchley HD. Effects of inflammation on hippocampus and substantia nigra responses to novelty in healthy human participants. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2015) 40(4):831–8. doi: 10.1038/ npp.2014.222
- 220. Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Critchley HD. Inflammation causes mood changes through alterations in subgenual cingulate activity and mesolimbic connectivity. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 66 (5):407–14. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.03.015
- 221. Harrison NA, Brydon L, Walker C, Gray MA, Steptoe A, Dolan RJ, et al. Neural origins of human sickness in interoceptive responses to inflammation. *Biol Psychiatry* (2009) 66(5):415-22. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2009.03.007
- 222. Marques TR, Ashok AH, Pillinger T, Veronese M, Turkheimer FE, Dazzan P, et al. Neuroinflammation in schizophrenia: meta-analysis of in vivo microglial imaging studies. *Psychol Med* (2019) 49(13), 2186–96. doi: 10.1017/S0033291718003057
- 223. Holmes SE, Hinz R, Drake RJ, Gregory CJ, Conen S, Matthews JC, et al. In vivo imaging of brain microglial activity in antipsychotic-free and medicated schizophrenia: a [(11)C](R)-PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21(12):1672–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.180
- 224. Quadrato G, Brown J, Arlotta P. The promises and challenges of human brain organoids as models of neuropsychiatric disease. *Nat Med* (2016) 22 (11):1220–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.4214

- 225. Cono J, Cragan JD, Jamieson DJ, Rasmussen SA. Prophylaxis and treatment of pregnant women for emerging infections and bioterrorism emergencies. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2006) 12(11):1631–7. doi: 10.3201/eid1211.060618
- 226. Yudin MH. Optimizing knowledge of antiviral medications for prophylaxis and treatment of influenza during pregnancy. *Expert Rev Respir Med* (2011) 5(4):495–501. doi: 10.1586/ers.11.37
- 227. Bednarczyk RA, Adjaye-Gbewonyo D, Omer SB. Safety of influenza immunization during pregnancy for the fetus and the neonate. Am J Obstet Gynecol (2012) 207(3 Suppl):S38–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2012.07.002
- Al-Haddad BJS, Oler E, Armistead B, Elsayed NA, Weinberger DR, Bernier R, et al. The fetal origins of mental illness. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* (2019) 221(6): 549–62. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2019.06.013
- 229. Hviid A, Svanstrom H, Molgaard-Nielsen D, Lambach P. Association between pandemic influenza A(H1N1) vaccination in pregnancy and early childhood morbidity in offspring. JAMA Pediatr (2017) 171(3):239–48. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.4023
- 230. Xia Y, Qi F, Zou J, Yao Z. Influenza A(H1N1) vaccination during early pregnancy transiently promotes hippocampal neurogenesis and working memory. involvement of Th1/Th2 balance. *Brain Res* (2014) 1592:34–43. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.09.076
- 231. Xia Y, Qi F, Zou J, Yang J, Yao Z. Influenza vaccination during early pregnancy contributes to neurogenesis and behavioral function in offspring. *Brain Behav Immun* (2014) 42:212–21. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.06.202
- 232. Zerbo O, Qian Y, Yoshida C, Fireman BH, Klein NP, Croen LA. Association between influenza infection and vaccination during pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorder. *JAMA Pediatr* (2017) 171(1):e163609. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.3609
- 233. Sandy K, Gandham S, Nanan R. Influenza a infections in infants of vaccinated and unvaccinated mothers. JAMA Pediatr (2017) 171 (10):1014-5. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.2391
- Hviid A, Svanstrom H. Influenza a infections in infants of vaccinated and unvaccinated mothers-reply. *JAMA Pediatr* (2017) 171(10):1015. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.2394
- Meyer U. Neurodevelopmental resilience and susceptibility to maternal immune activation. *Trends Neurosci* (2019) 42(11):793–806. doi: 10.1016/ j.tins.2019.08.001
- 236. Li Q, Leung YO, Zhou I, Ho LC, Kong W, Basil P, et al. Dietary supplementation with n-3 fatty acids from weaning limits brain biochemistry and behavioural changes elicited by prenatal exposure to maternal inflammation in the mouse model. *Transl Psychiatry* (2015) 5: e641. doi: 10.1038/tp.2015.126
- 237. Basil P, Li Q, Gui H, Hui TCK, Ling VHM, Wong CCY, et al. Prenatal immune activation alters the adult neural epigenome but can be partly stabilised by a n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid diet. *Transl Psychiatry* (2018) 8 (1):125. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0167-x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a past collaboration with the authors TP and RY.

Copyright © 2020 Kępińska, Iyegbe, Vernon, Yolken, Murray and Pollak. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Inflammation in the Treatment of Schizophrenia

Guillaume Fond*, Christophe Lançon, Theo Korchia, Pascal Auquier and Laurent Boyer

Hôpitaux Universitaires de Marseille (HUM), Aix-Marseille University, School of Medicine - La Timone Medical Campus, EA 3279: CEReSS - Health Service Research and Quality of Life Center, Marseille, France

Background: Inflammation plays a major role in the onset and maintenance of schizophrenia. The objective of the present work was to synthetize in a narrative review the recent findings in the field of inflammation in schizophrenia and their application in daily practice.

Method: This review was based on the most recent meta-analyses and randomized controlled trials.

Results: The disturbed cytokines depend on the phase of the illness. A meta-analysis of cytokines in schizophrenia found higher levels of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the peripheral blood in both patients with first-episode schizophrenia and relapsed patients than in healthy controls. Exploring detailed data on immune-inflammatory disturbances in SZ reveals that IL-6 is one of the most consistently disturbed cytokines. Other cytokines, including IL1, TNF, and IFN, are also disturbed in schizophrenia. Choosing a broad spectrum anti-inflammatory agent that may inhibit subsequent pathways might be particularly useful for the treatment of inflammatory schizophrenia. Highly sensitive C-Reactive Protein is a useful screening marker for detecting inflammation in SZ subjects. Anti-inflammatory agents have shown effectiveness in recently published meta-analyses. Only one study found a significant difference between celecoxib and placebo, but two found a trend toward significance on illness severity and one on positive symptoms. In addition, other published and unpublished data were included in another meta-analysis that concluded the significant effect of add-on celecoxib in positive symptoms in first episode patients. There is a lack of data to determine if aspirin is truly effective in schizophrenia to date. Other anti-inflammatory agents have been explored, including hormonal therapies, antioxidants, omega 3 fatty acids, and minocycline, showing significant effects for reducing total, positive, and negative score symptoms and general functioning. However, each of these agents has multiple properties beyond inflammation and it remains unclear how these drugs improve schizophrenia.

Conclusion: The next step is to tailor anti-inflammatory therapy in schizophrenia, with two main challenges: 1. To provide a more efficient anti-inflammatory therapeutic approach that targets specific pathways associated with the pathology of schizophrenia. 2. To develop a more personalized approach in targeting patients who have the best chance of successful treatment.

Keywords: inflammation, schizophrenia, treatment, anti-inflammatory, cytokines

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ole Köhler-Forsberg, Aarhus University, Denmark

Reviewed by:

Romain Rey, Centre Hospitalier Le Vinatier, France Jasmina Mallet, Assistance Publique Hopitaux De Paris, France

> *Correspondence: Guillaume Fond guillaume.fond@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 07 December 2019 Accepted: 20 February 2020 Published: 18 March 2020

Citation:

Fond G, Lançon C, Korchia T, Auquier P and Boyer L (2020) The Role of Inflammation in the Treatment of Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 11:160. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00160

40

INTRODUCTION

Though conventional treatments have improved schizophrenia prognosis, they and the response rate of antipsychotics in schizophrenia remain unsatisfactory. The antipsychotics introduced in the 1950s have shown moderate global effectiveness with a mean effect size of 0.38 (1). The response rate of clozapine—the most effective antipsychotic—is only 33% after 3 months of treatment (1). Antipsychotics are effective on positive symptoms but unsatisfactory on negative/depressive symptoms, social functioning, and quality of life (1).

An explanation for this high rate of non-response and relapses relies on the observation that current pharmacological treatments are primarily based on the monoaminergic hypothesis, without involving the personalized medicine approach. According to this hypothesis, schizophrenia is principally due to a dopamine dysfunction in the brain (with an excess in the striatum ventral tegmental area and a deficit in the prefrontal cortex). All current antipsychotics target dopamine deficits in the brain. Yet clozapine, the antipsychotic that has shown the best effectiveness, has also one of the lowest potentials to reduce dopamine in the brain (2). This paradox remains unsolved to date.

The high rate of therapeutic failure in psychiatry can most likely be accounted for by the limitations pertaining to brain-orientated treatments. Current treatments do improve neurotransmitter deficits, but without addressing the source of these deficits. This may explain the high relapsing rates and chronic illness causes.

The objective of the present review was to synthetize the state of knowledge of the role of inflammation in the treatment of schizophrenia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This review was based on the most recent meta-analyses and randomized controlled trials, and if these were not available, on preliminary data. The Medline[®] database was explored from its inception to September 10th 2019, without language restriction. The research paradigm was: (schizophrenia) AND (inflammation OR anti-inflammatory agents OR cytokines OR C reactive-protein). The references of each article were also checked. Given the broad spectrum of the subject, the systematic review design was not adapted to the present work and a narrative review form has been preferred. Thus, no flow-chart or study quality assessment has been provided.

RESULTS

Two thousand two hundred seventy-eight articles were identified in the Medline search. Of them, 41 were included in the present review.

The Role of Inflammation in the Pathogenesis and Maintenance of Schizophrenia

The pathophysiological underpinnings of inflammation and its potential role in schizophrenia onset and maintenance have been previously synthetized (3). Schizophrenia is characterized by risk genes that promote inflammation, and by environmental stress factors and alterations of the immune system. Neuromediator alterations classically described in schizophrenia (dopamine, serotonine, glutamate) have also been identified in low-level neuro inflammation and may be key triggers of schizophrenia symptoms onset and maintenance (4). The contribution of chronic inflammation to major mental disorders has received increased attention, revealing a host of pharmacologic targets. Indeed, multiple recent reviews clearly demonstrate that schizophrenia is associated with a dysregulation of immune responses, as reflected by the observed abnormal profiles of circulating pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in affected patients (5). Impaired central nervous system volume and microglial activations in schizophrenia have been confirmed in neuroimaging studies (4).

Among potential sources of chronic low-grade inflammation, infectious agents and environmental toxins (including tobacco smoke and cannabis) have been identified (6-11). It may also be a secondary reaction to trauma-related neuronal lesions or a genetic effect (4).

Microglia constitute between 10 and 20% of all cells in the CNS and are the most important component of the local CNS immune system (12). Microglia is activated in case of injury or disease such as systemic infection, and is involved in the activation of cytokines, the key mediators of inflammation.

A variety of low-level stimuli including aging, neurodegeneration and stress can also cause microglia to be "sensitized" or "primed," a process that elicits an exaggerated immune response (4). Once microglia are primed, an additional low-level stimulus, e.g., minor systemic inflammation, may exacerbate or re-exacerbate an immune response in the CNS with behavioral consequences (13).

Inflammatory Markers in Schizophrenia

Fibrin is a protein that is increased in inflammatory processes. Degradation products of fibrin have been found in postmortem brains of schizophrenia patients and in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of about 50% of them (14). The density of microglia is significantly increased in schizophrenia [mostly in the temporal cortex (14)] yet with substantial heterogeneity between studies. Astrocytes and oligodendrocytes' densities did not differ significantly between schizophrenia and healthy controls. The results of postmortem histology are paralleled with an overall increase in expression of proinflammatory genes in SZ patients, while anti-inflammatory gene expression levels were not different between SZ patients and controls. These results strengthen the hypothesis that immune system disturbances are involved in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia.

A meta-analysis of cytokines in schizophrenia found higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines in the peripheral blood

in both patients with first-episode schizophrenia and relapsed patients than in healthy controls, but it also found higher levels of some anti-inflammatory cytokines in these patients than in controls (15). The disturbed cytokines depend on the phase of the illness.

In first-episode psychosis, interferon- γ (IFN- γ), IL-1RA, IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, sIL-2R, TGF- β , and TNF were all significantly increased, and levels of IL-4 were significantly decreased. Age, sex, illness duration, smoking, and BMI were all unrelated to IL-6 and TNF- α increase in first-episode psychosis.

In acute exacerbation of chronic SZ, an increase of IFN- γ , IL-1RA, IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-12, sIL-2R, TGF- β , and TNF alongside a decrease of IL-4 and IL-10 levels were found in SZ compared to controls.

In chronically ill SZ, IL-6, TNF, sIL-2R, IL-1 β were increased and IFN- γ was decreased in SZ patients compared to controls, with no significant difference in the levels of IL-2, IL-4, or IL-10. Age, sex, illness duration, smoking, and BMI were all unrelated to the association between IL-6 and SZ. Of note, a meta-analysis of cytokines in the CSF of SZ showed increased levels of IL-6 and IL-8 (16).

Inflammation has been bilaterally associated with cortisol disturbances (17). Cortisol disturbances have shown associations with treatment non-response in schizophrenia and major depression, which is frequent in SZ patients (18).

In summary, IL-6 is the most consistent increased cytokine in all phases of schizophrenia, but a large bundle of other cytokines is found to be disturbed. These findings suggest that choosing a broad-spectrum anti-inflammatory agent that may inhibit subsequent pathways may be particularly useful for the treatment of inflammatory schizophrenia.

Anti-inflammatory Therapies Tested So Far in Schizophrenia

A detailed overview of the efficacy of anti-inflammatory treatment in schizophrenia was published in 2014 and provides one of the most convincing pieces of evidence that inflammation is involved in schizophrenia (19). This work has been recently updated (20). Sixty-two double-blind randomized clinical trials including 2,914 SZ patients were included in the latter.

The cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors were the first antiinflammatory agents to be tested in schizophrenia in the early 2000's. The prostaglandin inflammatory cascade is activated by two COX enzymes named COX-1 and COX-2. The COX 1 is a permanent/state COX responsible for the baseline inflammatory response (e.g., reacting to a wound). The COX-2 is activated only in case of acute inflammation (in case of infection for example) (21).

That's why celecoxib, a specific COX-2 inhibitor, has been the first and most studied COX-targeted anti-inflammatory agent in schizophrenia. Four RCTs investigated the effects of celecoxib in 195 patients (22–24) with inconsistent findings. Only one study found a significant difference between celecoxib and placebo (24), but two found a trend toward significance on PANSS total score (p = 0.06 for both) and one on PANSS positive score (p = 0.05) (22). In addition, other published and unpublished data were

included in another meta-analysis that concluded the significant effect of add-on celecoxib in SZ in PANSS total and PANSS positive scores in first episode SZ patients (25).

COX-1 inhibitor (low-dose aspirin) has been studied in two RCTs, with positive results on all PANSS scores in one study (26), and a positive but small effect on PANSS total- and positive score in the other (27). Aspirin is to date the anti-inflammatory agent that has shown the greatest potential for effectiveness in schizophrenia (20). This effect was driven by a high-baseline PANSS score subgroup. Yet the methodology of these trials has been questioned, especially due to the differences in antipsychotic treatments in each groups and the statistically significant but clinically non-significant effect reported in these trials (28). In summary, there is a lack of data to determine if aspirin is truly effective in SZ to date. Moreover, aspirin is at increased risk of ulcer and hemorrhagic side effects, limiting its prescription.

Other anti-inflammatory agents have been explored, yet with a broad spectrum of other properties. These agents included hormonal therapies, antioxidants, omega 3 fatty acids, and minocycline, an antibiotic that penetrates the brain. Overall, antiinflammatory agents (mostly celecoxib, aspirin, minocycline) have shown significant effects for reducing total, (effect size = 0.41, 95% confidence interval (CI) = [0.26, 0.56]), positive (effect size = 0.31, 95% CI = [0.14, 0.48]), and negative (effect size = 0.38, 95% CI = [0.23, 0.52]) scores in the PANSS. General functioning was also significantly enhanced by overall anti-inflammatory agents. However, each of these agents has multiple properties beyond inflammation (e.g., hormonal for estrogens/pregnelonone, antibiotic/glutamatergic for minocycline, antioxidant for N-acetyl-cysteine) and it remains unclear how these drugs improve schizophrenia.

DISCUSSION/PERSPECTIVES

Schizophrenia Patients With Chronic Low-Grade Peripheral Inflammation: The Best Candidates for Anti-inflammatory Treatment

To improve anti-inflammatory drug effectiveness, it is necessary to identify best candidate SZ patients using inflammatory markers. This is contrary to previous studies, which only included SZ patients using clinical criteria [for review see (21)]. This has led to high heterogeneity in previous meta-analyses (25). We have seen that defining an inflammation signature in schizophrenia was difficult due to the multiple cytokines that may be disturbed according to the state of the illness. We have recently published a review on the interest of hs-CRP to identify peripheral inflammation in schizophrenia (29). Hs-CRP is the most common peripheral marker of inflammation and is synthesized by the liver in response to IL-1 and IL-6 according to the following pathway. It has been reliably used in multiple randomized controlled trials for exploring the role of inflammation in treatment response (30-34). Recent data indicate that blood CRP concentrations have been associated with high central glutamate, which correlated with symptoms of anhedonia, one of the symptoms of schizophrenia (35).

In stabilized SZ patients, around one third exhibit high CRP levels (>3 mg/L) (36). These patients were found to have more resistance to conventional treatments and more cognitive impairment, which confirms the clinical interest of targeting this specific subgroup of patients (36, 37).

The blood-brain barrier protects the brain from peripheral inflammation, and the cytokines state in the blood does not reflect the situation in the brain. Yet different pathways exist between the peripheral and the CNS immune systems. Hs-CRP appears to be a good reflector of central inflammation in non-SZ populations (35). It seems also well-suited for guiding immunotherapies targeting IL-6 (35).

In summary, hs-CRP is a useful screening marker for detecting inflammation in SZ subjects.

Janus-Kinase Inhibitors (JAKinibs): A Promising Treatment for Inflammatory Schizophrenia

We have seen that schizophrenia was associated with a broad range of disturbed cytokines. These cytokines bind to receptors that activate downstream the so-called JAK/STAT signaling pathway (38) involved in gliogenesis, synaptic plasticity, microglia activation and neurogenesis, all implicated in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (39). Moreover, depressive symptoms are frequent in schizophrenia and the antidepressant actions of current treatments have been confirmed to be mediated by JAK/STAT-dependent mechanisms (40). Small-molecule inhibitors of JAKs (jakinibs) have been shown as safe and efficacious options for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, and inflammatory bowel disease (41), and may be promising treatments for schizophrenia that should be evaluated.

To Destroy the Root Cause of the Evil: Addressing the Sources of Inflammation

Adding an anti-inflammatory agent may be not sufficient if the potential sources of inflammation are not addressed. Among them, tobacco smoking, Toxoplasma latent infection, microbiota disturbances, lack of physical activity, and poor diet have been identified as major modifiable sources of inflammation in SZ patients that should be addressed in schizophrenia daily care (7–10). Tobacco smoking cessation, Mediterranean or anti-inflammatory diets, and physical activity appear as promising interventions to be tested in inflammatory SZ patients, yet further studies are needed to determine their effectiveness.

REFERENCES

- Haddad PM, Correll CU. The acute efficacy of antipsychotics in schizophrenia: a review of recent meta-analyses. *Ther Adv Psychopharmacol.* (2018) 8:303–18. doi: 10.1177/20451253187 81475
- 2. Leucht S, Cipriani A, Spineli L, Mavridis D, Örey D, Richter F, Samara M, et al. Comparative efficacy and tolerability of 15 antipsychotic drugs in

LIMITS

This review has shown one major limit in the field of inflammation in schizophrenia, i.e., the definition of a consensual inflammatory signature to determine which patients may benefit from anti-inflammatory strategies. While TSPO-PET imaging appears as the gold standard to explore neuro-inflammation to date (42), its costs and its dissemination (limited by MRI availability and genotyping) prevents it from being widely distributed. Hs-CRP appears as a potentially good biomarker, but further studies should confirm if peripheral CRP is a good marker of central neuro-inflammation in schizophrenia, as suggested in one study in depression (35).

CONCLUSION

The next step is to tailor anti-inflammatory therapy with the best response and highest safety in schizophrenia. There are two main challenges:

- to provide a more efficient anti-inflammatory therapeutic approach that targets specific pathways associated with the pathology of schizophrenia. Exploring detailed data on immune-inflammatory disturbances in schizophrenia reveals that IL-6 is one of the most consistently disturbed cytokines in SZ. Other cytokines including IL1, TNF, and IFN are also disturbed in schizophrenia.
- to develop a more personalized approach in targeting patients who have the best chance of successful treatment. We hypothesize that SZ patients with chronic low-grade peripheral inflammation (SZ-CPI) defined by hs-CRP blood level ≥ 3 mg/L (a reliable marker used in previous works) make the best candidates for anti-inflammatory treatments.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GF and LB wrote the first draft of this work. All authors reviewed and validated the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was funded by Assistance Publique- Hôpitaux de Marseille.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We express all our thanks to the patients who have participated in the studies presented in this article.

schizophrenia: a multiple-treatments meta-analysis. *Lancet.* (2013) 382:951–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60733-3

- Müller N, Bechter K. The mild encephalitis concept for psychiatric disorders revisited in the light of current psychoneuroimmunological findings. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res.* (2013) 19:87–101. doi: 10.1016/j.npbr.2013.04.004
- Müller N. Inflammation in Schizophrenia: pathogenetic aspects and therapeutic considerations. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:973–82. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby024

- de Witte L, Tomasik J, Schwarz E, Guest PC, Rahmoune H, Kahn RS, et al. Cytokine alterations in first-episode schizophrenia patients before and after antipsychotic treatment. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 154:23–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.02.005
- Fond G, Godin O, Brunel L, Aouizerate B, Berna F, Bulzacka E, et al. Peripheral sub-inflammation is associated with antidepressant consumption in schizophrenia. Results from the multi-center FACE-SZ data set. J Affect Disord. (2016) 191:209–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.017
- Fond G, Resseguier N, Schürhoff F, Godin O, Andrianarisoa M, Brunel L, et al. Relationships between low-grade peripheral inflammation and psychotropic drugs in schizophrenia: results from the national FACE-SZ cohort. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017) 268:541–53. doi: 10.1007/s00406-017-0847-1
- Fond G, Berna F, Andrianarisoa M, Godin O, Leboyer M, Brunel L, et al. Chronic low-grade peripheral inflammation is associated with severe nicotine dependence in schizophrenia: results from the national multicentric FACE-SZ cohort. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017) 267:465–72. doi: 10.1007/s00406-017-0771-4
- Fond G, Boyer L, Schürhoff F, Berna F, Godin O, Bulzacka E, et al. Latent toxoplasma infection in real-world schizophrenia: results from the national FACE-SZ cohort. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 201:373–80. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.05.007
- Schürhoff F, Fond G, Berna F, Bulzacka E, Godin O, Boyer L, et al. [The 10-year findings from the FondaMental Academic Center of Expertise for Schizophrenia (FACE-SZ): review and recommendations for clinical practice]. *L'Encephale*. (2018) 45:9–14. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2018.07.007
- Mallet J, Ramoz N, Le Strat Y, Gorwood P, Dubertret C. Heavy cannabis use prior psychosis in schizophrenia: clinical, cognitive and neurological evidences for a new endophenotype? *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017) 267:629–38. doi: 10.1007/s00406-017-0767-0
- 12. Soulet D, Rivest S. Microglia. *Curr Biol.* (2008) 18:R506–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2008.04.047
- Frank MG, Baratta MV, Sprunger DB, Watkins LR, Maier SF. Microglia serve as a neuroimmune substrate for stress-induced potentiation of CNS pro-inflammatory cytokine responses. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2007) 21:47–59. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2006.03.005
- van Kesteren CFMG, Gremmels H, de Witte LD, Hol EM, Van Gool AR, Falkai PG, et al. Immune involvement in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia: a meta-analysis on postmortem brain studies. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2017) 7:e1075. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.4
- Goldsmith DR, Rapaport MH, Miller BJ. A meta-analysis of blood cytokine network alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and depression. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2016) 21:1696–709. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.3
- Wang AK, Miller BJ. Meta-analysis of cerebrospinal fluid cytokine and tryptophan catabolite alterations in psychiatric patients: comparisons between schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression. *Schizophr Bull.* (2018) 44:75– 83. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx035
- Glassman M, Wehring HJ, Pocivavsek A, Sullivan KM, Rowland LM, McMahon RP, et al. Peripheral cortisol and inflammatory response to a psychosocial stressor in people with schizophrenia. J Neuropsychiatry Foster City Calif. (2018) 2:4. doi: 10.21767/2471-8548.10008
- Altamura AC, Boin F, Maes M. HPA axis and cytokines dysregulation in schizophrenia: potential implications for the antipsychotic treatment. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol J.* (1999) 10:1–4. doi: 10.1016/S0924-977X(99)00017-6
- Sommer IE, Westrhenen R van, Begemann MJH, Witte LD de, Leucht S, Kahn RS. Efficacy of anti-inflammatory agents to improve symptoms in patients with schizophrenia: an update. *Schizophr Bull.* (2013) 40:181–91. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbt139
- Cho M, Lee TY, Kwak YB, Yoon YB, Kim M, Kwon JS. Adjunctive use of anti-inflammatory drugs for schizophrenia: a meta-analytic investigation of randomized controlled trials. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry*. (2019) 53:742–59. doi: 10.1177/0004867419835028
- 21. Fond G, Hamdani N, Kapczinski F, Boukouaci W, Drancourt N, Dargel A, et al. Effectiveness and tolerance of anti-inflammatory drugs' add-on therapy in major mental disorders: a systematic qualitative review. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2014) 129:163–79. doi: 10.1111/acps.12211
- 22. Müller N, Riedel M, Scheppach C, Brandstätter B, Sokullu S, Krampe K, et al. Beneficial antipsychotic effects of celecoxib add-on therapy compared

to risperidone alone in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry. (2002) 159:1029-34. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.6.1029

- Rapaport MH, Delrahim KK, Bresee CJ, Maddux RE, Ahmadpour O, Dolnak D. Celecoxib augmentation of continuously ill patients with schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2005) 57:1594–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.02.024
- Akhondzadeh S, Tabatabaee M, Amini H, Ahmadi Abhari SA, Abbasi SH, Behnam B. Celecoxib as adjunctive therapy in schizophrenia: a double-blind, randomized and placebo-controlled trial. *Schizophr Res.* (2007) 90:179–85. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.11.016
- Zheng W, Cai D-B, Yang X-H, Ungvari GS, Ng CH, Müller N, et al. Adjunctive celecoxib for schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. J Psychiatr Res. (2017) 92:139–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.04.004
- Attari A, Mojdeh A, Soltani FASK, Najarzadegan MR. Aspirin inclusion in antipsychotic treatment on severity of symptoms in schizophrenia: a randimized clinical trial. *Iran J Psychiatry Behav Sci.* (2017) 11:e5848. doi: 10.5812/ijpbs.5848
- Laan W, Grobbee DE, Selten J-P, Heijnen CJ, Kahn RS, Burger H. Adjuvant aspirin therapy reduces symptoms of schizophrenia spectrum disorders: results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Psychiatry. (2010) 71:520–7. doi: 10.4088/JCP.09m05117yel
- Shader RI. Too good to be true? Aspirin and schizophrenia. J Clin Psychopharmacol. (2012) 32:583–4. doi: 10.1097/JCP.0b013e31826c448b
- Fond G, Lançon C, Auquier P, Boyer L. C-reactive protein as a peripheral biomarker in schizophrenia. An updated systematic review. *Front Psychiatry*. (2018) 9:392. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00392
- Kidd PM. Omega-3 DHA and EPA for cognition, behavior, and mood: clinical findings and structural-functional synergies with cell membrane phospholipids. *Altern Med Rev J Clin Ther.* (2007) 12:207–7. Available online at: http://archive.foundationalmedicinereview.com/publications/12/3/ 207.pdf
- 31. Chaudhry IB, Husain N, Husain MO, Hallak J, Drake R, Kazmi A, et al. Ondansetron and simvastatin added to treatment as usual in patients with schizophrenia: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*. (2013) 14:101. doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-14-101
- 32. Raison CL, Rutherford RE, Woolwine BJ, Shuo C, Schettler P, Drake DF, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2013) 70:31–41. doi: 10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.4
- 33. Vincenzi B, Stock S, Borba CPC, Cleary SM, Oppenheim CE, Petruzzi LJ, et al. A randomized placebo-controlled pilot study of pravastatin as an adjunctive therapy in schizophrenia patients: effect on inflammation, psychopathology, cognition and lipid metabolism. *Schizophr Res.* (2014) 159:395–403. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.08.021
- Nerhus M, Berg AO, Kvitland LR, Dieset I, Hope S, Dahl SR, et al. Low vitamin D is associated with negative and depressive symptoms in psychotic disorders. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 178:44–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.08.024
- Felger JC, Haroon E, Patel TA, Goldsmith DR, Wommack EC, Woolwine BJ, et al. What does plasma CRP tell us about peripheral and central inflammation in depression? *Mol Psychiatry*. (2018). doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0096-3
- 36. Fond G, Godin O, Boyer L, Berna F, Andrianarisoa M, Coulon N, et al. Chronic low-grade peripheral inflammation is associated with ultra resistant schizophrenia. Results from the FACE-SZ cohort. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*. (2018) 269:985–92. doi: 10.1007/s00406-018-0908-0
- Bulzacka E, Boyer L, Schürhoff F, Godin O, Berna F, Brunel L, et al. Chronic peripheral inflammation is associated with cognitive impairment in schizophrenia: results from the multicentric FACE-SZ dataset. *Schizophr Bull*. (2016) 42:1290–302. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw029
- Shariq AS, Brietzke E, Rosenblat JD, Pan Z, Rong C, Ragguett R-M, et al. Therapeutic potential of JAK/STAT pathway modulation in mood disorders. *Rev Neurosci.* (2018) 30:1–7. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2018-0027
- 39. Soebiyanto RP, Sreenath SN, Qu C-K, Loparo KA, Bunting KD. Complex systems biology approach to understanding coordination of JAK-STAT signaling. *Biosystems*. (2007) 90:830–42. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystems.2007.05.005
- 40. Al-Samhari MM, Al-Rasheed NM, Al-Rejaie S, Al-Rasheed NM, Hasan IH, Mahmoud AM, et al. Possible involvement of the JAK/STAT

signaling pathway in N-acetylcysteine-mediated antidepressant-like effects. *Exp Biol Med Maywood NJ.* (2016) 241:509–18. doi: 10.1177/1535370215 619707

- Schwartz DM, Kanno Y, Villarino A, Ward M, Gadina M, O'Shea JJ. JAK inhibition as a therapeutic strategy for immune and inflammatory diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2017) 16:843–62. doi: 10.1038/nrd. 2017.201
- Yoder KK, Nho K, Risacher SL, Kim S, Shen L, Saykin AJ. Influence of TSPO genotype on 11C-PBR28 standardized uptake values. J Nucl Med Off Publ Soc Nucl Med. (2013) 54:1320–2. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.112. 118885

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Fond, Lançon, Korchia, Auquier and Boyer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Studies on Haloperidol and Adjunctive α-Mangostin or Raw *Garcinia mangostana* Linn Pericarp on Bio-Behavioral Markers in an Immune-Inflammatory Model of Schizophrenia in Male Rats

Jana Lotter¹, Marisa Möller¹, Olivia Dean^{2,3}, Michael Berk^{2,3,4} and Brian H. Harvey^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Müller, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

Reviewed by:

Bartlomiej Stanczykiewicz, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland Diego Scheggia, Italian Institute of Technology, Italy

> ***Correspondence:** Brian H. Harvey brian.harvey@nwu.ac.za

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 28 October 2019 Accepted: 12 February 2020 Published: 31 March 2020

Citation:

Lotter J, Möller M, Dean O, Berk M and Harvey BH (2020) Studies on Haloperidol and Adjunctive α-Mangostin or Raw Garcinia mangostana Linn Pericarp on Bio-Behavioral Markers in an Immune-Inflammatory Model of Schizophrenia in Male Rats. Front. Psychiatry 11:121. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00121 ¹ Division of Pharmacology, Center of Excellence for Pharmaceutical Sciences, School of Pharmacy, North West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa, ² Deakin University, IMPACT - The Institute for Mental and Physical Health and Clinical Translation, School of Medicine, Barwon Health, Geelong, Australia, ³ Florey Institute of Neuroscience and Mental Health, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ⁴ Orygen, Department of Psychiatry, The Centre of Excellence in Youth Mental Health, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia

Schizophrenia is a severe brain disorder that is associated with neurodevelopmental insults, such as prenatal inflammation, that introduce redox-immune-inflammatory alterations and risk for psychotic symptoms later in life. Nutraceuticals may offer useful adjunctive benefits. The aim of this study was to examine the therapeutic effects of Garcinia mangostana Linn (GML) and one of its active constituents, α -mangostin (AM), alone and as adjunctive treatment with haloperidol (HAL) on schizophrenia related bio-behavioral alterations in a maternal immune-activation (MIA) model. Sprague–Dawley dams were exposed to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (n = 18) or vehicle (n = 3) on gestational days 15 and 16. Male offspring (n = 72) were treated from PND 52–66 with either vehicle, HAL (2 mg/kg), GML (50 mg/kg), HAL + GML, AM (20 mg/kg), or HAL + AM. Control dams and control offspring were treated with vehicle. In order to cover the mood-psychosis continuum, prepulse inhibition (PPI) of startle, open field test (locomotor activity), and the forced swim test (depressive-like behavior) were assessed on PND's 64-65, followed by assay of frontal-cortical lipid peroxidation and plasma pro-inflammatory cytokines, viz. interleukin-1 (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor-α (TNF-α). MIA-induced deficits in sensorimotor gating were reversed by HAL and HAL + GML, but not GML and AM alone. MIA-induced depressive-like behavior was reversed by AM and GML alone and both in combination with HAL, with the combinations more effective than HAL. MIA-induced cortical lipid peroxidation was reversed by HAL and AM, with elevated IL-6 levels restored by GML, AM, HAL, and HAL + GML. Elevated TNF- α was only reversed by GML and HAL + GML. Concluding, prenatal LPS-induced psychotic- and depressive-like bio-behavioral alterations in offspring are variably responsive to HAL,

GML, and AM, with depressive (but not psychosis-like) manifestations responding to GML, AM, and combinations with HAL. AM may be a more effective antioxidant than GML *in vivo*, although this does not imply an improved therapeutic response, for which trials are required.

Keywords: antidepressant, oxidative stress, immunity, antipsychotic, complimentary medicine, maternal inflammation, mangosteen, adjunctive treatment

INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is a severe psychiatric disorder with a chronic course, affecting $\sim 1\%$ of the global population (1). This debilitating disease manifests in early adulthood (2), presenting with positive (hallucinations and delusions), negative (social withdrawal, apathy, and anhedonia), and cognitive symptoms (working memory deficits, attention disorders, and altered information processing) (3). However, the underlying etiological mechanisms remain elusive (4). Similarly, the treatment outcome for schizophrenia remains suboptimal (5), especially with regard to negative and cognitive symptoms (6, 7).

The neurodevelopmental hypothesis has provided a valuable framework for establishing the relationship between pathologic processes during early brain development and the development of schizophrenia later in life (8, 9). This hypothesis suggests an interaction between genetic predisposition and early life environmental vulnerability factors such as malnutrition, substance abuse, obstetric complications, season of birth and infection, and exacerbation by later stresses such as substance abuse, social defeat, and trauma (10–13).

Viral or bacterial maternal infection during pregnancy has been linked to increased risk for developing schizophrenia in the offspring (14, 15), with immune activation rather than the infectious agent, itself, being deemed causal (16, 17). Indeed, trauma is associated with immune activation and increased risk of psychosis (18). Immune adjuvants such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (19–21), polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (poly I:C) (22–24), human influenza virus (25), and cytokines (26, 27) induce diverse biological and behavioral abnormalities in rodents following prenatal maternal exposure. LPS, an endotoxin derived from the cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria, mimics an infection by activating the synthesis and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including interleukin-1ß (IL-1b), IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (28-30) and engenders various schizophrenia-like behavioral, neurochemical, and inflammatory changes (31-33).

Oxidative stress underscores various psychiatric conditions (34, 35), in particular, schizophrenia (36). Increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reduced antioxidants observed in schizophrenia may contribute to the neuroprogression of the disorder (37) and to the development of cognitive dysfunction (38, 39). Indeed, the antioxidant, N-acetyl cysteine (NAC), has therapeutic benefits in various clinical domains of schizophrenia, but especially negative symptoms (40, 41) and cognition (42), while having also demonstrated efficacy in preclinical animal models (43–45).

There is an increased drive to integrate nutraceuticals and psychotropic herbal medicines into conventional medical practice (46). Co-prescription of certain herbal medicines with traditional pharmaceuticals may display complementary pharmacodynamic actions and so provide a beneficial synergistic effect (46, 47). However, little study has occurred that has directly explored such augmentation effects (46). With raw herbal extracts containing a vast array of potentially bioactive ingredients, the question remains whether the observed pharmacological effect is ingredient specific or a sum effect of the total extract.

The anti-inflammatory and antioxidant activities of herbal bioactive compounds have been widely observed, particularly in a group of polyphenols referred to as xanthones (48). *Garcinia mangostana* Linn (GML) is a fruit native to Southeast Asia known to contain constituents including xanthones, flavonoids, triterpenoids, and benzophenones (49). Extracts of the fruit have exhibited antioxidant (50, 51), anti-inflammatory (52, 53), antibacterial (54), and antidepressant effects (55). In particular, α -mangostin (AM), a primary component of GML, presents with substantial pharmacological properties (56, 57), including antioxidant activity (58), as well as having moderate inhibitory effects on 5HT_{2A} receptors and cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) phosphodiesterase (PDE) (49), actions that hint at possible clinical utility as a pharmacological intervention in psychiatric disorders.

The aim of this study was to establish whether maternal immune activation (MIA) induced schizophrenia-like behavior and redox-inflammatory alterations in offspring can be reversed with the typical antipsychotic, haloperidol (HAL), GML, and AM separately. Second, since the most common use for nutraceuticals in clinical psychiatry is as an adjunctive treatment (46), we investigated whether adjunctive treatment with GML or AM is able to augment the response to HAL. The inclusion of AM is 2-fold; to investigate whether any observed pharmacological effects of GML may be specific for one of the known bio-active constituents of the extract, i.e., AM, or whether these actions underscore a sum effect of the total extract and, second, to link

Abbreviations: AM, α -mangostin; ANOVA, analysis of variance; ARRIVE, Animal Research: Reporting *in vivo* Experiments; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; DAD, diode-array detection; FST, forced swim test; GML, *Garcinia mangostana* Linn; HAL, haloperidol; HPLC, high-pressure liquids chromatography; IL, interleukin; LPS, lipopolysacharide; MDA, malondialdehyde; MIA, maternal immune activation; NAC, N-acetyl cysteine; NWU, North-West University; OFT, open field test; PBS, phosphate-buffreed saline; PDE, phosphodiesterase; PEG, polyethylene glycol; PND, post-natal day; Po, *per os*; Poly I:C, polyinosinic,polycytidylic acid; PPI, prepulse inhibition; SD, Sprague–Dawley; TBARS, thiobarbituric acid reactive substance; TNF, tumor necrosis factor.

any effects to a known psychotropic property of AM and/or GML. In order to cover the mood-psychosis continuum, behavioral analyses focused on positive (sensorimotor gating; locomotor hyperactivity) and negative (depression) related symptoms. Moreover, by measuring associated changes in plasma and brain redox-inflammatory markers, it explores possible activity within a key neuropathological feature of the illness, viz. immune-inflammatory dysfunction (35). This study has importance to the field in that a plant extract and one of its known bioactive constituents are compared to a reference control pharmaceutical agent across a range of behavioral and biological parameters of relevance to schizophrenia.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

Chromatographic Fingerprinting of Raw GML

In order to determine the authenticity and constituents of GML, separation of prenylated xanthones found in GML was achieved utilizing reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with diode-array detection (DAD) [see Oberholzer et al., (55)].

Animals

Pregnant female Sprague–Dawley (SD) dams were used during the prenatal phase of the study. Male pups were weaned (PND 21) and used for the remainder of the study. Since this and our earlier paper (55) represent the first bio-behavioral studies evaluating the possible psychotropic benefits of GML in translational rodent models of neuropsychiatric illness, and that the hormone cycle of female rats is well known to influence the outcome of behavioral and pharmacological studies, e.g., Regenass et al. (59) and Harvey et al., (60), only male rats were used in the study.

In order to remove experimental bias, animals were randomly allocated by an experienced animal technologist blind to the study (61) to 12 rats per group (62). The number of rats per group was as directed by a statistical power analysis. Animals were bred, supplied, and housed at the Vivarium (South African Veterinary Council reg. no. FR15/13458; South African National Accreditation System good laboratory practice compliance no. G0019) of the Pre-Clinical Drug Development Platform of the North-West University (NWU) in identical cages containing corncob, under conditions of constant temperature ($22 \pm 1^{\circ}C$) and humidity (50 \pm 10%) with a 12:12-h light/dark cycle (lights on 06:00 to 18:00). Food and water were provided ad libitum in the home cage, with corncob changed at least once a week. All experiments were approved by the AnimCare animal research ethics committee (National Health Research Ethics Council reg. no. AREC-130913-015) of the NWU. Animals were maintained, and all procedures performed in accordance with the code of ethics in research, training, and testing of drugs in South Africa and complied with national legislation (Ethical approval numbers: NWU-00376-16-A5 and NWU-00147-14-A5). The study design and procedures were according to the Animal Research: Reporting in vivo Experiments (ARRIVE) Guidelines (61).

Study Design

The exposure and treatment layout of the MIA model is presented in **Figure 1**. Treated dams (n = 18) received LPS from gestational days 15–16 with control dams (n = 3) receiving saline from gestational days 15–16. These GDs were chosen on the grounds of a previous study showing decreased fetal demise at this stage, as well as the correlation of this period with second trimester human pregnancy, suspected to be a critical period for the development of schizophrenia (63). Male offspring (± 4 per dam) was used in the remainder of the study. A previous study did not demonstrate protective effects of cross-fostering in a MIA model (64). Off-spring was therefore not cross-fostered with healthy dams.

A total number of 72 male offspring from LPS-exposed dams (n = 72) were randomly divided into six treatment groups, each comprising 12 rats/group (65). These groups received oral dosing of the following: vehicle (saline, 1 ml/kg), HAL (2 mg/kg po) (66–69); GML (50 mg/kg po) (55), HAL + GML (HAL + GML) (at the previously mentioned doses), AM (20 mg/kg po) (70) and haloperidol + α -mangostin (HAL + AM) (at the previously mentioned doses) (Figure 1). Male offspring from the control dams (n = 8) received oral dosing of vehicle. The respective drug treatments continued for 16 days from PND 51-66 (55). During the last 2 days of treatment, all groups were subject to behavioral testing as follows: (1) prepulse inhibition (PPI) of startle on day 13 of treatment (PND 63), (2) the open field test (OFT) on day 14 of treatment (PND 64), and the forced swim test (FST) on day 14 of treatment (PND 64). The animals were euthanized 36 h later by decapitation with trunk blood and brain tissue collected and stored at -80°C for later neurochemical analysis.

Drugs and Treatment

LPS (100 µg/kg) from Escherichia coli (E. coli) (Sigma-Aldrich, Johannesburg, South Africa) was dissolved in saline and administered subcutaneously (SC) to pregnant dams on GD 15-16 (30, 63). HAL (2 mg/kg/day; Sigma-Aldrich, Johannesburg, South Africa) was dissolved in a minimum volume of glacial acetic acid, then further diluted with distilled water and the pH adjusted using 10 N NaOH to 6-6.25 and administered by oral gavage (66). The dose of HAL was selected for oral dosing specifically and in line with an earlier study (71). The ground dried pericarp of GML fruit (Industrial Analytical, Kyalami, South Africa) was mixed in a 0.1% xanthan gum solution to aid suspension and administered by oral gavage, at a dose of 50 mg/kg/day (55). AM (Sigma-Aldrich, Castle Hill, Australia) was dissolved in polyethylene glycol (PEG) 400 vehicle (PEG 400:water ratio = 6:4, v/v) (72) and administered orally (20 mg/kg/day) (70).

Behavioral Analyses

In order to assess whether the applied drug treatments are equally effective with respect to mood vs. psychosis-related manifestations of schizophrenia, PPI of startle (psychosis like), locomotor activity, and despair in the FST (depressive like) behaviors were assessed on PND's 64–65. Indeed, an earlier study found GML to be an effective antidepressant vs. imipramine using a genetic rodent model of depression



(55). The current study design would not only re-affirm the earlier noted observation but do so in another translational model, while it would also possibly extend GML's scope of application to psychotic disorders like schizophrenia. This approach has validity since MIA not only evokes psychosis-like behavior in rat offspring (31–33) but also depressive-like manifestations (21), thereby presenting its suitability for studying broad pharmacological responses of relevance to schizophrenia.

Prepulse Inhibition (PPI)

PPI is used to determine deficits in sensorimotor gating, well described in schizophrenia (73) and representative of cognitive fragmentation (74). PPI was assessed in illuminated and ventilated sound-attenuated startle chambers (SR-LAB, San Diego Instruments, San Diego, USA), as described previously (75). Startle amplitudes were defined as the average of 100×1 -ms stabilimeter readings collected at stimulus onset. The stabilimeter was calibrated before each session.

Briefly, the startle session began with a 5-min acclimatization period, during which a 68-dB background noise level was maintained throughout the session; the basal startle response was then measured with 10 trials of a single 40-ms 120-dB white noise as a startle stimulus; after this, 80 trials of randomly delivered pulses, including 20 trials of 120 dB PULSE-ALONE trials, 50 PREPULSE trials (with intensities of 72, 76, 80, or 84 dB) and 10 trials with no pulse was delivered. A final 10 trials of single 40-ms 120-dB PULSE-ALONE startle stimuli was then supplied. After the testing session, the percentage PPI (%PPI) for the four pre-pulse intensities was calculated as %PPI = [100-(startleresponse for PREPULSE + PULSE trial)/(startle response forPULSE ALONE trial) × 100].

Open Field Test (OFT)

The OFT was used to exclude any confounding locomotor effects of treatment in the FST (76). Moreover, motor activity in the OFT may be indicative of underlying neurotransmitter alterations, especially subcortical dopaminergic hyperactivity that has relevance to schizophrenia (77). Rats were tested individually in an open field arena (1×1 m), with total distance moved (cm) scored for 5 min using EthoVision XT[®] software (Noldus Information Technology, Wageningen, Netherlands).

Forced Swim Test (FST)

The FST was used to screen for antidepressant-like properties following prenatal LPS exposure and drug treatment (78, 79). Negative symptoms of schizophrenia are closely related to depressive behavior (80), while schizophrenia is often comorbid with major depression (81). The FST was performed as described previously (82), except the final swim was over a period of 7 min with the first and last minute discarded during analysis (55). Immobility time was scored as floating behavior with the rat maintaining only the necessary movements to keep its head above the water vs. escape-directed swimming (horizontal movements throughout the cylinder) and struggling or climbing (upward-directed movements in cylinder) behavior (76). The latter are noted for representing serotonergic and noradrenergic-mediated escape-directed behaviors, respectively (82). These behavioral components were recorded and scored on video by investigators blind to treatment, expressed in units of time (s). Behavior was scored using manual continuous timer software (FST Scoreboard 2.0 software; Academic Support Services: Information Technology in Education, NWU), previously validated against the traditional 5-s time-sampling technique (83).

NEUROCHEMICAL AND REDOX-IMMUNE-INFLAMMATORY ANALYSES

Brain Tissue and Plasma Preparation

Thirty-six hours after the final behavioral analysis, rats were euthanized by decapitation, after which trunk blood was collected into pre-chilled, 4-ml vacutainer tubes (SGVac) containing dipotassium ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (K₂EDTA) solution as anticoagulant. Frontal cortex and striatum were dissected out on an ice-cooled glass slab as described previously (62, 84). Liquid nitrogen was used to fix the above brain regions and stored at -80° C until the day of analysis. The tissue was pre-split into aliquots for use in the different assays to avoid freeze-thawfreeze changes and possible deactivation of components. On the day of assay, the tissue was weighed and allowed to thaw on ice. A 10% tissue homogenate was then prepared in a phosphatebuffered saline (PBS) using a Teflon homogenizer (84).

Lipid Peroxidation Analysis

Thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBARS) is a by-product of lipid peroxidation. The ParameterTM TBARS assay from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, USA; catalog number KGE013) was used to analyze lipid peroxidation in brain tissue (45), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Absorbance was read at 532 nm using a Bio-Tek FL600 Microplate Fluorescence Reader (Bio-Tek, Instruments, Inc., 381 Highland Park, Winooski, VT, USA).

Pro-inflammatory Cytokine Measurement

Plasma TNF-α was measured using the Rat TNF-α ELISA MAXTM Deluxe Set (catalog number 438204) from Bio Legend (San Diego, USA). IL-6 was measured using the Rat IL-6 ELISA Kit (catalog number E-EL-R0015) from Elabscience[®] (Wuhan, China). Both were performed in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Absorbance was read at 450 nm using the above noted instrument.

Statistical Analyses

One-way factorial analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Bonferroni post hoc tests were used for the statistical analyses of FST scores, brain lipid peroxidation levels, and plasma cytokine analyses. For analysis of %PPI data, two-way ANOVA with repeated measures was used with Bonferroni post hoc tests. However, in order to compare the MIA model with the control group, an unpaired Student's t-test was used to analyze each parameter. To ensure there is complete equality of the variances of the differences between all variations of related groups, assumption of sphericity was conducted with Mauchly's test. If the assumption of sphericity was not met, the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was used. Normal distribution of the variables was assessed with a Q-Q plot and histogram for all variables in each treatment group. All data were normally distributed and expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM), with a value of p < 0.05 considered statistically significant. Where additional detail was deemed useful, for example, when statistical significance was narrowly missed, a Cohen's d calculation was performed to establish effect size and practical significance: medium effect ($0.5 \ge d < 0.8$), large effect ($0.8 \ge d < 1.3$), and very large effect ($d \ge 1.3$) sizes. Only large-to-very large effect sizes are presented in the figures and text. All data were analyzed and graphics prepared using GraphPad Prism 7, San Diego California, USA.

RESULTS

MIA model validation, i.e., LPS vs. saline control, was analyzed separately using *T*-tests and presented in **Figures 2–6**. Thereafter, untreated LPS (MIA model) were compared to LPS plus the various drug treatments and analyzed separately using the appropriate ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Bonferroni analysis. The latter are also presented in **Figures 2–6**.

GML Fingerprinting

A chromatogram of GML used in this study, and analyzed using reversed-phase HPLC with DAD, was found to contain predominantly α -mangostin (11.7%) and γ -mangostin (1.1%) (55).

TREATMENT-NAIVE LPS- VS. SALINE-EXPOSED ANIMALS (MIA MODEL VALIDATION) (FIGURES 2-6)

Prepulse Inhibition of Acoustic Startle

When considering the LPS model alone compared to the vehicle control group, unpaired Student's *t*-tests revealed no significant differences between the groups at the respective startle blocks (data not shown).

Regarding %PPI and comparing the LPS-exposed group to the vehicle group using unpaired Student's *t*-tests, the LPS-exposed control group (LPS + vehicle) presented with significant deficits in %PPI at 72 dB (p = 0.0248), 76 dB (p = 0.003), 80 dB (p = 0.007), and 84 dB (p = 0.007) when compared to the control group (saline + vehicle) (**Figures 2A–D**).

Open Field Test

Unpaired Student's *t*-test revealed a significant increase in locomotor activity in the LPS exposed group (LPS + vehicle) compared to the saline control group (saline + vehicle) (p = 0.039) (Figure 3).

Forced Swim Test

Unpaired Student's *t*-test revealed a significant increase in immobility in the LPS-exposed rats (LPS + vehicle) when compared to the control group (saline + vehicle) (p < 0.0001) (**Figure 4A**). A significant decrease in both swimming (p = 0.0002) (**Figure 4C**) and struggling (p < 0.0001) (**Figure 4B**) behaviors was also observed in the LPS-exposed group (LPS + vehicle) compared to the control group (saline + vehicle).

Regional Brain Lipid Peroxidation

Using unpaired Student's t-tests, frontal cortical malondial dehyde (MDA) levels were significantly increased in the LPS-exposed rats (LPS + vehicle) (p = 0.030), compared to the saline control group (saline + vehicle) (**Figure 5A**). In the striatum, significantly



elevated levels of MDA were also observed in the LPS-exposed rats (LPS + vehicle) (p < 0.0001) in comparison with the saline control group (saline + vehicle) (**Figure 5B**).

Cytokines

IL-6

Unpaired Student's *t*-test revealed that plasma IL-6 levels were significantly elevated in the LPS-exposed group (LPS + vehicle) when compared to the saline control group (saline + vehicle) (p = 0.0005) (Figure 6A).

TNF-α

Unpaired Student's *t*-test displayed significantly elevated plasma TNF- α levels in the LPS-exposed group (LPS + vehicle) when compared to their saline control group (saline + vehicle) (p = 0.041) (Figure 6B).

LPS MODEL PLUS VARIOUS DRUG TREATMENTS (FIGURES 2-6)

Prepulse Inhibition of Acoustic Startle

Two-way ANOVA with repeated measures for each startle block in all the groups receiving the respective treatment or vehicle indicated a significant treatment × startle block interaction $[F_{(3,73)} = 67.69, p < 0.0001]$ but no significant main effect of startle block $[F_{(3,73)} = 1.62, p = 0.128]$ or treatment $[F_{(3,73)} = 1.023, p = 0.417]$ on startle amplitude (data not shown). Bonferroni *post hoc* testing on the startle amplitude in all the LPS-exposed groups receiving the respective treatments or vehicle indicated that all the groups had a significant decrease (p < 0.05) in startle amplitude from blocks 1 to 4 (data not shown). Bonferroni *post hoc* testing also revealed no significant differences between any of the exposed and treatment groups at the respective startle blocks.

When considering drug treatment in the LPS model (Figure 2), two-way ANOVA revealed a significant interaction between treatment and PPI intensity $[F_{(6,77)} = 295.66, p <$ 0.0001] as well as a significant main effect of treatment $[F_{(6,77)}]$ = 5.63, p < 0.0001] and PPI intensity [$F_{(6,77)} = 1.83, p = 0.04$] on %PPI in all the groups receiving the respective treatments or vehicle. Bonferroni post hoc testing demonstrated that HAL significantly reversed %PPI deficits in the LPS-exposed rats at 72 dB (p = 0.009) (Figure 2A) and 76 dB (p = 0.032) (Figure 2B). However, a very large effect size was observed in the LPS-exposed HAL-treated rats compared to their LPS vehicle-treated controls at 80 dB (d = 1.7) and 84 dB (d =1.6) (Figures 2C,D, respectively). The combination treatment of GML + HAL successfully reversed %PPI deficits at all four of the prepulse intensities: 72 dB (p = 0.017), 76 dB (p =0.002), 80 dB (p = 0.003), and 84 dB (p = 0.014) vs. the LPSexposed control group (Figures 2A-D, respectively). However, no significant differences were observed in the LPS-exposed rats treated with GML alone, AM alone, or the combination of HAL + AM vs. the LPS + vehicle-exposed group (Figures 2A-D).

Open Field Test

A one-way ANOVA of the OFT data in all the groups receiving the respective treatments or vehicle revealed a significant main



effect of treatment on total distance moved [$F_{(6,75)} = 14.43$, p < 0.0001]. When considering drug treatment in the LPS model, Bonferroni *post hoc* tests revealed no significant differences in the total distance moved in the LPS-exposed treatment groups receiving HAL, GML, HAL + GML, and HAL + AM when compared to the LPS-exposed control group (LPS + vehicle) (**Figure 3**). However, a significant decrease in locomotor activity was observed in the LPS-exposed group treated with AM (p =0.006) compared to the control group (LPS + vehicle) (**Figure 3**).

Forced Swim Test

A one-way ANOVA of all the groups revealed a significant main effect of treatment on immobility [$F_{(6,77)} = 16.02$, p < 0.0001], struggling [$F_{(6,77)} = 15.44$, p < 0.0001], and swimming [$F_{(6,77)} = 12.85$, p < 0.0001]. When considering drug treatment in the LPS model (**Figure 4**), Bonferroni *post hoc* testing indicated a significant decrease in immobility in all the LPS-exposed treatment groups receiving GML (p < 0.0001), AM (p = 0.004), HAL + GML (p < 0.0001), and HAL + AM (p < 0.0001) compared to the LPS-exposed control group (LPS + vehicle) (**Figure 4A**). The effect of HAL alone did not reach significance (**Figure 4A**). However, treatment with GML alone (p = 0.034), HAL + GML (p < 0.0001), and HAL + AM (p = 0.03) showed a significantly greater decrease in immobility when compared to the HAL-treated LPS-exposed group (**Figure 4A**).

With regard to struggling behavior in the LPS-exposed rats, HAL (p = 0.005), HAL + GML (p < 0.0001), and HAL + AM (p < 0.0001) displayed a significant increase in struggling compared to the LPS-exposed control group (LPS + vehicle) (**Figure 4B**). The combination treatment of HAL + GML in the LPS rats displayed a significantly greater increase in struggling behavior (p = 0.049) when compared to HAL treatment alone in the LPS rats (**Figure 4B**).

Swimming behavior was significantly increased in the LPS groups receiving GML (p < 0.0001) and AM (p < 0.0001) treatment compared to the LPS-exposed control group (**Figure 4C**). A significant increase in swimming behavior was observed between the LPS-exposed group receiving HAL alone



vs. both the LPS-exposed groups receiving GML (p = 0.005) or AM (p = 0.004), respectively (**Figure 4C**).

Regional Brain Lipid Peroxidation

One-way ANOVA showed a significant main effect of treatment on lipid peroxidation in the frontal cortex $[F_{(6,78)} = 5.234, p < 0.0001]$ and the striatum $[F_{(6,77)} = 3.956, p = 0.002]$. When considering drug treatment in the LPS model (Figure 5), Bonferroni *post hoc* analysis revealed that treatment with HAL (p = 0.001) and AM (p = 0.02) significantly reduced frontal cortical MDA levels in LPS-exposed rats, compared to the LPSexposed control group (LPS + vehicle), but was unaffected by any of the other LPS-exposed treatment groups (LPS + GML, LPS + HAL + GML, and LPS + HAL + AM) vs. the LPSexposed control group (Figure 5A). GML and GML + HAL showed a trend toward reducing MDA levels, with a large (d = 1.0) and medium (d = 0.7) effect size observed in the LPSexposed rats treated with GML and GML + HAL, respectively,

HAL).



FIGURE 5 | Lipid peroxidation as quantified by malondialdehyde (MDA) accumulation in (A) frontal cortex and (B) striatum in rats exposed to saline and treated with vehicle (Control) as well as rats exposed to LPS receiving vehicle and the various drug treatments as indicated [unpaired Student's t-test for Control vs. LPS + vehicle; $^{p} < 0.05$, $^{\wedge \wedge p} < 0.0001$; one-way ANOVA, Bonferroni *post hoc* test; $^{p} < 0.05$, $^{***p} < 0.001$ vs. LPS + Vehicle. $^{\$}d = 0.5 \ge d < 0.8 \ge d < 1.3$ vs. LPS + Vehicle (Cohen's d value)].



compared to their vehicle-treated controls (**Figure 5A**). Finally, none of the respective treatments showed a significant reduction in striatal MDA levels in the LPS-exposed rats compared to the LPS-exposed control group (**Figure 5B**).

Cytokines

IL-6

One-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of treatment on IL-6 [$F_{(6,76)} = 5.93$, p < 0.0001] in the LPS and vehicleexposed and treated groups. When considering drug treatment in the LPS model (**Figure 6A**), Bonferroni *post hoc* analyses showed that treatment with HAL (p = 0.021), GML (p = 0.002), AM (p < 0.0001), and HAL + GML (p = 0.01) significantly reversed elevated levels of IL-6 in the LPS-exposed groups. However, HAL + AM had no significant effect on IL-6 plasma levels in the LPSexposed animals compared to the vehicle control (**Figure 6A**).

TNF-α

One-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of treatment on TNF- α levels [$F_{(6,77)} = 5.96$, p < 0.0001] in the LPS and vehicle-exposed groups receiving the respective treatments (Figure 6B). When considering drug treatment in the LPS model (Figure 6B), Bonferroni post hoc testing displayed that GML treatment successfully reversed elevated TNF-α levels in the LPSexposed rats when compared to the LPS-exposed control group (LPS + vehicle) (p < 0.0001) (Figure 6B). In addition, GML was significantly more effective in decreasing plasma TNF- α levels in LPS-exposed animals than the HAL-treated LPS-exposed group (LPS + HAL) (p = 0.0081) (Figure 6B). Treatment with HAL + GML also significantly reduced TNF-α plasma levels in LPS-exposed animals in comparison to the LPS-exposed control group (p = 0.004) (Figure 6B). The remaining three treatment groups viz. HAL, AM, and HAL + AM showed no significant reduction in plasma levels of TNF- α when compared to the LPS-exposed control group (LPS + vehicle) (Figure 6B).

DISCUSSION

MIA induced sensorimotor gating deficits and depressivelike behavior concurrent with elevated cortico-striatal lipid peroxidation and elevated plasma pro-inflammatory cytokines in offspring. HAL reversed the changes in PPI, cortical (not striatal) lipid peroxidation, and elevated plasma IL-6, but failed to reverse depressive manifestations. GML + HAL effectively reversed PPI, while GML, AM, and HAL + AM did not. Conversely, GML and AM alone reversed depressive-like behaviors, more so than HAL, while the GML + HAL combination also reversed depressivelike symptoms. AM reversed both cortical (not striatal) lipid peroxidation and elevated plasma IL-6. GML and HAL + GML reversed elevations in IL-6 and TNF- α . These data present evidence for GML and its active constituent, AM, as being effective as adjunctive treatments but differently active with respect to psychotic and mood-related behaviors.

In line with previous findings (22, 31, 45, 63, 85), prenatal LPS exposure significantly compromised PPI in late adolescent offspring (**Figure 2**). HAL significantly reversed PPI deficits at 72 and 76 dB, with a similar trend and very large effect sizes at 80 and 84 dB (**Figure 2**), consistent with data from previous chronic (86) and acute (87–89) treatment studies in animals. Overactive dopaminergic processes are suggested to underlie the reduction in PPI (90), which explains the ability of HAL (D₂ antagonist) to reverse said deficits (91). Although GML + HAL

was effective in reversing MIA-induced PPI deficits across all four startle responses, this was not the case for GML or AM separately or for AM + HAL (Figure 2). The latter suggests that AM may abrogate the antipsychotic-like response to HAL, a particular interesting finding. In fact, AM presents with known antioxidant (58), 5HT2A, and a cAMP-PDE inhibitory (49) activity that to varying degrees may underlie these effects. Certainly, 5HT2A receptors play a prominent role in psychotic-like behavior (35) as well as in atypical antipsychotic drug design (35), and hence may play a role in the results described here. On the other hand, HAL is a potent pro-oxidant (92) and pro-inflammatory agent (93). Depending on the stage of disease progression, these actions, together with potent D2 inhibition, may mediate HAL's useful antipsychotic effects. However, these same pro-oxidative actions are purported to cause striatal toxicity and to cause late-onset treatment-related complications (92, 93). Although speculative, could these actions of HAL be countered by the antioxidant and cAMP-PDE inhibitory actions of AM, and possibly even reverse its antipsychotic effects? This opens up new ideas on how antipsychotics work and warrants further study.

Locomotor hyperactivity represents positive symptom schizophrenia, especially psychotic agitation (94). Prenatal LPSexposed offspring demonstrated increased locomotor activity in the OFT (Figure 3), a behavioral response that has been ascribed to hyperdopaminergia (95). HAL lowered LPS-induced locomotor hyperactivity, albeit not significantly, in line with its antidopaminergic/antipsychotic actions. Only AM effectively reduced hyperlocomotion (Figure 3), yet it failed to alter PPI deficits (noted above). AM is a selective, competitive histamine antagonist (96) with sedative properties (97) that may adversely affect startle response in the PPI test. That said, the study design did not allow us to assess the effects of drug treatments on startle response in healthy controls, although rats exposed to LPS + AM did not differ significantly to rats exposed to LPS + vehicle. This and the above-noted HAL + AM findings prompt further research into the putative "antipsychotic-like" effects of AM. No other treatment had any noteworthy effects on locomotor activity (Figure 3), although the locomotor effects described for AM may complicate interpretation of swimming behavior in the FST (see below).

The negative symptoms of schizophrenia comprise affective flattening, alogia, anhedonia, asociality, and avolition (lack of motivation) (98), congruent with the basic symptoms of depression (99). Although the FST assesses behavioral despair, it has been suggested to signify an absence of motivational behavior which is commonly seen in schizophrenia (100). Indeed, LPS-exposed offspring presented with significant depressivelike behaviors (increased immobility) (Figure 4A) and reduced active coping (swimming and climbing) (Figures 4B,C), in agreement with earlier studies (101, 102). Especially, atypical antipsychotics may present with antidepressant activity (103, 104), while clinical (105) and preclinical (106) studies have described the pro-depressant effects of HAL (105, 106). In the present study, however, HAL showed a small, albeit negligible, effect to reverse MIA-associated immobility in the FST and reduced swimming (Figures 4A,C), although significantly increased struggling/climbing behavior (Figure 4B). Importantly, GML significantly decreased immobility and increased swimming behaviors (Figures 4A,C), antidepressant effects congruent with an earlier study in Flinders Sensitive Line (FSL) rats (55). Interestingly, the latter study described GML's prominent serotonergic actions and therapeutic equivalence with imipramine, which is shown here, too, but less emphatically (elevated swimming) (Figure 4C). Moreover, GML is a superior antidepressant to HAL (Figures 4A,C). Similarly, AM also exhibited significant antidepressant-like properties regarding its effects on immobility and swimming behavior, although not as marked as GML alone (immobility) (Figure 4A). Of note, GML and AM augmented the actions of HAL on immobility (Figure 4A) with GML bolstering the HAL effect on struggling (Figure 4B), suggesting a bolstering of HAL's action via mechanisms other than D₂ receptor blockade. Despite AM suppressing locomotor activity, as noted above, this action did not affect its ability to reduce immobility and to increase swimming in the FST, thus highlighting a psychogenic action to bolster escape-driven behavior that is not related to, or mediated by, an increase in locomotor activity. Given the noted antioxidant actions of GML and its constituents, other antioxidants like NAC (107) are also antidepressant in the FST. Interestingly, NAC seems to have specific benefit in especially negative-symptom schizophrenia (40, 41), thus highlighting that antioxidants may have preferential psychopharmacological actions as antidepressants, which is borne out in this study as well.

Oxidative damage is implicated in the pathophysiology and neuroprogression of schizophrenia (35-37). Schizophrenia patients present with increased plasma lipid peroxidation (108-110), possibly correlated with certain clinical features (111). Adjunctive treatment with antioxidants improve symptoms in animal models (43, 112) as well as patients with schizophrenia (40). Prenatal LPS exposure significantly increased cortical and striatal lipid peroxidation in offspring (Figure 5), in agreement with previous findings (45, 113). Mouse models of oxidative stress are associated with cognitive and motivational deficits, as well as dysfunction of the prefrontal cortex (114). Schizophrenia is a hyperdopaminergic state (35) where dopamine metabolism contributes to oxidative stress by lowering glutathione (GSH) levels, which in turn is abrogated by D₁/D₂ receptor antagonists (36, 115). Importantly, HAL treatment significantly reduced lipid peroxidation in the frontal cortex (Figure 5A), while not having any marked effect in the striatum (Figure 5B). However, total striatum was analyzed here, whereas it is predominantly the ventral striatum encompassing the ventral tegmentum that is more relevant in rodents for an association with schizophrenia (116). The fact that HAL did not significantly reduce striatal lipid peroxidation may also be explained by HAL's known pro-oxidant actions in the striatum following chronic treatment (117) and which is associated with its long-term locomotor side effects. This action may otherwise obscure any possible antioxidant abilities in reducing MDA levels as was evident in the frontal cortex. This differential pro-oxidant action for HAL in these two brain regions is not new. In fact, Martins et al. (118) found that chronic HAL treatment increases oxidative stress in the striatum but decreases such levels in the cerebral cortex. Importantly, HAL still reversed LPS-induced PPI deficits (**Figure 2**), reiterating the importance of the frontal cortex in antipsychotic action (119). Moreover, here, we also show a frontal cortical role for its redox modulatory actions and how this may affect behavior. The frontal cortex is involved in cognitive processes such as working memory, behavioral flexibility, and attention (120). With regard to the antidepressant-like effects of GML and AM, the frontal cortex is also implicated in the development of depression and, hence, in antidepressant response (121, 122).

Although GML possesses antioxidant activity in vitro (123-126), GML had no effect on striatal lipid peroxidation, although it prompted a large effect size reduction in the frontal cortex (Figure 5A), thus qualitatively similar to that observed with HAL. Earlier, we found that chronic GML reversed elevated hippocampal lipid peroxidation in FSL rats (55), although the discrepancy between these two studies may be due to the different translational models used and the brain region assayed. AM also presents with antioxidant activity (58), here, significantly and again selectively reducing LPS-induced lipid peroxidation in the frontal cortex (Figure 5A). The absence of obvious antioxidant actions for GML and AM in the striatum is noteworthy, but may be related to assaying the whole striatum, as noted for HAL earlier. The diverse antioxidant actions of AM, viz. modulating GSH levels (127), free radical scavenging (128), inhibiting low-density lipoprotein oxidation (129), may afford it a more prominent antioxidant action than raw GML in vivo. As AM is the dominant bioactive xanthone in GML pericarp (55), it probably provides the dominant antioxidant activity observed with the raw extract. However, the more pronounced antioxidant action of AM does not translate into an improved behavioral outcome for AM over GML (Figures 2, 3), while GML and AM only offered small (GML) to negligible (AM) benefits in combination with HAL with regard to redox markers (Figure 5A). This suggests that GML may be offering beneficial effects through mechanisms other than antioxidant activity alone.

Immune-inflammatory dysfunction has been extensively reported in schizophrenia (35), specifically elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (130), while being a protagonist for oxidative stress (131). Pro-inflammatory cytokines have a developmental role in the brain (132, 133) and are implicated in the pathogenesis of neurodevelopmental disorders such as schizophrenia (134, 135). IL-6 and TNF- α levels are elevated in schizophrenia (136) and animal models (45, 137). Likewise, IL-6 and TNF-a were elevated in MIA offspring (Figures 6A,B) together with increased cortico-striatal lipid peroxidation (Figure 5). HAL-associated reversal of elevated IL-6 levels (Figure 6A) is consistent with clinical findings (138, 139), although it did not alter elevated plasma TNF- α levels (Figure 6B). Here, both GML and AM treatment reduced elevated plasma IL-6 levels (Figure 6A), with GML, but not AM, also reducing TNF- α levels (Figure 6B). This suggests a broader immunosuppressant action for GML vs. HAL or AM. AM has been shown to decrease inflammatory cytokines following LPS induction (140), to inhibit IL-2 release (141) and to suppress IL-6 expression (142). HAL + GML, but not HAL + AM, successfully reversed elevated IL-6 and TNF- α levels, although not more so than HAL alone (Figures 6A,B). In fact, HAL has immunosuppressive effects (143) as does GML have anti-inflammatory properties (125, 144). However, that neither GML nor AM bolstered the antioxidant effects of HAL again asserts that any beneficial effects offered by adjunctive GML treatment may involve mechanisms over and above inflammatory-redox processes. This warrants further study.

These findings have significance as a catalyst for future preclinical and clinical studies. Considering the important role of inflammation in the progression of mood and psychotic disorders, there is a growing interest in nutraceuticals with antiinflammatory/antioxidant activity in psychiatry. That GML and AM have evinced therapeutic efficacy in the MIA model, as well as possess anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties, suggests potential as a novel adjunctive treatment for these disorders (145). However, there appears to be distinct differential effects with respect to the mood–psychosis continuum, with a bias in favor of a depressed mood component. This prompts further investigation into GML's clinical benefits as an antidepressant vs. an antipsychotic. These aspects need deeper consideration in further animal studies but also in controlled clinical trials (146).

Certain limitations to this study are worth noting. Given the less-than-adequate antipsychotic-like effects for GML and AM, it would have been informative to include another schizophrenialike behavioral assessment in the protocol to confirm these findings, e.g., memory, social interaction. Moreover, a dose titration analysis for GML and AM may have revealed a dosedependent association in their behavioral effects, especially since the dose used for GML was based on a prior antidepressant study in another animal model (55). We also did not explore synergistic effects with atypical agents, which could differ to HAL. Biological analysis could have benefitted from regional striatal analysis, i.e., ventral, rostral, as opposed to assay of the whole striatum, as was done here. The study design did not allow for the assessment of drug treatments in healthy controls, which may have allowed for more in-depth explanation of treatment effects in LPS-exposed animals. Finally, having the same number of animals in both the saline-treated and LPS-exposed groups could have been an added benefit.

CONCLUSION

Schizophrenia is plagued by poor treatment outcomes and the limited efficacy of currently available antipsychotics (147–149). Supplementary treatment with nutraceutical anti-inflammatory agents and antioxidants such as GML may offer distinct therapeutic benefits (46). Plant extracts invariably contain a rich mixture of various bioactive constituents, yet little is known whether the pharmacological properties of a given extract are the sum of one or a group of inherent constituents or the result of the unique mix that the raw extract offers. This study has attempted to highlight this important question. Unlike the reference antipsychotic, HAL, chronic treatment with GML or AM *failed* to impact on sensorimotor gating deficits in the MIA model. However, both GML and AM not only displayed significant antidepressant-like properties but also bolstered the anti-immobility response to HAL. This is noteworthy as unlike

atypical antipsychotics, HAL is not a recognized antidepressant, while here, it only marginally reduced immobility in the FST. GML and AM were both anti-inflammatory in the model, which may underlie their antidepressant effects. AM and, to a lesser degree, GML abrogated frontal cortical oxidative stress. This study confirms the antidepressant-like effects of GML described in another translational model of depression, the FSL rat (55). Having performed this study in a MIA model supports the use of GML and AM to address depressive symptoms in schizophrenia. However, their ability to address broader psychotic manifestations of the illness, e.g., PPI deficits, requires further study. Whether GML or AM is able to confer therapeutic benefits remains to be confirmed in dose–response and other clinical studies (150).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by AnimCare animal research ethics committee (National Health Research Ethics Council reg. no. AREC-130913-015) of the North-West University (Ethical approval numbers: NWU-00376-16-A5 and NWU-00147-14-A5).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JL: all laboratory work, data collection and formal analysis, validation, and first draft of the manuscript. MM: all figures,

REFERENCES

- Harris LW, Guest PC, Wayland MT, Umrania Y, Krishnamurthy D, Rahmoune H, et al. Schizophrenia: metabolic aspects of aetiology, diagnosis and future treatment strategies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology.* (2013) 38:752–66. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012. 09.009
- Owen MJ, O'Donovan MC. Schizophrenia and the neurodevelopmental continuum: evidence from genomics. World Psychiatr. (2017) 16:227– 35. doi: 10.1002/wps.20440
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5[®]). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing (2013).
- Meyer U. Developmental neuroinflammation and schizophrenia. *Prog NeuropsychopharmacolBiol Psychiatr.* (2013) 42:20– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2011.11.003
- Lindenmayer J-P, Liu-Seifert H, Kulkarni PM, Kinon BJ, Stauffer V, Edwards SE, et al. Medication nonadherence and treatment outcome in patients with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder with suboptimal prior response. J Clin Psychiatr. (2009) 70:990–6. doi: 10.4088/JCP.08m04221
- Chue P, Lalonde JK. Addressing the unmet needs of patients with persistent negative symptoms of schizophrenia: emerging pharmacological treatment options. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2014) 10:777. doi: 10.2147/NDT. S43404

supervised behavioral methods and analysis, and statistical analysis. MB and OD: study design, data interpretation, and manuscript review. BH: conceptualization, methodology and statistics, writing—review and editing, supervision of JL, project administration, and funding acquisition.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the National Research Foundation (NRF; BH; grant number 77323) and Deakin University, Geelong, Australia (BH). The grant-holder acknowledges that opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in any publication generated by NRF-supported research are those of the authors and that the NRF accepts no liability whatsoever in this regard. MB is supported by an NHMRC Senior Principal Research Fellowship (APP1059660 and APP1156072). OD is an R.D. Wright Biomedical Research Fellow and has received grant support from the Brain and Behavior Foundation, Simons Autism Foundation, Stanley Medical Research Institute, Deakin University, Lilly, NHMRC, and Australasian Society for Bipolar and Depressive Disorders (ASBDD)/Servier.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Kobus Venter and Antoinette Fick (Vivarium, North-West University) for their input into the breeding and housing of the animals. We also acknowledge Walter Dreyer for his assistance during the ELISA analyses. We also acknowledge Mr. Brendan Holland, Deakin University, Australia, for performing the chromatographic fingerprint of raw GML extract. OD was supported by an R.D. Wright NHMRC Biomedical Research Fellowship (APP1145634).

- Buckley PF, Stahl S. Pharmacological treatment of negative symptoms of schizophrenia: therapeutic opportunity or Culdesac? *Acta Psychiatr Scand*. (2007) 115:93–100. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2007.00992.x
- 8. Weinberger DR. Implications of normal brain development for the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (1987) 44:660–9.
- Owen MJ, O'Donovan MC, Thapar A, Craddock N. Neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatr. (2011) 198:173– 5. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.110.084384
- Giezendanner S, Walther S, Razavi N, Van Swam C, Fisler MS, Soravia LM, et al. Alterations of white matter integrity related to the season of birth in schizophrenia: a DTI study. *PloS ONE.* (2013) 8:e75508. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075508
- Brown AS. The environment and susceptibility to schizophrenia. Progr Neurobiol. (2011) 93:23–58. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2010.09.003
- 12. Kirkbride JB, Susser E, Kundakovic M, Kresovich JK, Davey Smith G, Relton CL. Prenatal nutrition, epigenetics and schizophrenia risk: can we test causal effects? *Epigenomics*. (2012) 4:303–15. doi: 10.2217/epi.12.20
- Davis J, Eyre H, Jacka FN, Dodd S, Dean O, McEwen S, et al. A review of vulnerability and risks for schizophrenia: beyond the two hit hypothesis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 65:185–94. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.03.017
- Brown AS, Derkits EJ. Prenatal infection and schizophrenia: a review of epidemiologic and translational studies. *Am J Psychiatr.* (2009) 167:261– 80. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09030361

- Brown AS. Epidemiologic studies of exposure to prenatal infection and risk of schizophrenia and autism. *Dev Neurobiol.* (2012) 72:1272– 6. doi: 10.1002/dneu.22024
- Penner JD, Brown AS. Prenatal infectious and nutritional factors and risk of adult schizophrenia. *Exp Rev Neurother*. (2007) 7:797– 805. doi: 10.1586/14737175.7.7.797
- Patterson PH. Immune involvement in schizophrenia and autism: etiology, pathology and animal models. *Behav Brain Res.* (2009) 204:313– 21. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2008.12.016
- Chase KA, Melbourne JK, Rosen C, McCarthy-Jones S, Jones N, Feiner BM, et al. Traumagenics: At the intersect of childhood trauma, immunity and psychosis. *Psychiatr Res.* (2018) 273:369– 77. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.12.097
- Kirsten TB, Taricano M, Florio JC, Palermo-Neto J, Bernardi MM. Prenatal lipopolysaccharide reduces motor activity after an immune challenge in adult male offspring. *Behav Brain Res.* (2010) 211:77– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010.03.009
- Lin YL, Lin SY, Wang S. Prenatal lipopolysaccharide exposure increases anxiety-like behaviors and enhances stress-induced corticosterone responses in adult rats. *Brain Behav Immunity*. (2012) 26:459–68. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2011.12.003
- Lin YL, Wang S. Prenatal lipopolysaccharide exposure increases depressionlike behaviors and reduces hippocampal neurogenesis in adult rats. *Behav Brain Res.* (2014) 259:24–34. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013.10.034
- Ozawa K, Hashimoto K, Kishimoto T, Shimizu E, Ishikura H, Iyo M. Immune activation during pregnancy in mice leads to dopaminergic hyperfunction and cognitive impairment in the offspring: a neurodevelopmental animal model of schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatr.* (2006) 59:546–54. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.07.031
- 23. Wolff AR, Bilkey DK. The maternal immune activation (MIA) model of schizophrenia produces pre-pulse inhibition (PPI) deficits in both juvenile and adult rats but these effects are not associated with maternal weight loss. *Behav Brain Res.* (2010) 213:323–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2010. 05.008
- 24. Van den Eynde K, Missault S, Fransen E, Raeymaekers L, Willems R, Drinkenburg W, et al. Hypolocomotive behaviour associated with increased microglia in a prenatal immune activation model with relevance to schizophrenia. *Behav Brain Res.* (2014) 258:179–86. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013.10.005
- Shi L, Fatemi SH, Sidwell RW, Patterson PH. Maternal influenza infection causes marked behavioral and pharmacological changes in the offspring. J Neurosci. (2003) 23:297–302. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-01-00297.2003
- Tohmi M, Tsuda N, Watanabe Y, Kakita A, Nawa H. Perinatal inflammatory cytokine challenge results in distinct neurobehavioral alterations in rats: implication in psychiatric disorders of developmental origin. *Neurosci Res.* (2004) 50:67–75. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2004.05.010
- Smith SE, Li J, Garbett K, Mirnics K, Patterson PH. Maternal immune activation alters fetal brain development through interleukin-6. *J Neurosci.* (2007) 27:10695–702. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2178-07.2007
- Meyer U, Feldon J, Schedlowski M, Yee BK. Towards an immunoprecipitated neurodevelopmental animal model of schizophrenia. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2005) 29:913–47. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004. 10.012
- Boksa P. Effects of prenatal infection on brain development and behavior: a review of findings from animal models. *Brain Behav Immunity*. (2010) 24:881–97. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2010.03.005
- Baharnoori M, Bhardwaj SK, Srivastava LK. Neonatal behavioral changes in rats with gestational exposure to lipopolysaccharide: a prenatal infection model for developmental neuropsychiatric disorders. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (2012) 38:444–56. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbq098
- Borrell J, Vela JM, Arévalo-Martin A, Molina-Holgado E, Guaza C. Prenatal immune challenge disrupts sensorimotor gating in adult rats: implications for the etiopathogenesis of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2002) 26:204–15. doi: 10.1016/S0893-133X(01)00360-8
- 32. Basta-Kaim A, Budziszewska B, Leśkiewicz M, Fijał K, Regulska M, Kubera M, et al. Hyperactivity of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis in lipopolysaccharide-induced neurodevelopmental model of schizophrenia

in rats: effects of antipsychotic drugs. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2011) 650:586–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2010.09.083

- 33. Zhu F, Zhang L, Ding Y-Q, Zhao J, Zheng Y. Neonatal intrahippocampal injection of lipopolysaccharide induces deficits in social behavior and prepulse inhibition and microglial activation in rats: implication for a new schizophrenia animal model. *Brain Behav Immunity*. (2014) 38:166– 74. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.01.017
- Ng F, Berk M, Dean O, Bush AI. Oxidative stress in psychiatric disorders: evidence base and therapeutic implications. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2008) 11:851–76. doi: 10.1017/S1461145707008401
- Brand SJ, Möller M, Harvey BH. A review of biomarkers in mood and psychotic disorders: a dissection of clinical vs. preclinical correlates. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2015) 13:324– 68. doi: 10.2174/1570159X13666150307004545
- Bitanihirwe BK, Woo TU. Oxidative stress in schizophrenia: an integrated approach. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2011) 35:878– 93. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.10.008
- Davis J, Moylan S, Harvey BH, Maes M, Berk M. Neuroprogression in schizophrenia: pathways underpinning clinical staging and therapeutic corollaries. *Aust New Zealand J Psychiatr.* (2014) 48:512–29. doi: 10.1177/0004867414533012
- Iguchi Y, Kosugi S, Nishikawa H, Lin Z, Minabe Y, Toda S. Repeated exposure of adult rats to transient oxidative stress induces various longlasting alterations in cognitive and behavioralfunctions. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e114024. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0114024
- Bas A, Gultekin G, Incir S, Bas TO, Emul M, Duran A. Level of serum thioredoxin and correlation with neurocognitive functions in patients with schizophrenia using clozapine and other atypical antipsychotics. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 247:84–89. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.11.021
- Berk M, Copolov D, Dean O, Lu K, Jeavons S, Schapkaitz I, et al. Nacetyl cysteine as a glutathione precursor for schizophrenia-a doubleblind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Biol Psychiatr.* (2008) 64:361– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.03.004
- Carmeli C, Knyazeva MG, Cuénod M, Do KQ. Glutathione precursor Nacetyl-cysteine modulates EEG synchronization in schizophrenia patients: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e29341. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029341
- Rapado-Castro M, Dodd S, Bush AI, Malhi GS, Skvarc DR, On ZX, et al. Cognitive effects of adjunctive N-acetyl cysteine in psychosis. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:866–876. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716002932
- 43. Möller M, Du Preez JL, Viljoen FP, Berk M, Emsley R, Harvey BH. Social isolation rearing induces mitochondrial, immunological, neurochemical and behavioural deficits in rats, and is reversed by clozapine or N-acetyl cysteine. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2013) 30:156–67. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.12.011
- 44. Cabungcal JH, Counotte DS, Lewis EM, Tejeda HA, Piantadosi P, Pollock C, et al. Juvenile antioxidant treatment prevents adult deficits in a developmental model of schizophrenia. *Neuron.* (2014) 83:1073– 84. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.07.028
- Swanepoel T, Möller M, Harvey, BH. N-acetyl cysteine reverses biobehavioural changes induced by prenatal inflammation, adolescent methamphetamine exposure and combined challenges. *Psychopharmacology*. (2018) 235:351–68. doi: 10.1007/s00213-017-4776-5
- 46. Sarris J. Herbal medicines in the treatment of psychiatric disorders: a 10 year updated review. *Phytother Res.* (2018) 32:1147–62. doi: 10.1002/ptr.6055
- 47. Marx W, Moseley G, Berk M, Jacka F. Nutritional psychiatry: the present state of the evidence. *Proc Nutr Soc.* (2017) 76:427–36. doi: 10.1017/S0029665117002026
- Gutierrez-Orozco F, Failla ML. Biological activities and bioavailability of mangosteen xanthones: a critical review of the current evidence. *Nutrients*. (2013) 5:3163–83. doi: 10.3390/nu5083163
- Chin Y-W, Kinghorn AD. Structural characterization, biological effects, and synthetic studies on xanthones from mangosteen (*Garcinia mangostana*), a popular botanical dietary supplement. *Mini Rev Org Chem.* (2008) 5:355– 64. doi: 10.2174/157019308786242223
- Yoshikawa M, Harada E, Miki A, Tsukamoto K, Liang S, Yamahara J, et al. Antioxidant constituents from the fruit hulls of mangosteen (*Garcinia* mangostana L.) originating in Vietnam. YakugakuZasshi J Pharm Soc Japan. (1994) 114:129–33. doi: 10.1248/yakushi1947.114.2_129

- Jung H-A, Su B-N, Keller WJ, Mehta RG, Kinghorn AD. Antioxidant xanthones from the pericarp of *Garcinia mangostana* (Mangosteen). J Agric Food Chem. (2006) 54:2077–82. doi: 10.1021/jf052649z
- Chairungsrilerd N, Furukawa, K.-I., Ohta T, Nozoe S, Ohizumi Y. Histaminergic and serotonergic receptor blocking substances from the medicinal plant *Garcinia mangostana*. *Planta Med.* (1996) 62:471– 2. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-957943
- Chen L-G, Yang L-L, Wang C-C. Anti-inflammatory activity of mangostins from *Garcinia mangostana*. Food Chem Toxicol. (2008) 46:688–93. doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2007.09.096
- Chomnawang MT, Surassmo S, Wongsariya K, Bunyapraphatsara N. Antibacterial activity of Thai medicinal plants against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Fitoterapia*. (2009) 80:102–4. doi: 10.1016/j.fitote.2008.10.007
- 55. Oberholzer I, Möller M, Holland B, Dean O, Berk M, Harvey B. Garcinia mangostana Linn displays antidepressant-like and pro-cognitive effects in a genetic animal model of depression: a bio-behavioral study in the flinders sensitive line rat. Metab Brain Dis. (2018) 33:467– 80. doi: 10.1007/s11011-017-0144-8
- 56. Sakagami Y, Iinuma M, Piyasena K, Dharmaratne H. Antibacterial activity of α -mangostin against vancomycin resistant Enterococci (VRE) and synergism with antibiotics. *Phytomedicine.* (2005) 12:203–8. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2003.09.012
- 57. Nakagawa Y, Iinuma M, Naoe T, Nozawa Y, Akao Y. Characterized mechanism of α-mangostin-induced cell death: caspase-independent apoptosis with release of endonuclease-G from mitochondria and increased miR-143 expression in human colorectal cancer DLD-1 cells. *Bioorg Med Chem.* (2007) 15:5620–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bmc.2007.04.071
- Fang Y, Su T, Qiu X, Mao P, Xu Y, Hu Z, et al. Protective effect of alphamangostin against oxidative stress induced-retinal cell death. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:21018. doi: 10.1038/srep21018
- Regenass W, Möller M, Harvey BH. Studies into the anxiolytic actions of agomelatine in social isolation reared rats: role of corticosterone and sex. J Psychopharmacol. (2018) 32:134–45. doi: 10.1177/0269881117735769
- Harvey BH, Regenass W, Dreyer W, Möller M. Social isolation rearinginduced anxiety and response to agomelatine in male and female rats: role of corticosterone, oxytocin, and vasopressin. *J Psychopharmacol.* (2019) 33:640–6. doi: 10.1177/0269881119826783
- Kilkenny C, Browne W, Cuthill IC, et al. Animal research: reporting *in vivo* experiments: the ARRIVE guidelines. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2010) 160:1577–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00872.x
- 62. Toua C, Brand L, Möller M, Emsley R, Harvey B. The effects of sub-chronic clozapine and haloperidol administration on isolation rearing induced changes in frontal cortical N-methyl-daspartate and D 1 receptor binding in rats. *Neuroscience.* (2010) 165:492–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.10.039
- Fortier M-E, Luheshi GN, Boksa P. Effects of prenatal infection on prepulse inhibition in the rat depend on the nature of the infectious agent and the stage of pregnancy. *Behav Brain Res.* (2007) 181:270– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2007.04.016
- Meyer U, Schwendener S, Feldon J, Yee BK. Prenatal and postnatal maternal contributions in the infection model of schizophrenia. *Exp Brain Res.* (2006) 173:243–57. doi: 10.1007/s00221-006-0419-5
- Iturria SJ. A method for obtaining randomized block designs in preclinical studies with multiple quantitative blocking variables. *Pharm Stat.* (2011) 10:169–74. doi: 10.1002/pst.445
- Gao X, Hashimoto T, Cooper T, Tamminga C. The dose-response characteristics of rat oral dyskinesias with chronic haloperidol or clozapine administration. *J Neural Trans.* (1997) 104:97–104. doi: 10.1007/BF01271298
- Schmitt U, Dahmen N, Fischer V, Weigmann H, Rao ML, Reuss, et al. Chronic oral haloperidol and clozapine in rats: a behavioral evaluation. *Neuropsychobiology*. (1999) 39:86–91. doi: 10.1159/000026566
- Schleimer SB, Johnston GA, Henderson JM. Novel oral drug administration in an animal model of neuroleptic therapy. J Neurosci Methods. (2005) 146:159–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2005.02.004
- 69. Terry AV, Gearhart DA, Warner S, Hohnadel EJ, Middlemore M-L, Zhang G, et al. Protracted effects of chronic oral haloperidol and risperidone on nerve

growth factor, cholinergic neurons, and spatial reference learning in rats. *Neuroscience*. (2007) 150:413–24. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.09.014

- 70. Li L, Brunner I, Han AR, Hamburger M, Kinghorn AD, Frye R, et al. Pharmacokinetics of α-mangostin in rats after intravenous and oral application. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2011) 55:S67–S74. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201000511
- Nel A, Harvey BH. Haloperidol-induced dyskinesia is associated with striatal NO synthase suppression: reversal with olanzapine. *Behav Pharmacol.* (2003) 14:251–5. doi: 10.1097/00008877-200305000-00010
- 72. Han SY, You BH, Kim YC, Chin Y-W, Choi YH. Dose-independent ADME properties and tentative identification of metabolites of α -mangostin from *Garcinia mangostana* in mice by automated microsampling and UPLC-MS/MS methods. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0131587. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131587
- Braff DL, Geyer MA, Swerdlow NR. Human studies of prepulse inhibition of startle: normal subjects, patient groups, and pharmacological studies. *Psychopharmacology*. (2001) 156:234–8. doi: 10.1007/s002130100810
- 74. Swerdlow NR, Light GA, Cadenhead KS, Sprock J, Hsieh MH, Braff DL. Startle gating deficits in a large cohort of patients with schizophrenia: relationship to medications, symptoms, neurocognition, and level of function. *Arch Gen Psychiatr.* (2006) 63:1325–35. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.63.12.1325
- 75. Möller M, Du Preez JL, Emsley R, Harvey BH. Isolation rearinginduced deficits in sensorimotor gating and social interaction in rats are related to cortico-striatal oxidative stress, and reversed by sub-chronic clozapine administration. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2011) 21:471– 83. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2010.09.006
- Liebenberg N, Harvey BH, Brand L, Brink CB. Antidepressant-like properties of phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors and cholinergic dependency in a genetic rat model of depression. *Behav Pharmacol.* (2010) 21:540– 7. doi: 10.1097/FBP.0b013e32833befe5
- van den Buuse M. Modeling the positive symptoms of schizophrenia in genetically modified mice: pharmacology and methodology aspects. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (2009) 36:246–70. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbp132
- Porsolt RD, Brossard G, Hautbois C, Roux S. Models of affective illness: forced swimming and tail suspension tests in rodents. *Curr Protoc Pharmacol.* (2000) 10:5.8.1–9. doi: 10.1002/0471141755.ph0508s10
- Lucki I. The forced swimming test as a model for core and component behavioral effects of antidepressant drugs. *Behav Pharmacol.* (1997) 8:523– 32. doi: 10.1097/00008877-199711000-00010
- Pokorski M, Warzecha A. Depression and religiosity in older age. *Eur J Med Res.* (2011) 16:401. doi: 10.1186/2047-783X-16-9-401
- Gozdzik-Zelazny A, Borecki L, Pokorski M. Depressive symptoms in schizophrenic patients. *Eur J Med Res.* (2011) 16:549. doi: 10.1186/2047-783X-16-12-549
- Harvey BH, Duvenhage I, Viljoen F, Scheepers N, Malan SF, Wegener G, et al. Role of monoamine oxidase, nitric oxide synthase and regional brain monoamines in the antidepressant-like effects of methylene blue and selected structural analogues. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2010) 80:1580–91. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2010.07.037
- Steyn SF, Harvey BH, Brink CB. Immediate and long-term antidepressivelike effects of pre-pubertal escitalopram and omega-3 supplementation combination in young adult stress-sensitive rats. *Behav Brain Res.* (2018) 351:49–62. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2018.05.021
- Möller M, Du Preez JL, Viljoen FP, Berk M, Harvey BH. Nacetyl cysteine reverses social isolation rearing induced changes in cortico-striatal monoamines in rats. *Metab Brain Dis.* (2013) 28:687–96. doi: 10.1007/s11011-013-9433-z
- Basta-Kaim A, Fijał K, Budziszewska B, Regulska M, Leśkiewicz M, Kubera M, et al. Prenatal lipopolysaccharide treatment enhances MK-801-induced psychotomimetic effects in rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* (2011) 98:241–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2010.12.026
- Romero E, Ali C, Molina-Holgado E, Castellano B, Guaza C, Borrell J. Neurobehavioral and immunological consequences of prenatal immune activation in rats. Influence of antipsychotics. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2007) 32:1791–804. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301292

- Binder EB, Kinkead B, Owens MJ, Kilts CD, Nemeroff CB. Enhanced neurotensin neurotransmission is involved in the clinically relevant behavioral effects of antipsychotic drugs: evidence from animal models of sensorimotor gating. J Neurosci. (2001) 21:601–8. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-02-00601.2001
- Kusljic S, Brosda J, Van Den Buuse M. Effects of haloperidol and clozapine on sensorimotor gating deficits induced by 5-hydroxytryptamine depletion in the brain. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2006) 147:800–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0706641
- Hadamitzky M, Harich S, Koch M, Schwabe K. Deficient prepulse inhibition induced by selective breeding of rats can be restored by the dopamine D2 antagonist haloperidol. *Behav Brain Res.* (2007) 177:364– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2006.11.037
- Fabricius K, Helboe L, Fink-Jensen A, Wörtwein G, Steiniger-Brach B, Sotty F. Increased dopaminergic activity in socially isolated rats: an electrophysiological study. *Neurosci Lett.* (2010) 482:117–22. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.07.014
- Romero E, Guaza C, Castellano B, Borrell J. Ontogeny of sensorimotor gating and immune impairment induced by prenatal immune challenge in rats: implications for the etiopathology of schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatr.* (2010) 15:372–83. doi: 10.1038/mp.2008.44
- Harvey BH, Joubert C, du Preez JL, Berk M. Effect of chronic N-acetyl cysteine administration on oxidative status in the presence and absence of induced oxidative stress in rat striatum. *Neurochem Res.* (2008) 33:508– 17. doi: 10.1007/s11064-007-9466-y
- Baumeister D, Ciufolini S, Mondelli V. Effects of psychotropic drugs on inflammation: consequence or mediator of therapeutic effects in psychiatric treatment? *Psychopharmacology*. (2016) 233:1575–89. doi: 10.1007/s00213-015-4044-5
- Powell SB, Zhou X, Geyer MA. Prepulse inhibition and genetic mouse models of schizophrenia. *Behav Brain Res.* (2009) 204:282–94. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2009.04.021
- Minassian A, Henry BL, Geyer MA, Paulus MP, Young JW, Perry W. The quantitative assessment of motor activity in mania and schizophrenia. J Affect Disord. (2010) 120:200–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.04.018
- 96. Chairungsrilerd N, Furukawa, K.-I., Ohta T, Nozoe S, Ohizumi Y. Pharmacological properties of α-mangostin, a novel histamine H 1 receptor antagonist. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (1996) 314:351–6. doi: 10.1016/S0014-2999(96)00562-6
- Shankaranarayan D, Gopalakrishnan Ct, Kameswaran L. Pharmacological profile of mangostin and its derivatives. *Arch Int Pharm Ther.* (1979) 239:257–69.
- Tandon R, Gaebel W, Barch DM, Bustillo J, Gur RE, Heckers S, et al. Definition and description of schizophrenia in 69 the DSM-5. Schizophrenia Res. (2013) 150:3–10. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013. 05.028
- 99. Kring AM, Gur RE, Blanchard JJ, Horan WP, Reise SP. The clinical assessment interview for negative symptoms (CAINS): final development and validation. Am J Psychiatr. (2013) 170:165–72. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12010109
- Chatterjee M, Jaiswal M, Palit G. Comparative evaluation of forced swim test and tail suspension test as models of negative symptom of schizophrenia in rodents. *ISRN Psychiatr.* (2012) 595141. doi: 10.5402/2012/ 595141
- 101. Enayati M, Solati J, Hosseini M-H, Shahi H-R, Saki G, Salari A-A. Maternal infection during late pregnancy increases anxiety-and depression-like behaviors with increasing age in male offspring. *Brain Res Bull.* (2012) 87:295–302. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2011. 08.015
- 102. O'connor J, Lawson M, Andre C, Moreau M, Lestage J, Castanon N, et al. Lipopolysaccharide-induced depressive-like behavior is mediated by indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase activation in mice. *Mol Psychiatr.* (2009) 14:511–22. doi: 10.1038/sj.mp.4002148
- 103. Han C, Wang S-M, Kato M, Lee S-J, Patkar AA, Masand PS, et al. Second-generation antipsychotics in the treatment of major depressive disorder: current evidence. *Exp Rev Neurother*. (2013) 13:851–70. doi: 10.1586/14737175.2013.811901
- Roberts RJ, Lohano KK, El-Mallakh RS. Antipsychotics as antidepressants. Asia Pacific Psychiatr. (2016) 8:179–88. doi: 10.1111/appy.12186

- 105. Heinz A, Knable MB, Coppola R, Gorey JG, Jones DW, Lee K-S, et al. Psychomotor slowing, negative symptoms and dopamine receptor availability-an IBZM SPECT study in neuroleptic-treated and drug-free schizophrenic patients. *Schizophrenia Res.* (1998) 31:19–26. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(98)00003-6
- 106. Weiner I, Schiller D, Gaisler-Salomon I, Green A, Joel D. A comparison of drug effects in latent inhibition and the forced swim test differentiates between the typical antipsychotic haloperidol, the atypical antipsychotics clozapine and olanzapine, and the antidepressants imipramine and paroxetine. *Behav Pharmacol.* (2003) 14:215–22. doi: 10.1097/00008877-200305000-00005
- Ferreira FR, Biojone C, Joca SR, Guimaraes FS. Antidepressant-like effects of N-acetyl-L-cysteine in rats. *Behav Pharmacol.* (2008) 19:747– 50. doi: 10.1097/FBP.0b013e3283123c98
- 108. Akyol Ö, Herken H, Uz E, Fadillioglu E, Ünal S, Sögüt S, et al. The indices of endogenous oxidative and antioxidative processes in plasma from schizophrenic patients: the possible role of oxidant/antioxidant imbalance. *Progr Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatr.* (2002) 26:995– 1005. doi: 10.1016/S0278-5846(02)00220-8
- 109. Khan MM, Evans DR, Gunna V, Scheffer RE, Parikh VV, Mahadik SP. Reduced erythrocyte membrane essential fatty acids and increased lipid peroxides in schizophrenia at the never-medicated first-episode of psychosis and after years of treatment with antipsychotics. *Schizophrenia Res.* (2002) 58:1–10. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00334-6
- 110. Arvindakshan M, Sitasawad S, Debsikdar V, Ghate M, Evans D, Horrobin DF, et al. Essential polyunsaturated fatty acid and lipid peroxide levels in never-medicated and medicated schizophrenia patients. *Biol Psychiatr.* (2003) 53:56–64. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(02)01443-9
- 111. Gama CS, Salvador M, Andreazza AC, Lobato MI, Berk M, Kapczinski F, et al. Elevated serum thiobarbituric acid reactive substances in clinically symptomatic schizophrenic males. *Neurosci Lett.* (2008) 433:270–3. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008.01.018
- 112. Phensy A, Duzdabanian HE, Brewer S, Panjabi A, Driskill C, Berz A, et al. Antioxidant treatment with N-acetyl cysteine prevents the development of cognitive and social behavioral deficits that result from Perinatal Ketamine treatment. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2017) 11:106. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00106
- Zhu Y, Carvey PM, Ling Z. Altered glutathione homeostasis in animals prenatally exposed to lipopolysaccharide. *Neurochem Int.* (2007) 50:671– 80. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2006.12.013
- 114. Johnson AW, Jaaro-Peled H, Shahani N, Sedlak TW, Zoubovsky S, Burruss D, et al. Cognitive and motivational deficits together with prefrontal oxidative stress in a mouse model for neuropsychiatric illness. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:12462–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1307925110
- 115. Grima G, Benz B, Parpura V, Cuénod M, Do KQ. Dopamineinduced oxidative stress in neurons with glutathione deficit: implication for schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Res.* (2003) 62:213– 24. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(02)00405-X
- 116. McCutcheon RA, Abi-Dargham A, Howes OD. Schizophrenia, dopamine and the striatum: from biology to symptoms. *Trends Neurosci.* (2019) 42:205–20. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2018.12.004
- Martins MR, Petronilho FC, Gomes KM, Dal-Pizzol F, Streck EL, Quevedo J. Antipsychotic-induced oxidative stress in rat brain. *Neurotoxic Res.* (2008) 13:63–9. doi: 10.1007/BF03033368
- Artigas F. The prefrontal cortex: a target for antipsychotic drugs. Acta Psychiatr Scand. (2010) 121:11–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2009.01455.x
- Goto Y, Yang CR, Otani S. Functional and dysfunctional synaptic plasticity in prefrontal cortex: roles in psychiatric disorders. *Biol Psychiatr.* (2010) 67:199–207. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.08.026
- Davidson RJ, Pizzagalli D, Nitschke JB, Putnam K. Depression: perspectives from affective neuroscience. Ann Rev Psychol. (2002) 53:545–74. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135148
- 121. Drevets WC, Price JL, Furey ML. Brain structural and functional abnormalities in mood disorders: implications for neurocircuitry models of depression. *Brain Struct Funct.* (2008) 213:93–118. doi: 10.1007/s00429-008-0189-x
- 122. Puripattanavong J, Khajorndetkun W, Chansathirapanich W. Improved isolation of α-mangostin from the fruit hull of *Garcinia mangostana*

and its antioxidant and antifungal activity. *Planta Med.* (2006) 72:328. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-950128

- 123. Weecharangsan W, Opanasopit P, Sukma M, Ngawhirunpat T, Sotanaphun U, Siripong P. Antioxidative and neuroprotective activities of extracts from the fruit hull of mangosteen (*Garcinia mangostana* Linn.). *Med Principles Pract.* (2006) 15:281–287. doi: 10.1159/000092991
- 124. Chomnawang MT, Surassmo S, Nukoolkarn VS, Gritsanapan W. Effect of Garcinia mangostana on inflammation caused by Propionibacterium acnes. Fitoterapia. (2007) 78:401–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fitote.2007.02.019
- 125. Zhao Y, Liu J-P, Lu D, Li, P-Y, Zhang L-X. A new antioxidant xanthone from the pericarp of *Garcinia mangostana* Linn. *Nat Product Res.* (2010) 24:1664–70. doi: 10.1080/14786419.2010.499539
- 126. Márquez-Valadez B, Maldonado PD, Galván-Arzate S, Méndez-Cuesta LA, Pérez-De La Cruz V, Pedraza-Chaverrí J, et al. Alpha-mangostin induces changes in glutathione levels associated with glutathione peroxidase activity in rat brain synaptosomes. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2012) 15:13–9. doi: 10.1179/147683012X13327575416400
- Williams P, Ongsakul M, Proudfoot J, Croft K, Beilin L. Mangostin inhibits the oxidative modification of human low density lipoprotein. *Free Rad Res.* (1995) 23:175–84. doi: 10.3109/10715769509064030
- Mahabusarakam W, Proudfoot J, Taylor W, Croft K. Inhibition of lipoprotein oxidation by prenylated xanthones derived from mangostin. *Free Radic Res.* (2000) 33:643–59. doi: 10.1080/10715760000 301161
- Miller BJ, Buckley P, Seabolt W, Mellor A, Kirkpatrick B. Meta-analysis of cytokine alterations in schizophrenia: clinical status and antipsychotic effects. *Biol Psychiatr.* (2011) 70:663–71. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.04.013
- 130. Möller M, Swanepoel T, Harvey BH. Neurodevelopmental animal models reveal the convergent role of neurotransmitter systems, inflammation, and oxidative stress as biomarkers of Schizophrenia: implications for novel drug development. ACS Chem Neurosci. (2015) 6:987–1016. doi: 10.1021/cn5003368
- 131. Zhao B. Schwartz JP. Involvement of cytokines in normal CNS development and neurological diseases: recent progress and perspectives. J Neurosci Res. (1998) 52:7– 16. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19980401)52:1<7::AID-JNR2>3.0.CO;2-I
- Deverman BE, Patterson PH. Cytokines and CNS development. Neuron. (2009) 64:61–78. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.09.002
- Manu P, Correll CU, Wampers M, Mitchell AJ, Probst M, Vancampfort D, et al. Markers of inflammation in schizophrenia: association vs. causation. *World Psychiatr.* (2014) 13:189–92. doi: 10.1002/wps.20117
- 134. Na K-S, Jung H-Y, Kim Y-K. The role of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the neuroinflammation and neurogenesis of schizophrenia. Progr Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatr. (2014) 48:277-86. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.10.022
- 135. Erbagci AB, Herken H, Köylüoglu O, Yilmaz N, Tarakçioglu M. Serum IL-1β, sIL-2R, IL-6, IL-8 and TNF-α in schizophrenic patients, relation with symptomatology and responsiveness to risperidone treatment. *Mediat Inflamm.* (2001) 10:109–15. doi: 10.1080/09629350 123895
- 136. Urakubo A, Jarskog LF, Lieberman JA, Gilmore JH. Prenatal exposure to maternal infection alters cytokine expression in the placenta, amniotic fluid, and fetal brain. *Schizophrenia Res.* (2001) 47:27–36. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(00)00032-3
- 137. Maes M, Bosmans E, Calabrese J, Smith R, Meltzer HY. Interleukin-2 and interleukin-6 in schizophrenia and mania: effects of neuroleptics and mood stabilizers. J Psychiatr Res. (1995) 29:141–52. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(94)00049-W
- 138. Zhang XY, Zhou DF, Cao LY, Zhang PY, Wu GY, Shen YC. Changes in serum interleukin-2,-6, and-8 levels before and during treatment with risperidone

and haloperidol: relationship to outcome in schizophrenia. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2004) 65:940–7. doi: 10.4088/jcp.v65n0710

- Maes M, Bosmans E, Kenis G, De Jong R, Smith RS, Meltzer HY. *In vivo* immunomodulatory effects of clozapine in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Res.* (1997) 26:221–5. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(97)00057-1
- 140. Liu S-H, Lee L-T, Hu N-Y, Huange K-K, Shih Y-C, Munekazu I, et al. Effects of alpha-mangostin on the expression of anti-inflammatory genes in U937 cells. *Chinese Med.* (2012) 7:19. doi: 10.1186/1749-8546-7-19
- 141. Kasemwattanaroj P, Moongkarndi P, Pattanapanyasat K, Mangmool S, Rodpai E, Samer J, et al. Immunomodulatory activities of alpha-mangostin on peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Nat Prod Commun.* (2013) 8:1257– 60. doi: 10.1177/1934578X1300800919
- 142. Yiemwattana I, Kaomongkolgit R. Alpha-mangostin suppresses IL-6 and IL-8 expression in *P. gingivalis* LPS-stimulated human gingival fibroblasts. *Odontology*. (2015) 103:348–55. doi: 10.1007/s10266-014-0160-7
- 143. Song C, Lin, A.-h., Kenis G, Bosmans E, Maes M. Immunosuppressive effects of clozapine and haloperidol: enhanced production of the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Schizophrenia Res.* (2000) 42:157–64. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(99)00116-4
- 144. Nakatani K, Atsumi M, Arakawa T, Oosawa K, Shimura S, Nakahata, et al. Inhibitions of histamine release and prostaglandin E2 synthesis by mangosteen, a Thai medicinal plant. *Biol Pharm Bull.* (2002) 25:1137– 41. doi: 10.1248/bpb.25.1137
- 145. Ashton MM, Dean OM, Walker AJ, Bortolasci CC, Ng CH, Hopwood M, et al. The therapeutic potential of mangosteen pericarp as an adjunctive therapy for bipolar disorder and Schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatr.* (2019) 10:115. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00115
- 146. Ashton MM, Berk M, Ng CH, Hopwood M, Dodd S, Turner A, et al. Efficacy of adjunctive *Garcinia mangostana* Linn (mangosteen) pericarp for bipolar depression: study protocol for a proof-of-concept trial. *Braz J Psychiatry.* (2019) 41:245–53. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2018-0114
- 147. Novick D, Haro JM, Suarez D, Perez V, Dittmann RW, Haddad PM. Predictors and clinical consequences of non-adherence with antipsychotic medication in the outpatient treatment of schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2010) 176:109–13. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2009.05.004
- 148. Keefe RSE, Harvey PD. Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia. In: Geyer M, Gross G, editors. Novel Antischizophrenia Treatments. Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, Vol. 213. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer (2012).
- Haddad P, Brain C, Scott J. Nonadherence with antipsychotic medication in schizophrenia: challenges and management strategies. *Patient Relat Outcome Meas.* (2014) 5:43–62. doi: 10.2147/PROM.S42735
- 150. Magalhães PV, Dean O, Andreazza AC, Berk M, Kapczinski F. Antioxidant Treatments for Schizophrenia. The Cochrane Library (2016).

Conflict of Interest: Over the past 3 years, BH has participated in advisory boards, received honoraria from Servier, and received research funding from Servier, Lundbeck, Deakin University, Cannabis Science Inc., and HG&H Pharmaceuticals.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Lotter, Möller, Dean, Berk and Harvey. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Perspective: Solving the Heterogeneity Conundrum of TSPO PET Imaging in Psychosis

Livia De Picker^{1,2*} and Manuel Morrens^{1,2}

¹ Collaborative Antwerp Psychiatric Research Institute, University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium, ² SINAPS, University Psychiatric Hospital Campus Duffel, Duffel, Belgium

Positron emission tomography using ligands targeting translocator protein 18 kDa (TSPO PET) is an innovative method to visualize and quantify glial inflammatory responses in the central nervous system in vivo. Compared to some other neuropsychiatric disorders, findings of TSPO PET in schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders have been considerably more heterogeneous. Two conflicting meta-analyses have been published on the topic within the last year: one asserting evidence for decreased TSPO uptake, while the other observed increased TSPO uptake in a selection of studies. In this paper, we review and discuss five hypotheses which may explain the observed variability of TSPO PET findings in psychotic illness, namely that (1) an inflammatory phenotype is only present in a subgroup of psychosis patients; (2) heterogeneity is caused by interference of antipsychotic medication; (3) interference of other clinical confounders in the study populations (such as age, sex, BMI, smoking, and substance use); or (4) methodological variability between studies (such as choice of tracer and kinetic model, genotyping, study power, and diurnal effects); and (5) the glial responses underlying changes in TSPO expression are themselves heterogeneous and dynamic. Finally, we propose four key recommendations for future research proposals to mitigate these different causes of heterogeneity.

Keywords: translocator protein, schizophrenia, psychosis, microglia, positron emission tomography, neuroinflammation, astrocytes

INTRODUCTION

Heterogeneity seems to come with the territory of psychiatry, and the study of positron emission tomography (PET) imaging of immune alterations in the central nervous system using nuclear ligands targeting translocator protein 18 kDA (TSPO) in psychotic disorders is no different. Ten years after the first studies were published, mixed results have remained an obstinate problem. In 2017, we published the first systematic review on TSPO PET imaging in psychotic illness (1). In that year, a series of negative studies had just emerged (2–4), bluntly sobering the initial enthusiasm that had accompanied early positive results (5, 6). Today, confusion and disappointment are tangibly present as even meta-analyses are openly contradicting each other: While Marques et al. found a significant increase in TSPO binding, based mainly on studies using first-generation TSPO tracer [11C]PK11195 (cfr. **Table 1**), Plaven-Sigray et al. found very strong evidence of decreased levels of

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ole Köhler-Forsberg, Aarhus University, Denmark

Reviewed by:

Sina Hafizi, University of Manitoba, Canada William Charles Kreisl, Columbia University, United States Alexandra Winkeler, CEA Saclay, France

*Correspondence: Livia De Picker livia.depicker@uantwerp.be

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 08 November 2019 Accepted: 09 April 2020 Published: 01 May 2020

Citation:

De Picker L and Morrens M (2020) Perspective: Solving the Heterogeneity Conundrum of TSPO PET Imaging in Psychosis. Front. Psychiatry 11:362. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00362

61

TABLE 1 | PET studies with TSPO tracer in patients with psychotic illness versus controls.

1A. Original studies									
n P	n C	Tracer	Model; Outcome measure	Clinical state PANSS Total (T) and positive (P) symptom scale score	Mean age P	% male P	% medicate P	d Outcome	
10	10	[11C]PK11195	2TCM; BP	Undefined	24 ± 2	90%	100%	SZ > C	
7	8	[11C]PK11195	2TCM; BP	Symptom scores unavailable Psychosis	31.2 ± 7.2	85.7%	100%	SZ > C	
16	8	[11C]PK11195	2TCM; BP	T 73.6 ± 13.3 P 19.7 ± 3.0 Undefined				SZ > C	
14	14	[11C]DAA1106	2TCM; BP	Chronic	43.8 ± 7.4	57.1%	100%	SZ=C	
				T 77.9 ± 20.1 P 19.1 ± 5.3					
16	27	[18F]FEPPA	2TCM; V_T	Psychosis	42.5 ± 14.0	62.5%	100%	SZ=C	
14	14	[11C]PBR28	2TCM-1K; DVR	<i>T 70.2</i> ± 9.7 <i>P 19.3</i> ± 2.2 Undefined	47.0 ± 9.3	75%	100%	SZ > C	
				T 63.7 ± 18.1					
12	14	[11C]DPA713	Undefined; V_{T}	Undefined	24.3 ± 3.3	75%	83%	SZ=C	
16	16		Deference tiquue	P (SAPS) 3.8 ± 2.5	22 + 0	69.90/	50%	SZ > C	
			BP					if medicated	
19	17	[11C]PK11195	Reference tissue; BP	Undefined $T 53 \pm 10$	26 ± 4	84.2%	79%	SZ=C	
16	16	[11C]PBR28	2TCM; V _T	$P 12 \pm 4$ FEP drug naïve	28.5 ± 8.4	68.8%	0%	SZ < C	
				T 77.4 ± 18.3					
19	20	[18F]FEPPA	2TCM; V_T	FEP unmedicated	27.5 ± 6.8	63.2%	0%	SZ=C	
				T 68.6 ± 13.0 P 19.2 ± 3.8					
33	27	[11C]PK11195	Reference tissue; BP	T 68.5* P (BPRS)	20.6 ± 5.5	88.9%	78%	SZ=C	
				Chronic (n=15) <i>T 86.5*</i> <i>P (BPRS)</i>	35.2 ± 6.6	66.7%	100%	SZ=C	
14	17	[18F]PBR111	2TCM-1K; V _T	19.5 ± 7.8 Acute psychosis & remission	32.2 ± 8.3	100%	90%	SZ > C if P > 30y	
				T 75.3 ± 21.0 P 24.1 ± 5.4					
14	15	[11C]PBR28	2TCM; V _T	FEP	24.8 ± 4	63.6%	87.6%	SZ < C	
	 n P 10 7 16 14 16 14 12 16 19 16 19 33 14 	n P n C 10 10 7 8 16 8 14 14 16 27 14 14 12 14 16 16 19 17 16 16 19 20 33 27 14 17	n P n C Tracer 10 10 [11C]PK11195 10 8 [11C]PK11195 11 14 [11C]PK11195 12 14 [11C]PBR28 12 14 [11C]PBR28 13 14 [11C]PBR28 14 14 [11C]PBR28 15 14 [11C]PBR28 16 16 [11C]PBR28 17 [11C]PBR28 [11C]PBR28 18 16 [11C]PBR28 19 17 [11C]PBR28 19 20 [18F]FEPPA 33 27 [11C]PK11195 14 17 [11C]PK11195 14 17 [18F]FEPA 14 17 [18F]PBR111	n P. n C. Tracer Model; Outcome measure 10 10 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP 7 8 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP 16 8 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP 14 14 [11C]DAA1106 2TCM; BP 16 27 [18F]FEPPA 2TCM; VT 14 14 [11C]DPA713 Undefined; VT 12 14 [11C]PK11195 Reference tissue; BP 19 17 [11C]PK11195 Reference tissue; BP 19 20 [18F]FEPPA 2TCM; VT 19 20 [18F]FEPPA 2TCM; VT 13 27 [11C]PK11195 Reference tissue; BP 19 20 [18F]FEPPA 2TCM; VT 33 27 [11C]PK11195 Reference tissue; BP 14 17 [18F]PBR111 2TCM-1K; VT	n Pn CTracerModel; Outcome measureClinical state PANSS Total (I) and positive (P) symptom scale score1010[11C]PK111952TCM; BPUndefined1010[11C]PK111952TCM; BPSymptom scores unavailable Psychosis168[11C]PK111952TCM; BPT73.6 ± 13.3 P19.7 ± 3.0168[11C]PK111952TCM; BPUndefined1414[11C]DAA11062TCM; BPOhronic1627[18F]FEPPA2TCM; VTPsychosis1627[18F]FEPPA2TCM; VTPsychosis1614[11C]DPA713Undefined; VTT70.2 ± 9.7 P19.3 ± 2.21711C]DPA713Undefined; VTT03.7 ± 18.1 P17.0 ± 6.11811[11C]DPA713Undefined; VTT04.61 Undefined1917[11C]PK11195Reference tissue; BP Reference tissue; BPT04.8 ± 13.0 P20.3 ± 4.51920[18F]FEPPA2TCM; VTT77.4 ± 18.3 P20.3 ± 4.91920[18F]FEPPA2TCM; VTT77.4 ± 18.3 P20.3 ± 4.91920[18F]FEPPA2TCM; VTReference tissue; BP3327[11C]PK11195Reference tissue; BPReference tissue; P(BPRS) 12.6 ± 4.61417[18F]PBR1112TCM-1K; VTT75.3 ± 21.0 P(BPRS) 12.6 ± 4.61417[18F]PBR1112TCM-1K; VTT75.3 ± 21.0 P(BPRS) 12.6 ± 7.8	n P n C Tracer Model; Outcome measure measure Clinical state pANSS Total (1) and positive (P) symptom scale score Mean age pANSS Total (1) and positive (P) symptom scale score 10 10 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP Undefined 24 ± 2 7 8 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP Undefined 24 ± 2 16 8 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP $773.6 \pm 13.3 \\ P19.7 \pm 3.0 \\ Undefined 773.6 \pm 13.3 \\ P19.7 \pm 3.0 \\ Undefined 31.2 \pm 7.2 16 8 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP Chronic 43.8 \pm 7.4 14 14 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; UT P19.7 \pm 3.0Undefined 42.5 \pm 14.0 14 14 [11C]PBR28 2TCM-1K; DVR 773.2 \pm 9.7P19.3 \pm 2.2Undefined 47.0 \pm 9.3 14 14 [11C]PBR28 2TCM-1K; DVR 763.7 \pm 16.1P17.9 \pm 2.0Undefined 24.3 \pm 3.3 15 14 [11C]PK11195 Reference tissue;BP Tavaviable P(SAPS) 3.8 \pm 2.5Undefined 33 \pm 9 16 16 [11C]PK11195 Reference tissue;BP T77.4 \pm 18.3P20.3 \pm 4.9 27.5 \pm$	n P n C Tracer Model; Outcom measure Clinical state PANSS Total (1) and positive (P) symptom scale score Mean age per scale score Mean age per scale score Mean age per scale score % male P 10 10 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP Undefined 24 ± 2 90% 7 8 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP Symptom scores unavailable Psychosis 31.2 ± 7.2 95.7% 16 8 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP Chronic 43.8 ± 7.4 57.1% 16 8 [11C]PK11195 2TCM; BP Chronic 43.8 ± 7.4 62.5% 16 14 [11C]PBR28 2TCM; VT Psychosis 42.5 ± 14.0 62.5% 18 [11C]PBR28 2TCM; VT 77.2 ± 3.7 47.0 ± 9.3 75% 19 14 [11C]PK11195 Psychosis 47.0 ± 9.3 75% 19 16 [11C]PK11195 Psychosis 153 ± 10 24.3 ± 3.3 75% 19 20 [13F]FEPPA 2TCM; VT 753 ± 10 2	n P n C Tracer Model; Outcome measure Clinical state PAKSS Total (7) and positive (P) symptom scale score % male P % male P	

(Continued)

1B. META-ANALYSES

Author (year)	nP	nC	n studies	Model; Outcom measure	e Clinical state	Mean age P	% male P	% medicated	Outcome
Marques et al. (18)	190	200	6 (5/6 [11C]PK111	95)BP					SZ > C g=0.31
			6 (second- generation)	V _T					SZ=C g=-0.22
Plaven-Sigray et al. (19)	75	77	5 (second- generation)	2TCM; V _T	P 18.2 ± 4.2	33.9 ± 12.6	68%	52%	SZ < C SMD=0.47 0.63

SZ, schizophrenia patient group; C, control group; n, number of subjects; FEP, first episode psychosis patients; "DOI", duration of illness; 2TCM, two-tissue compartment model, BP, binding potential; V_T , volume of distribution; DVR, distribution volume ratio; CPZ, chlorpromazine equivalent; SZ > C, increased uptake of tracer in schizophrenia patients compared to controls; SZ=C, no difference in tracer uptake between schizophrenia patients and controls; SZ < C, decreased uptake of tracer in schizophrenia patients compared to controls. *mean BPRS total scores were converted to corresponding PANSS total scores using the equipercentile linking method (20).

TSPO PET results in ultra-high risk patient (sub)samples are not included in the table.

TSPO in their meta-analysis using single-participant data of second-generation tracer studies (18, 19). To date, 14 studies have measured TSPO tracer binding in schizophrenia-spectrum disorders, of which seven were conducted in patients within the first 5 years of diagnosis (cfr. **Table 1**). Three studies included at ultra-high risk for psychosis (2, 4, 10). We have previously highlighted variability in terms of study population, tracer, kinetic modeling, and outcome measures (1). In this paper, we will discuss five potential sources of heterogeneity in TSPO PET imaging in psychotic illness.

HYPOTHESIS 1: AN INFLAMMATORY PHENOTYPE IS PRESENT IN A SUBGROUP OF SCHIZOPHRENIA PATIENTS

It has been proposed that one or more different "immunophenotypes" (i.e., immune-inflammatory biotypes) may exist within the psychotic population (21). While this hypothesis has not been studied within the central nervous system, a recently published meta-analysis of 35 studies of peripheral immune markers among first-episode psychosis did not point towards the existence of subgroups (22). However, proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IFN- γ are elevated in first-episode patients who do not respond to antipsychotic treatment relative to those who do respond, raising the possibility that this treatment-resistant subgroup, could involve specific CNS immune changes (23). This hypothesis has yet to be tested with TSPO PET imaging.

HYPOTHESIS 2: HETEROGENEITY THROUGH INTERFERENCE OF MEDICATION STATUS

For obvious ethical and practical reasons, most patients suffering from psychotic illness will be or have previously been exposed to antipsychotic medication. Antipsychotics are known to differentially affect microglial activation (increased with haloperidol and olanzapine, but reduced with risperidone) (24, 25) and TSPO binding (increased with clozapine, no significant changes with sulpiride) in rats (26). The interpretation of TSPO PET results in schizophrenia is therefore confounded by a medication effect of unknown size. Prior to the use of TSPO PET, two [3H]PK11195 autoradiography studies have found the number of TSPO binding sites in peripheral platelet cells to demonstrate a 30% decrease in patients who had been (chronically) medicated with antipsychotics relative to unmedicated patients and age-matched controls (27-29). This contradicts findings of two [11C]PK11195 PET studies who found that unmedicated patients had relatively lower TSPO levels compared with antipsychotic-treated patients (2, 12). However, as the TSPO imaging in these unmedicated psychotic patients took place very early in the illness course, during the prodromal stage or early in the first psychotic symptoms while the medicated patients were older and had a longer duration of illness, they cannot differentiate between medication and dynamic effects of illness state and progression (16). Plaven-Sigray et al. did not find a difference in TSPO levels between drug-free and medicated patients in their meta-analysis (19).

HYPOTHESIS 3: HETEROGENEITY THROUGH INTERFERENCE OF OTHER CLINICAL CONFOUNDERS

Age, Sex, and BMI Effects

A recent multicentric study confirmed significant positive correlations between age and TSPO binding in the frontal and temporal cortex of 140 healthy volunteers, and a significant positive correlation with age in all brain regions in male subjects (30). It is therefore very likely that age may also have an impact on TSPO binding in disease states. In our own work, a significant interaction with age was found to influence the TSPO



FIGURE 1 | Patients' change in TSPO binding in hippocampal region and plasma KA over the time course of a psychotic episode (n = 10; time interval 12 ± 4 weeks).

binding of patients over the longitudinal course of a psychotic episode (cfr. **Figure 1**) (15, 16). While such a dynamic interaction with age offers a compelling explanation for some of the discrepancies between different study cohorts of psychosis patients, this finding deserves independent replication before drawing firm conclusions.

Not unimportantly in the predominantly male schizophrenia patient group, the same multicentric study has indicated that females show significantly higher TSPO binding in all regions compared to males. TSPO mediates the rate-limiting step of steroidogenesis. An alteration in TSPO levels could thus affect the production of neurosteroids in the brain, among which female sex hormones, independently of peripheral endocrine sources (31). Finally, many patients—especially those with longer duration of illness and exposure to atypical antipsychotics—also tend towards higher BMIs, which correlate inversely with TSPO uptake (30).

Smoking and Substance Use Effects

In a cohort of healthy controls, smokers had a 15.5–17.0% decreased TSPO uptake, both in the satiated state and after a night of abstention, compared to nonsmokers (32, 33). If chronic cigarette smoking leads to a global reduction in TSPO binding, this could markedly influence the results of cohorts of psychotic patients, known to be active smokers at a much higher prevalence than the general population (32, 33). A similar effect is true for cannabis use, which is also highly prevalent among schizophrenia patients. Most studies of TSPO PET in schizophrenia will include patients that have a history of cannabis use if they remain abstinent during their study participation and/or are inpatients with restricted access to illicit substances. A cohort of long-term cannabis users (using cannabis at least 4 times per week for 12 months and/or meeting

criteria for cannabis use disorder) had a 23.3% increased TSPO binding compared to non-users (34). Given the long biological half-life of cannabinoids, these effects may very well persist into abstinence, although this has not yet been studied. It is unclear what the effect would be of concomitant use of nicotine and cannabis products, and if vaping of nicotine- and/or THC-containing liquids exerts the same effect. In our own work, smoking status and cannabis use were not identified as significant confounders; however, the unequal distribution of (nicotine and/or cannabis) smokers between cohorts could mask such an effect.

Two studies of TSPO PET in alcohol use disorder patients have demonstrated 10–20% decreased TSPO binding in recently detoxified patients (35, 36). Intriguingly, increased binding was shown with acute alcohol exposure in a non-human primate "binge drinking" model—persisting for several months after abstinence (37). Abuse of methamphetamine (but not cocaine) has also been demonstrated to significantly affect TSPO binding (38, 39). Ideally, future studies should aim to match cohorts for smoking status, as well as current and prior substance use.

HYPOTHESIS 4: HETEROGENEITY THROUGH METHODOLOGICAL VARIATIONS

Choice of TSPO Tracer and Kinetic Modeling

A major limitation of TSPO PET imaging studies is that the quantification of data is a complex task. Methodological issues related to this process have been extensively discussed by other authors (19, 40-44). In summary, because microglia are distributed ubiquitously throughout the entire brain, a traditional reference tissue approach is problematic as no brain region of interest can be relied upon to be devoid of specific signal (45). Advanced methods using cluster analysis have been devised to determine a suitable reference region (43). Until these methods have been thoroughly validated for multiple ligands, an arterial input function remains the gold standard to reliably quantify the TSPO radioligand signal. A concern is that (radial) arterial sampling is invasive and arduous to patients, leading to higher inclusion bias and drop-out rates. A total of six different TSPO tracers have been applied in the clinical study of schizophrenia/psychotic illness. The advantages and disadvantages as well as the specific sensitivity of each tracer to TSPO protein have been reviewed elsewhere (46, 47). Firstgeneration TSPO radiotracers, such as [11C]PK11195, exhibit poor extraction and lower signal-to-noise than secondgeneration tracers (e.g., [11C]PBR28, [11C]DPA-713, [18F] PBR111, or [18F]FEPPA) and tend to use outcome measure non-displaceable binding (BP: tracer binding in region of interest relative to other "reference" brain regions) instead of "gold standard" outcome measure volume of distribution (V_T: total amount of tracer in region of interest relative to blood). Marques

et al. found a significant increased TSPO level with studies using BP as outcome measure (with five out of six studies using firstgeneration tracer [11C]PK11195) (18), but the methodological validity of these findings are controversial (44)—recent findings suggest that at least half of the variability in [11C]PK11195 studies is due to measurement error (44). Other sources of methodological variation and potential bias are the correction for plasma free fraction and ligand binding to plasma proteins such as α 1-acid glycoprotein, variability in outcome measurements, the inclusion of an additional endothelial compartment to the traditional two-compartment model (13, 27, 42).

Genotyping

In 2010, Owen et al. warned that second-generation ligand [11C] PBR28 does not produce a specific binding signal in approximately 14% of healthy volunteers (48). One year later, they demonstrated that all second-generation TSPO ligands in clinical use recognize high affinity (HABs, 66% of the Caucasian population), mixed affinity (MABs, 29%), and low affinity binders (LABs, 5%) in brain tissue in vitro (49). A single nucleotide polymorphism (rs6971) in exon 4 of the TSPO gene causes an alanine-to-threonine substitution affecting the ligandbinding affinity of TSPO. Prior genotyping of subjects for this polymorphism (with exclusion of LAB and stratification between MAB and HAB) is therefore required to reliably quantify TSPO binding with second-generation radiotracers. One Japanese study by Takano et al. (8) was published before this knowledge became available and therefore failed to correct for this important confounder yet the prevalence of the low-binding allele is estimated at only 4% in this demographic (8, 50). Some TSPO studies in psychotic illness have reported significant findings in one genotype group, but not in the other, thereby confusing overall interpretation. For instance, Marques et al. found no significant difference in HAB, but a significant decrease of TSPO binding in MAB subjects with second-generation tracers (18).

Sample Size/Study Power

The relatively small patient sample sizes in TSPO PET studies of schizophrenia patients have often been criticized (44). Yet the mean sample size in TSPO PET studies across 41 neuropsychiatric diagnoses is not significantly different from studies in schizophrenia/psychotic illness (17.4 ± 10.9 all diagnoses versus 19.9 ± 9.0 in psychotic illness; De Picker et al., in prep). However, as mentioned above, in secondgeneration TSPO tracers' stratification of study groups by genotype is required. To compensate for this loss of study power, the sample size in studies of second-generation TSPO tracers has been on average 46% larger than with [11C]PK11195 $(12.7 \pm 1.9 \text{ vs. } 19.0 \pm 1.4)$ across diagnostic categories, but only 10% larger in studies of psychotic illness (18.4 ± 3.4 vs. 20.3 ± 2.7 ; De Picker et al., in prep). As most of the studies using secondgeneration tracers were published in the last 5 years, at an average study completion time of 4-5 years, power calculations have probably been based on the effect size estimates of the earlier [11C]PK11195 studies (published in 2008-2009), which

in retrospect may have reported inflated effect sizes (44). We therefore cannot exclude the possibility that some of the later second-generation ligand studies have been underpowered.

Diurnal Effect

Specific immune cells and cytokines show a 24-hour circadian variation in plasma and CSF—similar diurnal changes may also exist in TSPO binding (51). A 18.5 \pm 23.9% higher V_T was observed in grey matter of healthy subjects in the afternoon compared to the morning of the same day (52).

HYPOTHESIS 5: GLIAL RESPONSES UNDERLYING TSPO CHANGES ARE HETEROGENEOUS AND DYNAMIC

TSPO is expressed at low levels at the outer mitochondrial membrane of various cell types, including microglia, astrocytes, and vascular endothelial cells throughout the brain and increases sharply in response to neuronal injury and inflammation. TSPO is often considered a biomarker of "neuroinflammation" or "microglial activation", yet novel findings have indicated this notion is erroneous and it is more appropriate to equate TSPO binding to glial responses in general. Firstly, "neuroinflammation" is essentially a spectrum of still ill-defined physiological functions and dynamic response patterns which varies with the type and course of a pathological condition. Contingent upon the integrity of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and a condition's regional focus, distinct patterns of TSPO upregulation can ensue in different brain pathologies. Secondly, our knowledge on the cellular mechanisms of neuroinflammation is suboptimal (1). Studies in animal models have compellingly demonstrated the increased TSPO signal in brain pathology is derived from both microglial cells and astrocytes, in a dynamic temporal interplay (summarized by Guilarte, 2019) (27). Following exposure to a neurotoxic substance, an early microglial response at 2 weeks is followed by a later astrocytic activation and further increase in TSPO levels at 3-4 weeks. Upon removal of the toxic compound, the TSPO signal gradually decreases (50% decrease after 6 weeks), with the astrocytic signal enduring after the microglial response has already subsided (27). It is also largely unknown how central and peripheral inflammatory responses cross-talk with each other. TSPO levels have been demonstrated to increase 30% within 1 hour and 60% after 4 hours following a classical immune challenge, correlating with an increase in blood levels of inflammatory cytokines as well as sickness symptoms (53, 54). Yet in some auto-immune conditions, increased peripheral cytokines were found to be inversely correlated with TSPO binding. Likewise, reduced prefrontal TSPO levels were found in an infection-mediated neurodevelopmental mouse model, accompanied with increases in inflammatory cytokines and schizophrenia-relevant behavioral abnormalities (55).

Given the considerable intra- and inter-individual variability in symptomatology, treatment response and illness course among patients with psychotic disorders, cross-sectional studies clearly do not provide an accurate representation of the dynamic nature of glial responses. TSPO levels in psychotic illness could be differentially altered in specific symptomatic states (i.e., acute psychotic syndrome, negative symptoms) or stages throughout the illness course (i.e., prodromal, relapsing-remitting, chronic, and treatment-resistant), depending on the differential recruitment from different cellular sources. Both microglia and astrocytes have been implicated in post-mortem research of schizophrenia patients. Kynurenic acid (KA), an astrocyte-derived neuroinhibitory tryptophan neurometabolite, is at the core of the hypothesis linking neuroinflammation to psychotic illness. KA reduces striatal extracellular dopamine through antagonism of α_7 nAch- and NMDA receptors (56). Increased central and decreased peripheral levels of KA have been found in schizophrenia (57). In our own work, the evolution of the TSPO expression over the course of a psychotic episode differed in subjects under the age of 30 compared to those who were older (mean scan interval 12.3 ± 4.6 weeks) (16). Interestingly, in these same subjects, plasma KA levels mimicked this effect (cfr Figure 1; unpublished data). Even if these findings only concern a relatively small sample size of n = 10 patients, they corroborate the interesting question whether dynamic TSPO changes could be related to a differential recruitment of microglial and astrocytic populations in an agedependent or illness-specific pattern.

Finally, regardless of the cellular source, TSPO is not functionally involved in neuroimmune signaling and therefore also does not reliably identify pro- versus anti-inflammatory processes. A consistent downregulation of TSPO emerged in macrophages activated to a pro-inflammatory, or "M1" phenotype. Conversely, stimulation of macrophages to an "M2" phenotype with IL-4, dexamethasone or TGF-β1 did not alter TSPO expression (58). However, findings derived from the study of macrophages or rodent microglia cannot be reliably extrapolated to the behavior of human microglial cells in vivo (59, 60). Even in those neuroinflammatory conditions accompanied by clear and unequivocal TSPO upregulation, better understanding of the functional meaning of these glial responses is crucial before we can jump to therapeutic avenues. It has been proposed that because neuroinflammation plays a central role in the progression of neurodegenerative diseases, drugs such as minocycline and cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors could be beneficial for their in vivo anti-inflammatory-hence neuroprotective-properties. The underlying assumption that increased glial responses are pathological and detrimental to the brain is however simply not true. This has been painfully demonstrated in a clinical trial of 15 patients who had suffered moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury, randomized to receive either minocycline 200 mg per day or no drug for 12 weeks. While minocycline effectively reduced the glial activity on TSPO PET, it also increased markers of neurodegeneration (61). It appears in the specific case of traumatic brain injury the observed glial responses are of a reparative rather than a pathological nature. On the other hand, both minocycline and COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib have been shown to be clinically beneficial when used as add-on treatment to antipsychotics in psychotic patients, even though the TSPO PET results in psychotic patients have been ambivalent (1).

DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Even at the level of simple nosology, clinicians and researchers in psychotic disorders understand that diagnostic categories do not represent valid underlying constructs and are more likely to encompass a wider range of disease entities or subgroups, emerging as a similar clinical syndrome. It therefore does not come as a surprise that heterogeneity also springs up in the research on its underlying neurobiology. In fact, as has recently been demonstrated by Brugger et al. in their meta-analyses of intraindividual variance of regional brain structure (62) and PET imaging of striatal dopaminergic transmission (63), this heterogeneity does not have to be an insurmountable challenge, and can instead be turned into an interesting research question in and of itself. Importantly, Plaven-Sigray et al. have noted that, when all clinical and technical confounders were accounted for, the heterogeneity between studies in their meta-analysis was actually quite low (19). This highlights the importance of using a suitable study design which serves to minimize the variability caused by methodological problems. Still, the emergence of heterogeneous results in the study of TSPO in psychotic illness over the last 5 years has paradoxically raised new questions about the nature and the dynamics of the underlying glial responses and how they relate to TSPO binding in schizophrenia and other illnesses.

Compared to other neuroinflammatory conditions, psychotic illnesses come with some built-in disadvantages. They cannot rely as much on animal or other preclinical models to translationally evaluate the role of neuroinflammatory and glial mechanisms. There is no consistent illness-free region which could serve as reference in imaging studies, and confounding effects of medication and substance use are difficult to eradicate. Furthermore, because the underlying pathophysiology of schizophrenia-specifically, the sequence of causal events in the development of the disorder-is largely unknown, immune and glial mechanisms could be subject to disease-specific, statespecific, and age-specific alterations. Given the considerable cost and effort involved in executing these studies, often taking 4 to 5 years to complete, research groups as well as funding agencies may be reluctant to invest in the field of TSPO PET imaging in psychotic illness any further until we find a way to obtain more consistent results. It is very likely that the true cause of the observed heterogeneity is multifactorial in nature, with several or all of the abovementioned hypotheses contributing to some extent. We therefore advocate future research proposals to take into consideration the following recommendations to mitigate the different reasons for heterogeneity:

1. A consensus on the optimal methodology for TSPO PET imaging in psychotic disorders, which can be applied and replicated in further studies, needs to be reached. Because of the low reliability and sensitivity of (R)-[11C]PK11195 outcomes, preference should be given to second-generation tracers with arterial input function kinetic modeling. In terms of reporting, we advocate for adherence to the guidelines on the content and format of PET brain data publications which were recently provided in a consensus paper (64). Specifically

for TSPO PET, both 2TCM and 2TCM-1K V_T outcome measures should be reported. Cohorts should be genotyped for rs6971 and power calculations should establish adequate sample sizes for each genotype subgroup;

- 2. Control cohorts should be matched for age, sex, BMI, smoking status, and prior substance use (up to 3 months before PET scan) as well as genotype and time of scan. If matching for substance use is not possible, a careful history of any substance use in the last 3 months prior to the scan needs to be reported;
- 3. Longitudinal studies are needed to track the evolution of TSPO expression changes through different phases of the illness, as well as before and after the initiation of antipsychotic medication;
- 4. Studies should stratify patients according to relevant subgroups such as immunophenotypes, treatment-resistant or ultra-high-risk individuals, and different age groups. Findings should be corrected for (lifetime) cumulative medication exposure.

REFERENCES

- De Picker LJ, Morrens M, Chance SA, Boche D. Microglia and Brain Plasticity in Acute Psychosis and Schizophrenia Illness Course: A Meta-Review. Front Psychiatry (2017) 8:238. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00238
- Di Biase MA, Zalesky A, O'Keefe G, Laskaris L, Baune BT, Weickert CS, et al. PET imaging of putative microglial activation in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis, recently diagnosed and chronically ill with schizophrenia. *Trans Psychiatry* (2017) 7(8):e1225. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.193
- van der Doef TF, de Witte LD, Sutterland AL, Jobse E, Yaqub M, Boellaard R, et al. In vivo (R)-[(11)C]PK11195 PET imaging of 18kDa translocator protein in recent onset psychosis. NPJ Schizophr (2016) 2:16031. doi: 10.1038/ npjschz.2016.31
- Hafizi S, Da Silva T, Gerritsen C, Kiang M, Bagby RM, Prce I, et al. Imaging Microglial Activation in Individuals at Clinical High Risk for Psychosis: an In Vivo PET Study with [(18)F]FEPPA. *Neuropsychopharmacol* : Off Publ Am Coll Neuropsychopharmacol (2017) 42(13):2474–81. doi: 10.1038/npp.2017.111
- Doorduin J, de Vries EF, Willemsen AT, de Groot JC, Dierckx RA, Klein HC. Neuroinflammation in schizophrenia-related psychosis: a PET study. J Nuclear Med : Off Publication Soc Nuclear Med (2009) 50(11):1801–7. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.109.066647
- van Berckel BN, Bossong MG, Boellaard R, Kloet R, Schuitemaker A, Caspers E, et al. Microglia activation in recent-onset schizophrenia: a quantitative (R)-[11C]PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 64(9):820–2. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.04.025
- Banati R, Hickie IB. Therapeutic signposts: using biomarkers to guide better treatment of schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders. *Med J Australia* (2009) 190(4 Suppl):S26–32.
- Takano A, Arakawa R, Ito H, Tateno A, Takahashi H, Matsumoto R, et al. Peripheral benzodiazepine receptors in patients with chronic schizophrenia: a PET study with [11C]DAA1106. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2010) 13 (7):943–50. doi: 10.1017/s1461145710000313
- Kenk M, Selvanathan T, Rao N, Suridjan I, Rusjan P, Remington G, et al. Imaging neuroinflammation in gray and white matter in schizophrenia: an invivo PET study with [18F]-FEPPA. *Schizophr Bull* (2015) 41(1):85–93. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu157
- Bloomfield PS, Selvaraj S, Veronese M, Rizzo G, Bertoldo A, Owen DR, et al. Microglial Activity in People at Ultra High Risk of Psychosis and in Schizophrenia: An [(11)C]PBR28 PET Brain Imaging Study. Am J Psychiatry (2016) 173(1):44–52. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.14101358
- 11. Coughlin JM, Wang Y, Ambinder EB, Ward RE, Minn I, Vranesic M, et al. In vivo markers of inflammatory response in recent-onset schizophrenia: a

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LP devised the main conceptual ideas and proof outline. MM aided in interpreting the results and deciding on the final scope of the manuscript. LP wrote the manuscript in consultation with MM.

FUNDING

The authors have received funding from University Hospital Duffel/University of Antwerp to cover open access publication fees.

combined study using [(11)C]DPA-713 PET and analysis of CSF and plasma. *Trans Psychiatry* (2016) 6:e777. doi: 10.1038/tp.2016.40

- Holmes SE, Hinz R, Drake RJ, Gregory CJ, Conen S, Matthews JC, et al. In vivo imaging of brain microglial activity in antipsychotic-free and medicated schizophrenia: a [(11)C](R)-PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Mol Psychiatry* (2016) 21(12):1672–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.180
- Collste K, Plaven-Sigray P, Fatouros-Bergman H, Victorsson P, Schain M, Forsberg A, et al. Lower levels of the glial cell marker TSPO in drug-naive firstepisode psychosis patients as measured using PET and [(11)C]PBR28. *Mol Psychiatry* (2017) 22(6):850–6. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.247
- Hafizi S, Tseng HH, Rao N, Selvanathan T, Kenk M, Bazinet RP, et al. Imaging Microglial Activation in Untreated First-Episode Psychosis: A PET Study With [(18)F]FEPPA. Am J Psychiatry (2017) 174(2):118–24. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.2016.16020171
- Ottoy J, De Picker L, Verhaeghe J, Deleye S, Wyffels L, Kosten L, et al. (18)F-PBR111 PET Imaging in Healthy Controls and Schizophrenia: Test-Retest Reproducibility and Quantification of Neuroinflammation. J Nuclear Med : Off Publication Soc Nuclear Med (2018) 59(8):1267–74. doi: 10.2967/ jnumed.117.203315
- De Picker L, Ottoy J, Verhaeghe J, Deleye S, Wyffels L, Fransen E, et al. Stateassociated changes in longitudinal [(18)F]-PBR111 TSPO PET imaging of psychosis patients: Evidence for the accelerated ageing hypothesis? *Brain Behav Immun* (2019) 77:46–54. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2018.11.318
- Laurikainen H, Vuorela A, Toivonen A, Reinert-Hartwall L, Trontti K, Lindgren M, et al. Elevated serum chemokine CCL22 levels in first-episode psychosis: associations with symptoms, peripheral immune state and in vivo brain glial cell function. *Trans Psychiatry* (2020) 10(1):94. doi: 10.1038/ s41398-020-0776-z
- Marques TR, Ashok AH, Pillinger T, Veronese M, Turkheimer FE, Dazzan P, et al. Neuroinflammation in schizophrenia: meta-analysis of in vivo microglial imaging studies. *psychol Med* (2019) 49(13):2186–96. doi: 10.1017/S0033291718003057
- Plaven-Sigray P, Matheson GJ, Collste K, Ashok AH, Coughlin JM, Howes OD, et al. Positron Emission Tomography Studies of the Glial Cell Marker Translocator Protein in Patients With Psychosis: A Meta-analysis Using Individual Participant Data. *Biol Psychiatry* (2018) 84(6):433–42. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2018.02.1171
- Leucht S, Rothe P, Davis JM, Engel RR. Equipercentile linking of the BPRS and the PANSS. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol : J Eur Coll Neuropsychopharmacol* (2013) 23 (8):956–9. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2012.11.004
- Leboyer M, Berk M, Yolken RH, Tamouza R, Kupfer D, Groc L. Immunopsychiatry: an agenda for clinical practice and innovative research. *BMC Med* (2016) 14(1):173. doi: 10.1186/s12916-016-0712-5

- 22. Pillinger T, Osimo EF, Brugger S, Mondelli V, McCutcheon RA, Howes OD. A Meta-analysis of Immune Parameters, Variability, and Assessment of Modal Distribution in Psychosis and Test of the Immune Subgroup Hypothesis. *Schizophr Bull* (2019) 45(5):1120–33. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby160
- Demjaha A, Egerton A, Murray RM, Kapur S, Howes OD, Stone JM, et al. Antipsychotic treatment resistance in schizophrenia associated with elevated glutamate levels but normal dopamine function. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75(5): e11–3. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.06.011
- 24. Zhu F, Zheng Y, Ding YQ, Liu Y, Zhang X, Wu R, et al. Minocycline and risperidone prevent microglia activation and rescue behavioral deficits induced by neonatal intrahippocampal injection of lipopolysaccharide in rats. *PloS One* (2014) 9(4):e93966. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093966
- 25. Cotel MC, Lenartowicz EM, Natesan S, Modo MM, Cooper JD, Williams SC, et al. Microglial activation in the rat brain following chronic antipsychotic treatment at clinically relevant doses. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol : J Eur Coll Neuropsychopharmacol* (2015) 25(11):2098–107. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro. 2015.08.004
- 26. Danovich L, Veenman L, Leschiner S, Lahav M, Shuster V, Weizman A, et al. The influence of clozapine treatment and other antipsychotics on the 18 kDa translocator protein, formerly named the peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor, and steroid production. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol : J Eur Coll Neuropsychopharmacol* (2008) 18(1):24–33. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro. 2007.04.005
- Guilarte TR. TSPO in diverse CNS pathologies and psychiatric disease: A critical review and a way forward. *Pharmacol Ther* (2019) 194:44–58. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2018.09.003
- Weizman R, Tanne Z, Karp L, Tyano S, Gavish M. Peripheral-type benzodiazepine-binding sites in platelets of schizophrenics with and without tardive dyskinesia. *Life Sci* (1986) 39(6):549–55. doi: 10.1016/0024-3205(86)90512-6
- 29. Gavish M, Weizman A, Karp L, Tyano S, Tanne Z. Decreased peripheral benzodiazepine binding sites in platelets of neuroleptic-treated schizophrenics. *Eur J Pharmacol* (1986) 121(2):275–9. doi: 10.1016/0014-2999(86)90500-5
- Tuisku J, Plaven-Sigray P, Gaiser EC, Airas L, Al-Abdulrasul H, Bruck A, et al. Effects of age, BMI and sex on the glial cell marker TSPO - a multicentre [(11) C]PBR28 HRRT PET study. *Eur J Nuclear Med Mol Imaging* (2019) 46 (11):2329–38. doi: 10.1007/s00259-019-04403-7
- Da Pozzo E, Costa B, Martini C. Translocator protein (TSPO) and neurosteroids: implications in psychiatric disorders. *Curr Mol Med* (2012) 12(4):426-42. doi: 10.2174/156652412800163451
- Brody AL, Hubert R, Enoki R, Garcia LY, Mamoun MS, Okita K, et al. Effect of Cigarette Smoking on a Marker for Neuroinflammation: A [(11)C]DAA1106 Positron Emission Tomography Study. Neuropsychopharmacol : Off Publ Am Coll Neuropsychopharmacol (2017) 42(8):1630–9. doi: 10.1007/s11910-017-0733-2
- Brody AL, Gehlbach D, Garcia LY, Enoki R, Hoh C, Vera D, et al. Effect of overnight smoking abstinence on a marker for microglial activation: a [(11)C] DAA1106 positron emission tomography study. *Psychopharmacology* (2018) 235(12):3525–34. doi: 10.1007/s00213-018-5077-3
- Da Silva T, Hafizi S, Watts JJ, Weickert CS, Meyer JH, Houle S, et al. In Vivo Imaging of Translocator Protein in Long-term Cannabis Users. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2019). doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.2516
- Hillmer AT, Sandiego CM, Hannestad J, Angarita GA, Kumar A, McGovern EM, et al. In vivo imaging of translocator protein, a marker of activated microglia, in alcohol dependence. *Mol Psychiatry* (2017) 22(12):1759–66. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.10
- 36. Kalk NJ, Guo Q, Owen D, Cherian R, Erritzoe D, Gilmour A, et al. Decreased hippocampal translocator protein (18 kDa) expression in alcohol dependence: a [(11)C]PBR28 PET study. *Trans Psychiatry* (2017) 7(1):e996. doi: 10.1038/ tp.2016.264
- 37. Saba W, Goutal S, Auvity S, Kuhnast B, Coulon C, Kouyoumdjian V, et al. Imaging the neuroimmune response to alcohol exposure in adolescent baboons: a TSPO PET study using (18) F-DPA-714. Addict Biol (2018) 23 (5):1000–9. doi: 10.1111/adb.12548
- 38. Narendran R, Lopresti BJ, Mason NS, Deuitch L, Paris J, Himes ML, et al. Cocaine abuse in humans is not associated with increased microglial activation: an 18-kDa translocator protein positron emission tomography

imaging study with [11C]PBR28. J Neurosci : Off J Soc Neurosci (2014) 34 (30):9945-50. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0928-14.2014

- Sekine Y, Ouchi Y, Sugihara G, Takei N, Yoshikawa E, Nakamura K, et al. Methamphetamine causes microglial activation in the brains of human abusers. J Neurosci : Off J Soc Neurosci (2008) 28(22):5756–61. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1179-08.2008
- Turkheimer FE, Rizzo G, Bloomfield PS, Howes O, Zanotti-Fregonara P, Bertoldo A, et al. The methodology of TSPO imaging with positron emission tomography. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2015) 43(4):586–92. doi: 10.1042/ bst20150058
- Schain M, Zanderigo F, Ogden RT, Kreisl WC. Non-invasive estimation of [(11)C]PBR28 binding potential. *NeuroImage* (2018) 169:278–85. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.12.002
- 42. Veronese M, Reis Marques T, Bloomfield PS, Rizzo G, Singh N, Jones D, et al. Kinetic modelling of [(11)C]PBR28 for 18 kDa translocator protein PET data: A validation study of vascular modelling in the brain using XBD173 and tissue analysis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab : Off J Int Soc Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2018) 38(7):1227–42. doi: 10.1177/0271678x17712388
- Garcia-Lorenzo D, Lavisse S, Leroy C, Wimberley C, Bodini B, Remy P, et al. Validation of an automatic reference region extraction for the quantification of [(18)F]DPA-714 in dynamic brain PET studies. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab : Off J Int Soc Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2018) 38(2):333–46. doi: 10.1177/ 0271678x17692599
- Plaven-Sigray P, Cervenka S. Meta-analytic studies of the glial cell marker TSPO in psychosis - a question of apples and pears? *Psychol Med* (2019) 49 (10):1624–8. doi: 10.1017/S003329171800421X
- 45. Sridharan S, Raffel J, Nandoskar A, Record C, Brooks DJ, Owen D, et al. Confirmation of Specific Binding of the 18-kDa Translocator Protein (TSPO) Radioligand [(18)F]GE-180: a Blocking Study Using XBD173 in Multiple Sclerosis Normal Appearing White and Grey Matter. *Mol Imaging Biol* (2019) 21(5):935–44. doi: 10.1007/s11307-019-01323-8
- Best L, Ghadery C, Pavese N, Tai YF, Strafella AP. New and Old TSPO PET Radioligands for Imaging Brain Microglial Activation in Neurodegenerative Disease. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* (2019) 19(5):24. doi: 10.1007/s11910-019-0934-y
- Cumming P, Burgher B, Patkar O, Breakspear M, Vasdev N, Thomas P, et al. Sifting through the surfeit of neuroinflammation tracers. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab : Off J Int Soc Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2018) 38(2):204–24. doi: 10.1177/0271678x17748786
- 48. Owen DR, Howell OW, Tang SP, Wells LA, Bennacef I, Bergstrom M, et al. Two binding sites for [3H]PBR28 in human brain: implications for TSPO PET imaging of neuroinflammation. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab : Off J Int Soc Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2010) 30(9):1608–18. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2010.63
- Owen DR, Gunn RN, Rabiner EA, Bennacef I, Fujita M, Kreisl WC, et al. Mixed-affinity binding in humans with 18-kDa translocator protein ligands. J Nuclear Med : Off Publication Soc Nuclear Med (2011) 52(1):24–32. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.110.079459
- Mizrahi R, Rusjan PM, Kennedy J, Pollock B, Mulsant B, Suridjan I, et al. Translocator protein (18 kDa) polymorphism (rs6971) explains in-vivo brain binding affinity of the PET radioligand [(18)F]-FEPPA. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab : Off J Int Soc Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2012) 32(6):968–72. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2012.46
- Agorastos A, Hauger RL, Barkauskas DA, Moeller-Bertram T, Clopton PL, Haji U, et al. Circadian rhythmicity, variability and correlation of interleukin-6 levels in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid of healthy men. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2014) 44:71–82. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014.02.020
- Collste K, Forsberg A, Varrone A, Amini N, Aeinehband S, Yakushev I, et al. Test-retest reproducibility of [(11)C]PBR28 binding to TSPO in healthy control subjects. *Eur J Nuclear Med Mol Imaging* (2016) 43(1):173–83. doi: 10.1007/s00259-015-3149-8
- 53. Sandiego CM, Gallezot JD, Pittman B, Nabulsi N, Lim K, Lin SF, et al. Imaging robust microglial activation after lipopolysaccharide administration in humans with PET. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(40):12468–73. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1511003112
- Hannestad J, Gallezot JD, Schafbauer T, Lim K, Kloczynski T, Morris ED, et al. Endotoxin-induced systemic inflammation activates microglia: [(1)(1)C] PBR28 positron emission tomography in nonhuman primates. *NeuroImage* (2012) 63(1):232–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.06.055

- Notter T, Coughlin JM, Sawa A, Meyer U. Reconceptualization of translocator protein as a biomarker of neuroinflammation in psychiatry. *Mol Psychiatry* (2018) 23(1):36–47. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.232
- Wu HQ, Rassoulpour A, Schwarcz R. Kynurenic acid leads, dopamine follows: a new case of volume transmission in the brain? *J Neural Transmission* (2007) 114(1):33–41. doi: 10.1007/s00702-006-0562-y
- Plitman E, Iwata Y, Caravaggio F, Nakajima S, Chung JK, Gerretsen P, et al. Kynurenic Acid in Schizophrenia: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Schizophr Bull (2017) 43(4):764–77. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw221
- Narayan N, Mandhair H, Smyth E, Dakin SG, Kiriakidis S, Wells L, et al. The macrophage marker translocator protein (TSPO) is down-regulated on proinflammatory 'M1' human macrophages. *PloS One* (2017) 12(10):e0185767. doi: 10.2174/1871527316666171004125107
- 59. Owen DR, Narayan N, Wells L, Healy L, Smyth E, Rabiner EA, et al. Proinflammatory activation of primary microglia and macrophages increases 18 kDa translocator protein expression in rodents but not humans. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab : Off J Int Soc Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2017) 37(8):2679–90. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.05.007
- Boche D, Perry VH, Nicoll JA. Review: activation patterns of microglia and their identification in the human brain. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2013) 39 (1):3–18. doi: 10.1111/nan.12011
- 61. Scott G, Zetterberg H, Jolly A, Cole JH, De Simoni S, Jenkins PO, et al. Minocycline reduces chronic microglial activation after brain trauma but

increases neurodegeneration. Brain : A J Neurol (2018) 141(2):459-71. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx339

- 62. Brugger SP, Howes OD. Heterogeneity and Homogeneity of Regional Brain Structure in Schizophrenia: A Meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2017) 74 (11):1104–11. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.2663
- Brugger SP, Angelescu I, Abi-Dargham A, Mizrahi R, Shahrezaei V, Howes OD. Heterogeneity of Striatal Dopamine Function in Schizophrenia: Meta-analysis of Variance. *Biol Psychiatry* (2019). doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.07.008
- 64. Knudsen GM, Ganz M, Appelhoff S, Boellaard R, Bormans G, Carson RE, et al. Guidelines for the content and format of PET brain data in publications and archives: A consensus paper. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab : Off J Int Soc Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2020) 271678X20905433. doi: 10.1177/0271678X20905433

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 De Picker and Morrens. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Anti-N-Methyl-D-Aspartate-Receptor Encephalitis: A 10-Year Follow-Up

Sophie Meixensberger^{1,2}, Ludger Tebartz van Elst^{1,2}, Tina Schweizer², Simon J. Maier^{1,2}, Harald Prüss^{3,4}, Bernd Feige^{1,2}, Dominik Denzel^{1,2}, Kimon Runge^{1,2}, Kathrin Nickel^{1,2}, Miriam Matysik^{1,2}, Nils Venhoff⁵, Katharina Domschke^{2,6}, Horst Urbach⁷, Evgeniy Perlov^{1,2,8} and Dominique Endres^{1,2*}

¹ Section for Experimental Neuropsychiatry, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical Center – University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ² Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical Center – University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ³ Department of Neurology and Experimental Neurology, Charité – Universitäsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ⁴ German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE), Berlin, Germany, ⁵ Department of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Medical Center – University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ⁶ Centre for Basics in Neuromodulation, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ⁷ Department of Neuroradiology, Medical Center – University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Germany, ⁸ Clinic for Psychiatry Luzern, St. Urban, Switzerland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Ole Köhler-Forsberg, Aarhus University, Denmark

Reviewed by:

Bin Peng, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, China Keiko Tanaka, Niigata University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Dominique Endres dominique.endres@uniklinik-freiburg.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 06 January 2020 Accepted: 12 March 2020 Published: 15 May 2020

Citation:

Meixensberger S, Tebartz van Elst L, Schweizer T, Maier SJ, Prüss H, Feige B, Denzel D, Runge K, Nickel K, Matysik M, Venhoff N, Domschke K, Urbach H, Perlov E and Endres D (2020) Anti-N-Methyl-D-Aspartate-Receptor Encephalitis: A 10-Year Follow-Up. Front. Psychiatry 11:245. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00245 **Background:** Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate-receptor (NMDA-R) encephalitis is an autoimmune disease of the brain first described in 2007. The aim of this paper is to present a 10-year follow-up case history.

Case Presentation: The authors present the case of a 39-year-old female patient who developed an anti-NMDA-R encephalitis in 2009 with predominant severe catatonic symptoms. Anti-inflammatory therapy led to the disappearance of catatonic symptoms and was discontinued during the course of the disease. After acute therapy, the patient achieved an almost full recovery presenting with ongoing discrete symptoms of sensory overload, subtle cognitive deficits, and fatigue/reduced energy levels. The follow-up investigation in 2019 showed inconspicuous findings in laboratory diagnostics and magnetic resonance imaging. Electroencephalography (EEG) analysis using independent component analysis detected left hemispherical spike-wave complexes and intermittent slowing. Regarding the sensory overload and reduced energy level, the patient benefited from low-dose neuroleptics (risperidone, amisulpride). In terms of sensory overload associated with experiences of panic, cognitive deficits and coping with the disease, she improved with cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT).

Conclusion: Anti-inflammatory treatment led to almost full recovery with persistent disappearance of catatonic symptoms; however, a dysexecutive syndrome led to ongoing relevant problems with good response to low-dose atypical neuroleptics and CBT. The patient had persistent EEG alterations that indicated continuing neuronal network instability. Therefore, the case demonstrates the importance of multidisciplinary outpatient treatment following acute therapy for anti-NMDA-R encephalitis in patients with

70

ongoing psychiatric deficits. For the symptomatic treatment of executive dysfunctions, "classical" psychiatric treatment may be helpful in the course of the disease.

Keywords: anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate-receptor encephalitis, catatonia, antibodies, follow-up, long-term, neuroleptics, psychotherapy

BACKGROUND

Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate-receptor (NMDA-R) encephalitis is a neuroinflammatory disease first identified in 2007 (1). It is mainly associated with cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) immunoglobulin G (IgG) autoantibodies against the GluN1 subunit of the NMDA-R (2, 3). Predominantly children and young adults (median age 21 years), more frequently females, are affected (4). Originally, the disease was described in association with ovarian teratomas (1, 5). Apart from malignancies, herpes simplex encephalitis is a confirmed trigger of anti-NMDA-R encephalitis (2, 6). The clinical pattern often begins with lowgrade fever, malaise, headache, or mood changes (7, 8), followed by a subacute phase with changes in behavior, cognitive deficits, and psychiatric symptoms, including delusions, hallucinations, and catatonia, speech disorders, and often seizures (7, 8). Further neurological complications, such as movement abnormalities, dyskinesias or rigidity, dysautonomia, and a decreased level of consciousness, typically develop later in the course of the disorder (7, 8). About one month after disease onset, anti-NMDA-R encephalitis typically presents with an extreme overlap of diverse neuropsychiatric symptoms; only about 5% of patients display a monosymptomatic course (4). Affected patients usually respond well to anti-inflammatory treatment, but psychiatric symptoms, such as disinhibition, impulsivity, and sleep disturbances, may persist over months to years (2).

Rationale: Little is known about the long-term course and treatment of ongoing psychiatric deficits in anti-NMDA-R encephalitis as it is a relatively new clinical pattern. However, being the most frequently recognized autoimmune encephalitis in the last decade, it is of high clinical relevance (2). Therefore, the aim of the paper is to present one of the longest follow-up reports in the literature to date.

CASE PRESENTATION

The authors present the follow-up of a 39-year-old female patient who developed anti-NMDA-R encephalitis in 2009 with a long course of disease (21 months) up to diagnosis (9). The initial findings of this patient have already been published as a case report (9). Before the onset of neuropsychiatric symptoms in 2009, the patient had always been mentally healthy and had worked as a business controller (9).

Clinical and Treatment Course

Initially, the patient presented a wide spectrum of symptoms including severe catatonia, delusions, cognitive deficits, as well as one epileptic seizure and states of altered consciousness (9).

Evidence of anti-NMDA-R encephalitis came from the positive anti-NMDA-R IgG antibodies, hypoglutamatergic state in the left prefrontal cortex in the magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), left hemispheric hypometabolism demonstrated in $[^{18}F]$ fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET), and electroencephalography (EEG) alterations. The independent component analysis (ICA) of the EEG initially revealed three components with EEG slowing (9). The combination of 1) rapid onset of psychiatric symptoms/cognitive dysfunction, mutism, one seizure, catatonia, and states of altered consciousness; 2) EEG (slowing) and CSF (pleocytosis initially) pathologies; and 3) the detection of clearly positive IgG anti-GluN1 antibodies would also allow the syndrome diagnosis of anti-NMDA-R encephalitis, according to present criteria (3). Unfortunately, the currently recommended CSF testing or a confirmatory analysis in serum with another method was not performed at that time (3). Anti-inflammatory therapy (glucocorticoids, plasmapheresis) resulted in relevant clinical improvement with disappearance of the catatonic and delusional symptoms in parallel to a remarkable normalization of the FDG-PET (9). Since symptom onset in 2009, the patient had been unable to remember any dreams. Moreover, she had developed amnesia for initial symptoms. Following discharge from the psychiatric department in October 2010, the patient received a maintenance therapy consisting of prednisolone (40 mg/day, with gradual reduction of 5 mg/week; from 10 mg/day onwards gradual reduction of 2 mg/week) and maintenance therapy with azathioprine (100 mg/day). Prednisolone was fully tapered in January 2011. During aftercare in a rehabilitation clinic a relapse of psychiatric symptoms with thought disruptions, attention/ concentration and memory disorders, irritability and insomnia occurred. Therefore, in December 2011 a second cycle of plasmapheresis followed by methylprednisolone pulse therapy (500 mg intravenously for 4 days) were performed and led to a slight improvement. Immunosuppression with azathioprine (100 mg/day) was continued until February 2012. However, it had to be discontinued due to the development of cholestatic hepatitis. Between April 2012 and February 2016, the patient received mycophenolate mofetil (MMF, 2000 mg/day). In 2016, the antiinflammatory treatment was stopped. In the period between March 2012 and September 2012, the patient received a prophylactic network stabilizing treatment with levetiracetam (2000 mg/day). Beginning in September 2012, the patient had suffered from newly occurring panic-like attacks and the feeling of anxiety arising from a visual and acoustic sensory overload (especially when being in groups of people). Therefore, in January 2013, again a treatment attempt with levetiracetam (2000 mg/day for 3 weeks) for mood stabilization and prophylactic neuronal network stabilization was performed
again reducing the frequency of attacks; but without sufficient symptom control. EEG and video-monitoring twice (in January and March 2013) as well as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) revealed negative findings in terms of an epileptogenic focus. In June 2013, treatment with escitalopram (5 mg/day) was started with discrete positive effects in terms of improving the feeling of panic and anxiety. However, over the following years, sensory overload, cognitive dysfunctions, and fatigue continued. In February 2017, sensory overload phenomena worsened and holocephalic oppressive headaches were reported (visual analog scale: 4/10). In the course of 2018, sensory overload further increased, and the fatigue symptoms were accompanied by a reduction in energy levels. Therefore, a therapeutic attempt with low-dose risperidone (up to 2 mg/day) was started, which was clearly efficient in terms of reducing the sensory overload symptoms. The patient regained the ability to go to the cinemas, and the reduced energy level normalized, however, fatigue remained. About 1 year later, there was strong deterioration of energy levels and fatigue, which only improved after discontinuation of risperidone. However, as a result the sensory overload also reemerged strongly, and insomnia occurred. She suffered both from a reduced ability to fall asleep and to maintain sleep throughout the night. The sleep disorder was successfully treated with melatonin (4 mg/day). Quetiapine (50 mg/day) had no convincing sleep-inducing effect. In addition, a treatment with aripiprazole (2.5 mg/day) was started to increase the patient's energy and reduce sensory overload. Even at a dose of 2.5 mg/day, an agonizing inner and psychomotor restlessness was evident, so aripiprazole was quickly discontinued. Finally, the sensory overload and reduced energy levels could be successfully improved with low-dose amisulpride (200 mg/day).

High blood pressure was normalized with clonidine (225 µg/day), possibly contributing additionally to the reduction of sensory overload. In the cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) sessions, states of sensory overload associated with experiences of panic were treated by a) identifying and reducing the stressful stimuli and b) challenging and changing dysfunctional cognitions and behaviors, improving emotion regulation and applying more adaptive coping strategies (e.g., mindfulness-based tasks against catastrophic thinking and to decrease high levels of stress). Furthermore, cognitive deficits were treated by cognitive training as well as acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT). In summary, initial anti-inflammatory therapy (glucocorticoids, plasmapheresis, azathioprine, MMF) as well as later low-dose neuroleptics (risperidone, amisulpride) and CBT had a remarkable impact on symptom relief (**Figure 1**).

Main Syndrome Over the Last 10 Years

Since acute therapy and continuing to the present time, the patient has suffered mainly from an ongoing dysexecutive syndrome with 1) intense sensory overload, 2) cognitive deficits, and 3) reduced energy levels and fatigue:

- 1. The sensory overload sensitivity was triggered mainly by acoustic and visual stimuli and was accentuated in situations with many other people present. Thus, the patient was not able to visit markets or cinemas. Often, she experienced panic in such sensory overload situations, so that a panic disorder was assumed and an epileptic cause was ruled out.
- 2. The cognitive deficits consisted mainly of attention and concentration deficits and allowed the patient to only work



a maximum of 1-2 hours per day. In addition, she has reported formal thought disorder with lapses of thoughts/ thought blocking and a slowed but coherent train of thought.

3. Reduced energy levels and fatigue: She experienced ongoing fatigue symptoms (e.g., she always needed a nap at noon),

therefore, only part-time employment was possible. Over the course of 10 years, episodes with reduced energy levels, in which the motivation to everyday actions was difficult for her, repeatedly evolved. She reported no overt depression, abulia, or anhedonia.





Diagnostic Follow-Up Findings

The first anti-NMDA-R antibody follow-up analysis in the reference laboratory in Oxford using a live cell-based assay (CBA) was still slightly positive after initial anti-inflammatory treatment (27 months after symptom onset). Several serological follow-up screenings (38, 48, 82, and 94 months after symptom onset) for IgG antibodies against neuronal cell surface antigens (AMPA-R, DPPX, GABA-B-R, LGI1, Caspr2, NMDA-R) using fixed CBAs showed normal anti-NMDA-R and other antineuronal antibody findings. Tests for anti-aquaporin 4 (AQP4) IgG and anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) IgG antibodies, possibly occurring when a demyelinating disorder (e.g., neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder) develops after anti-NMDA-R encephalitis (2), were negative. Antibodies against intracellular antigens including SOX1 (initially slightly positive) were negative. The automated analysis of the structural MRI revealed an enlargement of the lateral ventricles with emphasis on the posterior horns and slight striatal and insular atrophy (Figure 2). There was no relevant change in findings between 2010 and 2019. A few new, but nonspecific right-frontal white matter (WM) lesions were detected in the follow-up MRI. Visual EEG analyses depicted normalized findings; however, ICA detected left-side spike-wave activity and intermittent rhythmic delta activity (IRDA) as a correlate of remaining network instability. Overall, there was an increase in IRDA rates (Figure 3 and Table 1). Until today, the gynecological screening for teratoma remains negative; initially, there was no evidence for an infection such as herpes encephalitis, and therefore, the trigger for anti-NMDAR encephalitis remains unclear. Compared with the initial neuropsychological testing, the authors detected improved attentional performance at follow-up testing using the Test for Attentional Performance (TAP) battery (Version 2.3.1; Figure 4).

DISCUSSION

The authors report the case of a female patient with a protracted course of anti-NMDA-R encephalitis with, remarkably, one of the longest follow-up studies (approximately 10 years) to date focusing on long-term psychiatric symptoms.

Long-Term Course – Process of Recovery

Based on present pathophysiological understanding, in our patient the anti-NMDA-R antibodies should have led to a receptor internalization in the forebrain and hippocampus (8) and thus to impairment of long-term synaptic plasticity (6, 8). The process of recovery can be described as a reversal of the period of illness and requires normally a longer hospitalization period (5, 10). During this process, inflammatory changes in diagnostic examinations mostly normalize after anti-inflammatory treatment (2). In the presented patient, the FDG-PET results were normalized five months later (9). In general, detected antibodies in CSF show a progressive decrease with symptoms resolving, which can take more than 18 months (4); low titers can persist for many months after recovery (11). In the present patient, the serum antibody findings were first reexamined seven months after first positive antibody detection and after completed antiinflammatory acute therapy; at that time, they were still slightly positive, and since then have always been negative (but using a different methodology of antibody testing). Follow-up monitoring of antibody titers revealed an imperfect correlation with clinical course (2, 3). Therefore, clinical assessment of the patient is still the primary source of evidence when considering maintenance versus tapering of therapy (2, 3). At 24-month follow-up, the largest cohort study by Titulaer et al. identified 45 of 577 clinical relapses mostly presenting as milder and predominantly monosymptomatic syndromes compared to the initial presentation (4). Following return to baseline functioning, the majority of patients (85%) still experience significant cognitive and behavioral abnormalities requiring supervision and rehabilitation (5). Neuropsychological residua, particularly impaired processing speed or episodic memory, persist with a significantly higher prevalence when the initiation of immunotherapy was delayed (12). The late onset of treatment in the present patient may have contributed to the persistence of neurocognitive symptoms. Another long-term observation of 24 months in a pediatric patient discerned sustained symptom relief (13). Moreover, sufficient symptom relief had been achieved, for example, in a case of a 24-year-old male patient under anti-inflammatory treatment (intravenous immunoglobulins, steroids) after a protracted course of 4 years that included episodes of catatonia, diffuse theta slowing in EEGs, and CSF pleocytosis (14). Another

TABLE 1 | Diagnostic findings, initially (2009/10) and at follow-up (2019).

Investigation	Initial findings (2009/2010; [9])	Follow-up findings (2019)
Basic blood analyses	 Glutamate pyruvate transaminase (GPT) was elevated (70 U/l; reference 10–35 U/l), γ-glutamyl transferase (γ-GT) was elevated (72 U/l; reference 0–40 U/l), other liver values were normal. Thyroid-stimulating hormone was elevated (4.77 µU/ml; reference 0.27–4.20 µU/ml), triiodothyronine, and thyroxine levels were in normal range. 	 Normal liver values. Thyroid-stimulating hormone, triiodothyronine, and thyroxine levels were in normal ranges. Vitamin B₁₂/D, folic acid and selenium were normal.
Antibody findings	 Screening for antibodies against neuronal cell surface antigens showed IgG antibodies against the NMDA-R (NR1-subunit; in the reference laboratory in Oxford using a live cell-based assay). Antibody against SOX1 were non-specifically slightly positive. Autoantibodies against TSH-receptor (TRAK) were elevated (4.77 μU/ml; reference 0.27–4.20 μU/ml), autoantibodies against thyroglobulin and thyroid peroxidase were normal. No screening for other immunological/rheumatological alterations was conducted. 	 (AMPA-R, DPPX, GABA-B-R, LGI1, Caspr2, and NMDA-R) were negative in serum (using biochip-assays from Euroimmun®). No antibodies against the intracellular onconeural antigens Yo, Hu, CV2/CRMP5, Ri, Ma1/2, SOX1, Tr(DNER), Zic4, or the intracellular synaptic antigens GAD65/amphiphysin were found (using Ravo line assay®). Autoantibodies against thyroglobulin, TSH receptor and thyroid peroxidase were not increased. Screening for antinuclear antibodies (ANA) showed a slightly positive homogenously result against nucleus and chromosomes (HEp-2), AMA/LKM, and anti-DFS70 were borderline positive (+). Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies, antiphospholipid antibodies were negative. CH50 was slightly increased (131, reference: 65-115%), no other changes in the complement system (C3, C4, CH50, C3d) were observed. Normal serum IgA, IgM und IgG immunoglobulin concentrations; immunofixation showed no monoclonal antibody production.
Cerebrospinal fluid analyses	 Initially slight pleocytosis (23 µl; reference <5/µl). In the course normal white blood cell count (1/µl; reference <5/µl). Slightly elevated protein concentration (561 mg/L; reference <450 mg/L), and elevated age-corrected albumin quotient: 8.7; age-dependent reference <6.5 × 10⁻³) No CSF-specific oligoclonal bands; lgG index not increased (0.53; reference ≤0.7). 	 Anti AQP4-IgG and MOG-IgG antibodies were negative. No lumbar puncture was conducted.
Cerebral magnetic resonance imaging with combined volume- and region-based analysis method (CVR) analysis	 Inconspicuous findings, especially for the hippocampal regions and in the structures of the limbic system. Enlargement of the lateral ventricles with emphasis on the posterior horns and slight striatal and insular atrophy. 	 Except for a few non-specific right-frontal white matter lesions, the findings were essentially unchanged.
Electroencephalography – visual assessment	Intermittent delta focus over the right central areas.	• Occipital α-activity (11 Hz).
Independent component analyses	 1) Right and left frontotemporal delta waves; 2) a deep right temporal generator; and 3) a central component with theta frequencies. 	Left-side spike-wave activity and intermittent rhythmic delta activity.
[¹⁸ F]fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography	 Global cortical hypometabolism of the left hemisphere and right-temporal accentuation was detected. Cerebellar hypometabolism predominantly on the right side (most likely indicating crossed cerebellar diaschisis). 	Not performed.
Cardiovascular examinations	Inconspicuous resting electrocardiography.Inconspicuous transthoracic echocardiography.	Inconspicuous resting electrocardiography.Raised long-term blood pressure.
Neuropsychological testing	 Slower reaction times with evidence for heightened irritability and severely impaired ability to increase attention. Considerable amount of missings and errors in divided attention task. Severe deficits in cognitive flexibility. Considerable amount of missings and errors in working memory task 	 Slower reaction times with retained ability to increase attention. Considerable amount of missings and mean level of errors in divided attention task. Moderate deficits in cognitive flexibility. Considerable amount of missings and mean level of errors in working memory task



case report of a 22-year-old female patient described, for example, a more severe relapse of anti-NMDAR encephalitis five years after the initial episode responding well to second-line immunotherapy (cyclophosphamide) (15). Symptoms in the presented patient were dominated by a persistent dysexecutive syndrome with 1) intense sensory overload, 2) cognitive deficits, and 3) fatigue and reduced energy level, as well as sleep disturbances, as already described in other cases with shorter courses (2, 5, 7, 16). A characteristic persistent amnesia of the entire acute phase of illness (6) also existed in the present case.

Clinical Implications

The current patient showed a remarkable response to low-dose atypical neuroleptics (initially risperidone 2 mg/day, later amisulpride 200 mg/day). Both substances strongly reduced the level of sensory overload and normalized the reduced energy levels. This positive effect of low-level neuroleptics is comparable to the symptom relief of patients with autism spectrum disorders treated with low-dose antidopaminergic medication (17). In this particular constellation, it is important to keep in mind that patients with acute anti-NMDA-R encephalitis more frequently develop side effects of neuroleptics up to the occurrence of a neuroleptic malignant syndrome (10); therefore, doses should be started low and increased slowly. In fact, the present patient developed a severe psychomotor restlessness under just 2.5 mg/ day aripiprazole. From a psychotherapeutic perspective, states of sensory overload are often associated with experiences of stress and anxiety. Thus, identifying and reducing stressful stimuli as well as applying adaptive coping strategies are central aims of the treatment. The applicability of coping strategies should be

evaluated and trained in various situations to regain control over daily life. In addition, to gain cognitive improvement by cognitive training, the acceptance of cognitive limitations is an important treatment focus in case of enduring cognitive impairments. Enrolling patients with ongoing psychiatric deficits after acute anti-NMDA-R encephalitis in a multidisciplinary setting over the long-term, including psychopharmacotherapy, CBT with psycho-education, and close neuropsychological monitoring, could probable achieve positive outcomes (16).

The EEG findings about 10 years later showed clear alterations (spike-wave complexes and a higher rate of IRDAs, both on the left side) and can be interpreted as a neuroinflammatory scar in the absence of current signs of active neuroinflammation. The left hemispherical localization of the spike-wave complexes in the current EEG is congruent with the localization of hypometabolism on the initial FDG-PET (9). According to the concept of the local area network inhibition (LANI) hypothesis (18), the dysexecutive symptoms could be caused by neuronal network hyperinhibition; therefore, the neuroleptic treatment could have led to the breakthrough of hyperinhibition. Alternatively, a reduction of the underlying excitation by e.g., anticonvulsants might be also helpful in similar cases (18), and was also initially tried with levetiracetam in the patient.

Limitations

It is important to mention that the authors have presented the course of just a single patient suffering from anti-NMDA-R encephalitis. The initial diagnostic clarification after 21 months

led to a delayed start of treatment. The long untreated course may have enhanced the ongoing dysexecutive syndrome, as it is well known that late treatment is associated with poorer prognosis (4, 6). A full remission can also be achieved in patients with a short course of disease (19). In the present patient, the symptomatic psychiatric treatment with low-dose, atypical neuroleptics and psychotherapy was also started late. The authors believe that, in future, patients with persistent dysexecutive symptoms should be treated continuously in a multidisciplinary manner enabling the start of early symptomatic treatment.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, the case reported highlights the importance of longterm observation and a multidisciplinary approach in treating patients with anti-NMDA-R encephalitis. Follow-up descriptions of larger cohorts discussing psychiatric residual symptoms and their treatment over the long term are necessary. Treatment with neuroleptics and CBT could play an important role in similar cases.

AUTHOR'S NOTE

This is the follow-up to an earlier case report (9).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All necessary information is included in the article.

REFERENCES

- Dalmau J, Tuzun E, Wu HY, Masjuan J, Rossi JE, Voloschin A, et al. Paraneoplastic anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. Ann Neurol (2007) 61(1):25–36. doi: 10.1002/ana.21050
- Dalmau J, Armangué T, Planagumà J, Radosevic M, Mannara F, Leypoldt F, et al. An update on anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis for neurologists and psychiatrists: mechanisms and models. *Lancet Neurol* (2019) 18(11):1045–57. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30244-3
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol* (2016) 15 (4):391–404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30130-2
- Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangue T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Neurol* (2013) 12(2):157–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70310-1
- Kayser MS, Dalmau J. Anti-NMDA Receptor Encephalitis in Psychiatry. Curr Psychiatry Rev (2011) 7(3):189–93. doi: 10.2174/157340011797183184
- Dalmau J, Gleichman AJ, Hughes EG, Rossi JE, Peng X, Lai M, et al. Anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis: case series and analysis of the effects of antibodies. *Lancet Neurol* (2008) 7(12):1091–8. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70224-2
- Endres D, Bechter K, Prüss H, Hasan A, Steiner J, Leypoldt F, et al. Autoantibody-associated schizophreniform psychoses: clinical symptomatology. *Nervenarzt* (2019) 90(5):547–63. doi: 10.1007/s00115-019-0700-z

ETHICS STATEMENT

The described patient gave her signed written informed consent for this case report to be published, including the publication of any potentially identifiable images and all data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DE, LT, DD, TS, and EP treated the patient. SM performed the data research. SM and DE wrote the paper. BF performed the EEG analyses and interpreted the EEGs. TS performed the psychotherapy and did the neuropsychological testing. HU interpreted the MRIs. NV performed the immunological measurements and interpreted the results. HP supported the neurological interpretation. LT, KR, KN, SJM, MM, and KD supported clinical interpretation. All authors were involved in the theoretical discussion and composition of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The article processing charge was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the University of Freiburg in the funding program Open Access Publishing.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

DE was supported by the Berta-Ottenstein-Program for Advanced Clinician Scientists, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg.

- Dalmau J, Graus F. Antibody-Mediated Encephalitis. N Engl J Med (2018) 378p(9):840–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1708712
- Endres D, Perlov E, Stich O, Rauer S, Maier S, Waldkircher Z, et al. Hypoglutamatergic state is associated with reduced cerebral glucose metabolism in anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: a case report. *BMC Psychiatry* (2015) 15:186. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0552-4
- Tebartz van Elst L, Bechter K, Prüss H, Hasan A, Steiner JH, Leypoldt F, et al. Autoantibody-associated schizophreniform psychoses: pathophysiology, diagnostics, and treatment. *Nervenarzt* (2019) 90(7):745–61. doi: 10.1007/ s00115-019-0735-1
- Dalmau J, Geis C, Graus F. Autoantibodies to Synaptic Receptors and Neuronal Cell Surface Proteins in Autoimmune Diseases of the Central Nervous System. *Physiol Rev* (2017) 97(2):839–87. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00010.2016
- McKeon GL, Robinson GA, Ryan AE, Blum S, Gillis D, Finke C, et al. Cognitive outcomes following anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis: A systematic review. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol (2018) 40 (3):234–52. doi: 10.1080/13803395.2017.1329408
- Kim E, Park EG, Lee J, Lee M, Kim J, Lee J. Anti-NMDAR Encephalitis in a 13-Year-Old Female: A 24-Month Clinical Follow-Up. J Epilepsy Res (2018) 8(1):41–8. doi: 10.14581/jer.18007
- 14. Tsutsui K, Kanbayashi T, Takaki M, Omori Y, Imai Y, Nishino S, et al. N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor antibody could be a cause of catatonic symptoms in psychiatric patients: case reports and methods for detection. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2017) 13:339–45. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S125800

- Nakajima H, Unoda K, Hara M. Severe relapse of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis 5 years after initial symptom onset. *eNeurologicalSci* (2019) 16:100199. doi: 10.1016/j.ensci.2019.100199
- Bach LJ. Long term rehabilitation management and outcome of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: case reports. *NeuroRehabilitation* (2014) 35(4):863–75. doi: 10.3233/NRE-141176
- Tebartz van Elst L. Das Asperger-Syndrom im Erwachsenenalter und andere hochfunktionale Autismus-Spektrum-Störungen. Medizinisch Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft, Berlin (2013), 1st edition.
- Tebartz van Elst L, Krishnamoorthy ES, Schulze-Bonhage A, Altenmuller DM, Richter H, Ebert D, et al. Local area network inhibition: a model of a potentially important paraepileptic pathomechanism in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Epilepsy Behav* (2011) 22(2):231–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011. 06.016
- Endres D, Rauer S, Kern W, Venhoff N, Maier SJ, Runge K, et al. Psychiatric Presentation of Anti-NMDA Receptor Encephalitis. *Front Neurol* (2019) 10:1086. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.01086

Conflict of Interest: LT: Advisory boards, lectures, or travel grants within the last 3 years: Roche, Eli Lilly, Janssen-Cilag, Novartis, Shire, UCB, GSK, Servier, Janssen and Cyberonics. KD: Steering Committee Neurosciences, Janssen. HU: Shareholder of the Veobrain GmbH.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Meixensberger, Tebartz van Elst, Schweizer, Maier, Prüss, Feige, Denzel, Runge, Nickel, Matysik, Venhoff, Domschke, Urbach, Perlov and Endres. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Complex Gastrointestinal and Endocrine Sources of Inflammation in Schizophrenia

Emily G. Severance^{1*}, Faith Dickerson² and Robert H. Yolken¹

¹ Stanley Division of Developmental Neurovirology, Department of Pediatrics, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States, ² Sheppard Pratt Health System, Towson, MD, United States

A low level, inflammatory phenotype is prevalent in individuals with schizophrenia, but the source of this inflammation is not known. Studies of the gut-brain axis indicate that this inflammation may be related to the translocation of intestinal microbes across a permeabilized gut-vasculature barrier. In addition, studies of the endocrine system support that this inflammation may derive from effects of stress hormones and metabolic imbalances. Gastrointestinal (GI) and endocrine conditions are not mutually exclusive, but rather may have additive effects to produce this inflammatory phenotype in schizophrenia. Here, we examined a series of plasma biomarkers used to measure general inflammation and presumably microbial, gut-derived inflammation in 409 individuals with schizophrenia: c-reactive protein (CRP), lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP), soluble CD14 (sCD14), and IgG antibodies to S. cerevisiae, bovine milk casein, and wheat gluten. Individuals were stratified according to whether or not they had a comorbid GI or endocrine condition, both, or neither. In multivariate regression models, the presence of GI and endocrine conditions was additive for the GI-based marker, LBP, with significant associations only when both conditions were present compared to when both conditions were absent (OR = 2.32, 95^{th} % Cl 1.05-5.13, p < 0.03). In contrast, the marker of general inflammation, CRP, was strongly associated with primarily endocrine conditions (OR = 3.64, 95th% Cl 1.35–9.84, p < 0.05). Overall associations were largely driven by the GI condition, gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), and by the endocrine condition, obesity. In univariate comparisons, S. cerevisiae IgG levels were significantly elevated only in persons with GI conditions (p < 0.02), whereas antibodies to the food antigens were elevated in the presence of either or both conditions (p < 0.005-0.04). More severe psychiatric symptoms were associated only with GI conditions (p < 0.01-0.04). In conclusion, both GI and endocrine abnormalities may contribute to inflammation in schizophrenia, sometimes independently and sometimes as part of interactions which may represent complex integrated pathways. The accumulating evidence for multisystem inflammation in schizophrenia may lead to the development of new strategies to prevent and treat this devastating disorder.

Keywords: gut-brain axis, immune system, microbiome, bacterial translocation, metabolic syndrome

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Müller, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

Reviewed by:

Margaret K. Hahn, University of Toronto, Canada Armin Alaedini, Columbia University, United States

> *Correspondence: Emily G. Severance eseverance@jhmi.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 18 December 2019 Accepted: 28 May 2020 Published: 16 June 2020

Citation:

Severance EG, Dickerson F and Yolken RH (2020) Complex Gastrointestinal and Endocrine Sources of Inflammation in Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 11:549. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00549

INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is a serious psychiatric disorder of unknown etiology. The disorder is thought to be the product of genetic and environmental interactions consistent with involvement of the immune system. Genome-wide-association-studies point to schizophrenia risk loci in the major-histocompatibility-complex region of chromosome 6 where many immune-related genes are located (1). A susceptibility locus for schizophrenia, complement C4, is of interest since it is a component of the immune system and is also involved in synaptic pruning in the brain (2, 3). Environmental and epidemiological studies indicate that people with schizophrenia have increased rates of exposure to pathogens and other antigens (4, 5). A reported phenotype in these individuals is a pervasive low level inflammation of unknown origin (6, 7).

Immune system homeostasis is principally established and regulated by the GI mucosa and its community of resident microbiota (8, 9). When this balance is upset, for example by stress, toxins, infections, antibiotics or genetic susceptibility, a toxic cycle of inflammation, microbial translocation and dysbioses ensue. In the literature of schizophrenia, there is a long history that GI disturbances are part of the pathophysiology of this disorder, with many disturbances inflammatory in nature. Related reports predate the advent of modern antipsychotics, suggesting that this GI inflammation is not simply the result of cholinergic effects from agents such as clozapine (10).

The endocrine system is another postulated source for the chronic inflammation associated with schizophrenia. Especially implicated are certain conditions including metabolic syndrome, obesity, and diabetes as well as basic differences in disease pathophysiology between males and females (11–13). These conditions are often the result of antipsychotics that slow metabolism and contribute to weight gain and a disrupted metabolic state. Metabolic syndrome may occur in up to 50% of people with schizophrenia either through a direct modulation of insulin-associated tissue, glucose metabolism or increased production of adipose tissue (14). Another endocrine-based candidate is the end product of the hypothalamus–pituitary-axis (HPA), the stress hormone, cortisol. Alterations of the cortisol awakening response is a proposed risk factor for the development of schizophrenia (15).

Research on schizophrenia and other psychiatric disorders has begun to focus on organ systems outside of the brain to determine if mechanisms involved in the periphery and as part of a whole-body approach might offer fresh perspectives and insight regarding disease etiology and treatment. Given the high prevalence of these comorbid conditions and the pervasive inflammatory phenotype in schizophrenia, we undertook to ascertain the relative contributions of GI and endocrine disturbances to the inflammatory pathophysiology of schizophrenia. There is currently uncertainty regarding how these conditions are related to each other and to what degree each may be the source of inflammation in schizophrenia. Thus, further complicating this issue is the uncertainty regarding the specificity of serum or plasma biomarkers as proxies for GI and endocrine levels of inflammation. Blood biomarkers typically used to measure gut-derived microbial translocation include LBP and sCD14, but the specificity of these markers for GI processes have been questioned (16, 17). Another biomarker of microbial translocation, antibodies directed against S. cerevisiae, is one component of a serological panel used clinically to diagnose the inflammatory bowel disorder, Crohn's disease (18-20). Similarly, antibodies against food-derived proteins such as wheat gluten and milk casein are used to diagnose food antigen sensitivities and for wheat gluten, a clinical diagnosis of Celiac disease (21, 22). In this study, we review data from individuals with schizophrenia who had reported or had in their medical record information about the presence of GI or endocrine conditions comorbid with their psychiatric disorder. We measured plasma levels of systemic inflammation using CRP and compared these to measures of presumably GI-related biomarkers in individuals with schizophrenia with and without GI or endocrine disorders.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

Study participants were recruited at Sheppard Pratt Health System located in Baltimore, MD, U.S.A. as part of an ongoing schizophrenia cohort. We reviewed the study database to include individuals with schizophrenia for whom we had information regarding the presence or absence of GI and endocrine conditions. The original collection of this information was carried out as a standard assessment in our studies. A total of 409 individuals with schizophrenia were identified. These individuals were stratified into four groups: (1) GI negative and endocrine negative (GI-/endocrine-); (2) GI positive and endocrine negative (GI+/endocrine-); (3) GI negative and endocrine positive (GI-/endocrine+); (4) GI positive and endocrine positive (GI+/endocrine+). The classification of conditions was done systematically by review of medical records and patient interviews performed by the research nurse. Conditions queried were based on past studies indicating their presence in the population of individuals which compose the study groups. As part of the research assessment, participants were queried about the presence or absence of specific disorders which were organized by body system, as described previously (23). GI conditions included constipation, Crohn's disease, diarrhea, diverticulitis, GI bleeding, gastritis, GERD, irritable bowel syndrome, lactose intolerance, stomach cancer, surgical GI procedures, and ulcers. Endocrine conditions included Diabetes Mellitus (Type I and Type II), glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) enzyme deficiency, gynecomastia, hyperglycemia, hypernatremia, obesity, premenstrual dysphoric disorder, rhabdomyolysis, and thyroid problems. The prevalence of GI and endocrine conditions is listed in Table 1. For statistical comparisons described below, the comparison control group includes those individuals with schizophrenia who were GI -/endocrine-.

Diagnostic methods were described previously (24, 25). Individuals received DSM-IV-TR diagnoses of schizophrenia,

TABLE 1 | Prevalence of comorbid GI and endocrine conditions.

	n	%
Gastrointestinal		
Constipation	86	29.55%
Crohn's Disease	1	0.34%
Diarrhea	26	8.93%
Diverticulitis	3	1.03%
GI bleeding	1	0.34%
Gastritis	6	2.06%
GERD/acid reflux	120	41.24%
Irritable bowel syndrome	7	2.41%
Lactose intolerance	3	1.03%
Stomach cancer	2	0.69%
Surgical GI procedures	22	7.56%
Ulcers	14	4.81%
Endocrine		
Diabetes	63	23.60%
Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase (G6PD) Enzyme Deficiency	7	2.62%
Gynecomastia	2	0.75%
Hyperglycemia	2	0.75%
Hypernatremia	1	0.37%
Obesity	155	58.05%
Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder	3	1.12%
Rhabdomyolysis	1	0.37%
Thyroid problems	33	12.36%

schizophreniform disorder, or schizoaffective disorder (26). Individuals were between the ages of 18 and 65. Cognitive functioning was evaluated with the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS) Form A (27) and psychiatric symptoms rated with the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) (28).

These studies were approved by the Institutional Review Boards (IRB) of the Sheppard Pratt Health System and the Johns Hopkins Medical Institution following established guidelines. All participants provided written informed consent after study procedures were explained. This research was performed in accordance with The Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans.

Biomarker Data

For all participants, a blood sample was drawn from which were measured CRP, LBP, sCD14, Saccharomyces cerevisiae IgG, bovine milk casein IgG, and wheat gluten IgG. Biomarker positivity was defined based on quantitative levels of these markers in healthy controls. Biomarker values in the schizophrenia population which exceeded the 90th percentile of healthy control values were considered seropositive. Individuals who were considered healthy controls were those without a history of psychiatric disorder based on interviews carried out with the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders Non-Patient Edition (29). Methods and analyses reporting psychiatric case and control levels and cutoff seropositivity values of these biomarkers were previously described (25, 30-34). In brief, exclusion criteria for both cases and controls included: mental retardation; clinically significant medical disorder that would affect cognitive performance; any history of intravenous substance abuse or a primary diagnosis of substance abuse or substance dependence. Active substance misuse was considered an additional exclusion criterion for controls. Comorbid GI and endocrine conditions were not exclusion criteria for cases or controls. The healthy control group was composed of 311 individuals of mean age 32+/-0.63 years, 61.09% female and were 64.31% Caucasian.

Data Analyses

Chi-square analyses were used to detect significant differences in categorical variables among comorbidity groups. ANOVAs with *post-hoc* Sidak analyses and t-tests were used to identify mean differences between groups for continuous variables. Multivariate logistic regression models were used to assign odds ratios for biomarker positivity associations with GI/ endocrine groups and to evaluate the interaction between GI and endocrine variables. All multivariate analyses included the covariates of age, sex, race, cigarette smoking, and maternal education as a proxy for socioeconomic status. P-values of <0.05 are listed; however, Bonferroni correction of multiple comparisons would designate more robust associations for those p-values that are <0.008.

RESULTS

Characteristics of the Study Population

As described in the *Methods*, participants in this study were divided into four groups according to whether or not a comorbid GI or endocrine condition was present. The characteristics of these groups are shown in **Table 2**. GI conditions were present in 58.1% females and 48.7% males, and endocrine conditions were present in 64.2% females and 50.6% males. Females were more likely to have both GI and endocrine disturbances, whereas males were more likely to have neither (chi-square = 9.19, p < 0.03). Participants with both GI and endocrine disturbances also were older than those who had neither type of condition (ANOVA, F = 5.00, p < 0.001). There were no significant differences between the four GI and endocrine groups in terms of race, maternal education, cigarette smoking or current antipsychotic, anticholinergic or antibiotic medications (**Table 2**).

Biomarker Levels as Continuous Variables

Plasma levels of six biomarkers typically used as measures of GI and systemic inflammation were quantified, and differences relative to the non-GI/non-endocrine group are depicted in **Table 3**. Plasma levels of the general biomarker of inflammation, CRP, were significantly elevated in the GI–/endocrine+ and GI+/endocrine+ groups compared to the group without these conditions (ANOVA, F = 8.99, p < 0.0001). Plasma levels of LBP were significantly elevated in the GI–/endocrine+ and GI+/endocrine+ groups compared to the GI–/endocrine-free (ANOVA, F = 7.74, p < 0.0001). IgG antibody levels directed against the yeast *S. cerevisiae* and against the food antigens, bovine milk casein and wheat gluten, were elevated in the GI+/endocrine- groups with some variation according to sex as shown in **Table 3**. Antibody levels directed against the food antigens were also

TABLE 2 | Characteristics of the sample by GI and endocrine comorbidity status.

	GI–/Endoc– ¹ n (%)	GI+/Endoc– n (%)	GI–/Endoc+ n (%)	GI+/Endoc+ n (%)	Total n
All	107 (26.16)	75 (18.34)	89 (21.76)	138 (33.74)	409
Female	27 (18.24)	26 (17.57)	35 (23.65)	60 (40.54) ²	148
Male	80 (30.65)	49 (18.77)	54 (20.69)	78 (29.89)	261
Age	34.92 + 1.22	37.81 + 1.52	37.50 + 1.46	$41.20 + 1.02^3$	409
(mean years + SE)	01.02 1 1.22	01.0111.02	01.00 1 1.10	11.20 1 1.02	100
Race					
Caucasian	45 (22.96)	39 (19.90)	37 (18.88)	75 (38.27)	196
Non-Caucasian	62 (29.11)	36 (16.90)	52 (24.41)	63 (29.58)	213
Maternal education	2.39 + 0.06	2.39 + 0.09	2.25 + 0.08	2.44 + 0.07	409
(mean years + SE)					
Cigarette smoker	64 (26.02)	49 (19.92)	56 (22.76)	77 (31.30)	246
Medications	- ()	- ()		()	
Aripiprazole	9 (19.57)	5 (10.87)	12 (26.09)	20 (43.48)	46
Clozapine	12 (19.05)	12 (19.05)	12 (19.05)	27 (42.86)	63
Olanzapine	24 (33.80)	16 (22.54)	13 (18.31)	18 (23.35)	71
Quetiapine	10 (20.83)	10 (20.83)	7 (14.58)	21 (43.75)	48
Risperidone	31 (28.44)	23 (21.10)	24 (22.02)	31 (28.44)	109
Ziprasidone	5 (22.73)	4 (18.18)	4 (18.18)	9 (40.91)	22
Anticholinergics	33 (21.85)	32 (21.19)	36 (23.84)	50 (33.11)	151
Antibiotics	2 (22.22)	5 (55.56)	0 (0.00)	2 (22.22)	9
Comorbid GI condition ⁴					
GERD	0 (0.00)	34 (28.33)	0 (0.00)	86 (71.67)	120
Constipation	0 (0.00)	26 (30.23)	0 (0.00)	60 (69.77)	86
Diarrhea	0 (0.00)	4 (15.38)	0 (0.00)	22 (84.62)	26
Comorbid endocrine condition					
Obesity	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	62 (40.00)	93 (60.00)	155
Diabetes	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	21 (33.33)	42 (66.67)	63
Thyroid	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	3 (9.09)	30 (90.91)	33
Body mass index	25.2 + 0.39	25.75 + 0.48	32.79 + 0.69	34.69 + 0.68	386 ⁵
(mean score + SE)					

¹Gastrointestinal (GI), Endocrine (Endoc), Negative (–), Positive (+).

²Female vs male differences among groups. Refer to text for details. Females were more likely to have both conditions and males neither: chi-square = 9.19, p < 0.03.

³Participants with both conditions were older than those who had neither: ANOVA, F = 5.00, p < 0.001.

⁴Comorbid conditions are listed for descriptive purposes only; prevalence is expected to vary between groups.

⁵Data not available for complete sample of 409.

elevated in the GI–/endocrine+ and GI+/endocrine+ groups, again with some variation as shown in **Table 3**. Plasma levels of sCD14 were not significantly different between groups.

Biomarker Positivity as Categorical Variables in Multivariate Models

As described above, the strongest associations of biomarker levels with the GI/endocrine groups were found for CRP and LBP. Thus, we tested whether or not the GI and endocrine conditions were interactive in multivariate logistic regression models that included age, sex, race, cigarette smoking, maternal education, and the interactive GI/endocrine variable. Relative levels of these biomarkers among GI/endocrine groups are depicted in Figure 1. While neither GI nor endocrine disturbances were individually associated with LBP in multivariate models, GI and endocrine conditions were additive for associations with LBP positivity (Figure 1A: GI+/endocrine+, OR = 2.32, 95th% CI 1.05–5.13, p < 0.03). In contrast, GI and endocrine disturbances were not additive for CRP, but significant associations with CRP positivity were driven by endocrine disturbances (Figure 1B: endocrine only, OR = 3.64, 95th% CI 1.35-9.84, p < 0.05). For comparison, IgG antibodies to S. cerevisiae are included in Figure 1 to illustrate the patterns of a biomarker that putatively reflect only GI-based

disturbances (Figure 1C). This S. cerevisiae IgG association was not statistically significant in the multivariate models.

Contribution of Specific GI and Endocrine Conditions to Biomarker Associations

As shown in Table 1, the three most prevalent GI conditions in this schizophrenia population were GERD (41.24%), constipation (29.55%), and diarrhea (8.93%). The three most prevalent endocrine conditions were obesity (58.05%), diabetes (23.60%), and thyroid problems (12.36%). The prevalence of these conditions within the broader GI and endocrine groups is listed in Table 2. Body mass index was elevated in the endocrine positive groups compared to those who had neither GI nor endocrine conditions (ANOVA, F = 62.06, p < 0.0001). Associations of biomarker levels as continuous variables with specific GI and endocrine conditions are depicted in Table 4. For GI variables, individuals with GERD had significantly elevated levels of CRP (p < 0.0003), LBP (p < 0.0002) and sCD14 (p <0.004) compared to those without GERD. For people with constipation, only wheat gluten IgG levels were significantly elevated compared to those without constipation (p < 0.03). Levels of LBP (p < 0.02), sCD14 (p < 0.02) and S. cerevisiae IgG levels (p < 0.04) were all elevated in individuals with diarrhea

TABLE 3	Comparison	of biomarker	levels by se	x and by GI and	d endocrine comorbidity	status.

Biomarker		GI+/Endoc-	GI-/Endoc+	GI+/Endoc-
C-Reactive Protein	All	NS	p < 0.0002	p < 0.0001
	Female	NS	p < 0.03	p < 0.005
	Male	p < 0.03	p < 0.002	p < 0.0003
LPS-Binding Protein	All	NS	p < 0.001	p < 0.0001
	Female	NS	p < 0.007	p < 0.005
	Male	NS	p < 0.03	p < 0.001
Soluble CD14	All	NS	NS	NS
	Female	NS	NS	NS
	Male	NS	NS	NS
Saccharomyces cerevisiae IgG	All	p < 0.02	NS	NS
	Female	NS	NS	NS
	Male	p < 0.02	NS	NS
Bovine Casein IgG	All	NS	NS	NS
	Female	NS	NS	NS
	Male	p < 0.04	p < 0.03	ns
Wheat Gluten IgG	All	p < 0.03	p < 0.02	p < 0.03
	Female	NS	NS	NS
	Male	NS	p < 0.005	p < 0.01

GI-/Endoc- is the comparison group. P-values were generated from T-tests so that results are comparable across groups and biomarkers. CRP and LBP were additionally significant following ANOVAs and multivariate comparisons and are reported in the main text and **Figure 1**.

compared to those without. For the endocrine variables, LBP was elevated in individuals who were obese (p < 0.0001), had diabetes (p < 0.01) or thyroid problems (p < 0.04) compared to those who did not have these conditions. CRP levels were elevated in those who were obese (p < 0.0001) or who had diabetes (p < 0.03). In individuals who had thyroid problems, wheat gluten IgG levels were elevated (p < 0.03).

We then used multivariate models to detect interactions of specific GI and endocrine conditions with the biomarkers. We found that the earlier interactive associations of the broadly grouped conditions were largely driven by the GI variable, GERD, and the endocrine variable, obesity. For example, LBP was independently associated with both GERD and obesity (GERD: OR = 2.42, 95th% CI 0.99-5.95, p < 0.05; Obesity: OR = 3.40, 95th% CI 1.58-7.31-31.71, p < 0.002), as well as to the additive interaction of these terms (OR = 4.64, 95th% CI 2.03-10.65, p < 0.001). Further, LBP was independently associated with diarrhea (OR = 7.99, 95th% CI 2.01-31.71, p < 0.003), but this term did not interact with obesity or other endocrine variables. CRP was strongly associated with obesity (OR = 5.36, 95th% CI 2.45–11.73, p < 0.002) but not to an interaction of obesity with GERD. We also found that the interaction of the GI variable, constipation, with the endocrine variable, thyroid problems, was significantly associated with gluten antibody positivity (OR = 167.34, 95^{th} % CI 2.58–10,836.33, p < 0.016). Neither variable alone was associated with these gluten antibodies.

Cognitive Functioning and Psychiatric Symptoms

Finally, we evaluated the association between the GI and endocrine groups and the level of cognitive functioning and psychiatric symptom severity based on scores from RBANS and PANSS modules. Higher scores on the PANSS total symptom score and the PANSS positive symptom score were found for the GI+/endocrine- group compared to the GI-/endocrine- group (T-test t range = -2.30 to -1.81, p-value range <0.01-0.04; **Table 5**). Specific GI or endocrine conditions were not

significantly associated with PANSS scores. There were no significant differences in RBANS scores among the broader GI and endocrine groups; however, lower scores were observed for those who were GERD positive compared to those who were GERD negative (T-test t = 1.81, p < 0.04).

DISCUSSION

In this clinical study of inflammatory biomarkers, we found significant interplay between GI and endocrine systems in schizophrenia and no single biomarker reflected a sole GI or endocrine affinity, with the possible exception of S. cerevisiae antibodies with GI conditions. The most robust associations were found for LBP and CRP. We found that the presence of both GI and endocrine conditions was additive for the marker, LBP, and these associations were particularly evident when the broader categories of GI and endocrine disorders were broken down into specific conditions such as GERD and obesity. Plasma LBP has been traditionally considered as a marker of bacterial translocation which specifically detects and binds any circulating bacterial-derived LPS endotoxin. LBP associations with endocrine conditions suggest its modulation by hormonal and metabolic factors such as obesity, diabetes and thyroid dysfunction. Indeed, the gut microbiome and its metabolic products, some of which are hormonal, are thought to mediate behavioral responses in part through interactions with neuroendocrine pathways that link the gut and central nervous system (35, 36).

We found a significant association between CRP, a general marker for inflammation, primarily with endocrine conditions and to a lesser extent in univariate models with GI conditions. Antibodies directed against the dietary yeast, *S. cerevisiae*, represented the only biomarker that was associated exclusively with a GI condition. Thus, results from this study support that antibodies to *S. cerevisiae*, a marker elevated in inflammatory



FIGURE 1 | Biomarker levels for LBP (**A**), CRP (**B**) and ASCA (**C**) are shown. Significant differences in levels from univariate comparisons are marked with an asterisk (*) for all members, with a pound sign (#) for females and a plus (+) for males. Data for multivariate comparisons were significant for LBP and CRP. Significant odds ratios (OR) and 95th% confidence interval (CI) are shown for LBP and CRP. LBP associations were a function of both GI and endocrine disturbances, CRP of endocrine only, and ASCA of only GI disturbances.

bowel diseases (18), may be in fact a specific measure of perturbed GI conditions. Even antibodies directed against the food antigens were associated with both GI and endocrine conditions with some variations according to sex. Interestingly, the interaction of constipation and thyroid problems was significantly associated with antibodies to wheat gluten. The other marker of bacterial translocation, sCD14, showed few significant differences in levels among GI/endocrine groups suggesting an alternative mechanism to explain its associations with schizophrenia, perhaps related to monocyte activation (17). Although sCD14 and LBP markers showed a low level of correlation in our study (data not shown), the lack of corresponding GI and endocrine group differences for sCD14 further supports its role in inflammatory pathways that do not necessarily impact LBP.

More severe psychiatric symptoms, and particularly positive symptoms, were significantly associated with GI and not endocrine conditions. Studies of the gut–brain axis increasingly demonstrate a role for the microbiome and downstream pathological effects related to inflammation when this microbial community is in dysbiosis. In schizophrenia, case– control differences in the blood biomarkers examined here suggest that a low-grade peripheral inflammation is related to the translocation of gut-based microbes and metabolic products across compromised gut-associated vascular barriers into systemic circulation. This low-grade systemic inflammation, in turn, is thought to produce similar permeability at the bloodbrain barrier, thus providing a mechanism by which gut-based products might enter the central nervous system and alter brain functioning (4, 37, 38).

The extent to which our results can be extrapolated is limited by several factors. This study is cross-sectional which prevents us from knowing if levels of these markers fluctuate over time or from making cause and effect interpretations. Furthermore, our control group comparison upon which seropositivities were designated may have included individuals with GI or endocrine conditions; thus, seropositivity cut-offs may be over-estimated and associated with a possible increase in false-negatives in the case group. Our subgroup stratification reduces the power of some of the statistical comparisons, particularly between and among the female and male groupings and between the less prevalent GI and endocrine conditions; however, promising associations are present, as evident by the data in Tables 3 and 4. It is also possible that certain GI and endocrine conditions are underreported or are not documented in the medical record and thus not detected during study enrollment. Furthermore, the effect of medication on these markers is not known, although there were no significant differences in the use of specific therapeutics among the four GI and endocrine categories in this study. Also, previous studies in antipsychotic-naïve cohorts indicated that differences in marker levels between groups were not a function of medication (30, 31). However, other unidentified environmental or other confounders may contribute to these findings.

Our results indicate that the relationships between GI, endocrine and immune systems in schizophrenia are complex. It is possible that co-existing GI and endocrine pathologies in people with psychiatric disorders further compound inflammation and dysregulation of immune pathways, some of which may impact the brain. Understanding the biochemical mechanisms of how these imbalances in peripheral systems relate to cognitive deficits and psychiatric symptoms may lead to new strategies to more effectively prevent and treat these disorders.

TABLE 4 | Associations of biomarkers with specific GI and endocrine conditions.

GI conditions		GERD-	GERD+	p-value	Constipation-	Constipation+	p-value	Diarrhea-	Diarrhea+	p-value
	n	289	120		323	86		383	26	
C-Reactive Protein	Mean	1.09	1.45	p < 0.0003	1.16	1.33	NS	1.19	1.33	NS
	+ SE	+ 0.06	+ 0.08		+ 0.06	+ 0.10		+ 0.05	+ 0.14	
LPS-Binding Protein	Mean	10.64	15.00	p < 0.0002	11.57	13.2	NS	11.63	16.14	p < 0.02
	+ SE	+ 0.56	+ 1.27		+ 0.59	+ 1.42		+ 0.55	+ 2.95	
Soluble CD14	Mean	1.29	1.85	p < 0.004	1.42	1.56	NS	1.40	2.26	p < 0.02
	+ SE	+ 0.11	+ 0.20		+ 0.11	+ 0.23		+ 0.10	+ 0.42	
Saccharomyces cerevisiae IgG	Mean	1.04	1.19	NS	1.05	1.22	NS	1.06	1.43	p < 0.04
	+ SE	+ 0.06	+ 0.11		+ 0.06	+ 0.13		+ 0.05	+ 0.27	
Bovine Casein IgG	Mean	1.01	0.96	NS	1.02	0.90	NS	0.99	1.15	NS
	+ SE	+ 0.06	+ 0.10		+ 0.06	+ 0.10		+ 0.05	+ 0.25	
Wheat Gluten IgG	Mean	1.00	0.97	NS	0.94	1.19	p < 0.03	1.00	0.89	NS
	+ SE	+ 0.07	+ 0.10		+ 0.06	+ 0.13		+ 0.06	+ 0.09	
Endocrine conditions		Obesity-	Obesity+	p-value	Diabetes-	Diabetes+	p-value	Thyroid-	Thyroid+	p-value
	n	254	155		346	63		376	33	
C-Reactive Protein	Mean	0.96	1.58	p < 0.0001	1.16	1.41	p < 0.03	1.19	1.30	NS
	+ SE	+ 0.05	+ 0.09		+ 0.05	+ 0.12		+ 0.05	+ 0.13	
LPS-Binding Protein	Mean	9.95	15.14	p < 0.0001	11.40	14.75	p < 0.01	11.63	15.21	p < 0.04
	+ SE	+ 0.60	+ 1.04		+ 0.59	+ 1.50		+ 0.56	+ 2.56	
Soluble CD14	Mean	1.28	1.74	p < 0.01	1.47	1.38	NS	1.43	1.75	NS
	+ SE	+ 0.11	+ 0.18		+ 0.11	+ 0.21		+ 0.10	+ 0.44	
Saccharomyces cerevisiae IgG	Mean	1.13	1.01	NS	1.10	0.98	NS	1.08	1.13	NS
_	+ SE	+ 0.07	+ 0.08		+ 0.06	+ 0.12		+ 0.05	+ 0.22	
Bovine Casein IgG	Mean	0.98	1.03	NS	1.00	0.96	NS	0.99	1.04	NS
-	+ SE	+ 0.06	+ 0.09		+ 0.06	+ 0.133		+ 0.05	+ 0.18	
Wheat Gluten IgG	Mean	0.95	1.05	NS	1.01	0.89	NS	0.96	1.35	p < 0.03
-	+ SE	+ 0.06	+ 0.11		+ 0.06	+ 0.08		+ 0.05	+ 0.36	

Negative (-), Positive (+).

P-values were generated from T-tests.

TABLE 5 | Cognitive and psychiatric symptom scores according to gut and endocrine conditions.

	GI–/Endoc– Score + SE	GI+/Endoc- Score + SE	p-value	GI–/Endoc+ Score + SE	p-value	GI+/Endoc+ Score + SE	p-value
PANSS ¹ Total	76.57 + 1.33	80.31 + 1.57 ³	p < 0.04	77.47 + 1.47	NS	77.26 + 1.16	NS
Positive	18.99 + 0.48	$20.73 + 0.60^4$	p < 0.01	19.63 + 0.56	NS	19.95 + 0.46	NS
Negative	21.48 + 0.51	21.17 + 0.38	NS	21.28 + 0.48	NS	20.38 + 0.37	NS
RBANS ²	64.54 + 1.20	65.07 + 1.38	NS	64.47 + 1.26	NS	64.82 + 0.98	NS

¹PANSS refers to the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale.

²RBANS refers to the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status.

 3 Gl–/Endoc– is the comparison group; T-test t value = -1.81, p < 0.04.

 4 T-test t value = -2.30, p < 0.01.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author and in compliance withinstitutional data sharing regulations.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Boards (IRB) of the Sheppard Pratt Health System and the Johns Hopkins Medical Institution following established guidelines. This research was performed in accordance with The Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ES conceived the idea for the paper and performed the data analyses. ES, FD, and RY wrote the paper.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a NIMH P50 Silvio O. Conte Center at Johns Hopkins (grant# MH-94268) and by the Stanley

REFERENCES

- Pouget JG. The Emerging Immunogenetic Architecture of Schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull (2018) 44:993–1004. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby038
- Sekar A, Bialas AR, de Rivera H, Davis A, Hammond TR, Kamitaki N, et al. Schizophrenia risk from complex variation of complement component 4. *Nature* (2016) 530:177–83. doi: 10.1038/nature16549
- Woo JJ, Pouget JG, Zai CC, Kennedy JL. The complement system in schizophrenia: where are we now and what's next? *Mol Psychiatry* (2019) 25:114–30. doi: 10.1038/s41380-019-0479-0
- Severance EG, Yolken RH. From Infection to the Microbiome: An Evolving Role of Microbes in Schizophrenia. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci* (2019) 44:67–84. doi: 10.1007/7854_2018_84
- Kohler O, Petersen L, Mors O, Mortensen PB, Yolken RH, Gasse C, et al. Infections and exposure to anti-infective agents and the risk of severe mental disorders: a nationwide study. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2017) 135:97–105. doi: 10.1111/acps.12671
- Bechter K. Updating the mild encephalitis hypothesis of schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry (2013) 42:71–91. doi: 10.1016/ j.pnpbp.2012.06.019
- Muller N. Inflammation in Schizophrenia: Pathogenetic Aspects and Therapeutic Considerations. Schizophr Bull (2018) 44:973–82. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/sby024
- Thaiss CA, Zmora N, Levy M, Elinav E. The microbiome and innate immunity. *Nature* (2016) 535:65–74. doi: 10.1038/nature18847
- 9. Honda K, Littman DR. The microbiota in adaptive immune homeostasis and disease. *Nature* (2016) 535:75–84. doi: 10.1038/nature18848
- Severance EG, Prandovszky E, Castiglione J, Yolken RH. Gastroenterology issues in schizophrenia: why the gut matters. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2015) 17:27. doi: 10.1007/s11920-015-0574-0
- Liemburg EJ, Nolte IMP. investigators, , Klein HC, Knegtering H. Relation of inflammatory markers with symptoms of psychotic disorders: a large cohort study. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2018) 86:89–94. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.04.006
- Radhakrishnan R, Kaser M, Guloksuz S. The Link Between the Immune System, Environment, and Psychosis. *Schizophr Bull* (2017) 43:693–7. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx057
- Dumontaud M, Korchia T, Khouani J, Lancon C, Auquier P, Boyer L, et al. Sexual dysfunctions in schizophrenia: Beyond antipsychotics. A systematic review. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry (2019) 98:109804. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2019.109804
- Sarsenbayeva A, Marques-Santos CM, Thombare K, Di Nunzio G, Almby KE, Lundqvist M, et al. Effects of second-generation antipsychotics on human subcutaneous adipose tissue metabolism. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2019) 110:104445. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104445
- Zorn JV, Schur RR, Boks MP, Kahn RS, Joels M, Vinkers CH. Cortisol stress reactivity across psychiatric disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2017) 77:25–36. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.11.036
- Romero-Sanchez M, Gonzalez-Serna A, Pacheco YM, Ferrando-Martinez S, Machmach K, Garcia-Garcia M, et al. Different biological significance of sCD14 and LPS in HIV-infection: importance of the immunovirology stage and association with HIV-disease progression markers. *J Infect* (2012) 65:431– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2012.06.008
- Weber NS, Gressitt KL, Cowan DN, Niebuhr DW, Yolken RH, Severance EG. Monocyte activation detected prior to a diagnosis of schizophrenia in the US Military New Onset Psychosis Project (MNOPP). *Schizophr Res* (2018) 197:465–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.12.016
- Desplat-Jego S, Johanet C, Escande A, Goetz J, Fabien N, Olsson N, et al. Update on Anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibodies, anti-nuclear associated

Medical Research Institute. The funding sources had no involvement in study design; collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication.

anti-neutrophil antibodies and antibodies to exocrine pancreas detected by indirect immunofluorescence as biomarkers in chronic inflammatory bowel diseases: results of a multicenter study. *World J Gastroenterol : WJG* (2007) 13:2312–8. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i16.2312

- Kotze LM, Nisihara RM, Utiyama SR, Kotze PG, Theiss PM, Olandoski M. Antibodies anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae (ASCA) do not differentiate Crohn's disease from celiac disease. Arq Gastroenterol (2010) 47:242–5. doi: 10.1590/ S0004-28032010000300006
- Oshitani N, Hato F, Matsumoto T, Jinno Y, Sawa Y, Hara J, et al. Decreased anti-Saccharomyces cerevisiae antibody titer by mesalazine in patients with Crohn's disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol (2000) 15:1400–3. doi: 10.1046/ j.1440-1746.2000.02357.x
- Catassi C, Bai JC, Bonaz B, Bouma G, Calabro A, Carroccio A, et al. Non-Celiac Gluten sensitivity: the new frontier of gluten related disorders. *Nutrients* (2013) 5:3839–53. doi: 10.3390/nu5103839
- Leonard MM, Sapone A, Catassi C, Fasano A. Celiac Disease and Nonceliac Gluten Sensitivity: A Review. *Jama* (2017) 318:647–56. doi: 10.1001/ jama.2017.9730
- Dickerson F, Origoni A, Schroeder J, Adamos M, Katsafanas E, Khushalani S, et al. Natural cause mortality in persons with serious mental illness. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2018) 137:371–9. doi: 10.1111/acps.12880
- Dickerson F, Stallings C, Origoni A, Katsafanas E, Schweinfurth LA, Savage CL, et al. Pentraxin 3 is reduced in bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord* (2015) 17:409–14. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12281
- Dickerson F, Stallings C, Origoni A, Vaughan C, Khushalani S, Yang S, et al. C-reactive protein is elevated in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 143:198– 202. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.041
- 26. APA. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders : DSM-IV-TR. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2000).
- Randolph C. RBANS Manual Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status. San Antonio: Psychological Corporation (1998).
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/13.2.261
- First MB, Spitzer RL, Gibbon M, Williams JBW. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders - Non-patient Edition (SCID I/NP). New York: Biometrics Research, New York State Psychiatric Institute (1998).
- Severance EG, Gressitt KL, Stallings CR, Origoni AE, Khushalani S, Leweke FM, et al. Discordant patterns of bacterial translocation markers and implications for innate immune imbalances in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2013) 148:130–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.05.018
- Severance EG, Alaedini A, Yang S, Halling M, Gressitt KL, Stallings CR, et al. Gastrointestinal inflammation and associated immune activation in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 138:48–53. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.02.025
- 32. Severance EG, Dickerson FB, Halling M, Krivogorsky B, Haile L, Yang S, et al. Subunit and whole molecule specificity of the anti-bovine casein immune response in recent onset psychosis and schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res* (2010) 118:240–7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.12.030
- Severance EG, Gressitt KL, Halling M, Stallings CR, Origoni AE, Vaughan C, et al. Complement C1q formation of immune complexes with milk caseins and wheat glutens in schizophrenia. *Neurobiol Dis* (2012) 48:447–53. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2012.07.005
- Dickerson F, Stallings C, Origoni A, Vaughan C, Khushalani S, Leister F, et al. Markers of gluten sensitivity and celiac disease in recent-onset psychosis and multi-episode schizophrenia. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 68:100–4. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2010.03.021
- Cussotto S, Sandhu KV, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. The Neuroendocrinology of the Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis: A Behavioural Perspective. *Front Neuroendocrinol* (2018) 51:80–101. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.04.002

- Jaggar M, Rea K, Spicak S, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. You've Got Male: Sex and the Microbiota-Gut Brain Axis Across the Lifespan. *Front Neuroendocrinol* (2019) 56:100815. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2019.100815
- Kannan G, Gressitt KL, Yang S, Stallings CR, Katsafanas E, Schweinfurth LA, et al. Pathogen-mediated NMDA receptor autoimmunity and cellular barrier dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Transl Psychiatry* (2017) 7:e1186. doi: 10.1038/ tp.2017.162
- Severance EG, Yolken RH, Eaton WW. Autoimmune diseases, gastrointestinal disorders and the microbiome in schizophrenia: more than a gut feeling. *Schizophr Res* (2016) 176:23–35. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.06.027

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Severance, Dickerson and Yolken. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Risk of Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder in Patients With Multiple Sclerosis: Record-Linkage Studies

Ute-Christiane Meier^{1,2*†}, Sreeram V. Ramagopalan^{3†}, Michael J. Goldacre⁴ and Raph Goldacre⁴

¹ Blizard Institute, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom, ² Department of Psychological Medicine, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, Kings College London, London, United Kingdom, ³ Department of Health Policy, London School of Economics and Political Science, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Unit of Health-Care Epidemiology, Nuffield Department of Population Health, Big Data Institute, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Müller, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

Reviewed by:

Belinda Lennox, University of Oxford, United Kingdom Martin Tesli, Norwegian Institute of Public Health, Norway

> *Correspondence: Ute-Christiane Meier

ute.meier@kcl.ac.uk [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 12 December 2019 Accepted: 25 June 2020 Published: 16 July 2020

Citation:

Meier U-C, Ramagopalan SV, Goldacre MJ and Goldacre R (2020) Risk of Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder in Patients With Multiple Sclerosis: Record-Linkage Studies. Front. Psychiatry 11:662. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00662 **Background:** The epidemiology of psychiatric comorbidity in multiple sclerosis (MS) remains poorly understood.

Objective: We aimed to determine the risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder in MS patients.

Material and Methods: Retrospective cohort analyses were performed using an all-England national linked Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) dataset (1999–2016) and to determine whether schizophrenia or bipolar disorder are more commonly diagnosed subsequently in people with MS (n=128,194), and whether MS is more commonly diagnosed subsequently in people with schizophrenia (n=384,188) or bipolar disorder (n=203,592), than would be expected when compared with a reference cohort (~15 million people) after adjusting for age and other factors. Adjusted hazard ratios (aHRs) were calculated using Cox proportional hazards models.

Results: Findings were dependent on whether the index and subsequent diagnoses were selected as the primary reason for hospital admission or were taken from anywhere on the hospital record. When searching for diagnoses anywhere on the hospital record, there was a significantly elevated risk of subsequent schizophrenia (aHR 1.51, 95% confidence interval (Cl) 1.40 to 1.60) and of bipolar disorder (aHR 1.14, 95% Cl 1.04 to 1.24) in people with prior-recorded MS and of subsequent MS in people with prior-recorded schizophrenia (aHR 1.26, 1.15–1.37) or bipolar disorder (aHR 1.73, 1.57–1.91), but most of these associations were reduced to null when analyses were confined to diagnoses recorded as the primary reason for admission.

Conclusion: Further research is needed to investigate the potential association between MS and schizophrenia and/or bipolar disorder as it may shed light on underlying pathophysiology and help identify potential shared risk factors.

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, record-linkage studies, risk factor

INTRODUCTION

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a multifactorial disease of the central nervous system (CNS) characterised by myelin loss, varying degrees of axonal pathology and progressive neurological dysfunction. MS is a classical neuroinflammatory disease, which is caused by immune dysregulation that affects CNS function. Recent insight indicates that similar processes may also play a role in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder and the immune hypothesis in these disorders is receiving growing interest (1).

MS is associated with many neuropsychiatric symptoms, such as depression and anxiety, which even precede MS diagnosis (2, 3). Some reports have suggested a link between MS and schizophrenia and/or bipolar disorder (4).

Several investigators have studied the risk of these conditions in MS patients with no consensus reached. A Canadian study found higher incidence and prevalence estimates of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder in a MS population than in a matched non-MS population (5), another Canadian study reported an association between MS and psychosis (6) and a Danish register-based study found an increased incidence rate ratio of schizophrenia spectrum disorder in MS patients (7). A study on paediatric MS, using the English National Hospital Episode Statistics and mortality data, reported elevated rates of psychotic disorders [RR = 10.76 (2.93-27.63)] (8). However, several studies found no association between schizophrenia and MS. A study from Taiwan found a nonsignificant increased risk of schizophrenia in patients with MS (9) and another Danish study found no higher than expected prevalence of MS in individuals with schizophrenia (10). Several studies comparing the prevalence of bipolar disorder in MS patients to a comparator population found that bipolar disorder was more common in the MS population (5, 11, 12).

To investigate schizophrenia and bipolar disorder in MS further, we undertook record linkage studies to determine the risk of these disorders in patients with MS using an English National linked Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) dataset.

METHODS

Population and Data

A Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) dataset covering the population of England from January 1999 to December 2016 was used. The HES data were provided by the NHS Digital (formerly the English national Health and Social Care Information Centre). The Office for National Statistics (ONS) collected data on death registrations in the same time period, which were also supplied to us by NHS Digital. The dataset used in this study, in which successive records for each individual were linked together using personal identifiers irreversibly encrypted by NHS Digital, was constructed by the Oxford record linkage group (13). Approval for a programme of work covering the construction and analysis of the linked dataset was given by the Central and South Bristol Research Ethics Committee (ref 04/Q2006/176) and has been updated annually.

Study Design

Retrospective cohort analyses were performed, similar to previous analyses we have undertaken (14, 15). We constructed a cohort of people diagnosed with MS [International Classification of Diseases, Revision 10 (ICD-10) code G35], by identifying the earliest known record of day case care, or inpatient admission, in the dataset for the condition recorded in any diagnostic position in an NHS hospital during the study period. We then searched the database for any subsequent NHS hospital care for, or death from, schizophrenia or bipolar in these cohorts. The ICD codes used to identify schizophrenia or bipolar disorder were, respectively, F20-F29 and F30-31 (10th revision of the ICD). We then repeated the analyses confining the selection criteria to specify that the selected diagnoses were recorded as the main diagnostic reason for the hospital admission. For comparison, a reference cohort was constructed by identifying the earliest known admission for each individual with various other, mainly minor medical and surgical conditions and injuries (appendicectomy, squint, otitis externa, otitis media, haemorrhoids, deflected nasal septum, nasal polyp, impacted tooth and other disorders of teeth, inguinal hernia, ingrowing toenail and other diseases of nail, sebaceous cyst, internal derangement of knee, bunion, contraceptive management, cataract, dilation, and curettage, selected limb fractures, hip/ knee replacement, upper respiratory tract infections, varicose veins). People were included in the MS or reference cohort if they did not have a record of schizophrenia or bipolar either before or at the same time as the first record of MS or the reference condition. We also looked to see if associations were present in the other direction chronologically i.e. whether hospitalisation for MS was increased after hospitalization for schizophrenia or bipolar disorder.

Statistical Methods

Taking the example of schizophrenia after MS, we used Cox proportional hazards methods to calculate hazard ratios in order to compare the incidence of schizophrenia in the MS cohort with the reference cohort after adjustment for age (in five-year age groups), sex, calendar year of first recorded admission, region of residence, quintile of patients' Index of Deprivation score (as a measure of socio-economic status), and total number of hospital admissions (excluding those that contained the outcome diagnosis i.e. in this example schizophrenia). Entry to the cohort was the index date of first known hospital admission for MS (or any one of the reference conditions). Exit was earliest known date of hospital-recorded schizophrenia, or date of death, or 31 Dec 2017 (whichever occurred first).

We further subdivided the outcomes into people whose earliest known schizophrenia record was less than one year after the earliest known record of MS, and people whose earliest known schizophrenia record was more than one year after the earliest known record of MS. Our reasoning in doing so was to reduce the possibility of including some short-term associations that might have resulted from misdiagnosis of one condition for the other.

Results

There were 128,194 people in the MS cohort (65,510 with the condition recorded as primary diagnosis), 384,188 people in the schizophrenia cohort (227,807 as primary diagnosis), and 203,592 people in the bipolar disorder cohort (94,372 as primary diagnosis). There were 15,049,357 people in the reference cohort.

For each analysis, observed numbers of people with each disease outcome and adjusted hazard ratios are reported in **Table 1**. Analyses stratified by sex are presented in **Supplementary Tables 1** and **2**, with no differences by gender of note.

Risk of Schizophrenia (Primary or Subsidiary Diagnosis)

There was a significantly elevated hazard ratio for schizophrenia after hospital admission for MS (aHR= 1.51, 95% CI 1.40–1.62), both within a year (aHR= 1.75, 95% CI 1.46–2.10) and more than a year after hospital admission for MS (aHR= 1.47, 95% CI 1.35–1.59). The hazard ratio for MS after hospital admission for schizophrenia was also significantly increased but, overall, lower in magnitude than that seen for schizophrenia after MS (aHR= 1.26, 95% CI 1.15–1.37).

Risk of Bipolar Disorder (Primary or Subsidiary Diagnosis)

There was a modest but significantly increased hazard ratio for bipolar disorder after hospital admission for MS (aHR= 1.14, 95% CI 1.04–1.24), which reduced when looking more than a year after hospital admission for MS (aHR= 1.06, 95% CI 0.96–1.16). The hazard ratio for MS after hospital admission for bipolar disorder was significantly increased (aHR= 1.73, 95% CI 1.57–1.91) and persisted when excluding patients first admitted with MS within 1 year of first admission with MS (aHR= 1.65, 95% CI 1.48–1.84).

Restriction of Analyses to Diagnoses Recorded as the Main Reason for Admission

This restriction attenuated the estimates of risk towards null. Most dropped below the 5% level of statistical significance. The association between prior bipolar disorder and subsequent multiple sclerosis remained significant, at a time interval of at least a year after first bipolar admission, with HR= 1.29 (95% CI 1.05-1.60).

DISCUSSION

Main Findings

We analysed records from an English national dataset of linked Hospital Statistics and mortality statistics and found that people admitted to hospital with MS coded anywhere on the hospital record had a significantly increased subsequent rate of occurrence of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder coded anywhere on the record. When we reversed the chronological sequence of the diseases, in the equivalent analysis of diagnoses coded anywhere on the record, we found that the risk of MS after a hospital admission for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder was also significantly increased. Most of the associations reported were no longer significant when the diagnoses were restricted to the main reasons for hospital admission, i.e. omitting diagnoses recorded as incidental.

Comparisons With Other Studies

Taking the diagnoses from anywhere on the hospital record, the observed increased risk of schizophrenia in MS patients is in line with a Danish study, which found an increased risk (RR=1.44, 95% CI 1.03–1.94) (7). A recent Taiwanese study reported a hazard ratio (HR) of 2.21 (95% CI 0.52–9.34) for schizophrenia after MS, similar to our rate ratio of 2.08, but the Taiwan finding was not statistically significant (9).

Taking the diagnoses from anywhere on the hospital record, we also found an increased risk of MS after a hospital admission for schizophrenia. A previous Danish study also reported an elevated incidence rate for MS in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorder (RR= 1.57, 95% CI 1.29–1.90); however, in this study the incidence stayed increased five or more years after onset of schizophrenia (RR= 1.53, 95% CI 1.18–1.95) (16). On the contrary, a Swedish study found an inverse association with a decreased risk of MS in patients with schizophrenia (HR= 0.6, 95% CI 0.4–0.9) (17).

TABLE 1 | Associations between multiple sclerosis (MS) and schizophrenia (SZ) or bipolar disorder (BP), English national Hospital Episode Statistics, 1999–2016.

Exposure	Exposure Outcome					Exposure and outcome as primary diagnosis only						
		interval	Total	Observed	HR	95%CI	p value	Total	Observed	HR	95%CI	p value
BP	MS	All	203592	399	1.73	(1.57–1.91)	0.0000	94372	103	1.34	(1.11–1.63)	0.0029
MS	BP		128194	531	1.14	(1.04-1.24)	0.0035	65510	77	0.86	(0.69-1.08)	0.1960
SZ	MS		384188	499	1.26	(1.15-1.37)	0.0000	227807	130	0.82	(0.69-0.98)	0.0299
MS	SZ		128194	719	1.51	(1.4-1.62)	0.0000	65510	142	1.11	(0.94-1.31)	0.2010
BP	MS	<1yr	203592	69	2.36	(1.85-3.01)	0.0000	94372	14	1.79	(1.05-3.05)	0.0315
MS	BP		128194	91	1.75	(1.42-2.16)	0.0000	65510	16	1.32	(0.8-2.16)	0.2736
SZ	MS		384188	95	2.02	(1.64-2.49)	0.0000	227807	19	1.22	(0.77-1.93)	0.3997
MS	SZ		128194	117	1.75	(1.46-2.1)	0.0000	65510	33	1.79	(1.26-2.52)	0.0010
BP	MS	1yr+	177633	330	1.65	(1.48-1.84)	0.0000	88576	89	1.29	(1.05-1.6)	0.0160
MS	BP		114150	440	1.06	(0.96-1.16)	0.2333	60155	61	0.79	(0.61-1.02)	0.0676
SZ	MS		335972	404	1.15	(1.04-1.27)	0.0055	212920	111	0.78	(0.65-0.94)	0.0099
MS	SZ		114135	602	1.47	(1.35–1.59)	0.0000	60140	109	1.00	(0.83–1.21)	0.9985

Neuropsychiatric Disease Risk in MS

Again taking the diagnoses from anywhere on the hospital record, our study also found an increased risk of bipolar disorder in patients with MS, and an increased risk of MS in patients with bipolar disorder, findings which are in line with a Canadian study which observed an increased risk of incident bipolar disorder in patients with MS (HR= 2.67, 95% CI 2.29–3.11) (11), and a Swedish study which observed an increased risk of MS in patients with bipolar disorder (HR= 1.8, 95% CI 1.6–2.2) (17). In our study, the increased risk of MS in patients with bipolar disorder remained when the analyses were restricted to diagnoses recorded as the main reason for the hospital admissions.

Interpretation

The associations in our study between MS, schizophrenia and bipolar disorder were sensitive to whether or not the diseases were searched for as the primary reason for hospital admission, and as such may only cautiously be interpreted as evidence of disease mechanisms shared by these conditions. MS is a classical neuroinflammatory disease, however, recent evidence highlights that similar processes such as microglial activation, proinflammatory cytokines, molecular mimicry between pathogens and brain antigens, anti-neuronal antibodies, self-reactive T-cells and disturbances of the blood-brain barrier are involved in psychiatric diseases such as schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (1). Other possible explanations include shared unmeasured confounders and the possibility of surveillance bias. On confounders, we took account of age, sex, deprivation, and other factors described in Methods; but the possibility exists of other confounders not available in the dataset. Furthermore, surveillance bias could be a factor: if patients with, say, MS are under continuing medical care, this may lead to a higher probability than that in controls (i.e. in the reference cohort) that they might be diagnosed and hospitalised with, say, schizophrenia. The fact that the associations were most evident when incidental diagnoses were included supports the possibility of a surveillance effect.

Strength and Limitations

The strength of the study includes the use of a large, national population based dataset. However, we were wholly dependent on the reliability of the coded diagnostic data in the dataset. The associations may also be overestimated because any bias of association may be driven by severe presentation as it is based on hospital records. Treatment may also complicate the findings and was not taken into account. For example, we are aware that steroid treatment, which is often used to treat a MS relapse, can induce psychosis. In all, our findings should therefore be regarded as preliminary and hypothesis generating rather than definitive.

CONCLUSIONS

People admitted to hospital with MS may be at an increased risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder and patients admitted to hospital with bipolar disorder and schizophrenia may be at an increased risk of MS. Clinicians treating patients with these conditions should be aware of these possible co-occurring morbidities. However, there are some inconsistencies in our findings which we describe but cannot fully explain. The findings should be regarded as indicating possible associations and as speculative rather than definitive but, if confirmed, they may indicate a role for a common aetiology underlying these neuropsychiatric disorders.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/ Supplementary Material.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Approval for the programme of work covering the construction and analysis of the linked dataset was given by the Central and South Bristol Research Ethics Committee (ref 04/Q2006/176) and has been updated annually. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Project design (SR, RG, MG, U-CM), Data analysis (RG, MG), Manuscript writing and data interpretation (U-CM, SR, MG, RG).

FUNDING

RG was funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Oxford Biomedical Research Centre, and by Public Health England. The Big Data Institute has received funding from the Li Ka Shing Foundation and Robertson Foundations, the Medical Research Council, British Heart Foundation, and is supported by the NIHR Oxford Biomedical Research Centre. U-CM was funded by the National Multiple Sclerosis Society. The funders were not involved in the design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript; or decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2020. 00662/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 1 | Associations between multiple sclerosis (MS) and schizophrenia (SZ) or bipolar disorder (BP) in Females, English national Hospital Episode Statistics, 1999–2016.

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 2 | Associations between multiple sclerosis (MS) and schizophrenia (SZ) or bipolar disorder (BP) in Males, English national Hospital Episode Statistics, 1999–2016.

REFERENCES

- Pape K, Tamouza R, Leboyer M, Zipp F. Immunoneuropsychiatry novel perspectives on brain disorders. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2019) 15(6):317–28. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0174-4
- Disanto G, Zecca C, MacLachlan S, Sacco R, Handunnetthi L, Meier UC, et al. Prodromal symptoms of multiple sclerosis in primary care. *Ann Neurol* (2018) 83(6):1162–73. doi: 10.1002/ana.25247
- Marrie RA, Reingold S, Cohen J, Stuve O, Trojano M, Sorensen PS, et al. The incidence and prevalence of psychiatric disorders in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. *Mult Scler* (2015) 21(3):305–17. doi: 10.1177/1352458514564487
- Jeppesen R, Benros ME. Autoimmune Diseases and Psychotic Disorders. Front Psychiatry (2019) 10:131. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00131
- Marrie RA, Fisk JD, Tremlett H, Wolfson C, Warren S, Tennakoon A, et al. Differences in the burden of psychiatric comorbidity in MS vs the general population. *Neurology* (2015) 85(22):1972–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000 000002174
- Patten SB, Svenson LW, Metz LM. Psychotic disorders in MS: populationbased evidence of an association. *Neurology* (2005) 65(7):1123–5. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000178998.95293.29
- Benros ME, Nielsen PR, Nordentoft M, Eaton WW, Dalton SO, Mortensen PB. Autoimmune diseases and severe infections as risk factors for schizophrenia: a 30-year population-based register study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2011) 168(12):1303–10. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11030516
- Pakpoor J, Goldacre R, Schmierer K, Giovannoni G, Waubant E, Goldacre MJ. Psychiatric disorders in children with demyelinating diseases of the central nervous system. *Mult Scler* (2018) 24(9):1243–50. doi: 10.1177/1352458517719150
- Wang LY, Chen SF, Chiang JH, Hsu CY, Shen YC. Autoimmune diseases are associated with an increased risk of schizophrenia: A nationwide populationbased cohort study. *Schizophr Res* (2018) 202:297–302. doi: 10.1016/ j.schres.2018.06.033
- Eaton WW, Byrne M, Ewald H, Mors O, Chen CY, Agerbo E, et al. Association of schizophrenia and autoimmune diseases: linkage of Danish national registers. *Am J Psychiatry* (2006) 163(3):521–8. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.163.3.521
- Marrie RA, Patten SB, Greenfield J, Svenson LW, Jette N, Tremlett H, et al. Physical comorbidities increase the risk of psychiatric comorbidity in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Behav* (2016) 6(9):e00493. doi: 10.1002/brb3.493

- Jun-O'Connell AH, Butala A, Morales IB, Henninger N, Deligiannidis KM, Byatt N, et al. The Prevalence of Bipolar Disorders and Association With Quality of Life in a Cohort of Patients With Multiple Sclerosis. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci (2017) 29(1):45–51. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.15120403
- Goldacre M, Kurina L, Yeates D, Seagroatt V, Gill L. Use of large medical databases to study associations between diseases. *QJM* (2000) 93(10):669–75. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/93.10.669
- Goldacre MJ, Duncan ME, Griffith M, Cook-Mozaffari P. Psychiatric disorders certified on death certificates in an English population. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2006) 41(5):409–14. doi: 10.1007/s00127-006-0035-5
- Seminog OO, Goldacre MJ. Risk of pneumonia and pneumococcal disease in people hospitalized with diabetes mellitus: English record-linkage studies. *Diabetes Med* (2013) 30(12):1412–9. doi: 10.1111/dme.12260
- Benros ME, Pedersen MG, Rasmussen H, Eaton WW, Nordentoft M, Mortensen PB. A nationwide study on the risk of autoimmune diseases in individuals with a personal or a family history of schizophrenia and related psychosis. *Am J Psychiatry* (2014) 171(2):218–26. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2013. 13010086
- Johansson V, Lundholm C, Hillert J, Masterman T, Lichtenstein P, Landen M, et al. Multiple sclerosis and psychiatric disorders: comorbidity and sibling risk in a nationwide Swedish cohort. *Mult Scler* (2014) 20(14):1881–91. doi: 10.1177/1352458514540970

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer BL declared a shared affiliation, with no collaboration, with two of the authors, MG and RG, to the handling editor at the time of review.

Copyright © 2020 Meier, Ramagopalan, Goldacre and Goldacre. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Novel Antineuronal Autoantibodies With Somatodendritic Staining Pattern in a Patient With Autoimmune Psychosis

Dominique Endres^{1,2*}, Sebastian Rauer³, Alexander Pschibul⁴, Patrick Süß⁵, Nils Venhoff⁶, Kimon Runge^{1,2}, Bernd Feige^{1,2}, Dominik Denzel^{1,2}, Kathrin Nickel^{1,2}, Tina Schweizer^{1,2}, Simon Maier^{1,2}, Karl Egger⁷, Katharina Domschke^{2,8}, Philipp T. Meyer⁹, Harald Prüss^{10,11†} and Ludger Tebartz van Elst^{1,2†}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Müller, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

Reviewed by:

Massimo Tusconi, University of Cagliari, Italy Takahiro lizuka, Kitasato University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Dominique Endres dominique.endres@ uniklinik-freiburg.de

[†]These authors share last authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 25 October 2019 Accepted: 15 June 2020 Published: 06 August 2020

Citation:

Endres D, Rauer S, Pschibul A, Süß P, Venhoff N, Runge K, Feige B, Denzel D, Nickel K, Schweizer T, Maier S, Egger K, Domschke K, Meyer PT, Prüss H and Tebartz van Elst L (2020) Novel Antineuronal Autoantibodies With Somatodendritic Staining Pattern in a Patient With Autoimmune Psychosis. Front. Psychiatry 11:627. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00627 ¹ Section for Experimental Neuropsychiatry, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ² Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Freiburg, Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ³ Department of Neurology, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ³ Department of Neurology, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ⁴ Department of Neuropediatrics and Muscle Disorders, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ⁶ Department of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ⁶ Department of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ⁷ Department of Neuroradiology, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany, ⁸ Center for Basics in Neuromodulation, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Germany, ⁹ Department of Nuclear Medicine, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Germany, ¹⁰ Department of Neurology and Experimental Neurology, Charité - University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Feriburg, Germany, ¹¹ German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE) Berlin, Berlin, Germany

Background: Autoimmune encephalitis, such as anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis, typically presenting with subacute onset of neuropsychiatric symptoms, can be detected by antineuronal autoantibodies or inflammatory changes in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), as well as pathological alterations in electroencephalography (EEG), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), or [18F]fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG PET). For patients with predominant psychotic symptoms, the term autoimmune psychosis was proposed. Here, the authors present the case of a patient with probable autoimmune psychosis associated with unknown antineuronal antibodies.

Case Presentation: A 18-year-old male patient with preexisting autism spectrum disorder developed a severe catatonic syndrome over 2.5 years. The MRI showed normal findings, the EEG depicted intermittent slowing, and the independent component analyses showed additional sharp spikes. However, FDG PET, the basic laboratory analysis and testing of the serum/CSF for well-characterized antineuronal autoantibodies were unsuspicious. The serum and CSF "tissue-based assay" using indirect immunofluorescence on unfixed murine brain tissue revealed antineuronal autoantibodies against an unknown epitope in granule cells in the cerebellum and to neurites of hippocampal interneurons with a somatodendritic staining pattern. The immunosuppressive treatment with high-dose glucocorticoids, plasma exchange, and rituximab led to partial improvement.

93

Conclusion: The patient probably suffered from autoantibody-associated autoimmune psychosis. The special features of the case were that the patient (1) presented with mostly inconspicuous basic diagnostics, except for the altered EEG in combination with the detection of CSF autoantibodies directed against a currently unknown epitope, (2) experienced an isolated and long-lasting psychotic course, and (3) had pre-existing autism spectrum disorder. The detection of a probable autoimmune pathophysiology in such cases seems important, as it offers new and more causal immunosuppressive treatment alternatives.

Keywords: autoimmune encephalitis, encephalopathy, autoimmune psychosis, antibodies, schizophrenia, catatonia

BACKGROUND

Autoimmune encephalitis, such as anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis, is typically associated with a subacute onset of neuropsychiatric symptoms, and can often be identified by the presence of antineuronal autoantibodies or inflammatory changes in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), electroencephalography (EEG) pathologies, and evidence of encephalitis in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or [18F]fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG PET; 1-5). Until now, a series of antineuronal autoantibodies against surface (e.g., NMDA-R, LGI1, CASPR2, AMPA1/2-R, GABA-B-R, DPPX) or intracellular antigens (e.g., Yo, Hu, CV2/CRMP5, Ri, Ma1/2, SOX1, GAD65, amphiphysin), or "potentially antineuronal" systemic antibodies (e.g., antinuclear antibodies [ANAs] against double-stranded [ds]-DNA or gliadin autoantibodies) (3-5) are known. The associated neuropsychiatric syndromes are classically characterized by a combination of neurological (e.g., seizures, movement disorders, focalneurological deficits, or reduced consciousness) and psychiatric (e.g., psychosis, mania, or catatonia) symptoms (3, 6, 7). However, there are also variants with milder isolated or predominant psychiatric symptoms described in the literature associated with some of the autoantibodies (8-11). Catatonic syndromes are typically reported in anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis (12). Some authors have suggested the term "autoimmune psychosis" to describe that subgroup of patients with predominant psychotic symptoms (13-15). New methods (e.g., "tissue-based assays" via indirect immunofluorescence on unfixed murine brain tissue) can be used to increase sensitivity in discovering also novel autoantibodies against so far unknown epitopes on the cell surface (16). Previously "seronegative" autoimmune neurological syndromes have already been confirmed by such positive tests (17). The role of tissue-based assays in the detection of autoimmune psychoses is largely unclear. The rationale of the current case report is to present a patient with probable autoimmune psychosis associated with antineuronal autoantibodies directed against a currently unknown antigen detected by a tissue-based assay.

CASE PRESENTATION

Here, the authors present the case of a 18-year-old male German pupil who developed a severe catatonic syndrome over 2.5 years. The catatonic syndrome presented with symptoms of mutism (the patient did not speak at all during the course of the disease), catalepsy and rigor, echo phenomena, and intermittent states of psychomotor agitation (the patient would run up and down the hallway in an excited manner). Further, he developed fecal and urinary incontinence, displayed impaired perception and formal thought disorder, exhibited severe concentration and attention deficits, and reported delusions (e.g., he thought he was telepathically controlled) and auditory hallucinations hearing commenting voices (e.g., he heard songs and the voice of a classmate that would tell him funny things). The symptoms initially began with cognitive deficits and seizure-like states with laughing. An epileptic examination by telemetry did not reveal any evidence of gelastic seizures. Auditory hallucinations probably existed for about 1.5 years. In addition, the patient developed an increased muscle tone and cramps of the tongue for half a year. These were interpreted as tardive dyskinesias after risperidone intake. At that time, due to severe abulia and akinetic mutism he had to be fed via stomach tube and in retrospect probably also suffered from headache.

Diagnostic Findings

The diagnostic examinations were carried out at first presentation in our tertiary care hospital, approximately 2.5 years after symptom onset. The structural brain MRI was normal (Figure 1). There were no white matter or contrast-enhanced lesions. A routine EEG depicted intermittent, generalized, but frontally accentuated slowing. The independent component analyses (ICA) revealed sharp waves (component 4) and intermittent rhythmic delta activity (IRDA, component 5 + 6, Figure 1). In the serum, increased ANA titers (1:800) without specificity against a defined cluster of extractable nuclear antigens (ENA) including doublestranded (ds)-DNA were found. The patient's basic CSF analytic results (white blood cell count, albumin quotient, IgG-index, and oligoclonal bands) were normal. No antibodies against the intracellular (synaptic) antigens Yo, Hu, CV2/CRMP5, Ri, Ma1/2, Tr, Zic4, GAD65, and amphiphysin were found. Initially, anti-Sox1 autoantibodies were once weakly positive, in the course no more. Antibodies against various well-characterized neuronal cell surface

Abbreviations: ANA, antinuclear antibody; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; CT, computer tomography; ds, double-stranded; EEG, electroencephalography; ENA, extractable nuclear antigens; FDG-PET, [18F]fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography; ICA, independent component analyses; IRDA, intermittent rhythmic delta activity; LANI, Local Area Network Inhibition; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging.



[¹⁸F]fluorodexyglucose positron emission tomography (EEG) and neuropsychological initialitys. (4) The magnetic resonance imaging produced distubblicus informations. (b) An [¹⁸F]fluorodexyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG PET) examination at baseline revealed no relevant regional metabolic abnormality suggestive of inflammation. Upper row: Transaxial FDG PET images (voxel-wise FDG uptake normalized to whole brain uptake), lower row: 3D surface projections of regions with decreased FDG uptake (colour-coded Z-score, compared to age-matched healthy controls; minor, linear-shaped areas of hypometabolism were judged to be non-specific partial volume effects due to atrophy; 18). The cerebral FDG PET scan was performed as part of the whole-body PET/CT scan 50 min after injection of 340 MBq FDG (Vereos Digital PET/CT, Philips Healthcare, The Netherlands). (C) The routine EEG revealed marginal intermittent, rhythmic, and generalized slowing. (D) The independent component analyses showed sharp spikes in component 4, arc-shaped theta (sometimes delta waves) in component 5, and intermittent rhythmic, generalized delta activity (IRDAs) in component 6. (E) Rate of IRDAs during initial treatment: Under benzodiazepines (EEG 1, 3 and 4) the IRDA activity appeared to be low, after the steroid pulse (5) the IRDA rate increased significantly, during plasma exchange (6) they were reduced again, in the two follow-up EEGs directly after initial treatment (7) and half a year later under rituximab (8) the IRDA activity decreased overall, whereas without valproate the IRDAs were increased again after hyperventilation (7). EEG 1 was performed with a medication of lorazepam, amisulpride, and olanzapine; EEG 2 with valproate (lamotrigine in low dose), and amisulpride; EEG 5 with valproate (lamotrigine in low dose), and amisulpride; EEG 5 with valproate (lamotrigine in low dose), and amisulpride; EEG 5 with valproate (lamotrigine, still 10 mg methylprednisolone and after 4 cycles of plasma exchange; EEG 7 with valproate (low dose

antigens (NMDA-R, LGI1, CASPR2, AMPA1/2-R, GABA-B-R, DPPX) were also negative. However, in his serum and CSF, autoantibody binding to granule cells in the granule cell layer of the cerebellum and to neurites of hippocampal interneurons with a somatodendritic staining pattern against an unknown neuronal epitope were found in addition to an ANA pattern (**Figure 2**). An FDG PET examination of his brain showed no relevant regional hypermetabolism (suggestive of active inflammation) or hypometabolism (as a possible sequel of inflammation or degeneration) aside from mild relative striatal hypermetabolism, compatible with ongoing neuroleptic medication (**Figure 1**). A whole-body FDG PET/computer tomography (CT) detected no metabolic or structural pathologies suggestive of malignancy or inflammation. All diagnostic investigations and findings are summarized in **Table 1**.

Illness, Somatic, and Family Histories

Past medical history was negative for in-utero or birth complications, febrile convulsions or epileptic seizures, inflammatory brain diseases, relevant systemic infections, or craniocerebral traumata with unconsciousness. Since the first decade, he suffered from autism spectrum disorder with difficulties in social cognition, communication and interaction with peers like playing with other kids, ritualized repetition of everyday situations/dialogues, and special interests for automatic machines and trains. He had no history of autoimmune disease, infection, cancer, or other relevant somatic disorders. His family history (for parents and grandparents, he has no siblings) was devoid of any diagnosed psychiatric disorders. His mother suffers from psoriasis. The paternal grandfather died of a glioblastoma, the maternal grandfather had an unclear tumor disease of the eye.



FIGURE 2 | The "tissue-based assay" using indirect immunofluorescence screening on unfixed brain sections of rodents identified antibody binding to granule cells in the granule cell layer of the cerebellum (above) and to neurites of hippocampal interneurons (below). Autoantibodies in the cerebrospinal fluid showed a "somatodendritic staining pattern" (arrows point to dendritic processes on hippocampal interneurons in stratum lacunosum moleculare), but also to cell nuclei, reflecting antinuclear antibodies (ANAs). In a control cerebrospinal fluid sample of the hippocampus (downright) there was no comparable signal. The cerebrospinal fluid material was used undiluted. ML, molecular layer; GCL, granule cell layer; WM, white matter.

Treatment and Outcome

The classical neuroleptic treatment with risperidone, olanzapine, and amisulpride, as well as treatment with lorazepam, did not lead to relevant improvement. An increase in extrapyramidal motor symptoms was observed with both risperidone and amisulpride application in a dose-related extent. Under valproate treatment, the mutism improved slightly (so that basic communication became possible). Of the three different IRDA components visible before valproate (**Figure 1**), only one single left frontal component was still visible in the ICA after valproate. Due to an increase in weight as a probable side effect of valproate, the medication was changed to lamotrigine. Because of the refractory disease course and the suspected autoimmune origin, the diagnosis of a probable autoimmune psychosis was made, and immunosuppressive treatment was initiated. Treatment consisted of high-dose glucocorticoid pulse therapy (1,000 mg methylprednisolone daily for five days), followed by oral treatment and stepwise glucocorticoid tapering. Plasma exchange (eight cycles) was used to rapidly decrease autoantibody concentrations. For maintenance treatment the B-cell depleting anti-CD20 antibody rituximab was given intravenously in a dose of 2x1,000 mg within 14 days and subsequently 1,000 mg every six months. The treatment steps were carried out in succession. Following highdose glucocorticoid treatment and plasma exchange, slight improvements were observed. His incontinence improved and he made considerable progress in his ability to communicate. At the first six-month follow-up (the admission was made for the third rituximab treatment), the patient had gone back to school to gain structure in his daily routine (initially 3 h, later the whole day). A complete neuropsychological testing was possible for the first-time half a year after initiation of immunosuppressive treatment, showing ongoing deficits in alertness and working memory and particularly in divided attention and set shifting (Figure 1, t2). His formal thinking and cognitive functions were still compromised; intermittently there were long response latencies. Auditory hallucinations remained, however, on a reduced level, delusions did not occur any more. In summary, there was a relevant clinical improvement, but the patient was still significantly limited in his ability to function in everyday life. The follow-up MRI was unchanged, and CSF autoantibody testing showed reduced titers of the anti-neuronal autoantibody, although still clearly detectable. Figure 1 illustrates the course of the EEG slowing (IRDAs) under treatment and after a 6-months followup period.

DISCUSSION

The present case report describes a male patient suffering from a probable autoantibody-associated psychotic syndrome presenting with severe catatonic and paranoid-hallucinatory symptoms. Striking aspects of the presented case are: (1) the mostly non-specific basic diagnostics in combination with the detection of antineuronal autoantibodies showing a "somatodendritic staining pattern" against an unknown neuronal epitope, (2) the long-lasting psychiatric course, (3) the slight improvement under anticonvulsants and clear improvement under immunosuppressive treatment, and (4) the preexisting autism spectrum disorder.

Diagnostic Considerations

The initial comprehensive diagnostic procedure revealed no clear pathological findings indicating an immunological pathophysiology. The basic CSF diagnostics and the biochip assay tests on fixed cells for detecting established antineuronal autoantibodies, the MRI of the brain, and the FDG PET failed to identify any relevant abnormality. The EEG showed non-specific changes in the form of an intermittent frontally accentuated slowing. The ICA helped to demonstrate electrophysiological instability with sharp spikes and IRDAs. Even with this

TABLE 1 | Diagnostic findings (approximately 2.5 years after symptom onset).

Neuropsychiatric and general medical	<u>Psychiatric/neurological</u> : Severe formal thought disorder and attention as well as concentration deficits, parathyme flattened mood. Changing energy level.
examination	Abulia, loss of interests, dramatically reduced activity, akinetic mutism.
	Delusions/auditory hallucinations, no suicidal tendencies, no sleep disorders, normal appetite.
	Catalepsy and increased muscle tone, echo phenomena and intermittent excitation states. No focal neurological signs.
	Internal: Fecal and urinary incontinence.
Blood analyses	Blood cell count, electrolytes, liver/kidney/pancreas values, and C-reactive protein were normal.
	 Folic acid was normal. Vitamin B12 was high (887 pg/ml; reference: 771 pg/ml), and selenium was decreased (60; reference: 75-140 µg/l). Vitamin D was suboptimal (21 ng/ml; optimal: >30 ng/ml).
	 Thyroid-stimulating hormone, triiodothyronine, and thyroxine levels were in normal ranges. Autoantibodies against thyroglobulin, TSH receptor and thyroid peroxidase were not detectable.
	Antibody testing for Lyme borreliosis, syphilis and HIV were negative.
	 No IgG antibodies against the intracellular onconeural antigens Yo, Hu, CV2/CRMP5, Ri, Ma1/2, SOX1, Tr, Zic4 or the intracellular synaptic antigens GAD65/amphiphysin were found (using Ravo line assay[®]). Sox1 IgG autoantibodies were once weakly positive, in the course no more.
	 IgG antibodies against different neuronal cell surface antigens (NMDA-R, AMPA-1/2-R, GABA-B-R, DPPX, LGI1, CASPR2) were negative (using Euroimmun biochip-assays[®]). Aquaporin 4 and MOG antibodies were negative.
	 Positive "tissue-based assay" for unknown antineuronal antibodies with somatodendritic staining pattern binding to granule cells in the granule cell layer of the cerebellum and to neurites of hippocampal interneurons.
	 Screening for serum antinuclear antibodies (ANA) using indirect immunofluorescence (IIF) on HEp-2000[®] cells (Immuno Concepts, Sacramento, CA, USA) showed increased titers (1:800; reference < 1:50) without specificity against extractable nuclear antigens (ENA,
	lineblot assay including nRNP/Sm, Sm, SS-A, Ro-52, SS-B, ScI-70, PM-ScI,Jo-1, CENP-B, PCNA, dsDNA, nucleosomes, histones, ribosomal-P-proteins, AMA-M2, and DFS70 (ANA-Profile 3 plus DFS70, Euroimmun, Luebeck, Germany) or double-stranded (ds)-DNA (IgG-ELISA, Euro-Diagnostica, Malmö, Sweden). Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (ANCA), antiphospholipid antibodies, and rheumatoid factor were negative. Anti-mitochondrial (AMA) and anti-smooth muscle antibodies (SMA) were borderline positive (+).
	Analyses of the complement system (C3, C4, CH50 and C3d) showed no relevant findings.
	Normal serum IgA, IgM und IgG immunoglobulin concentrations; immunofixation showed no monoclonal antibody production.
	 Lymphocyte immunophenotyping by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis showed only a slightly decreased percentage of total lymphocytes (24.7%; reference 35-45%) but no relevant changes in lymphocyte subsets.
Cerebrospinal fluid	Normal white blood cell count (1/µL; reference <5/µL).
analyses	 Normal protein concentration (349 mg/L; reference <450 mg/L), and normal age-corrected albumin quotient: 3.4; age-dependent reference < 6.5 × 10⁻³).
	 No CSF specific oligoclonal bands; IgG index not increased (0.6; reference ≤0.7).
	CSF lactate not increased (1.51 mmol/l; reference 1.5-2.1 mmol/L).
	 No IgG antibodies against the intracellular onconeural antigens Yo, Hu, CV2/CRMP5, Ri, Ma1/2, SOX1, Tr, Zic4 or the intracellular synaptic antigens GAD65/amphiphysin were found (using Ravo line assay[®]).
	 IgG antibodies against neuronal cell surface antigens (NMDA-R, AMPA-1/2-R, GABA-B-R, DPPX, LGI1, CASPR2) were negative (Euroimmun Biochip assay[®]).
	 Positive "tissue-based assay" for unknown antineuronal antibodies with somatodendritic staining pattern binding to granule cells in the granule cell layer of the cerebellum and to neurites of hippocampal interneurons.
Cerebral magnetic resonance imaging	 Basically inconspicuous, except for a discreet and query atrophy that was judged to be insignificant by neuroradiologists, and pineal cyst (with maximum sadittal diameter of up to 11.5 mm).
Electro-	 Intermittently generalized, rhythmic, frontally accentuated slow wave activity.
encephalography	 The independent component analyses showed sharp spikes in component 4, arc-shaped theta (sometimes delta waves) in component
eepinalegiaping	5, and delta waves (IRDAs) in component 6 (Figure 1).
[¹⁸ F]fluorodeoxv-	
[¹⁸ F]fluorodeoxy- glucose positron	Unsuspicious brain metabolism.
[¹⁸ F]fluorodeoxy- glucose positron emission tomography (FDG PET)	Unsuspicious brain metabolism.

comprehensive diagnostic procedure, the identification of an autoimmune psychosis would not have been possible. In the presented case, the critical clues were only obtained from a tissue-based assay *via* indirect immunofluorescence on unfixed murine brain tissue carried out in a specialized CSF laboratory. Antineuronal autoantibody binding to granule cells in the granule cell layer of the cerebellum and to neurites of hippocampal interneurons against an unknown epitope was found. The immunofluorescence pattern was a "somatodendritic staining pattern", increasing the likelihood of functional relevance of the autoantibody (19). If or not the absence of encephalitis signs in the CSF or FDG PET are related to the long development or the isolated psychiatric course of the disease remains unclear. For some other well-characterized antineuronal antibodies such as LGI1 or IgLON5, an inconspicuous CSF is also common. However, based on present conceptualization, this case can most likely be taken as an example of a probable autoimmune psychosis compatible with a "mild encephalitis" concept (20), even though it would not fulfill the current consensus criteria of probable autoimmune encephalitis (3).

Special Clinical Characteristics

From a clinical point of view, it was interesting to observe that the catatonic symptoms and the EEG pathologies already improved slightly following initial treatment with valproate. Patients with confirmed autoimmune encephalitis (e.g., anti-NMDA-R encephalitis) also often improve initially under "symptomatic" treatment with neuroleptics. The response to psychotropic drugs such as neuroleptics or, in this case, anticonvulsants, is therefore not a contradiction to an autoimmune genesis. For the presented case, it can be speculated that neuronal network instability caused by the detected unspecified autoantibodies improved under anticonvulsive (i.e., network-stabilizing) medication (see Figure 1). This idea would be well explained by the Local Area Network Inhibition (LANI) hypothesis. Following the LANI model, the excitatory spikes and IRDAs could lead to a counterregulatory hyperinhibition of neuronal networks and associated symptoms (e.g., cognitive dysfunction; 21). Finally, in our case report, the link to autism is interesting. In their clinical work, the authors of this paper repeatedly observed patients with developmental disorders who later developed autoimmune encephalitis. It would be interesting to analyze whether autism spectrum diseases with their well-known link to immunological abnormalities (e.g., autoantibodies against brain tissue, microglia activation, inflammatory cytokines; 22) are associated with an increased risk for the subsequent development of autoimmune encephalitis. In the present case, an immunological predisposition with increased titers of antinuclear antibodies in a male patient and a positive family history for immunological disorders (mother suffers from psoriasis) was present. Initial studies in children even showed that a small subgroup of children with autism displayed evidence of autoimmune encephalitis (23).

LIMITATIONS

A pathophysiological significance of the serum/CSF autoantibodies is probable due to the antineuronal pattern in combination with intermittent EEG slowing and sharp spikes. The response to immunosuppressants was only partial and without full remission of symptoms; this could be due to the autoantibody itself or to the long course of the disease. Precise titer determination of the detected antineuronal antibodies and confirmation tests with immunohistochemistry on hippocampal neurons were not performed in the presenting patient; in similar cases in the future, the antibody findings should be analyzed in more detail (see 24). Also, CSF may be subjected to single-cell antibody repertoire analysis, which allows identification of disease-related monoclonal human autoantibodies and their targets, and seems to become the gold-standard also for determining pathogenicity of neuropsychiatric autoantibodies (25, 26). A better identification of the target epitope would help to identify the underlying pathophysiological processes more clearly. Another limiting factor in the current case is that the anti-GABA-A-R antibodies also were not analyzed using a cell-based assay. However, the lack of laminar neuropil binding in the tissue-based assay, as would be seen in autoimmune encephalitis with anti-GABA-A-R antibodies (or

anti-NMDA-R or anti-GABA-B-R antibodies), argues against the presence of these antibodies. Larger patient numbers in future studies are required to determine if the hypothetical clinical characteristics discussed here with regard to the LANI hypothesis and the association with autism are correct.

CONCLUSIONS

This case report shows an association of a psychotic syndrome with predominant catatonic symptoms and antineuronal autoantibodies against an unknown epitope detected by a tissuebased assay. The basic diagnostics were mostly unremarkable with the exception of a conspicuous EEG. The application of tissuebased assays for the detection of so far unknown autoantibodies might also be helpful in other psychiatric patients with suspected autoimmune pathophysiology.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets necessary for this case study are included in the article.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The patient and his parents have given their signed written informed consent for this case report, including the presented images, to be published.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DE, PS, SR, AP, and LT treated the patient. DE performed the data research and wrote the paper. SR, AP, and HP performed the neurological interpretation. SR performed the CSF basic analyses. HP performed the tissue-based testing on unfixed brain sections. BF and LT performed the EEG analyses. NV performed the rheumatological tests and immunological interpretation. TS performed the neuropsychological testing and interpretation. PM performed the nuclear medicine investigations and interpretation. KE, KN, and SM performed and interpreted the MRIs. AP performed the rituximab treatment. KR, BF, DD, and KD supported the clinical and laboratory interpretation. All authors were critically involved in the theoretical discussion and composition of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The article processing charge was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the University of Freiburg in the funding program Open Access Publishing.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the patient for agreeing to the case report. DE was funded by the Berta-Ottenstein-Programme for Advanced Clinician Scientists, Faculty of Medicine, University of

REFERENCES

- Leypoldt F, Armangue T, Dalmau J. Autoimmune encephalopathies. Ann N. Y. Acad Sci (2015) 1338:94–114. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12553
- Heine J, Prüss H, Bartsch T, Ploner CJ, Paul F, Finke C. Imaging of autoimmune encephalitis-Relevance for clinical practice and hippocampal function. *Neuroscience* (2015) 309:68-83. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience. 2015.05.037
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol* (2016) 15 (4):391–404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00401-9
- Endres D, Bechter K, Prüss H, Hasan A, Steiner J, Leypoldt F, et al. [Autoantibody-associated schizophreniform psychoses: clinical symptomatology]. Nervenarzt (2019) 90(5):547–63. doi: 10.1007/s00115-019-0700-z
- Tebartz van Elst L, Bechter K, Prüss H, Hasan A, Steiner J, Leypoldt F, et al. Autoantikörper-assoziierte schizophreniforme Psychosen: Pathophysiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie. *Nervenarzt* (2019) 90(7):745–61. doi: 10.1007/ s00115-019-0735-1
- Dalmau J, Geis C, Graus F. Autoantibodies to Synaptic Receptors and Neuronal Cell Surface Proteins in Autoimmune Diseases of the Central Nervous System. *Physiol Rev* (2017) 97(2):839–87. doi: 10.1152/ physrev.00010.2016
- Dalmau J, Graus F. Antibody-Mediated Encephalitis. N. Engl J Med (2018) 378(9):840–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1708712
- van Elst LT, Klöppel S, Rauer S. Voltage-gated potassium channel/LGI1 antibody-associated encephalopathy may cause brief psychotic disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2011) 72(5):722–3. doi: 10.4088/JCP.10106510
- Kayser MS, Titulaer MJ, Gresa-Arribas N, Dalmau J. Frequency and characteristics of isolated psychiatric episodes in anti–N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor encephalitis. *JAMA Neurol* (2013) 70(9):1133–9. doi: 10.1001/ jamaneurol.2013.3216
- Endres D, Perlov E, Stich O, Meyer PT, Lützen N, Tebartz van Elst L. Case report: low-titre anti-Yo reactivity in a female patient with psychotic syndrome and frontoparieto-cerebellar atrophy. *BMC Psychiatry* (2015) 15:112. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0486-x
- Endres D, Perlov E, Stich O, Rauer S, Maier S, Waldkircher Z, et al. Hypoglutamatergic state is associated with reduced cerebral glucose metabolism in anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: a case report. *BMC Psychiatry* (2015) 15:186. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0552-4
- Rogers JP, Pollak TA, Blackman G, David AS. Catatonia and the immune system: a review. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2019) 6(7):620–30. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30190-7
- Ellul P, Groc L, Tamouza R, Leboyer M. The Clinical Challenge of Autoimmune Psychosis: Learning from Anti-NMDA Receptor Autoantibodies. Front Psychiatry (2017) 8:54. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00054
- Najjar S, Steiner J, Najjar A, Bechter K. A clinical approach to new-onset psychosis. associated with immune dysregulation: the concept of autoimmune psychosis. J Neuroinflamm. (2018) 15(1):40. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1067-y
- Pollak TA, Lennox BR, Müller S, Benros ME, Prüss H, Tebartz van Elst L, et al. Autoimmune psychosis: an international consensus on an approach to the diagnos is and management of psychosis of suspected autoimmune origin. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2020) 7(1):93–108. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30290-1
- Kreye J, Wenke NK, Chayka M, Leubner J, Murugan R, Maier N, et al. Human cerebrospinal fluid monoclonal N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor autoantibodies are sufficient for encephalitis pathogenesis. *Brain* (2016) 139 (Pt 10):2641–52. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww208

Freiburg. PS was funded by the Deutsche Forschungsg emeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) - 2709492 63/GRK2162 and PS is supported by the Interdisciplinary Center for Clinical Research (IZKF) Erlangen, Clinician Scientist Program.

- Edwin Thanarajah S, Prüss H, Warnke C, Barbe MT, Schroeter M, Fink GR, et al. Atypical Autoimmune Encephalitis With Neuropil Antibodies Against a Yet Unknown Epitope. *Front Neurol* (2019) 10:175. doi: 10.3389/ fneur.2019.00175
- Minoshima S, Frey KA, Koeppe RA, Foster NL, Kuhl DE. A diagnostic approach in Alzheimer's disease using three-dimensional stereotactic surface projections of fluorine-18-FDG PET. J Nucl. Med (1995) 36(7):1238–48.
- Lewerenz J, Jarius S, Wildemann B, Wandinger KP, Leypoldt F. Autoantibody-associated autoimmune encephalitis and cerebellitis: Clinical presentation, diagnostic work-up and treatment. *Nervenarzt* (2016) 87 (12):1293–9. doi: 10.1007/s00115-016-0235-5
- Bechter K. Encephalitis, Mild Encephalitis, Neuroprogression, or Encephalopathy-Not Merely a Question of Terminology. *Front Psychiatry* (2019) 9:782. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00782
- Tebartz van Elst L, Krishnamoorthy ES, Schulze-Bonhage A, Altenmüller DM, Richter H, Ebert D, et al. Local area network inhibition: a model of a potentially important paraepileptic pathomechanism in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Epilep. Behav* (2011) 22(2):231–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.06.016
- Hughes HK, Mills Ko E, Rose D, Ashwood P. Immune Dysfunction and Autoimmunity as Pathological Mechanisms in Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Front Cell Neurosci* (2018) 12:405. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018.00405
- Connery K, Tippett M, Delhey LM, Rose S, Slattery JC, Kahler SG, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin for the treatment of autoimmune encephalopathy in children with autism. *Transl Psychiatry* (2018) 8(1):148. doi: 10.1038/s41398-018-0214-7
- Vitaliani R, Mason W, Ances B, Zwerdling T, Jiang Z, Dalmau J. Paraneoplastic encephalitis, psychiatric symptoms, and hypoventilation in ovarian teratoma. *Ann Neurol* (2005) 58(4):594–604. doi: 10.1002/ana.20614
- Kornau HC, Kreye J, Stumpf A, Fukata Y, Parthier D, Sammons RP, et al. Human Cerebrospinal Fluid Monoclonal LGI1 Autoantibodies Increase Neuronal Excitability. Ann Neurol (2020) 87(3):405–18. doi: 10.1002/ana.25666
- Ramberger M, Berretta A, Tan JMM, Sun B, Michael S, Yeo T, et al. Distinctive binding properties of human monoclonal LGI1 autoantibodies determine pathogenic mechanisms. *Brain* (2020) 143(6):1731–45. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awaa104

Conflict of Interest: SR: Receiving consulting and lecture fees, grant and research support from Bayer Vital, Biogen, Merck Serono, Novartis, Sanofi-Aventis, Genzyme, Roche and Teva. Furthermore, SR indicates that he is a founding executive board member of ravo Diagnostika GmbH Freiburg. NV: Advisory boards, lectures and travel grants from Roche. KD: Steering Committee Neurosciences, Janssen. PM: Advisory boards and lectures within the last three years: GE, Philips, OPASCA, Curium, Desitin and Medac. LT: Advisory boards, lectures, or travel grants within the last three years: Roche, Eli Lilly, Janssen-Cilag, Novartis, Shire, UCB, GSK, Servier, Janssen and Cyberonics.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Endres, Rauer, Pschibul, Süß, Venhoff, Runge, Feige, Denzel, Nickel, Schweizer, Maier, Egger, Domschke, Meyer, Prüss and Tebartz van Elst. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Emerging Developments in Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Microglia: Implications for Modelling Psychiatric Disorders With a Neurodevelopmental Origin

Bjørn Hanger¹, Amalie Couch¹, Lawrence Rajendran^{1,2}, Deepak P. Srivastava^{1,3} and Anthony C. Vernon^{1,3*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Müller, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

Reviewed by:

Massimo Tusconi, University of Cagliari, Italy Attila Szabo, University of Oslo, Norway

*Correspondence: Anthony C. Vernon anthony.vernon@kcl.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 December 2019 Accepted: 23 July 2020 Published: 11 August 2020

Citation:

Hanger B, Couch A, Rajendran L, Srivastava DP and Vernon AC (2020) Emerging Developments in Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Microglia: Implications for Modelling Psychiatric Disorders With a Neurodevelopmental Origin. Front. Psychiatry 11:789. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00789 ¹ Department of Basic and Clinical Neuroscience, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, Maurice Wohl Clinical Neuroscience Institute, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ² UK Dementia Research Institute, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ³ MRC Centre for Neurodevelopmental Disorders, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

Microglia, the resident tissue macrophages of the brain, are increasingly implicated in the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders with a neurodevelopmental origin, including schizophrenia. To date, however, our understanding of the potential role for these cells in schizophrenia has been informed by studies of aged post-mortem samples, low resolution in vivo neuroimaging and rodent models. Whilst these have provided important insights, including signs of the heterogeneous nature of microglia, we currently lack a validated human in vitro system to characterize microglia in the context of brain health and disease during neurodevelopment. Primarily, this reflects a lack of access to human primary tissue during developmental stages. In this review, we first describe microglia, including their ontogeny and heterogeneity and consider their role in brain development. We then provide an evaluation of the potential for differentiating microglia from human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) as a robust in vitro human model system to study these cells. We find the majority of protocols for hiPSC-derived microglia generate cells characteristically similar to foetal stage microglia when exposed to neuronal environment-like cues. This may represent a robust and relevant model for the study of cellular and molecular mechanisms in schizophrenia. Each protocol however, provides unique benefits as well as shortcomings, highlighting the need for contextdependent protocol choice and cross-lab collaboration and communication to identify the most robust and translatable microglia model.

Keywords: microglia, neuroinflammation, human induced pluripotent stem cells, neurodevelopmental disorders, schizophrenia, autism

MICROGLIA-A SHORT INTRODUCTION

Microglia are the primary immunocompetent cells of the central nervous system (CNS). In the adult brain they are thought to play key roles in shaping the local tissue response to injury, infection, damage, and in maintaining CNS homeostasis (1). Microglia also are also increasingly appreciated to play a key role in brain development (2). As a result, functional disruption of these cells has been linked to the pathogenesis of a variety of brain disorders (3). Following their description in the early 20th century by Del Río Hortega (4), microglia have conventionally been studied en bloc using low-resolution in vivo positron emission tomography (PET) and *post-mortem* tissue from human and rodent brains, but evidence of the heterogeneous nature of these cells is accumulating (5). Notably, until recently, in vitro studies of microglia have relied on immortalized cell lines derived from either mouse or human sources. These immortalized microglia cell lines such as, mouse BV2 or human SV40 cell lines, whilst useful for generating hypotheses for further study are no longer considered representative of primary microglia, since they do not express core microglial signature genes (6-8). The great majority of data and hence our understanding of microglia biology also comes from rodents and it is unclear how these data generalizes to humans (9). Collectively, these points suggest a need for a flexible and reliable human in vitro model system, with which to study microglia biology in the context of health and disease including neurodevelopmental stages. Access to human primary tissue, particularly foetal tissue, is however very limited. Furthermore, it is unclear to what extent microglia harvested from peri-lesional areas during surgical resections in the adult brain may reflect "normal" microglia. In this review, we address the potential of microglia derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) as a potential candidate model system to address this gap. In doing so we first describe microglia, including their ontogeny and heterogeneity and consider their role in brain development. We then provide an evaluation of published protocols for differentiating microglia from hiPSCs and their potential use as a robust in vitro human model system to study these cells and characterize them in the context of health and psychiatric disorders with a putative neurodevelopmental origin, including schizophrenia (SZ). The potential for hiPSC-derived microglia in modelling age-related neurodegeneration has been recently reviewed elsewhere (10).

MICROGLIA ONTOGENY

The origin of microglia spans two major theories, arguing whether the microglia precursors originate in the mesoderm or the neuroectoderm. The neuroectoderm theory places microglia in the same lineage as astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (11–14), while the mesoderm theory suggests a hematopoietic yolk sac (YS) origin (15–17). Critically, following lineage tracing studies it is becoming increasingly evident that under normal conditions the latter YS origin is the sole source of microglia during development (18). This also suggests that when compared to

non-CNS macrophages, microglia uniquely derive from tissueresident erythromyeloid-derived macrophage precursors, which infiltrate into the developing brain parenchyma through blood vessels between rodent embryonic day (E) 8.5–9.5 (18, 19). A key characteristic of this lineage is Myb (MYB Proto-Oncogene, Transcription Factor)-independence, a transcription factor which is required for non-YS macrophage and monocyte development, since expression of other key transcription factors, such as PU.1 and Irf8 respectively regulates microglial fate determination and influences microglial progenitor survival (15, 20). A schematic diagram of microglia maturation from the YS is shown in **Figure 1A**.

The appearance of macrophage precursors predates neurogenesis, making microglia one of the first residents of the brain (16). Ramified microglia-like cells are observed at postconception (pc) week 6 in the hindbrain, following the peak of YS haematopoiesis (22). Microglia in an amoeboid-like state are however, observed in the intermediate, telencephalic ventricular, and marginal zones at PC week 4.5. Functionally, these foetal stage microglia gain the ability to detect and react to local environmental changes in the mouse at E16.5 (approx. PC week 8 in humans) and are characterized by high expression of several genes termed the microglial "sensome" (23, 24). In humans, at PC week 9, amoeboid-like microglia are also observed in the spinal cord before their appearance with similar morphology in the mesencephalon around PC week 19, reaching peak density and displaying a ramified morphology, around the time oligodendrocyte and astrocyte precursors appear around PC week 20-22 (25-27). To summarize these data, Figure 1B highlights the appearance microglia in different CNS regions by PC week. Whilst data from human brain material exists, most accumulated data on microglial infiltration into the brain is predominantly inferred from rodent models. Species differences in microglia ontogeny are however reported to exist and further studies are required to substantiate if these exist and how important they may be (9).

HETEROGENEITY OF MICROGLIA

Following the degeneration of the yolk sac (PC week 9), microglia exploit their capacity for clonal expansion to increase and then maintain the brain population at a steady state during development. In this period, neurogenesis and neural migration also occurs, creating local cues that influence the form and function of microglia. Data from rodents suggest that in turn the microglia may well then actively play a role in shaping brain connectivity by several means, including modulation of axon growth cone guidance and synaptogenesis (28-30). This initial neuron-microglia contact may represent the beginning of a longlasting diversification of microglia into brain region-specific phenotypes. Consistent with this view, foetal murine microglia are highly heterogeneous as indexed by single cell RNA sequencing (31). Such diversity of microglia has been observed as early as mouse E18.5. This also corresponds to a period of male/female differentiation, with the acquisition of sexually



dimorphic transcriptomic signatures characterized by an increase of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) primarily on the X and Y chromosomes, which only becomes more different with age and could underpin reported sex differences in microglia form and function (24, 32). Although there is considerable similarity between human and murine microglia, it is notable that several genes that are not part of the mouse microglia signature are highly expressed in human microglia. These include, for example, genes associated with the cell cycle (TAL1), and proliferation (IFI16) (31, 33, 34). To further emphasise the potential relevance of species differences, in Table 1 we highlight a number of species differences in microglia that may be of relevance to psychiatric disorders. It is unknown however, to what extent these apparent species differences influence the cellular functions of human microglia cells during development, reinforcing the need for further studies in human model systems.

While microglia in the adult rodent brain are potentially much less diverse as compared to the developing brain, there is some evidence that apparent regional transcriptional heterogeneity is maintained, which may be further enhanced during ageing (41). For example, Grabert and colleagues (40) provide evidence for such heterogeneity in the adult mouse brain based on microarray gene expression mapping of microglia isolated from fore-, mid-, and hindbrain regions (41). Basal ganglia specific signatures from anatomical features to transcriptome differences dependent on local cues have also been shown in the mouse brain (28). These molecular observations are however consistent with earlier post-mortem work detailing regional diversity in microglia density and morphology in the rodent brain (46, 47). Translating these findings to humans, mass cytometry analysis of surface protein markers expressed on microglia suggests that subventricular zone microglia in the human brain represent a distinct population as compared to other brain regions, although phenotypic variability between donors was also reported (48). A deeper analysis of this dataset suggested additionally that the sub-ventricular zone (SVZ) and thalamus (THA) contain similar microglial phenotypes, not observed in the other brain regions examined (48). Moreover, the temporal and frontal lobes are enriched in yet other distinct microglia phenotypes (48). Finally, the microglia profile in the cerebellum (CER) also appeared to be quite distinct from the other brain regions examined (48). These data, particularly for the cerebellum are in good agreement with extant mouse transcriptional data, which also suggests a marked difference between cerebellar and forebrain microglia

Phenotype	Species differences of potential relevance to studying microglia involvement in human psychiatric disorders with a neurodevelopmental onset	References
Microglia turnover and maintenance	 Rates of turnover for rodent microglia vary from 0.05 to 0.7% depending on the method used Human microglia may be longer-lived with slower turnover relative to the lifespan of the host species although chimeric model data suggest fast turnover and proliferation of human microglia in the neonatal rodent brain 	Lawson et al. (35); Askew et al. (36) Reu et al. (37); Xu et al. (38)
Microglia gene expression signature (homeostatic state)	 High correlation in gene expression signature between microglia isolated from human <i>post-mortem</i> and surgically resected brain tissue (<i>r</i> = 0.94) Only >50% overlap to rodent microglia with species specific differences in gene expression (either unique in mouse or human) 	Galatro et al. (33); Gosselin et al. (39) Dubbelaar et al. (40)
Microglia diversity along spatial and developmental dimensions	 Single cell RNA sequencing confirm that rodent microglia show regional and time dependent heterogeneity, which is maximal during development Human microglia show similar heterogeneity but formal comparisons to mouse datasets are lacking, qualitatively a partial overlap is reported 	Grabert et al. (41); Hammond et al. (42) Masuda et al. (43)
Response to interferon-y / LPS stimulation <i>in vitro</i>	 Rodent microglia become rounded/amoeboid, retract processes, increasing TSPO and iNOS/ Arginase1 expression Human microglia in contrast extend processes, becoming bipolar, decrease TSPO expression and iNOS/Arginase1 is not induced 	Healy et al. (9); Nakamura et al. (44); Owen et al. (45)

TABLE 1 | Overview of species differences between human and mouse microglia of potential relevance to using human iPSC-derived microglia for studying neuropsychiatric disorders.

phenotypes (41). Building on these data, single-cell RNA sequencing work, combined with mass cytometry confirms distinct transcriptional profiles of microglia within human temporal lobe tissue biopsies from epilepsy and glioma patients (49). At the cellular level, hippocampal microglia density differences are reported in neurodegenerative disease samples (50). Transcriptional profiling studies have also further distinguished this heterogeneity between grey-white matter specific profiles (49, 51) and specific time-and region dependent subtypes (43). The generation of such regional microglia subtypes may be reliant on unique molecular programs induced by exposure to specific regional cues. For example, Kana et al. (52) demonstrate that cerebellar microglia identity appears to be driven by high local levels of Colony Stimulating Factor-1 protein (CSF-1), with only forebrain microglia remaining intact when CSF-1 was depleted genetically from nestin-positive cells (52). Consistent with the idea of diverse molecular machinery, homeostatic microglia density is retained in a space- and timedependent manner even after acute chemical ablation (53). Hence both intrinsic and local signals must contain information to repopulate to region-specific densities of microglia. The functional significance of this heterogeneity is currently unclear. On the other hand, such heterogeneity would be consistent with the evolutionary pressure for innate immune cells to be able to respond flexibly to different pathogens or tissue injuries. Regardless, it is evident that local cues play important roles in defining microglia phenotype at both the transcriptional and protein expression levels. At present, the extant human data on microglia heterogeneity is based on post-mortem samples collected from adult individuals, with little or no information available from foetal or embryonic brain tissue. Whilst mouse models attempting to characterize these early periods provide extremely useful data, the potential for species-related heterogeneity is still a challenge for the field. Accordingly, a human-relevant model system, where microglia subtypes in the context of the foetal, developing brain can robustly be characterized under basal and disease conditions remain a pressing need.

MICROGLIA "ACTIVATION" AND NEUROINFLAMMATION

Brain-resident microglia are part of the innate immune system, which provides the brain with a rapid, non-specific first line of defense against pathogens. This should be distinguished from the adaptive immune system, which primarily involves Tlymphocytes and is slower and antigen specific (54, 55). Microglia activation is thus classified as a shift away from homeostasis and activation of a defense response, which occurs downstream of different stress signals, collectively know as "pathogen-associated damage patterns" (PAMPs) and "damage associated patterns" (DAMPs) that are recognized via pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (54, 56). These PRRs expressed in microglia include Toll-like receptors (TLR), which sense components of bacterial (TLR4) or viral (TLR3, 7, 8) pathogens. Hence LPS (a TLR4 agonist) is commonly used as a tool to induce microglia activation in vitro (57), in vivo in experimental animals (58) and healthy humans (59). Such microglial activation is characterized by a shift in morphology, a shift to anaerobic metabolism, increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, increased synthesis and release of cytokines and chemokines, microglial clustering, and/or migration and phagocytosis. Based largely on in vitro studies, following activation, for example, by LPS, microglia have been categorized into either "protective" (termed M2) or "toxic" (termed M1) states (60). This classification however has recently been challenged, since in vivo studies clearly show that microglia in the rodent brain can express genes associated with both M1 and M2 states simultaneously (3). Furthermore, it is unlikely that similar transcriptional profiles will be adopted in heterogeneous microglia across different brain regions (49), or where the microglia may be hypersensitive to stimulation, described as "primed" microglia, for example, following early developmental insults such as childhood CNS or severe systemic infection, or as a function of ageing and age-related disorders (55, 61, 62). Nonetheless, pro-inflammatory stimulation may be

used to assess several aspects of microglia activation in the context of health and disease, including phagocytosis, cytokine expression, reactive oxygen species production, synaptic pruning, and neuronal survival, which may all be viably assayed in vitro, which can form the basis for in vivo validation (57, 63). Different pro-inflammatory stimulants may however yield both common and distinct phenotypes in vitro in such assays and thus choice of stimulation paradigm or testing of multiple stimulation contexts is essential to generate meaningful results (64). Recent studies using human microglia-like cells (MGLs) differentiated from hiPSCs demonstrate that these cells have a clear activation response following stimulation with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and interferon-y, but also that this may be influenced by disease-relevant mutations, for example in triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2 (TREM2) (57, 63). Notably however, this activation response differs across species (Table 1). These data suggest a view that studying the response of hiPSC-microglia derived from individuals with schizophrenia following stimulation with different PAMPs/ DAMPs may be useful. Specifically, this could help to assess if there is a general difference in microglial activation as a function of SZ diagnosis or whether this is only relevant for particular individuals, depending on their genetic and/or environmental risk exposures. Studies on the role of the inflammasome may be particularly relevant in this context. Inflammasomes are multiprotein complexes that form following stimulation of PRRs by PAMPs/DAMPs in microglia of which, the NLRP3 inflammasome is the best-described (65). Upon stimulation, the sensor molecule NLPR3 recruits pro-caspase-1 via the adaptor molecule apoptosis-associated speck-like protein (ACS), resulting in cleavage of the cytokine precursors pro-IL- 1β and pro-IL-18 into mature IL- 1β and IL-18 and their subsequent release from microglia (65). This is relevant in the context of this review, since there is evidence for the involvement of both IL-1 β and IL-18 in schizophrenia pathophysiology. For example, elevated serum and *post-mortem* brain IL-1 β levels have been reported in SZ and are associated with both symptom severity and disease progression (66, 67). Hypothetically at least, such phenomena could occur downstream of NLPR3 inflammasome activity in activated microglia (55). To date, we are not aware of any published studies on inflammasomes that have been carried out in MGLs derived from patients with SZ or other psychiatric disorders, using a protocol that recapitulates appropriate human microglia ontogeny. Given the predicted key roles of microglia in brain development (as described in the next section) and the links between SZ risk and early developmental insults such as maternal, childhood CNS, or severe systemic infection (55), this is a key gap in our knowledge that remains to be addressed.

ROLES OF MICROGLIA IN BRAIN DEVELOPMENT

In addition to carrying out fundamental immune and homeostatic responses, microglia play two major roles in brain

development; the phagocytosis of unwanted neurons and modulating synaptic connections. The latter occurs in the dual context of not only promoting synapse formation but also in synapse elimination, which may occur in a time and regionspecific manner (68). For example, through the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which is linked to their expression of DNAX-activation protein 12 (DAP12) and CD11b, microglia promote the engulfment of cerebellar Purkinje neurons and hippocampal neurons during development (69, 70). Moreover, CSF-1 deficiency and the subsequent alteration of cerebellar microglia are reported to be associated with reduced numbers of Purkinje cells, altered neuronal function, and defects in motor learning and social novelty interactions (52). Microglia regulation of neuronal progenitor pools is also retained from development to adulthood, with there being evidence of homeostatic phagocytosis in the subgranular zone neurogenic niche (71).

The functional role of microglia in regulating synaptic connections was first suggested by Blinzinger and Kreutzberg following in vitro experiments (72). Recent studies have now provided in vivo evidence of the contact between microglia and synaptic structures, describing both filopodia formation and elimination in an activity and complement dependent manner in the developing mouse cortex (73-75). The nature of these interactions appears to be both region- and time-dependent. For example, filopodia formation following microglia contact appears to occur at early periods of synaptogenesis in the developing somatosensory cortex at postnatal day 8-10, possibly driven by neuronal activity in this period (76). Microglia have also been posited to remodel or refine mature existing synapses through their elimination. Studies in the mouse brain provide evidence for the engulfment of synaptic material in an activity and complement dependent manner, which is exacerbated in mice with pathology associated with neurodegeneration, such as amyloid-ß plaque formation (74, 77). Moreover, loss of microglia-neuron cross talk via genetic deletion of the fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1) also negatively impacts on putative synaptic pruning by microglia leading to abnormal brain development and the emergence of impairments in brain connectivity and social behavior in the adult animal (73, 78). In contrast, synaptic plasticity in the visual cortex does not appear to be affected by CX3CR1 deletion (79, 80). Hence the regional specificity of putative microglia-mediated synapse elimination remains to be established. The precise nature of the interaction between microglia and neurons leading to remodelling of synapses is also suggested not to represent engulfment per se, but may be best described as "trogocytosis" (81, 82).

Translating these data to humans, induced microglia (iMG) generated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PMBCs) engulf synaptic material *in vitro*, which is enhanced in iMG from individuals with a diagnosis of SZ (7, 83). There are however no studies modelling human microglia-synapse interactions *in vitro* that incorporate microglia with the correct YS ontogeny, which will be helpful to confirm the aforementioned exciting findings from iMG. Moreover, the evidence for engulfment of synaptic material by microglia in both rodent and human models is principally based on imaging of fixed tissues, whereas imaging

dynamic microglia-synapse interactions would be desirable. Finally, the precise molecular mechanisms driving these microglia-neuron interactions remain to be characterized in detail. For example, if microglia do "prune" synaptic connections during development, what are the molecular signals that regulate this process? Whilst CX3CR1 and the complement system are clearly leading candidates based on schizophrenia genetics, much work remains to be done in this area. In particular, little has been done to assess the impact of environmental risk factors, linked to the innate immune system that are associated with increased risk for SZ and other psychiatric disorders. For instance, as alluded to in the previous section, early developmental insults following maternal or childhood brain and/or severe systemic infection are associated with increased risk for SZ in the affected offspring/ children (54, 55). In this context, data from a mouse model of maternal immune activation (MIA) provides evidence for increased spine density in the hippocampus of MIA-exposed male offspring early in development (post-natal day 15) and decreased expression of CX3CR1 (84). In contrast, a loss of postsynaptic proteins has been reported in the hippocampus of male MIA-exposed offspring in the pubescent period (post-natal day 35), which was maintained into adulthood (post-natal day 90) (85). Other groups have also reported elevated levels of complement factors involved in synaptic pruning, namely, C1q and C4 in rodent offspring exposed to MIA in utero (86, 87). The data on microglial activation in rodent models of MIA is however, by no means unequivocal, with evidence for both persistent microglial activation, or no overt microglial activation, as reviewed elsewhere (88). Collectively, these data suggest that part of the risk mechanism that links MIA to psychiatric disorders, including SZ, may involve abnormal neuron-microglia interactions and synaptic pruning, which may differ depending on the neurodevelopmental stage examined. A flexible, robust, in vitro model of human microglia-synapse interactions, particularly one amenable to high speed, multi-photon live imaging would be extremely useful to investigate this further alongside the effects of genetic risk factors for SZ on microglia-synapse interactions. Ideally, as already stated, such a model would benefit from microglia that show correct human ontogeny, as evidence for microglia generated from hiPSCs (57). Before considering this question in more detail however, it is important to first briefly reflect on the evidence base for microglial activation in SZ.

EVIDENCE FOR MICROGLIAL ACTIVATION IN PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS WITH A NEURODEVELOPMENTAL ORIGIN

SZ is a complex debilitating neurological disorder affecting approximately 1% of the population, presenting with positive and negative symptoms, cognitive dysfunctions, and reduced psychosocial function. The exact causes of SZ remain elusive, but it is highly heritable, albeit with a complex, polygenic architecture. Highly penetrant rare variants, particularly copy number variants (CNVs) do however exist that are associated with a significantly increased risk for SZ. For example, 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (DiGeorge Syndrome) is associated with a 20-fold increased risk for SZ in carriers (89). Peripheral neuroinflammation, characterized by raised circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines is a hallmark of several psychiatric disorders, including SZ, (90). In the CNS, there are also converging lines of evidence from genetics, neuroimaging, and post-mortem studies for microglial activation in these disorders, although this evidence is by no means unequivocal (91). It remains unclear however, to what extent microglial activation is causative for psychiatric symptoms, or simply a homeostatic defence response to the diseased brain state. In support of the latter view, isolation of microglia from post*mortem* brain tissue of individuals with bipolar disorder suggests these cells are not activated (92). Notably, such data for SZ brain tissue is currently lacking in the literature. On the other hand, consistent with the key roles that microglia are thought to play in shaping brain development, gain or loss of microglia function during critical periods of brain development could plausibly lead to abnormal neural circuit formation and the later emergence of psychopathology. In support of this view, there is strong genetic evidence for a link between increased numbers of complement C4A alleles and higher risk for SZ (93). Notably, C4A knockout leads to abnormal synaptic pruning in mice (93). Furthermore, while not establishing a causal relationship between SZ risk variants and synaptic pruning, Sellgren and colleagues reported that the C4 risk variant of SZ is associated with an increased capacity of blood-derived iMG to phagocytose synaptic material in vitro (83). It would however be desirable to confirm these exciting findings using human microglia that are generated with an authentic, yolk-sac ontogeny, as already alluded to in the preceding section. Such a model would also be useful to address a number of other gaps in our knowledge mentioned throughout this review. It is now possible to generate hiPSC-derived microglia and cortical neurons in a functional co-culture system, within which the microglia transcriptionally show resemblance to foetal microglia (57). Yet to date, there are no published reports describing a phenotype in hiPSC-derived microglia from individuals with psychiatric disorders, including SZ, with the primary focus having been to date on neurodegeneration (10). Importantly however, the work of Sellgren and colleagues clearly underscores the potential of novel human in vitro microglia model system in determining the effect of genetic risk factors for psychiatric disorders on microglia phenotypes, which may also be extended to environmental risk factors such as MIA including how this interacts with genetic risk. We therefore consider this potential in the next sections in more detail.

THE POTENTIAL AND LIMITATIONS OF hiPSC-DERIVED MICROGLIA MODELS FOR MODELLING PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS

As already stated, most research on microglia in the context of psychiatric disorders, such as SZ utilizes human *in vivo*

neuroimaging methods [e.g. radioligand targeting of Translocator Protein (TSPO) expressed by microglia detected by PET] or is heavily reliant on analysis of *post-mortem* tissue from human brain banks and rodent in vivo and in vitro models. Concerns have arisen however over the specificity of TSPO for imaging putative microgliosis in vivo, since this protein is also expressed in astrocytes and endothelial cells (94). Furthermore, the results of TSPO PET studies in SZ are by no means unequivocal. Moreover, it is impossible to link changes in TSPO radio-ligand binding in humans to microglial phenotypes in vivo, hence we lack a detailed understanding of how a change in TSPO binding as measured by PET relates to microglia functional state and whether this is beneficial or detrimental in SZ compared to healthy controls. Post-mortem data, whilst informative, is subject to numerous confounds including age-related changes in controls and prolonged exposure to psychotropic medications. For example, chronic antipsychotic drug exposure is reported to directly affect microglia morphology and density in the rat brain in a time and dose-dependent manner (95, 96). As yet however, we do not understand if this reflects beneficial or detrimental changes, or whether these findings translate to humans (97). Whilst rodent models offer much more experimental scope and flexibility, potential species-specific differences in microglia remains an important, yet weakly addressed issue (9) (see also Table 1). Hence, again, the case for a relevant human in vitro model to fill this gap is reinforced.

A clear candidate to fill this gap are hiPSC-derived microglia, which offer the potential for a patient-specific model system, with the capacity to study the effects of genetic mutations associated with SZ (and other psychiatric disorders). These cells also have clinical applications including gene therapy, drug testing, and autologous cell replacement therapy. Derivation of neuronal cells from hiPSC has already been demonstrated by many laboratories to successfully capture differences in genotype and phenotype in cells derived from individuals with psychiatric disorders, including SZ, that originate during neurodevelopment (98–102). Yet non-neuronal cells, including microglia remain understudied, despite the aforementioned evidence for their potential involvement in SZ (103).

To date, several protocols have been published in the literature describing the generation of hiPSC-derived microglia-like or macrophage-like cells from human tissues within the last 5 years (see **Table 2**). These protocols all share common advantages in providing high yields of cells and overall, the phenotype of the cells produced appears to be aligned with tissue resident macrophages and brain-localized microglia, albeit perhaps more closely aligned to foetal microglia, as evidenced by transcriptional profiling (57, 63, 106). The majority of published protocols supplement hiPSC with growth factors to specify mesodermal fate, leading to development of primitive haematopoietic progenitors, followed by maturation along the myeloid lineage using specific growth factor cocktails (see **Table 2**) (113). This has led to some contention in the field however, based on debate regarding what constitutes "authentic"

microglial ontogeny, as compared to that of peripheral macrophages. As already mentioned in this review, microglia ontogeny is thought to be *via* EMP that arise from the YS in a Myb-independent, but PU.1 and RUNX.1 dependent manner (see **Figure 1A**) (15, 18, 112, 114). Based on these data, recent studies have presented refined protocols that recapitulate a YS-microglia ontogeny, which may be suggested to reflect true microglia-like cells (10, 57, 63). Nonetheless, the debate continues as to which protocol may offer the most "optimal" solution as well as how we should accurately define what is a "true" microglial cell derived from hiPSC.

A second important question in the field, aside from debate around microglia ontogeny, is what phenotype should, microglia or microglia-like cells (MGLs) derived from hiPSC be considered "ideal"? As with ontogeny, considerable debate exists in the literature on this point. It may be considered that ultimately, the answer to this question depends on the nature of the scientific problem under investigation. For example, if one is studying the role of infiltrating macrophages upon injury, utilizing cells with brain-specific developmental ontogeny might not be necessary. Nonetheless, rational suggestions for what might constitute a "basic" work-up of hiPSC-derived MGLs in monoculture have recently been proposed (113). First, the protocol should ideally replicate an authentic, primitive YS ontogeny of human microglia, rather than following the haematopoietic lineage. Second, the cells generated should have a plausible microglia phenotype. That is to say, they should have a ramified morphology, express key surface markers (CD11b, CD45), proteins (Iba1, Tmem119, P2ry12, PU.1), and microglia signature genes (MERTK, PROS1, GPR34, TMEM119 and so on), as well as any disease relevant genes of interest (57). The cells should also perform key microglial functions (including phagocytosis and secretion of cytokines in response to immune stimulation) as well as respond to adenosine triphosphate (ATP) stimulation via P2Y purinoceptor 12 (P2RY12) to produce intracellular calcium transients (57, 63, 113). Third, the protocol should be reproducible and reliable, within and between laboratories. On this point, there has been a limited effort to compare MGLs generated in any given protocol, to those generated by another, for example at the level of transcriptional profiling by RNA sequencing (115). A systematic comparison of such data across all protocols however, to the best of our knowledge, has yet to be performed. Clear cross-lab collaboration, data sharing, protocol comparisons, and communication are thus required in order to identify the best methods and small molecules for the differentiation of microglia from hiPSCs (10).

So far however, this only considers simple 2D monocultures of MGLs. This does offer the advantage of studying microglia phenotypes without interference from other cell types, as exemplified by recent work in the context of neurodegenerative diseases (63, 115). It may equally be argued however, that important phenotypic information is also lost due to the absence of interactions with other cell types including neurons and astrocytes, which is also required for evaluation of synaptic pruning (116). This has led to the development of more complex

Article	Overview of protocol	Notable findings	Notable disadvantages
Almeida et al. (104)	Not described in publication	First to produce hiPSC- microglia	Transcriptomic profile not unlike immortalized microglia cell lines (BV- 2) Generated through neuronal rather
Muffat et al. (105)	Embryoid bodies were generated and resuspended in neuroglial differentiation media containing (supplement) with the addition of CSF-1/M-CSF and IL-34	First published study with similar characteristics of fetal primary human and mouse microglia.	than myeloid pathway. Appears to generate a mixed population of cells and is limited to monoculture experiments.
Abud et al. (106)	Microglia differentiation media utilizes neuronal base media DMEM/F-12 + +N2+B27 with small molecules M-CSF, IL-34, and TGF β -1. An additional maturation media is utilized consisting of CD200 and CX3CL1, which is notably secreted by neurons for the final three days.	Successful transplantation of already ramified microglia within Alzheimer's disease model mice. Subsequent in vivo evidence shows ability to interact with neurotoxic amyloid β	Requires an isolation step to begin differentiation part of haematopoiesis step, making it highly complex compared to pure single molecule methods. Not authentic YS ontogeny
McQuade et al. (107)	Proprietary composition of initial hematopoietic differentiation media (STEMdiff hematopoietic kit) for an 11-day period followed by differentiation with IL-34, TGF- β 1, and M-CSF/CSF-1. Includes the additional maturation step with CX3CL1 (fractalkine) and CD200 to induce ramification.	Successfully ramify following transplantation in mouse brain. Suggests IDE1 as a small molecule able to replace TGF-β in protocols utilizing this for differentiation.	Describes itself as resembling developmental microglia but does no separate cited fetal vs adult datasets Not authentic YS ontogeny
Takata et al. (108)	Generation of hematopoietic lineage macrophages terminally differentiated with SCF, IL-3 and CSF-1/M-CSF. Cells then co-cultured with mouse iPSC-derived neurons to further drive towards microglia phenotype	Described the requirement for tissue-dependent cues in order to make cells more microglia-like. Demonstrated potential of modelling infiltrating macrophages during adulthood.	Primary characterization with mouse iPSCs. Not authentic YS ontogeny
Pandya et al. (109)	iPSCs were differentiated on OP9 feeder layers with OP9 differentiation medium (ODM) to myeloid progenitors. CD34+/CD43+ cells were sorted with MACS into myeloid progenitor media with GM-CSF and subsequently passaged and plated in astrocyte differentiation medium (ADM-IMDM base medium + GM-CSF, M-CSF and IL-3) then CD11+ cells were further isolated. Additionally, some experiments used CD39+ microglia sorted from a specific co-culture system with astrocytes.	Utilizes hematopoietic stem cells paired with astrocytes to obtain iPSC-derived microglia. Mouse iPSC- derived cells consistent with primary neonatal microglia profile.	Gene expression data primarily from mouse iPSC-derived microglia. The human microglia model requires an isolation step. Majority of characterization done in mouse model and the system does not utilize neuronal cells. Not authentic YS ontogeny
Ormel et al. (110)	This protocol was adapted from Lancaster and Knoblich (111), with the only change made in media composition being increasing the concentration of Heparin (0.1 ug/ml to 1 ug/ml)	Characterizes innate development of microglia in hiPSC-derived brain organoids, which exhibit some phagocytic function as synaptic material is present within the cells.	Replication of these findings is currently lacking in the literature regarding the spontaneous differentiation of microglia in the organoid.
Haenseler et al. (10)	Utilizes IL-3 and M-CSF to drive myelopoiesis yielding a pure macrophage precursor population. Microglia differentiation and ramification of these cells is successfully induced using a neuronal base media (DMEM/F-12+N2 as a base media) + small molecules IL-34 and GM-CSF compared to X-VIVO which is used in the cultivation of monocytes and macrophages. The protocol utilizes X-VIVO and M-CSF for the maturation to macrophages as comparison.	Once set up, fully matured microglia can be generated at 2-week intervals for a 5- month period. Functional validation completed in a co-culture system. Only protocol to demonstrate a myeloblastosias proto- oncogene transcription factor (MYB)-independent YS origin using a MYB knockout iPSC line in previous work (112),	Requires a very sensitive 6–7-week period before microglia precursors can be collected. No assays showing functional integration into an animal model.

TABLE 2 | Overview of published hiPSC-derived microglia models. While all these protocols can be concluded to produce microglia-like phenotypes, co-culture models that provide cues associated with a CNS environment are the most promising.

The precise protocol used however is likely to be dependent on the experimental question under investigation. YS, Yolk Sac. Additional references not in main text (104).
culture conditions, involving co-culture with hiPSC-derived neurons as 2D or 3D organoids (110). Of these, the 2D coculture system carries some immediate advantages. It is simpler to implement and less heterogeneous than organoid models, particularly if the user combines MGLs with a homogenous population of forebrain excitatory neurons, for example generated through over-expression of Neurogenin-2 (Ngn2) (117). Furthermore, recent data from independent laboratories suggests that co-culture with neurons is necessary to produce microglia that are closer to a homeostatic, brain-resident phenotype (57, 105, 106, 108, 109). It would however be interesting to examine how embryonic macrophage progenitors, generated using the protocol of Haenseler and colleagues (57) migrate into brain organoids using "seeding" experiments (57). Nonetheless, the 2D neuron-microglia coculture model also provides the useful opportunity to conduct match/mismatch experiments, whereby, the effect of patientderived microglia on healthy control neurons may be assessed and vice versa for specific phenotypes. Sellgren and colleagues have previously successfully employed this type of experimental design for example, to demonstrate that factors intrinsic to PBMC derived iMG influence synaptic pruning independently of neurons (83). The 2D co-cultures are also amenable to high speed, multi-photon live imaging, essential for capturing, live, intricate interactions between microglia and neurons. For example, using gene-edited reporter lines from both healthy and SZ donors it would be interesting to examine any phenotypic differences in both synaptic density and connectivity within cultures, perhaps also using mix and mis-match experiments. Taking a different tack, if we accept that microglial heterogeneity is present in the human brain and that it is functionally important, it is reasonable to suggest that hiPSC microglia-neuron co-cultures could be used to investigate how this may arise, but also if this could be relevant in disease contexts. For example, one could imagine experiments to test whether co-culturing microglia with different hiPSC-derived neuronal cultures, such as cortical or ventral midbrain from the same donor, might influence human microglia form and function in a dish. This would offer the means to assess potential local cues and signalling mechanisms by which different neuronal populations might influence microglia function and vice versa, for example through conditioned media experiments. Such studies would also shed light on whether hiPSC in vitro models can recapitulate the diversity observed in vivo in human and rodent microglia, opening up further avenues for study, particularly in the context of brain disorders and at the same time, validating the model system further in comparison to human primary microglia.

Another key characteristic of an "ideal" hiPSC-microglia model is that it should be genetically modifiable. Advances in genome editing have rendered it potentially straightforward to assay genotype differences due to single gene mutations of disease relevant genes, with appropriate isogenic control lines as reported recently for Alzheimer's disease (AD) relevant genetic variants using MGL monocultures (63, 115). This has, to the best of our knowledge yet to be extended to neuronmicroglia co-culture models. In the context of modelling SZ and other neurodevelopmental disorders there are however some important considerations around the selection of the disease relevant mutation to investigate, to which we shall return later. For now however, there are some immediate genetic risk candidates that could be investigated. For example, the fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1), is of immediate interest based on *in vivo* findings previously mentioned in this review relating to synaptic pruning (78). Furthermore, rare single nucleotide polymorphisms in CX3CR1 are also associated with increased risk for SZ in humans (118). Importantly, the possibility that disruptions in microglia-mediated synaptic pruning via CX3CR1 could contribute to neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric disorders has vet to be tested in a human model system. Studies of microglia-neuron interactions using hiPSC models comparing individuals with genomic variation in Complement C4a would also likely be very informative based on existing genetic risk data for SZ and findings from iMG models (7, 83, 93). Here, mix/mismatch experiments could be highly applicable, for example, one could pair microglia with C4a or CX3CR1 risk variants with control neurons, or vice versa and study the effects on both synaptic density and neural connectivity (98). Studying the effect of rare CNVs that convey high risk for SZ may also be informative, for example in 22q11.2 deletion carriers.

As already alluded to, a key question in the context of modelling SZ is the choice of gene to study, since this is a highly polygenic disorder, with many common variants of small effect. Put another way, the mechanisms by which common risk variants of small effect interact to contribute to SZ pathophysiology is unclear. Schrode and colleagues (119) offer one solution to this problem, which is to use isogenic human hiPSC lines differentiated to neurons, to study the impact of SZassociated common variants that are predicted to function as SZ expression quantitative trait loci (eQTLs) (119). Could a similar strategy however, be applied to microglia? Here one needs to consider data suggesting that the expression of common risk variants for SZ consistently maps onto pyramidal cells, medium spiny neurons, and specific interneurons, but not consistently to embryonic, progenitor, or glial cells, including microglia (120). These findings are in stark contrast to common risk variants for AD, which are enriched in microglia, among other cell types (119). This is consistent with the majority of hiPSC studies in SZ focussing to date on neuronal cells (98, 103, 119). However, this perhaps downplays the importance of studying non-neuronal cells using such models (103). For instance, it is conceivable that a gene could play a role in the pathophysiology of SZ, yet not be expressed in one of the "key" cell types implicated (120). Genetic polymorphisms in Complement C4a are a clear case in point, since there is clear evidence that C4a variants are involved in SZ neurobiology, yet the expression of C4a is high in microglia, but also in astrocytes and vascular leptomeningeal cells (93, 120). It may therefore be premature to exclude microglia (and other nonneuronal cells) from studies of how genetic risk variants for SZ affect their form and function. From a different perspective, one could argue that it would be relevant to examine how the neuronal phenotype induced by SZ-associated common

variants may influence microglia phenotype, again using mixmatch experiments. Such studies could be helpful to investigate if microglial pathology in SZ is a primary, causative, or secondary, responsive event (91). Another possible approach to circumvent this issue would be to generate hiPSC from individuals with either high or low polygenic risk score (PRS) for SZ and study how this influences microglia and/or microglia-neuron interactions in co-culture.

One other point worth noting here again is that SZ (and other neurodevelopmental psychiatric disorders) are thought to arise from a complex interaction between genetic and environmental risk factors. Hence, for hiPSC microglia models to truly reflect this model, studies of how environmental risk factors influence microglia form and function, but also neuron-microglia interactions are also essential. One such environmental risk factor that may be immediately amenable to such studies is MIA a known epidemiological risk factor for psychiatric disorders, including SZ, which we have already discussed in this review (121). As aforementioned, the hiPSC in vitro environment is easily manipulated. As such, the effect of pro-and anti-inflammatory cytokines elevated in response to MIA in vivo, or infectious pathogens that may cross the maternal-foetal interface, can easily be characterized to determine their influence on microglia activation states and/or neuron-microglia interactions. Precedent for such experiments comes from recent work examining how Zika virus for example, influences neuronal and glial phenotypes using a tri-culture hiPSC model system (116). Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) activation or application of single cytokines such as IL-6 could for example be used to phenocopy (to some extent) MIA in vitro using a human model system. This could then be compared to data from rodent models, for example the effect on microglia transcriptional profile and chromatin state, which is known to be abnormal early in development following MIA (122, 123). Such studies could be extended to examine how the inflammatory exposure might interact with specific genetic risk backgrounds, although this likely would be a complex undertaking.

A final advantage of neuron-microglia stem cell model systems is that drug screening may also easily be performed in combination with high content imaging or other highthroughput assays. As an indicative example, Sellgren et al. (83) demonstrated a reduced engulfment of synaptic material by iMG following treatment with the broad-spectrum antiinflammatory agent minocycline (83).

A further key limitation however, aside from the key questions regarding microglia ontogeny and phenotype generated between different hiPSC-microglia protocols, is that human primary microglia display major differences in morphology and gene expression when grown in culture, including down-regulation of signature microglial genes (39). Hence, a case may be made that *in vitro* microglia derived from hiPSC may not accurately represent resting human primary microglia. This only serves to confirm the importance of the context in which the hiPSC microglia are maintained, for example, with or without neurons in co-culture and so on (113). In support of this view, transcriptomic studies provide evidence to suggest that hiPSC-derived microglia when cocultured with neurons align with foetal human primary microglia and do express key microglia signature genes, even in monocultures (57, 63, 105–109, 115). On the other hand, Abud and colleagues (106) compared their hiPSC microglia to both foetal and adult human primary microglia using transcriptional profiling revealing more than 2,000 genes with increased expression in hiPSC microglia as compared to foetal microglia and >1,000 genes as compared to adult microglia (106, 113). Hence, clearly further work is required to determine how comparable hiPSC-derived microglia cells are with either early or late primary human microglia.

One possibility to circumvent this issue is the potential for transplanting hiPSC-derived microglial precursors into adult rodent brains to create chimeric model systems (124, 125). Excitingly, this has also been recently demonstrated using neonatal mice, as young as postnatal day 0 (38, 126). Importantly, in both adult and neonatal rodent brains, the hiPSC-derived microglial precursors integrated successfully and acquired characteristic microglial morphologies and gene expression signatures, closely resembling that of human primary microglia (38, 124-126). Single cell RNA sequencing analysis confirmed the presence of cellular transcriptional heterogeneity in the implanted hiPSC-microglia (38, 126), consistent with observations in human primary microglia (49). These chimeric models provide powerful new tools for interrogating speciesspecific differences between human and rodent microglia at molecular, functional, and behavioral levels (see Table 1). Moreover, since transplantation into the neonatal brain is feasible, studies of the processes in which microglia are intimately involved during neuronal development, such as neurogenesis, synaptogenesis, and synaptic pruning is rendered possible for the first time using human microglia in host brain environment (38). Such models will therefore be useful to investigate how human and mouse microglia function differently in shaping neuronal development using combination of "omics" tools and in vivo 2photon imaging (38). Moreover, the chimeric model approach enables in vivo studies of how microglia derived from individuals with different psychiatric diagnosis differ from those of otherwise healthy donors. For example, it would be fascinating to study how microglia derived from individuals with SZ with high or low polygenic risk profiles, shape neurodevelopment in vivo (124, 127). This should include, for example, in vivo imaging studies of microglia-synapse interactions to complement the observations made in vitro by Sellgren and colleagues (7, 83). As already mentioned, the transplantation procedure means that the microglia express a transcriptomic signature that is much closer to in vivo human microglia, as compared to culture models, even co-culture or organoid-models, although how much this influenced by the age of the host remains to be characterized in depth (38, 124, 127). Collectively then, experiments done using patient derived microglia and neurons in vitro may be complemented by parallel in vivo studies using chimeric models, which will likely improve the chances of results from such studies translating into effective human treatments (126). There remain however important limitations to this technique that still need to be overcome. For example, whilst microglia can be generated from a variety of patient

hiPSC lines in a straightforward manner (57), mice expressing humanized forms of key microglia survival factors such as IL-34 and CSF-1 must be used in order for the xenograft transplantation of hiPSC-derived microglia to be successful (124, 127). Other limitations that remain to be addressed include concerns related to the effect of the murine host cells on the functionality of the xenotransplanted human microglia. For example, there is only limited homology between several mouse and human proteins and the downstream effects such differences may have on cell-to-cell interactions and microglia activation/inhibition is unknown (127). The response of the host microglia is also a potential confounding factor (127) and reliable results may depend on depletion of these cells using chemical ablation (128) or mice that lack endogenous microglia (129). Finally, whilst such chimeric models could be used to study the influence environmental risk factors for SZ using human xenografted microglia, including MIA, it should be remembered that the host mice are immune-deficient, which may be a confounding factor in the response to a systemic immune stimulus (127). Nonetheless, the potential for chimeric models to facilitate our understanding of neuron-microglia interactions in relation to SZ and other neurodevelopmental disorders is clear.

CONCLUSIONS

At present, we are in the early stages of understanding of microglia in both health and disease including potential functional consequences of microglia heterogeneity. The use of several models is essential to replicate and translate findings to humans from rodent models. The hiPSC system offers a humanspecific model with the potential to study a diverse population of microglia either as monocultures or in co-culture with defined neuronal (and other non-neuronal) cells. Whilst there are many advantages to this system that could be applied to studying the role of microglia in psychiatric disorders with a neurodevelopmental origin, there are also key challenges for the field to overcome. Specifically, questions and debate remain over

REFERENCES

- Nimmerjahn A, Kirchhoff F, Helmchen F. Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science* (2005) 308:1314–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1110647
- Benarroch EE. Microglia: Multiple roles in surveillance, circuit shaping, and response to injury. *Neurology* (2013) 81:1079–88. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3182a4a577
- Salter MW, Stevens B. Microglia emerge as central players in brain disease. Nat Med (2017) 23:1018–27. doi: 10.1038/nm.4397
- 4. Del Rio-Hortega P. El "tercer elemento" de los centros nerviosus. I. La microglia en estado normal. II. Intervencion de la microglia en los procesos patologicos (Celulas en bastoncito y cuerpos granuloadiposos). III. Naturaleza probable de la microglia. *Bol. Soc. Espan Biol.* (1919) 68–120.
- Stratoulias V, Venero JL, Tremblay ME, Joseph B. Microglial subtypes: diversity within the microglial community. *EMBO J* (2019) 38:e101997. doi: 10.15252/embj.2019101997
- Butovsky O, Siddiqui S, Gabriely G, Lanser AJ, Dake B, Murugaiyan G, et al. Modulating inflammatory monocytes with a unique microRNA gene

the precise differentiation protocol to use, particularly with regard to the question of what constitutes "authentic" microglia ontogeny. Furthermore, how the field should define what constitutes an "ideal" microglial phenotype is also far from clear. Concerns regarding the similarity between hiPSC microglia and human primary microglia are also on going, although chimeric models offer one exciting new direction to address this question. In addition, progress is being made on several fronts to address the other concerns, including rational suggestions for phenotypic workup of hiPSC-derived microglia (113). Data sharing between laboratories is also critical to address potential questions around reliability and reproducibility. Nevertheless, we judge that there is sufficient evidence to suggest that hiPSC-derived microglia-neuron co-culture models have great potential as a human in vitro model system with which to test key hypotheses related to neuro-immune interactions and the pathogenesis of psychiatric disorders with a neurodevelopmental origin, including SZ.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BH: conception and design, literature searching, manuscript writing. AC: manuscript writing and generation of **Figure 1**. LR: manuscript writing and editing. DS: manuscript writing, editing, and financial support. AV: conception and design, manuscript writing, financial support, final approval of manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

AV acknowledges funding support from a Medical Research Council New Investigator Award (MR/N025377/1). AV and DS both acknowledge funding support from the National Centre for the Replacement, Refinement and Reduction of Animals in Research (NC/S001506/1) and a Medical Research Council Centre grant (MR/N026063/1).

signature ameliorates murine ALS. J Clin Invest (2012) 122:3063-87. doi: 10.1172/JCI62636

- Sellgren CM, Sheridan SD, Gracias J, Xuan D, Fu T, Perlis RH. Patient-specific models of microglia-mediated engulfment of synapses and neural progenitors. *Mol Psychiatry* (2017) 22:170–7. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.220
- Butovsky O, Jedrychowski MP, Moore CS, Cialic R, Lanser AJ, Gabriely G, et al. Identification of a unique TGF-beta-dependent molecular and functional signature in microglia. *Nat Neurosci* (2014) 17:131–43. doi: 10.1038/nn.3599
- Healy LM, Yaqubi M, Ludwin S, Antel JP. Species differences in immunemediated CNS tissue injury and repair: A (neuro)inflammatory topic. *Glia* (2019). 68(4):811–29. doi: 10.1002/glia.23746
- Haenseler W, Rajendran L. Concise Review: Modeling Neurodegenerative Diseases with Human Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Microglia. *Stem Cells* (2019) 37:724–30. doi: 10.1002/stem.2995
- 11. de Groot CJ, Huppes W, Sminia T, Kraal G, Dijkstra CD. Determination of the origin and nature of brain macrophages and microglial cells in mouse central nervous system, using non-radioactive in situ hybridization and immunoperoxidase techniques. *Glia* (1992) 6:301–9. doi: 10.1002/glia.440060408

- Fujita S, Kitamura T. Origin of brain macrophages and the nature of the socalled microglia. Acta Neuropathol Suppl Suppl (1975) 6:291–6. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-662-08456-4_51
- Hao C, Richardson A, Fedoroff S. Macrophage-like cells originate from neuroepithelium in culture: characterization and properties of the macrophage-like cells. *Int J Dev Neurosci* (1991) 9:1–14. doi: 10.1016/ 0736-5748(91)90067-V
- Rezaie P, Male D. Colonisation of the developing human brain and spinal cord by microglia: a review. *Microsc Res Tech* (1999) 45:359–82. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0029(19990615)45:6<359::AID-JEMT4>3.0.CO;2-D
- Kierdorf K, Erny D, Goldmann T, Sander V, Schulz C, Perdiguero EG, et al. Microglia emerge from erythromyeloid precursors via Pu.1- and Irf8dependent pathways. *Nat Neurosci* (2013) 16:273–80. doi: 10.1038/ nn.3318
- Menassa DA, Gomez-Nicola D. Microglial Dynamics During Human Brain Development. Front Immunol (2018) 9(1014):1–11. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.01014
- Swinnen N, Smolders S, Avila A, Notelaers K, Paesen R, Ameloot M, et al. Complex invasion pattern of the cerebral cortex bymicroglial cells during development of the mouse embryo. *Glia* (2013) 61:150–63. doi: 10.1002/ glia.22421
- Ginhoux F, Greter M, Leboeuf M, Nandi S, See P, Gokhan S, et al. Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. *Science* (2010) 330:841–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1194637
- Li QY, Barres BA. Microglia and macrophages in brain homeostasis and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2018) 18:225–42. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.125
- Schulz C, Gomez Perdiguero E, Chorro L, Szabo-Rogers H, Cagnard N, Kierdorf K, et al. A lineage of myeloid cells independent of Myb and hematopoietic stem cells. *Science* (2012) 336:86–90. doi: 10.1126/ science.1219179
- Han J, Harris RA, Zhang X. An updated assessment of microglia depletion: current concepts and future directions. *Mol Brain* (2017) 10, 25. doi: 10.1186/s13041-017-0307-x
- Migliaccio G, Migliaccio AR, Petti S, Mavilio F, Russo G, Lazzaro D, et al. Human-Embryonic Hematopoiesis - Kinetics of Progenitors and Precursors Underlying the Yolk Sac-.Liver Transition. J Clin Invest (1986) 78:51–60. doi: 10.1172/JCI112572
- Hickman SE, Kingery ND, Ohsumi TK, Borowsky ML, Wang LC, Means TK, et al. The microglial sensome revealed by direct RNA sequencing. *Nat Neurosci* (2013) 16:1896–905. doi: 10.1038/nn.3554
- Thion MS, Low D, Silvin A, Chen J, Grisel P, Schulte-Schrepping J, et al. Microbiome Influences Prenatal and Adult Microglia in a Sex-Specific Manner. *Cell* (2018) 172:500–516 e16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.042
- 25. Cho KH, Cheong JS, Kim JH, Abe H, Murakami G, Cho BH. Site-specific distribution of CD68-positive microglial cells in the brains of human midterm fetuses: a topographical relationship with growing axons. *BioMed Res Int* (2013) 2013:762303. doi: 10.1155/2013/762303
- Choi BH, Lapham LW. Radial glia in the human fetal cerebrum: a combined Golgi, immunofluorescent and electron microscopic study. *Brain Res* (1978) 148:295–311. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(78)90721-7
- Jakovcevski I, Filipovic R, Mo ZC, Rakic S, Zecevic N. Oligodendrocyte development and the onset of myelination in the human fetal brain. *Front Neuroanat* (2009) 3(5):1–15. doi: 10.3389/neuro.05.005.2009
- De Biase LM, Schuebel KE, Fusfeld ZH, Jair K, Hawes IA, Cimbro R, et al. Local Cues Establish and Maintain Region-Specific Phenotypes of Basal Ganglia Microglia. *Neuron* (2017) 95:341–356 e6. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2017.06.020
- Squarzoni P, Oller G, Hoeffel G, Pont-Lezica L, Rostaing P, Low D, et al. Microglia modulate wiring of the embryonic forebrain. *Cell Rep* (2014) 8:1271–9. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.07.042
- Wu Y, Dissing-Olesen L, MacVicar BA, Stevens B. Microglia: Dynamic Mediators of Synapse Development and Plasticity. *Trends Immunol* (2015) 36:605–13. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.08.008
- 31. Li Q, Cheng Z, Zhou L, Darmanis S, Neff NF, Okamoto J, et al. Developmental Heterogeneity of Microglia and Brain Myeloid Cells Revealed by Deep Single-Cell RNA Sequencing. *Neuron* (2019) 101:207– 223 e10. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.12.006

- Nelson LH, Lenz KM. Microglia depletion in early life programs persistent changes in social, mood-related, and locomotor behavior in male and female rats. *Behav Brain Res* (2017) 316:279–93. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2016.09.006
- Galatro TF, Holtman IR, Lerario AM, Vainchtein ID, Brouwer N, Sola PR, et al. Transcriptomic analysis of purified human cortical microglia reveals age-associated changes. *Nat Neurosci* (2017) 20:1162–71. doi: 10.1038/ nn.4597
- 34. Olah M, Patrick E, Villani AC, Xu J, White CC, Ryan KJ, et al. A transcriptomic atlas of aged human microglia. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9:539. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-02926-5
- Lawson LJ, Perry VH, Gordon S. Turnover of resident microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. *Neuroscience* (1992) 48:405–15. doi: 10.1016/ 0306-4522(92)90500-2
- 36. Askew K, Li K, Olmos-Alonso A, Garcia-Moreno F, Liang Y, Richardson P, et al. Coupled Proliferation and Apoptosis Maintain the Rapid Turnover of Microglia in the Adult Brain. *Cell Rep* (2017) 18:391–405. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2016.12.041
- Reu P, Khosravi A, Bernard S, Mold JE, Salehpour M, Alkass K, et al. The Lifespan and Turnover of Microglia in the Human Brain. *Cell Rep* (2017) 20:779–84. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.07.004
- Xu R, Li X, Boreland AJ, Posyton A, Kwan K, Hart RP, et al. Human iPSCderived mature microglia retain their identity and functionally integrate in the chimeric mouse brain. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:1577. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-020-15411-9
- Gosselin D, Skola D, Coufal NG, Holtman IR, Schlachetzki JCM, Sajti E, et al. An environment-dependent transcriptional network specifies human microglia identity. *Science* (2017) 356:1–11. doi: 10.1126/science.aal3222
- Dubbelaar ML, Kracht L, Eggen BJL, Boddeke E. The Kaleidoscope of Microglial Phenotypes. Front Immunol (2018) 9:1753. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.01753
- Grabert K, Michoel T, Karavolos MH, Clohisey S, Baillie JK, Stevens MP, et al. Microglial brain region-dependent diversity and selective regional sensitivities to aging. *Nat Neurosci* (2016) 19:504–16. doi: 10.1038/ nn.4222
- 42. Hammond TR, Dufort C, Dissing-Olesen L, Giera S, Young A, Wysoker A, et al. Single-Cell RNA Sequencing of Microglia throughout the Mouse Lifespan and in the Injured Brain Reveals Complex Cell-State Changes. *Immunity* (2019) 50:253–271 e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.11.004
- Masuda T, Sankowski R, Staszewski O, Bottcher C, Amann L, Sagar, et al. Spatial and temporal heterogeneity of mouse and human microglia at singlecell resolution (vol 566, pg 388, 2019). *Nature* (2019) 568:E4–4. doi: 10.1038/ s41586-019-1045-2
- 44. Nakamura Y, Si QS, Kataoka K. Lipopolysaccharide-induced microglial activation in culture: temporal profiles of morphological change and release of cytokines and nitric oxide. *Neurosci Res* (1999) 35:95–100. doi: 10.1016/S0168-0102(99)00071-1
- 45. Owen DR, Narayan N, Wells L, Healy L, Smyth E, Rabiner EA, et al. Proinflammatory activation of primary microglia and macrophages increases 18 kDa translocator protein expression in rodents but not humans. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* (2017) 37:2679–90. doi: 10.1177/0271678X17710182
- de Haas AH, Boddeke HW, Biber K. Region-specific expression of immunoregulatory proteins on microglia in the healthy CNS. *Glia* (2008) 56 :888–94. doi: 10.1002/glia.20663
- Lawson LJ, Perry VH, Dri P, Gordon S. Heterogeneity in the Distribution and Morphology of Microglia in the Normal Adult-Mouse Brain. *Neuroscience* (1990) 39:151–70. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(90)90229-W
- Bottcher C, Schlickeiser S, Sneeboer MAM, Kunkel D, Knop A, Paza E, et al. Human microglia regional heterogeneity and phenotypes determined by multiplexed single-cell mass cytometry. *Nat Neurosci* (2019) 22:78–90. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0290-2
- Sankowski R, Bottcher C, Masuda T, Geirsdottir L, Sagar, Sindram E, et al. Mapping microglia states in the human brain through the integration of high-dimensional techniques. *Nat Neurosci* (2019) 22:2098–110. doi: 10.1038/s41593-019-0532-y
- 50. Bachstetter AD, Van Eldik LJ, Schmitt FA, Neltner JH, Ighodaro ET, Webster SJ, et al. Disease-related microglia heterogeneity in the hippocampus of Alzheimer's disease, dementia with Lewy bodies, and

hippocampal sclerosis of aging. Acta Neuropathol Commun (2015) 3:32. doi: 10.1186/s40478-015-0209-z

- van der Poel M, Ulas T, Mizee MR, Hsiao CC, Miedema SSM, Adelia KG, et al. Transcriptional profiling of human microglia reveals grey-white matter heterogeneity and multiple sclerosis-associated changes. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:1139. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08976-7
- Kana V, Desland FA, Casanova-Acebes M, Ayata P, Badimon A, Nabel E, et al. CSF-1 controls cerebellar microglia and is required for motor function and social interaction. *J Exp Med* (2019) 216:2265–81. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20182037
- 53. Zhan L, Krabbe G, Du F, Jones I, Reichert MC, Telpoukhovskaia M, et al. Proximal recolonization by self-renewing microglia re-establishes microglial homeostasis in the adult mouse brain. *PloS Biol* (2019) 17:e3000134. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000134
- Pape K, Tamouza R, Leboyer M, Zipp F. Immunoneuropsychiatry novel perspectives on brain disorders. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2019) 15:317–28. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0174-4
- 55. Khandaker GM, Cousins L, Deakin J, Lennox BR, Yolken R, Jones PB. Inflammation and immunity in schizophrenia: implications for pathophysiology and treatment. *Lancet Psychiat* (2015) 2:258–70. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(14)00122-9
- Deczkowska A, Keren-Shaul H, Weiner A, Colonna M, Schwartz M, Amit I. Disease-Associated Microglia: A Universal Immune Sensor of Neurodegeneration. *Cell* (2018) 173:1073–81. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.003
- Haenseler W, Sansom SN, Buchrieser J, Newey SE, Moore CS, Nicholls FJ, et al. A Highly Efficient Human Pluripotent Stem Cell Microglia Model Displays a Neuronal-Co-culture-Specific Expression Profile and Inflammatory Response. *Stem Cell Rep* (2017) 8:1727–42. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.05.017
- Hoogland IC, Houbolt C, van Westerloo DJ, van Gool WA, van de Beek D. Systemic inflammation and microglial activation: systematic review of animal experiments. J Neuroinflam (2015) 12:114. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0332-6
- Sandiego CM, Gallezot JD, Pittman B, Nabulsi N, Lim K, Lin SF, et al. Imaging robust microglial activation after lipopolysaccharide administration in humans with PET. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2015) 112:12468–73. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1511003112
- Ransohoff RM. A polarizing question: do M1 and M2 microglia exist? Nat Neurosci (2016) 19:987–91. doi: 10.1038/nn.4338
- Chiu IM, Morimoto ET, Goodarzi H, Liao JT, O'Keeffe S, Phatnani HP, et al. A neurodegeneration-specific gene-expression signature of acutely isolated microglia from an amyotrophic lateral sclerosis mouse model. *Cell Rep* (2013) 4:385–401. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.06.018
- 62. Holtman IR, Raj DD, Miller JA, Schaafsma W, Yin Z, Brouwer N, et al. Induction of a common microglia gene expression signature by aging and neurodegenerative conditions: a co-expression meta-analysis. Acta Neuropathol Commun (2015) 3:31. doi: 10.1186/s40478-015-0203-5
- 63. Garcia-Reitboeck P, Phillips A, Piers TM, Villegas-Llerena C, Butler M, Mallach A, et al. Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Microglia-Like Cells Harboring TREM2 Missense Mutations Show Specific Deficits in Phagocytosis. *Cell Rep* (2018) 24(9):2300–11. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.07.094
- Lively S, Schlichter LC. Microglia Responses to Pro-inflammatory Stimuli (LPS, IFN gamma plus TNF alpha) and Reprogramming by Resolving Cytokines (IL-4, IL-10). Front Cell Neurosci (2018) 24(9):2300–11. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2018.00215
- 65. Yang Y, Wang H, Kouadir M, Song H, Shi F. Recent advances in the mechanisms of NLRP3 inflammasome activation and its inhibitors. *Cell Death Dis* (2019) 10:128. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-1413-8
- 66. Zhu F, Zhang L, Liu F, Wu R, Guo W, Ou J, et al. Altered Serum Tumor Necrosis Factor and Interleukin-1beta in First-Episode Drug-Naive and Chronic Schizophrenia. *Front Neurosci* (2018) 12:296. doi: 10.3389/fnins. 2018.00296
- Mohammadi A, Rashidi E, Amooeian VG. Brain, blood, cerebrospinal fluid, and serum biomarkers in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* (2018) 265:25–38. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.04.036
- Cunningham CL, Martinez-Cerdeno V, Noctor SC. Microglia regulate the number of neural precursor cells in the developing cerebral cortex. *J Neurosci* (2013) 33:4216–33. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3441-12.2013

- Marin-Teva JL, Dusart I, Colin C, Gervais A, van Rooijen N, Mallat M. Microglia promote the death of developing Purkinje cells. *Neuron* (2004) 41:535–47. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(04)00069-8
- Wakselman S, Bechade C, Roumier A, Bernard D, Triller A, Bessis A. Developmental neuronal death in hippocampus requires the microglial CD11b integrin and DAP12 immunoreceptor. *J Neurosci* (2008) 28:8138– 43. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1006-08.2008
- Sierra A, Encinas JM, Deudero JJ, Chancey JH, Enikolopov G, Overstreet-Wadiche LS, et al. Microglia shape adult hippocampal neurogenesis through apoptosis-coupled phagocytosis. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2010) 7(4):483–95. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.08.014
- Blinzinger K, Kreutzberg G. Displacement of synaptic terminals from regenerating motoneurons by microglial cells. Z Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat (1968) 85:145–57. doi: 10.1007/BF00325030
- Paolicelli RC, Bolasco G, Pagani F, Maggi L, Scianni M, Panzanelli P, et al. Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science* (2011) 333:1456–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1202529
- 74. Schafer DP, Lehrman EK, Kautzman AG, Koyama R, Mardinly AR, Yamasaki R, et al. Microglia sculpt postnatal neural circuits in an activity and complement-dependent manner. *Neuron* (2012) 74:691–705. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.026
- Wake H, Moorhouse AJ, Jinno S, Kohsaka S, Nabekura J. Resting microglia directly monitor the functional state of synapses in vivo and determine the fate of ischemic terminals. J Neurosci (2009) 29:3974–80. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4363-08.2009
- Miyamoto A, Wake H, Ishikawa AW, Eto K, Shibata K, Murakoshi H, et al. Microglia contact induces synapse formation in developing somatosensory cortex. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:12540. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12540
- Hong S, Beja-Glasser VF, Nfonoyim BM, Frouin A, Li SM, Ramakrishnan S, et al. Complement and microglia mediate early synapse loss in Alzheimer mouse models. *Science* (2016) 352:712–6. doi: 10.1126/science.aad8373
- Zhan Y, Paolicelli RC, Sforazzini F, Weinhard L, Bolasco G, Pagani F, et al. Deficient neuron-microglia signaling results in impaired functional brain connectivity and social behavior. *Nat Neurosci* (2014) 17:400–6. doi: 10.1038/nn.3641
- 79. Lowery RL, Tremblay ME, Hopkins BE, Majewska AK. The microglial fractalkine receptor is not required for activity-dependent plasticity in the mouse visual system. *Glia* (2017) 65:1744–61. doi: 10.1002/glia.23192
- Schecter RW, Maher EE, Welsh CA, Stevens B, Erisir A, Bear MF. Experience-Dependent Synaptic Plasticity in V1 Occurs without Microglial CX3CR1. J Neurosci (2017) 37:10541-53. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.2679-16.2017
- Basilico B, Pagani F, Grimaldi A, Cortese B, Di Angelantonio S, Weinhard L, et al. Microglia shape presynaptic properties at developing glutamatergic synapses. *Glia* (2019) 67:53–67. doi: 10.1002/glia.23508
- Weinhard L, di Bartolomei G, Bolasco G, Machado P, Schieber NL, Neniskyte U, et al. Microglia remodel synapses by presynaptic trogocytosis and spine head filopodia induction. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9:1228. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03566-5
- Sellgren CM, Gracias J, Watmuff B, Biag JD, Thanos JM, Whittredge PB, et al. Increased synapse elimination by microglia in schizophrenia patientderived models of synaptic pruning. *Nat Neurosci* (2019) 22:374–85. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0334-7
- Fernandez de Cossio L, Guzman A, van der Veldt S, Luheshi GN. Prenatal infection leads to ASD-like behavior and altered synaptic pruning in the mouse offspring. *Brain Behav Immun* (2017) 63:88–98. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbi.2016.09.028
- Giovanoli S, Weber-Stadlbauer U, Schedlowski M, Meyer U, Engler H. Prenatal immune activation causes hippocampal synaptic deficits in the absence of overt microglia anomalies. *Brain Behav Immun* (2016) 55:25–38. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.09.015
- Duchatel RJ, Meehan CL, Harms LR, Michie PT, Bigland MJ, Smith DW, et al. Increased complement component 4 (C4) gene expression in the cingulate cortex of rats exposed to late gestation immune activation. *Schizophr Res* (2018) 199:442–4. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.03.035
- Han M, Zhang JC, Hashimoto K. Increased Levels of C1q in the Prefrontal Cortex of Adult Offspring after Maternal Immune Activation: Prevention by

7,8-Dihydroxyflavone. Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci (2017) 15:64–7. doi: 10.9758/cpn.2017.15.1.64

- Smolders S, Notter T, Smolders SMT, Rigo JM, Brone B. Controversies and prospects about microglia in maternal immune activation models for neurodevelopmental disorders. *Brain Behav Immun* (2018) 73:51–65. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2018.06.001
- Bassett AS, Chow EW. Schizophrenia and 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Curr Psychiatry Rep (2008) 10:148–57. doi: 10.1007/s11920-008-0026-1
- Beumer W, Gibney SM, Drexhage RC, Pont-Lezica L, Doorduin J, Klein HC, et al. The immune theory of psychiatric diseases: a key role for activated microglia and circulating monocytes. *J Leukoc Biol* (2012) 92:959–75. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0212100
- Mondelli V, Vernon AC, Turkheimer F, Dazzan P, Pariante CM. Brain microglia in psychiatric disorders. *Lancet Psychiat* (2017) 4:563–72. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30101-3
- 92. Sneeboer MAM, Snijders G, Berdowski WM, Fernandez-Andreu AB. Psychiatric Donor Program of the Netherlands Brain, , van Mierlo HC, et al. Microglia in post-mortem brain tissue of patients with bipolar disorder are not immune activated. *Transl Psychiatry* (2019) 9:153. doi: 10.1038/ s41398-019-0490-x
- Sekar A, Bialas AR, de Rivera H, Davis A, Hammond TR, Kamitaki N, et al. Schizophrenia risk from complex variation of complement component 4. *Nature* (2016) 530:177–83. doi: 10.1038/nature16549
- Notter T, Coughlin JM, Gschwind T, Weber-Stadlbauer U, Wang Y, Kassiou M, et al. Translational evaluation of translocator protein as a marker of neuroinflammation in schizophrenia. *Mol Psychiatry* (2018) 23:323–34. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.248
- Cotel MC, Lenartowicz EM, Natesan S, Modo MM, Cooper JD, Williams SC, et al. Microglial activation in the rat brain following chronic antipsychotic treatment at clinically relevant doses. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2015) 25:2098–107. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.08.004
- Bloomfield PS, Bonsall D, Wells L, Dormann D, Howes O, De Paola V. The effects of haloperidol on microglial morphology and translocator protein levels: An in vivo study in rats using an automated cell evaluation pipeline. *J Psychopharmacol* (2018) 32:1264–72. doi: 10.1177/0269881118788830
- Amato D, Beasley CL, Hahn MK, Vernon AC. Neuroadaptations to antipsychotic drugs: Insights from pre-clinical and human post-mortem studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2017) 76:317–35. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2016.10.004
- Brennand KJ, Simone A, Jou J, Gelboin-Burkhart C, Tran N, Sangar S, et al. Modelling schizophrenia using human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Nature* (2011) 473:221–5. doi: 10.1038/nature09915
- Deans PJM, Raval P, Sellers KJ, Gatford NJF, Halai S, Duarte RRR, et al. Psychosis Risk Candidate ZNF804A Localizes to Synapses and Regulates Neurite Formation and Dendritic Spine Structure. *Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 82:49–61. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.08.038
- 100. Johnstone M, Vasistha N, Barbu M, Dando O, Burr K, Christopher E, et al. Modeling a Genetic Risk for Schizophrenia: Phenotypic Differences in Human Neural Precursors and Cerebral Organoids from Patients with Chr16p13.11 Microduplications. *Eur Neuropsychophar* (2019) 29:1079–9. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.08.030
- 101. Johnstone M, Vasistha NA, Barbu MC, Dando O, Burr K, Christopher E, et al. Reversal of proliferation deficits caused by chromosome 16p13.11 microduplication through targeting NF kappa B signaling: an integrated study of patient-derived neuronal precursor cells, cerebral organoids and in vivo brain imaging. *Mol Psychiatr* (2019) 24:294–311. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0292-1
- 102. Kathuria A, Nowosiad P, Jagasia R, Aigner S, Taylor RD, Andreae LC, et al. Stem cell-derived neurons from autistic individuals with SHANK3 mutation show morphogenetic abnormalities during early development. *Mol Psychiatr* (2018) 23:735–46. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.185
- 103. Gonzalez DM, Gregory J, Brennand KJ. The Importance of Non-neuronal Cell Types in hiPSC-Based Disease Modeling and Drug Screening. Front Cell Dev Biol (2017) 5:117. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2017.00117
- 104. Almeida S, Zhang Z, Coppola G, Mao W, Futai K, Karydas A, et al. Induced pluripotent stem cell models of progranulin-deficient frontotemporal dementia uncover specific reversible neuronal defects. *Cell Rep* (2012) 2:789–98. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.09.007

- 105. Muffat J, Yuan BB, Mitalipoya M, Omer A, Corcoran S, Bakiasi G, et al. Efficient derivation of microglia-like cells from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Med* (2016) 22:1358–67. doi: 10.1038/nm.4189
- 106. Abud EM, Ramirez RN, Martinez ES, Healy LM, Nguyen CHH, Newman SA, et al. iPSC-Derived Human Microglia-like Cells to Study Neurological Diseases. *Neuron* (2017) 94:278–293 e9. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2017.03.042
- 107. McQuade A, Coburn M, Tu CH, Hasselmann J, Davtyan H, Blurton-Jones M. Development and validation of a simplified method to generate human microglia from pluripotent stem cells. *Mol Neurodegener* (2018) 13(67):1– 13. doi: 10.1186/s13024-018-0297-x
- Takata K, Kozaki T, Lee CZW, Thion MS, Otsuka M, Lim S, et al. Induced-Pluripotent-Stem-Cell-Derived Primitive Macrophages Provide a Platform for Modeling Tissue-Resident Macrophage Differentiation and Function. *Immunity* (2017) 47:183–198 e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.017
- 109. Pandya H, Shen MJ, Ichikawa DM, Sedlock AB, Choi Y, Johnson KR, et al. Differentiation of human and murine induced pluripotent stem cells to microglia-like cells. *Nat Neurosci* (2017) 20:753–9. doi: 10.1038/nn.4534
- 110. Ormel PR, Vieira de Sa R, van Bodegraven EJ, Karst H, Harschnitz O, Sneeboer MAM, et al. Microglia innately develop within cerebral organoids. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9:4167. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06684-2
- Lancaster MA, Knoblich JA. Generation of cerebral organoids from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Protoc* (2014) 9(10):2329–40. doi: 10.1038/ nprot.2014.158
- 112. Buchrieser J, James W, Moore MD. Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Macrophages Share Ontogeny with MYB-Independent Tissue-Resident Macrophages. *Stem Cell Rep* (2017) 8:334–45. doi: 10.1016/ j.stemcr.2016.12.020
- Pocock JM, Piers TM. Modelling microglial function with induced pluripotent stem cells: an update. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2018) 19:445–52. doi: 10.1038/s41583-018-0030-3
- Prinz M, Priller J. Microglia and brain macrophages in the molecular age: from origin to neuropsychiatric disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2014) 15:300–12. doi: 10.1038/nrn3722
- 115. Konttinen H, Cabral-da-Silva MEC, Ohtonen S, Wojciechowski S, Shakirzyanova A, Caligola S, et al. PSEN1DeltaE9, APPswe, and APOE4 Confer Disparate Phenotypes in Human iPSC-Derived Microglia. *Stem Cell Rep* (2019) 13:669–83. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2019.08.004
- 116. Muffat J, Li Y, Omer A, Durbin A, Bosch I, Bakiasi G, et al. Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived glial cells and neural progenitors display divergent responses to Zika and dengue infections. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U.S.A. (2018) 115:7117–22. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1719266115
- 117. Ho SM, Hartley BJ, Tcw J, Beaumont M, Stafford K, Slesinger PA, et al. Rapid Ngn2-induction of excitatory neurons from hiPSC-derived neural progenitor cells. *Methods* (2016) 101:113–24. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.11.019
- 118. Ishizuka K, Fujita Y, Kawabata T, Kimura H, Iwayama Y, Inada T, et al. Rare genetic variants in CX3CR1 and their contribution to the increased risk of schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorders. *Transl Psychiat* (2017) 7(e1184):1–8. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.173
- Schrode N, Ho SM, Yamamuro K, Dobbyn A, Huckins L, Matos MR, et al. Synergistic effects of common schizophrenia risk variants. *Nat Genet* (2019) 51:1475–85. doi: 10.1038/s41588-019-0497-5
- 120. Skene NG, Bryois J, Bakken TE, Breen G, Crowley JJ, Gaspar HA, et al. Genetic identification of brain cell types underlying schizophrenia. Nat Genet (2018) 50:825–33. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0129-5
- 121. Brown AS, Meyer U. Maternal Immune Activation and Neuropsychiatric Illness: A Translational Research Perspective. Am J Psychiatry (2018) 175:1073–1083. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17121311
- 122. Matcovitch-Natan O, Winter DR, Giladi A, Vargas Aguilar S, Spinrad A, Sarrazin S, et al. Microglia development follows a stepwise program to regulate brain homeostasis. *Science* (2016) 353:aad8670. doi: 10.1126/ science.aad8670
- 123. Ben-Yehuda H, Matcovitch-Natan O, Kertser A, Spinrad A, Prinz M, Amit I, et al. Maternal Type-I interferon signaling adversely affects the microglia and the behavior of the offspring accompanied by increased sensitivity to stress. *Mol Psychiatry* (2019) 68(4):811–829. doi: 10.1038/s41380-019-0604-0
- 124. Hasselmann J, Coburn MA, England W, Figueroa Velez DX, Kiani Shabestari S, Tu CH, et al. Development of a Chimeric Model to Study

and Manipulate Human Microglia In Vivo. *Neuron* (2019) 103:1016–1033 e10. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2019.07.002

- 125. Mancuso R, Van Den Daele J, Fattorelli N, Wolfs L, Balusu S, Burton O, et al. Stem-cell-derived human microglia transplanted in mouse brain to study human disease. *Nat Neurosci* (2019) 22:2111–6. doi: 10.1038/s41593-019-0525-x
- 126. Svoboda DS, Barrasa MI, Shu J, Rietjens R, Zhang S, Mitalipova M, et al. Human iPSC-derived microglia assume a primary microglia-like state after transplantation into the neonatal mouse brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* (2019) 116:25293–303. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1913541116
- Hasselmann J, Blurton-Jones M. Human iPSC-derived microglia: A growing toolset to study the brain's innate immune cells. *Glia* (2020) 68:721–39. doi: 10.1002/glia.23781
- 128. Elmore MR, Najafi AR, Koike MA, Dagher NN, Spangenberg EE, Rice RA, et al. Colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor signaling is necessary for microglia viability, unmasking a microglia progenitor cell in the adult brain. *Neuron* (2014) 82:380–97. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.040
- 129. Rojo R, Raper A, Ozdemir DD, Lefevre L, Grabert K, Wollscheid-Lengeling E, et al. Deletion of a Csf1r enhancer selectively impacts CSF1R expression and development of tissue macrophage populations. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:3215. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11053-8

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Hanger, Couch, Rajendran, Srivastava and Vernon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Challenge of Assessing Mild Neuroinflammation in Severe Mental Disorders

Karl Bechter*

Department for Psychiatry and Psychotherapy II, Ulm University, Bezirkskrankenhaus Günzburg, Günzburg, Germany

Recent psychoneuroimmunology research has provided new insight into the etiology and pathogenesis of severe mental disorders (SMDs). The mild encephalitis (ME) hypothesis was developed with the example of human Borna disease virus infection years ago and proposed, that a subgroup SMD patients, mainly from the broad schizophrenic and affective spectrum, could suffer from mild neuroinflammation, which remained undetected because hard to diagnose with available diagnostic methods. Recently, in neurology an emerging new subgroup of autoimmune encephalitis (AE) cases suffering from various neurological syndromes was described in context with the discovery of an emerging list of Central Nervous System (CNS) autoantibodies. Similarly in psychiatry, consensus criteria of autoimmune psychosis (AP) were developed for patients presenting with CNS autoantibodies together with isolated psychiatric symptoms and paraclinical findings of (mild) neuroinflammation, which in fact match also the previously proposed ME criteria. Nevertheless, identifying mild neuroinflammation in vivo in the individual SMD case remains still a major clinical challenge and the possibility that further cases of ME remain still under diagnosed appears an plausible possibility. In this paper a critical review of recent developments and remaining challenges in the research and clinical diagnosis of mild neuroinflammation in SMDs and in general and in transdisciplinary perspective to psycho-neuro-immunology and neuropsychiatry is given. Present nosological classifications of neuroinflammatory disorders are reconsidered with regard to findings from experimental and clinical research. A refined grading list of clinical states including "classical" encephalitis, AE, AP/ME, and newly proposed terms like parainflammation, stress-induced parainflammation and neuroprogression, and their respective relation to neurodegeneration is presented, which may be useful for further research on the possible causative role of mild neuroinflammation in SMDs. Beyond, an etiology-focused subclassification of ME subtypes, like autoimmune ME or infectious ME, appears to be required for differential diagnosis and individualized treatment. The present status of the clinical diagnosis of mild neuroinflammatory mechanisms involved in SMDs is outlined with the example of actual diagnosis and therapy in AP. Ideas for future research to unravel the contribution of mild neuroinflammation in the causality of SMDs and the

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ole Köhler-Forsberg, Aarhus University, Denmark

Reviewed by:

Keiko Tanaka, Niigata University, Japan Ingrid Melle, University of Oslo, Norway

*Correspondence: Karl Bechter Karl.Bechter@bkh-guenzburg.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 13 December 2019 Accepted: 21 July 2020 Published: 20 August 2020

Citation:

Bechter K (2020) The Challenge of Assessing Mild Neuroinflammation in Severe Mental Disorders. Front. Psychiatry 11:773. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00773 difficulties expected to come to novel immune modulatory, anti-infectious or antiinflammatory therapeutic principles in the sense of precision medicine are discussed.

Keywords: neuroinflammation, mild encephalitis, autoimmune encephalitis, autoimmune psychosis, Borna virus, psychoimmunology, parainflammation, neuroprogression

INTRODUCTION

The field of psychoneuroimmunology has rapidly evolved from early findings of minor systemic alterations indicating the potential involvement of inflammation in various severe mental disorders (SMDs) to a plethora of robust findings demonstrating the rather definitive role of systemic inflammation in a relevant subgroup of SMDs (1-5). However, the exact roles of inflammation and neuroinflammation (whether contributory or causal) in the immune-inflammatory pathophysiology of SMDs remain unclear and even controversial. While SMDs associate with both findings of overactivation and downregulation of the immune system respectively inflammation and anti-inflammation, it appears to be a known phenomenon from autoimmune disorders or cancer, such can be understood as disturbed balance in the process of inflammatory responses and immune regulatory players involved, with a balancing or pleiotropic role to come back to homeostasis, as evidenced for specific cells or signaling molecules (6-8). Given such ambiguity and pleiotropy of single factors found aberrant and representing risk factors of disease, it is not surprising, that there seems little direct (in time periods of actual diseased states) correlation in between these known risk factors and changing clinical pictures in the individual case (at least on the known level of systemic inflammation and/or immune dysregulation), which may heavily depend from environmental factors, eg. infections and stress (9-11). Relevant clinical syndromes included those on the affective to schizophrenic spectrum (not reviewed here), which is unsurprising with regard to often voiced issue of "non-specificity" in psychiatric research as a general problem and relates to the new approach with Research Domain Criteria (RDoCs) in psychiatric research [see (12)].

Not least, in psychoimmunology/immunopsychiatry it remained unclear whether the found systemic immuneinflammatory aberrancies may represent a relevant pathological process in itself potentially involving secondarily the central nervous system (CNS) or whether these systemic aberrancies represented a sign of neuroinflammation manifested (a little) also in the systemic periphery, an important difference. Post-mortem findings rather suggest that indeed low-grade neuroinflammation may be present in a subset of patients in schizophrenia (13, 14): specifically, about 20-40% of brains exhibited signs of inflammation in the frontal lobe, an increased number of macrophages, or an increased number of T lymphocytes and cytokines (14–16); these findings could support the mild encephalitis (ME) hypothesis.

The ME hypothesis was developed in context with research on the possible role of the highly neurotropic Borna disease virus, a known cause of meningoencephalitis in animals, for human mental disorders (17). The ME model was generalized beyond BDV infections, because similar pathogenic mechanism of CNS infection and infection-triggered autoimmunity appeared potentially relevant with many other infectious agents or the knowledge in systemic autoimmune diseases: there are typically many known contributing factors for disease, such as agents, genes, immunity, trauma, toxicity and environment. Also known general epidemiological and clinical/paraclinical data would match with ME hypothesis, even with a considerable subgroup of ME cases in SMD cohorts (18).

Unfortunately, the optimal procedure to diagnose neuroinflammation (to be differentiated from systemic inflammation) in vivo in patients with schizophrenia or other SMDs remains undefined, although an increasing number of findings suggest a contributive or causal role of neuroinflammation in SMD subgroups (14-29). The recent discovery of an emerging number of CNS autoantibodies and a greater understanding of autoimmune encephalitis (AE) in neurology (19) has helped a lot to diagnose previously undiagnosed psychiatric cases of AE and to establish a new subgroup of autoimmune psychosis (AP), involving SMD cases presenting CNS autoantibodies with predominantly psychiatric manifestations diagnosed by international consensus criteria, which appear conservative designed and close to the international AE consensus criteria (20, 21). It might be noted, that AP cases and even some AE cases match also the previous ME criteria [compare (20, 22, 23)]. In addition, an increasing number of single case reports about possible cases of AP/ME was made plausible to prevail without presenting (at least known) CNS antibodies but with proven neuroinflammation by brain biopsy, or with new CNS autoantibodies, or cases of subtle epilepsy diagnosed by refined differential diagnosis by EEG, number of the possible AP cases being responsive to immune-modulatory treatments (24-31). Apparently, these recent developments in diagnosis and differential diagnosis of SMDs as APs or possible APs match with the ME hypothesis, which appears well supported when cases demonstrate positive responses on immune modulatory treatments comparable to the treatments used with AE.

This recent development suggested to focus here on the many remaining challenges to assess mild neuroinflammation in SMDs and respective limitations of present diagnostic methods. An improved and timely *in vivo* diagnosis of mild neuroinflammation in SMD patients may consequently lead to improved etiologyguided immunomodulatory, anti-infectious and/or antiinflammatory treatments. Especially several immune modulatory treatments were rather successful recently, working even in short time, though involving only a small but emerging subgroup of SMD cases, which are now diagnosed as AP or ME, before severely or widely therapy resistant to established treatments. Another difficult question herein appears, to develop further criteria for a possible clinical relevance of mild neuroinflammation/immune dysregulation, when assessed in the individual SMD case by various clinical methods.

Accordingly, the idea of this paper is: 1.To discuss unsolved aspects of clinical terminology and a path to clinically useful classification of mild neuroinflammation, embedded in a wider graded nosological framework from classical encephalitis and autoimmune encephalitis to milder forms of neuroinflammation including ME, parainflammation and neuroprogression. 2. To list an etiology-focused scheme of ME subtypes with respect to available (including preliminary) evidence about the respective roles and interaction between infections and autoimmunity and other contributing factors including genes and environment. 3. To present an overview about the diagnostic and therapeutic approach to mild neuroinflammation by the most actual example AP and respective diagnostic limitations and challenges. 4. To consider new ideas for future research with respect to many open questions about the possible contributive or causal relevance of mild neuroinflammation in SMDs.

INFECTIONS, AUTOIMMUNITY, AND POSSIBLE ME-HUMAN BORNA DISEASE VIRUS INFECTION AS AN UNSOLVED EXAMPLE AND BEYOND

Human Borna Virus Infection as a Model

When proposing ME hypothesis, ME was assumed to prevail as unrecognized resp. hard to detect low-grade neuroinflammation present in certain brain regions only (therefore "mild" encephalitis as compared to "classical" encephalitis), that was suspected to causally underlie the observed psychopathological syndrome in a subgroup of patients with SMDs, thought to be most relevant in patient cohorts of the (broad) affective and schizophrenic spectrum. This hypothesis was developed during research on the possible role of the highly neurotropic Borna Disease Virus (BDV) in neurological and psychiatric disorders of unknown origin [reviews in (17, 18, 32)]. In short: A small subgroup of neurological (about 4,5%) and psychiatric patients (about 6%) presented antibodies against BDV, suggesting a possible causal involvement of BDV, because the seroprevalence was increased compared to normal controls (about 3,5%) in our region, endemic for BD. In addition, BDV seropositive neurological patients had an increased prevalence of cases hospitalized because of lymphocytic meningoencephalitis and BDV seropositive psychiatric patients presented with an increase of small brain lesions in MRI (33) and/or minor cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) abnormalities indicating an intrathecal immune response (34). These findings suggested the possibility that both these clinical syndromes, neurological syndromes of lymphocytic meningencephalitis and psychiatric syndromes (SMDs including various types of broadly defined affective and schizophrenic spectrum psychoses) were caused by an underlying infection by BDV, in some cases with neurological and psychiatric syndromes even clustering in families (35). From experimental research, two different pathomechanisms underlying the clinical syndromes appeared plausible mechanisms (18, 36–39):

acute mild localized (preferential brain region involved was the limbic system) infectious encephalitis or autoimmunity triggered by the BDV infection (40), and thus both pathomechanisms might in principle have the potential to induce a spectrum of psychiatric syndromes depending from a variety of known contributive factors including immune status of the infected, age, genes and others [compare (18, 36)]. However, non-deadly but clinically relevant brain infection or CNS autoimmunity or ME was difficult to prove *in vivo*, not least from ethical reasons.

Interestingly, acute (classical) infectious BDV meningoencephalitis was only recently proven in humans, in three patients having died from the disease, only 1 case from spontaneous natural infection the other 2 cases after organ transplant (41, 42). The responsible BD virus was renamed BoDV-1 after the discovery of several BDV variants some years ago. Beyond, in mainly retrospective analysis of brain material (+ CSF+ Sera) from cases having died from undefined lymphocytic encephalitis, further eight cases of BoDV-1 encephalitis were confirmed very recently (43). Importantly, the conclusions of Niller et al. in that "The possibility of mild, asymptomatic, or oligosymptomatic courses of BoDV-1 infection cannot be excluded and requires further investigation." match well with our previous perspective, including the point that antibody and immunoglobulin detection in CSF are most relevant for diagnosis. In sum, the difficulties of in vivo diagnosis of milder forms of BoDV-1 infections are apparent. In this context, one should not forget that diagnosis can be difficult even in some cases of classical encephalitis, although the field is equipped with established diagnostic methods [compare (44, 45)] and one should recognize, that the neuroinflammatory process in "classical" (meningo)-encephaltis is rather severe and distributed as compared to the proposed ME concept, and this apparently associates with important differences for the sensitivity and respective limitations of diagnostic methods.

Antiviral therapy in BoDV-1 encephalitis was and is still until now unavailable [compare (43)]. Given there were two alternative types, infectious ME or infection-triggered autoimmune ME, to be considered as underlying pathology in SMDs in BDV seropositive patients, the best option to follow in research appeared to us represented by an autoimmune ME model in BDV seropositive psychiatric patients: such model appeared to match with delayed (months) therapy resistant disease courses, which prevailed in a majority of hospitalized BDV seropositive patients, whereas an infectious ME model might match with short disease courses (days or weeks). This evaluation was a starting point for treatment trials with CSF filtration performed over some years around 2000 in BDV seropositive psychiatric patients, when resistant to established treatments, although admittedly the autoimmune ME hypothesis was speculative. Around that time, CSF filtration had been successfully used to treat therapy resistant cases of Guillain-Barre-Syndrome (GBS) [see results of a randomized trial in (46)]. GBS is typically triggered by various infections, and such could represent an analogy of the suspected autoimmune ME triggered by BDV. Thus, an experimental trial with CSF filtration in selected SMD patients appeared acceptable and was continued later in trial approved by ethical committee (supported

by funding from Theodore and Vada Stanley Foundation). Indeed, CSF filtration series over usually five days, similar to CSF filtration trials in GBS, were performed as add-on treatment to unchanged established psychopharmacological treatment and led to significant improvement or remission in about two-thirds of BDV seropositive psychiatric patients (n =10, not included repeat filtration series); interestingly, CSF filtration was effective typically in short time (days) in these patients who had been therapy-resistant for many months before (47-50). While some of these patients relapsed, repeated CSF filtration led to remission again, and some patients were stable over years after CSF filtration treatment. These successful CSF filtration treatment trials indirectly supported the previous model of autoimmune ME, because of its apparent immune modulatory mechanism of action shown in GBS. Of note, the various antineuronal antibodies known now, were not discovered at that time [see also the recent debate about the definitions of AP and AE in Lancet Psychiatry (20)]. Experimental CSF filtration was intriguingly successful in a small subgroup of BDV seropositive cases, but was not further followed from several reasons, not least because being technically rather challenging.

Generalizing the ME Model

The ME hypothesis claimed, that it was difficult to clinically assess mild neuroinflammation in patients even during clinically relevant stages of disease, regardless of the underlying cause of neuroinflammation and/or contributing pathomechanisms [see (17)]. Thus, the assessment of mild neuroinflammation and immune-pathological mechanisms involved needed to be elucidated in the first place, to then select potential therapy options based on the available evidence of contributing pathomechanisms. For example, given autoimmune ME can be triggered by various infectious agents or by an unknown endogneous immune system related causality, preferential therapeutic goals might be to search for normalization of an exaggerated immune response, or alternatively to halt the triggering mechanism. The various immune modulatory treatments now used in AE (51), similarly recommended in AP (21), seem to follow such principle, ie. searching for CNS autoantibodies and evidence of neuroinflammation in the individual case.

It is now accepted, that CNS specific autoantibodies play an important pathogenic role in AE (52, 53) and probably in AP (21). Nevertheless, strictly speaking, proof of AE as an autoimmune disease is still missing in that only one of four analogous Koch's postulates was fulfilled (54). In addition, the trigger of the autoimmune dysregulation presenting as AE or AP is mostly unclear, if not an underlying tumor was detected (19, 55) or specific infections, like Herpes virus encephalitis, was preceding (56). Nevertheless, although "the discovery of antibodies targeting synaptic proteins has completely changed the approach to neurologic and psychiatric disorders that were previously considered idiopathic or not immune mediated" (57), still many open issues in antibody-mediated encephalitis prevail (58). In addition, hardly anybody might doubt the validity and clinical importance of the AE or the AP concept, which helped with the newly introduced immune modulatory treatments so many severely diseased neurological patients and a still small but emerging number of therapy resistant SMD patients, in the latter group raising a number of difficult ethical questions (59).

Thus, a historical perspective may be of notice here: when critically checked, there is still up to now no definite scientific proof (in the sense of Koch's postulates) of the causality of spirochetal infection for the delayed tertiary stage of syphilis, as in only very few brains of people died from general paresis the infectious agent was demonstrated (60). Nevertheless, the accumulated findings from epidemiology and clinical research and, not least if not most important, the positive therapeutic response of GP cases to antibiotic treatment (Note: in the early years from about 1907 until to the introduction of penicillin the best established treatment was artificial Malaria infection) clearly support the causality of spirochetal infection for GP. The ethical issues involved in such limited proof of causality in humans may similarly limit the quality of proof achievable in AE, AP, ME and the proposed lower grades of neuroinflammation suspected to causally underlying or contributing to SMDs.

In the framework of ME hypothesis many contributing factors beyond infections, which may play a primary triggering role, are to be considered, especially genes related to inflammatory response system and immunity, actual status of the immune system at time of infection, age of the infected, endogenous factors related to genes like toxicity, various and variant environmental factors like stress, and even chance [compare (18, 61)]. And such or rather similar scenarios are often voiced in psychiatric research now (1, 3, 62-65). Given such perspective is relevant for research on the causes of SMDs, a most important issue represented to assess the level or grade of neuroinflammation and/or immune dysregulation in the individual patient in the respective diseased state, to be defined by consensus criteria and applicable in clinical reality with respect to limitations and availability of diagnostic methods. I think, that in such scenario ME, beyond other grades of mild neuroinflammation, should represent an issue of foremost interest, because ME would represent a grade of neuroinflammation close to classical encephalitis and thus a state of likely clinical relevance and chance for valid assessment in clinical reality plus chance for targeted therapy when ME was identified (see paragraph 3 for more details continued).

Another very special issue with regard to a generalized model of ME hypothesis may represent autoimmunity associated with persistent infections, which can have apparent clinical relevance for SMDs according to recent knowledge, accumulated mainly in children and adolescents. For example, pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorder associated with streptococcal infections (PANDAS) was related to streptococcal-triggered autoimmunity and according to recent findings even extended to variety of infections and renamed pediatric acute-onset neuropsychiatric syndrome (PANS) (66). Emerging research demonstrated, that PANS may require rather complex treatments that target both the infectious agent and the autoimmune process triggered by the primary infection (67). Reports about CNS related autoimmunity with persistent infections associated with SMDs are very rare in adults [eg (68)], but one should not exclude that such may relate to a gap of knowledge. An elusive review about these issues and principles involved was presented by Platt et al. recently (69): these included as main message to critically observe and recognize the variety of access routes of antibodies and cells to the CNS, beyond the regionality of the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) and the blood-CSFbarrier (BCSFB), and as far as possible, to assess respective barrier alterations in the individual case, and to identify the possible triggers of autoimmunity in AE or PANDAS, and to consider these triggers for respective targeted treatments, which may need to probe antiinfectious treatments even in the first line. Also this review clearly shows, that eventually a more detailed classification including the refined assessment of BBB and/or BCSFB disturbances, and not least the assessment of latent infections in the diseased individual would be required for optimal diagnosis and treatment of such SMDs, when recognized as AE or AP or ME or maybe of lower graded categories of mild neuroinflammation. One should not forget here also the limited knowledge about rare latent or unusual infectious agents, which may also play some yet undefined role, for example Bartonella species (70) (not to repeat BDV here, see above).

One step forward in this scenario of open questions was in my opinion, to adopt a refined graded consensus classification of clinically relevant neuroinflammation. Neuroinflammation has to be clearly differentiated from systemic inflammation, both in language and clinical approach, although there exists relevant interaction in between periphery and CNS [compare (71)], because the careful assessment of grades of neuroinflammation in diseased states would represent a precondition to inform about a possible clinical relevance of mild neuroinflammation. I therefore outline a respective proposal on refined graded categories of neuroinflammatory disorders according to available pathophysiological evidence in the next paragraph.

REFINED GRADING AND NOSOLOGY OF MILD NEUROINFLAMMATORY DISORDERS

The idea that refined grading of neuroinflammation appears clinically relevant was followed by number of authors recently in basic immunology and psychoimmunology research and clinical field (see above and below). Based on broad experimental knowledge, the term parainflammation was proposed for refined grading of inflammation in general (72). In psychoimmunology research field the term was adopted and refocused on the CNS respectively neuroinflammation, but restricted to stress-induced parainflammation (73). Stress research is an interesting, relevant and predominant field in experimental psychoimmunology, but other triggers than stress, eg. infections or immune dysregulation, should not be disregarded as primary triggers for CNS specific parainflammation. Clinical findings with experimental evidence helped to conceptualize neuroprogression in SMDs (65, 74). Neuroprogression appears closely related to neurodegeneration (75, 76), but an exact differentiation was difficult (77).

These new concepts about low grade neuroinflammatory categories/states, including ME, have difficulties to exactly and reliably define and assess the respective state in clinical approach, less so in experimental approaches on which the clinical field can thus build up. Therefore, these new developments appear appropriate and important for further research and may over the long-term prove clinically useful. Some of the difficulties of defining the new concepts clearly relate to the *a priori* difficulties when translating knowledge from experimental field into the clinic from many reasons, especially ethical reasons. However, important and hard to understand in a categorical schematic of pathology (or not) appears the ambiguity of functional alterations itself, in other words an often ambiguous role of single factors in pathogenesis can not rarely nor be categorized as advantageous versus disadvantageous nor pro- versus antiinflammatory. For example: Neuroinflammation can be differentiated from neurodegeneration by cytokines panels but may require under others to identifying the respective cellular sources of cytokine production which can be assessed in experimental approaches, however for a generalized interpretation of cytokines aberrancies it is hard to come to valid conclusion, as in principle such cytokines increases or decreases of specific cytokines may especially in intermediate states of neuroinflammation have unclear or contrarious meaning depending from different a priori settings of the network or context of action (78). Or: The heterogeneous population of myeloid-derived suppressor cells plays an important role in chronic and adaptive immune regulation in cancer and autoimmune disorders, signaling by exosomes appears herein very important in short- and long-distance action, but the final outcome of their respective action appears janus-faced (8): again the resulting pathogenic or nonpathogenic effect of the cellular alterations depend from the state of networks and players involved. Therefore, for clinical decision making the assessment of such type of inflammatory and immune signaling or cell states is not the singular problem, instead also the appropriate classification of effect in a broader picture of interactive players involved. The research on the signaling role of exosomes in CSF represents such a new area of interest in neurology and psychiatry, but is just beginning (79-82). An intriguing yet widely neglected immune regulatory part herein may be played by the exosomes and cells passaging along cranial and peripheral nerves with CSF outflow into peripheral tissues, where CNS specific immune responses are generated then (11, 83-85), to be considered with ME and mild neuroinflammation in future research. Another obvious example for such ambiguity of findings in SMDs are the confirmed immune and neuroinflammatory aberrations in bipolar disorders (11, 86-89): the respective interpretation of immune cell aberrations in blood may make sense only in context with the role of changing environment and possibly the immune response to infectious agents and other factors involved, as these immune aberrancies do not simply correlate with the diseased state of bipolar depression or mania specifically, rather are changing over time in contrarious way (9, 10), which might be interpreted as a slight primary immune defect followed

by partially exaggerated and later exhausted immunity (9). Such examples of apparent open research difficulties could be continued, but the aim of this paper is not to provide a comprehensive review about these complicated issues.

I intend to propose and discuss a panel of clinical relevant classifications of mild neuroinflammatory states for use in further research. This proposal will need verification and surely emerging better definitions eventually by consensus. I realize many a priori weaknesses because of a limited overall knowledge base. Such limitation must not disregard such undertaken as potentially useful, given that even established clinical terms in neurology and neuropsychiatry related to "classical" neuroinflammation, appear to be more weakly defined, when critically considered in detail, as many clinicians may assume (90): for example, only consensus case definitions are available for such clinically important term like encephalitis: respective clinical assessment was evaluated difficult in some cases, the "classical" definition mainly derived from infectious encephalitis (44). The new term AE appears even more limited, also based on consensus case definition (see above). It is unsurprising on the other hand, that newly proposed terms classifying milder grades of neuroinflammation, such as ME, parainflammation, neuroprogression can only preliminarily be defined for clinical use and it appears justified, that the clinical field is considerably hesitating to adopt such terms. Nevertheless, even the best clinically established diagnosis of "classical" encephalitis appears to be rather imprecise in very detail although valid by consensus case definitions, a generalized theoretically sound definition of encephalitis for interdisciplinary use being not available (90). The imprecision of clinical encephalitis diagnosis is further highlighted when just going into detail of the newly diagnosed cases of BoDV-1 encephalitis by post mortem diagnosis [see above and compare (43)]: in post mortem examination some of the cases finally classified as BoDV-1 encephalitis showed panencephalitis, or meningoencephalitis, possibly accompanied by hypohysitis or myelitis, not to speak about the found varying distribution of virus within the CNS. In contrast, the clinical diagnosis on time of death was simply "lymphocytic meningoencephalitis" in all cases.

The limited precision and nearly unnoticed change of meaning of clinical terms over time should in addition be recognized, being apparent also in the recent short history of AE diagnosis, thus an important example for our discussion as being closely related to AP [compare also (91)]: from its initial description of AE cases suffering from "classical" limbic encephalitis as paraneoplastic disease, AE has broadened its meaning to now including a larger and seemingly emerging subgroup of cases presenting with minor neurological symptoms, associated with paraclinical findings of neuroinflammation (92, 93), and even with predominant psychiatric symptoms in initial stage with the new consensus criteria (51), in other words now AE representing a milder form of encephalitis previously not diagnosed as encephalitis in neurology, representing an important clinically relevant change (58). Apparently, the discovery of NMDAR antibodies (94) and a still emerging number of newly discovered CNS autoantibodies (23, 92, 95– 97) was a major criterion to newly diagnosing many cases of AE that were not diagnosed as encephalitis before, and this includes a subgroup of SMDs diagnosed as AE (20, 22, 98), recently enriched by cases with pure psychiatric syndromes termed AP (20). However, one should recognize, that CNS autoantibodies (in blood) may prevail also in considerable part of normal controls (99–102), raising difficult questions and controversy about the pathogenicity of these antibodies (52, 99, 101–103).

One might remember here again the long-standing highly controversial sights about neuroinflammation versus neurodegeneration and classification of late stage syphilis, a disease of eminent relevance in psychiatry at the time around 1900: too strictly separating post-mortem findings of neuroinflammation versus neurodegeneration was a major obstacle for understanding the common bacterial etiology of general paresis presenting with two main but differing types of CNS pathology (60).

In sum, I feel prepared to present here a proposal of refined clinical differential diagnosis of mild neuroinflammatory disorders, which, though preliminary with regard to criteriabased definition, might turn out to be helpful for further research onto the causality of mild neuroinflammatory states in a subgroup of SMDs. Such attempt would match with the goal of precision psychiatry [compare (63)]. I present this list with an overview and hierarchical range from classical neuroinflammatory disorders to suspected/proposed refined graded subtypes of neuroinflammation (**Table 1**) and further an etiology-differentiated sub-classification of various MEs (**Box 1**).

OVERLAP, DIFFERENCES, AND INTERMEDIATE STATES BETWEEN NEUROINFLAMMATION AND NEURODEGENERATION

The authors of a recent insightful review preferred to clearly distinguish neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration: they stated that neuroinflammatory disorders featured cytokines are produced by tissue-invading leukocytes while neurodegenerative disorders featured cytokines are produced by CNS-resident cells (78) (see also above), but how such difference can be assessed in clinical approach remains open. Thus, in clinical reality even when assessed in the individual patient, it may usually remain unclear whether pathologically-altered cytokine networks have beneficial or detrimental effects (see also above).

However, intermediate states or mild neuroinflammatory states probably prevail and appear to be clinically relevant for SMDs. Neuroinflammation can lead to neurodegeneration, milder forms of neuroinflammation can be observed in primary or seemingly primary neurodegenerative diseases. Such long discussed and in principle accepted example is neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease (104–107), for which some discuss an infectious cause (108). Multiomic approaches are probed to identify the change of

TABLE 1 Clinically established and newly proposed terms to classify neuroinflammation ranging from "classical" definition of encephalitis to "milder" forms such as AE,
AP, ME, parainflammation and neuroprogression, to neurodegeneration (References see text). Abbreviation: CNS, central nervous system.

Category	Nosological Principle	Status/Advantage	Limitations
Meningoencephalitis	generalized inflammation of meninges and CNS	clinical consensus case definition, established	meningitis diagnosed by clinical examination
Encephalitis	generalized or definite localized CNS inflammation	clinical consensus case definition, established	sensitivity/validity of diagnostic methods
Autoimmune Encephalitis (AE)	localized, rarely generalized, autoimmune-related CNS inflammation or suggested by surrogate consensus markers	clinical consensus case definition, including cases not diagnosed by classical criteria of encephalitis	diagnostic methods; symptoms when classical ones missing; consensus therapy emerging
Autoimmune Dementia, Autoimmune Epilepsy, Autoimmune Movement Disorder	neurological syndromes with isolated or prominent clinical features recognized as of autoimmune etiology; subtypes of AE	emerging clinical consensus, specifically addressing previously unknown etiology and (immune) therapy	diagnostic methods predominant for diagnosis; therapy emerging
Autoimmune Psychosis (AP)	psychosis recognized as of autoimmune etiology, similar to isolated neurological syndromes; additional cases with novel, currently unknown CNS antibodies suspected; subtype of AE	first international consensus on conservative case definition with (known) CSF antibodies; successful treatment approaches emerging	diagnostic methods predominant and emerging; therapy emerging
Mild Encephalitis (ME)	suspected localized low-grade neuroinflammation causing severe mental illness	emerging support for previously unknown prevailing autoimmune/infectious ME	a priori difficult to prove as clinical entity
Parainflammation	new definition of subtype of low-grade inflammation based on experimental research; special case of CNS	intriguing proposal from basic research; might importantly contribute for new clinical grading of inflammation incl. neuroinflammation in mental disorders; experimental evidence	a priori difficult to prove as clinical entity
Stress-induced Parainflammation	parainflammation triggered by systemic stress	see parainflammation	see parainflammation
Neuroprogression	course characteristics in subgroups of severe mental illness associated with neuroinflammatory markers	intriguing proposal supported by clinical and experimental evidence	a priori difficult to prove as clinical entity
Neurodegeneration/ Neuroinflammation	any type of degenerative resp. inflammatory aspects/ findings in central or peripheral nervous system	well-established concepts in basic research and clinic; differentiation between inflammation vs. degeneration	in clinical approach to diseased individuals sometimes difficult to realize/ assess because of overlaps
Special Case: Multiple Sclerosis (MS)	autoimmune CNS disease, characterized by acute neuroinflammatory phases and neurodegeneration over the longer course	well-investigated disease; differential diagnostics of similar entities emerging	aspects of neurodegeneration long attributed to acute phase pathology, only recently being partially understood

neuroinflammatory pathology over time in Alzheimer's disease (106). Another example is Parkinson's disease, to featuring complicated interactions and developments of variant oxidative stress and neuroinflammation during disease progression, under others attempted to unravel by integrative analysis of blood metabolomics and PET imaging in parallel (109). Multiple sclerosis, the best-investigated autoimmune neurological disease, features acute inflammation; however, this does only partly explain the observed brain atrophy, leading to a paradigm change and the search for and beginning implementation of new therapies focusing on neurodegeneration [compare for example (110)].

These examples just showcase recent approaches and limitations of insight on intermediate states and relations of neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration and their possible clinical relevance. Valid assessment and consented categorization of such intermediate states *in vivo* is just emerging. From a clinical perspective, it appears important to identify especially such low-grade or mild states of neuroinflammation in SMDs, because of possible important therapeutic implication, given a considerable subgroup of SMDs being therapy resistant to established treatments. For a practical perspective herein some details in recent diagnosis and therapy of AP are outlined.

CLINICAL DIAGNOSIS OF NEUROINFLAMMATION IN AP

Clinical detection of neuroinflammatory processes generally requires a multimodal approach. Diagnoses of AE or AP strongly recommend to include CSF examination (21, 51). Generally speaking, clinical assessment of inflammation represents a domain of blood examinations, whereas assessment of neuroinflammation requires usually CSF examination in combination with neuroimaging. This important differentiation was in research on SMDs often under-recognized.

Blood

An appropriate method for the diagnosis of neuroinflammation *in vivo* using blood examination (e.g., measuring the C-reactive protein) is not available, including for cases of severe classical encephalitis, which require neuroimaging and CSF examination (44, 111, 112). Nevertheless, the detection of high titers of

BOX 1 | This proposal of mild encephalitis (ME) subtypes is thought to provide a theoretical framework for a refined clinical differential diagnosis of relatively milder forms of neuroinflammation as compared to "classical" encephalitis, proposed to term ME. The proposed etiology-focused refined differential diagnostic framework of various types of ME is expected to become clinically relevant for improved causality-focused individualized treatment approaches and for further research. The references indicated represent a select choice only; more references to be found in the text.

Differential Diagnostic Schedule of Mild Encephalitis (ME)/Mild Neuroinflammatory Subtypes - A Proposal from a clinical perspective

Autoimmune mild neuroinflammation

-Autoimmune Psychosis (AP) with presence of CNS antibodies according to recent international consensus criteria (20). A distinction is made between possible AP (clinical syndrome which should lead to a broad organic diagnostic work-up), probable AP (with additional diagnostic findings such as pleocytosis in cerebrospinal fluid), and definite AP (with detection of antineuronal IgG antibodies in cerebrospinal fluid).

-Poorly defined psychiatric cases of autoimmune origin without detection of (known) CNS antibodies, based on different diagnostic findings including brain biopsy pathologies or plausibility from therapy response on immune modulatory treatments (24, 28)

Infectious mild neuroinflammation

-Low-grade "encephalitis" caused by various neurotropic viruses or other infectious agents presenting with acute though mild neuroinflammation without neurological hard signs but prominent or exclusive psychiatric syndromes in context with paraclinical, especially intrathecal signs of specific infections (using PCR, antibody index, and culture). Historical examples are late-stage syphilis or influenza-associated severe mental disorders; recent examples include acute Lyme Neuroborreliosis, Bartonellosis, mild cerebral Whipple's disease, or potentially acute BDV infection [compare, for example, (39)]

Combined infectious-autoimmune mild neuroinflammation

-Persistent infection having induced in parallel an autoimmune response, pathology from both mechanisms can be involved in the pathogenesis of clinical syndrome observed in the diseased individual, paradigmatic cases represented by pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorder associated with streptococcal infection (PANDAS)/pediatric acute-onset neuropsychiatric syndrome (PANS), implicating requirement of primary agent-focused (elimination) and/or immune modulatory treatment (67). Besides PANDAS/PANS, the concept is also well established for anti-NMDAR encephalitis after herpes encephalitis (53, 56).

Multiconditional mild neuroinflammation

-Various risk factors acting together in rather balanced weight of each single factor, e.g., ubiquitous persistent infections plus social stress in context with genetic factors, and other variant endogenous factors (e.g., endocrine and immune status), age, etc. (18).

antineuronal antibodies in serum may be an indication of AE/AP (21), which is however not sufficient for diagnosis.

Cerebrospinal Fluid (CSF)

The CSF examination remains a very important and, for many cases, the most sensitive method for the diagnosis of any type of neuroinflammation (44, 45, 112). CSF testing allows for the detection of acute neuroinflammation with increased white blood cell (WBC) counts (reference $< 5/\mu$). Additionally, the number of WBCs reveals information about possible pathogens. Protein concentration (reference <450 mg/L) and age-dependent albumin quotients ($[4 + age/15] \times 10^{-3}$) are biomarkers for the blood-CSF barrier (BCSFB) (113-115). CSF-specific oligoclonal bands (OCBs) are markers for intrathecal immunoglobulin (Ig) G synthesis. Increased antibody indices (AIs) for pathogens or antineuronal antibodies reveal intrathecal antibody synthesis [including for anti-NMD-R antibodies (116)]. A positive MRZ reaction, however, reveals a polyclonal immune activation that can be often found in patients with multiple sclerosis (117, 118). With regard to testing of antineuronal antibodies in serum and CSF, heterogeneity exists between different methods (119). In affective and psychotic patient cohorts, a small subgroup of SMD cases demonstrate established signs of neuroinflammation in CSF, another large subgroup of overall up to 50-70% some minor CSF aberrancies (120-122). This phenomenon is currently difficult to explain, but it could be associated with some type of mild neuroinflammation [compare (120)]. Consensus criteria of AP diagnosis include CSF examination (20).

Apparently, there remain many challenges of improved CSF examination in SMDs: interpreting and handling cases with neuroinflammatory CSFs (e.g., with CSF specific OCBs) not matching AE or AP consensus criteria; background of possible relevant minor CSF aberrancies in SMDs [e.g., signs of blood-CSF barrier disturbance; neopterin increase, cytokine increases/ decreases, signs of activated CSF lymphocytes or macrophages (120, 123–125)]; improving the sensitivity of CSF analysis methods and implementing these methods for routine use in psychiatric research to achieve improved diagnosis of mild forms of neuroinflammation with relevance for SMDs; detecting novel antineuronal antibodies (e.g., by tissue-based assays with indirect immunofluorescence on fixed/unfixed murine brain tissue) in patients at risk of AE/AP (126).

Electroencephalography (EEG)

EEG is very sensitive for the detection of inflammatory brain processes (116). In AE patients, a specific EEG phenomenon the so-called extreme delta brush—was observed (127). Further research is required to analyze whether comparable phenomena can also occur in other clearly defined AE/AP syndromes. The main challenge in EEG diagnostics remains in the principle of non-specificity. Multiple causes may result in a uniform end product. Therefore, EEG is currently used to support a multimodal clinical approach to AE/AP (116, 128).

Neuroimaging

Various methods of neuroimaging are used, often even several methods simultaneously, for the diagnosis of AE/AP/ME. Here, we review some of these methods in brief from the viewpoint of rapidly evolving methods. MRI is currently the most important structural imaging method for the diagnosis of any type of suspected neuroinflammation, but it is not highly sensitive except for specific disorders like multiple sclerosis. Routine T2 or fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR)-weighted images can show pathological processes. White matter lesions can be detected in the context of different autoimmune, infectious, metabolic, or other psychiatric disorders (e.g., multiple sclerosis shows typical periventricular or juxta-cortical lesions) (129). In limbic encephalitis, increased signal intensity of the mesiotemporal structures can be detected (51). In cases of blood-brain barrier dysfunction, T1-weighted images are sensitive to contrast-enhancing pathological processes. Diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) is used to identify (sub)-acute infarcts. MR angiography can be used for vascular imaging (129).

However, novel methods could assist in gaining further insights into inflammatory brain processes. Resting-state fMRI can help detect disturbances in the functional connectivity of brain networks caused by inflammatory processes. In the case of anti-NMDA-R encephalitis, researchers have described characteristic alterations of whole-brain functional connectivity (130); this is of particular interest because structural MRI is inconspicuous in approximately two-thirds of anti-NMDA-R encephalitis cases (131). MR spectroscopy can detect different neurometabolites (e.g., choline), and most importantly, it allows for the noninvasive detection of glutamate and GABA levels in different brain regions, which might be especially interesting in cases of SMD patients with antibodies against glutamate or GABA receptors (132). The use of dynamic contrast enhanced (DCE) MRI, using t1 sequences, might support to better detect subtle blood-brain barrier dysfunction. The use of this method could help us see, for example, that disturbed BBB permeability can indicate a transition from optic neuritis to multiple sclerosis (133) and beyond in other pathologies. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) allows to describe fiber connections among different brain areas (134). Studies on patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis have detected widespread white matter alterations (135). In everyday clinical practice, the combined use of various MRI methods ("multimodal imaging") may lead to improved detection of different inflammatory profiles. Cerebral (¹⁸F) fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG PET) imaging can detect inflammatory and neurodegenerative metabolic patterns in the CNS (136). Regarding the detection of AE, FDG-PET might be more sensitive than structural MRI (137). A whole-body FDG PET can be used for tumor screening in patients who present with paraneoplastic antibodies (128). Translocator protein 18 kDa (TSPO) PET imaging allows insights into microglial activation (136).

Challenges in the **neuroimaging** of AE/AP/ME are considerable despite recent progress from the use of multimodal approaches described above, as the sensitivity of established single neuroimaging methods is surprisingly limited, even in classical encephalitis, but new methods are being developed or probed, the results and outcome are awaited with great interest, especially multimodal neuroimaging seems to provide both more global and regional insight into pathological neuroinflammatory processes involving the brain.

Brain Biopsy

The use of brain biopsy for potential AE/AP/ME cases is has rarely been reported in the literature, but biopsy provides an exceptional opportunity to sensitively prove mild neuroinflammation, provided the biopsy region is well-chosen (26). In addition, the specific type of neuroinflammation and detailed (micro-) localization in the tissue can be analyzed. However, the use of brain biopsy for diagnosis of AE/AP/ME is rather limited for ethical reasons from a risk-benefit viewpoint (24).

Summary

Currently, for detecting AE/AP, a combined multimodal diagnostic approach with blood and CSF tests (including testing for antineuronal antibodies), EEG, MRI, and possibly FDG-PET is recommended (20, 51). In the case of clinical red flags and suggestive diagnostic findings (21, 138), a multidisciplinary approach would be desirable for individual patients with possible autoimmune-mediated SMDs. The situation is much less clear in the case of isolated abnormal CSF findings (e.g., in patients with isolated CSF specific OCBs or increased albumin quotients). Obviously, further research is needed here.

LIMITATIONS

This was not an exhaustive review of the complex scenario of psycho-neuro-immunology in SMDs.

The author did also not intend to provide a clear roadmap for research on the ME hypothesis (if such was possible), but to highlight the scenario and clinical context associated with a number of *a priori* difficulties, which may be underscored in a prevailing research philosophy of preferring rapid clear "mechanistic" insights (139). Gaining further insight into these complex issues will be difficult, requiring time-consuming research and interdisciplinary approaches, especially together with clinical neurology, radiology, immunology and basic scientists.

One recent teaching example of surprising rapid progress by such approaches despite the many difficulties was the big California encephalitis project in children and adolescents, identifying various infectious etiologies of lymphocytic meningoencephalitis involving about 50% of cases; the mystery was solved 6 years later, when stored material was reanalyzed for anti-NMDAR antibodies and AE was confirmed in nearly all of the left open cases (140). The recent example of human BDV infection coming just in focus again was outlined in some detail (see above), the difficulties and limitations of available clinical methods considering the possibility of milder (non-deadly) forms of BoDV-1 disease becoming evident.

CONCLUSION

There is now clear evidence that a small subgroup of patients with SMDs can be diagnosed as AE/AP (128). For predominant psychotic cases, not necessarily fulfilling the criteria for AE, consensus criteria for AP were very recently established (21). AP cases would also fulfil the criteria of ME, as defined earlier. Another subgroup of similar cases that do not present CNS autoantibodies (and thus cases do not fulfill the proposed criteria of definite AP instead of possible AP according to Najjar et al. (24) appears to emerge, also matching the ME hypothesis, diagnosed with brain biopsy or multimodal and new (eg. tissue -based antibody testing) approaches in specialized centers including complicated differential diagnosis (28-31, 126, 141, 142); some of these cases may similarly respond to aggressive immune treatments like AE and AP cases, but may remain suggestive or "possible" cases. Plausibly, such cases without presenting CNS antibodies, at least with regard to presently known antibodies, may be related to undefined immune pathology, e.g. CSF cell activation is not routinely specified only in rare research studies [compare (125)], or speculatively from other neuroinflammatory mechanisms, maybe including such triggered from brain vasculopathy due to genetic liability [compare (143)] or immune developmental factors including early and later infections (144-148) and other pathomechanisms in complex neuro-psycho-immunological scenario. Not all questions can be cleared by experimental research, instead there is also a justification and even need of careful designed experimental clinical approaches including experimental therapies [compare also (71, 149)]. Multimodal group studies including neuroimaging can provide a general basis especially when combined with immune-inflammatory markers (150-153). Unfortunately CSF studies are still rare in research on SMDs but their extraordinary relevance increasingly recognized (71, 154), because can still provide the best and most specific clinical information about neuroinflammatory processes.

However, carefully considered intervention trials should be continued in specialized centers only, whereas general hospitals should rely on conservative approach along consensus criteria (21, 91). In individual patients, off-label treatment approaches

REFERENCES

- Anderson G, Berk M, Dodd S, Bechter K, Altamura AC, Kanba S, et al. Immuno-inflammatory, oxidative and nitrosative stress, and neuroprogressive pathways in the etiology, course and treatment of schizophrenia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 42:1–4. doi: 10.1016/ j.pnpbp.2012.10.008
- Halaris A. Neuroinflammation and neurotoxicity contribute to neuroprogression in neurological and psychiatric disorders. *Future Neurol* (2018) 13(2):59–69. doi: 10.2217/fnl-2017-0039
- Halaris A, Bechter K, Haroon E, Leonard BE, Miller A, Pariante C, et al. The Future of Psychoneuroimmunology: Promises and Challenges. In: Javed A, Fountoulakis KN, editors. *Advances in Psychiatry*. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2019). p. 235–66. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-70554-5_15
- Najjar S, Pearlman DM. Neuroinflammation and white matter pathology in schizophrenia: Systematic review. Schizophr Res (2015) 161(1):102–12. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.04.041
- Najjar S, Pearlman DM, Alper K, Najjar A, Devinsky O. Neuroinflammation and psychiatric illness. *J Neuroinflamm* (2013) 10:43. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-43
- Liew FY, Girard J-P, Turnquist HR. Interleukin-33 in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2016) 16(11):676–89. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.95
- Cadwell K. Crosstalk between autophagy and inflammatory signalling pathways: balancing defence and homeostasis. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2016) 16 (11):661–75. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.100
- Zöller M. Janus-Faced Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Exosomes for the Good and the Bad in Cancer and Autoimmune Disease. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:137:137. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00137
- Drexhage HA. Editorial: Activation and de-activation of inflammatory pathways. The disequilibrium of immune-neuro-endocrine networks in psychiatric disorders. *Brain Behav Immun* (2019) 78:5–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbi.2019.01.007

can be very successful and helpful in understanding details of neuroinflammatory constellations by indirect reasoning (compare the example of tertiary syphilis), when followed and analyzed under strict rules of clinical research. Difficulties persist in differentiating innocent cases of CNS autoantibody prevalence (when tested in blood) from relevant ones (102), which is however similarly true for antibodies against infectious agents. Thus, only multimodal clinical approaches combined with basic and experimental research will together be able to develop criteria for the differentiation of clinically relevant cases of mild neuroinflammation in SMDs, a recognized challenge in the emerging precision medicine of SMDs (63). Psychiatrists should learn improved "organic" neuro-psycho-immuno diagnostics in interaction with other disciplines and from emerging psycho-neuro-immunology research, similarly claimed by a panel of other experts (71).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The publication fee was supported by University of Ulm.

- Bechter K. Bipolar cells precede bipolar minds But relations are complex. Brain Behav Immun (2016) 58:9–10. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2016.07.005
- Benedetti F, Aggio V, Pratesi ML, Greco G, Furlan R. Neuroinflammation in Bipolar Depression. *Front Psychiatry* (2020) 11:71. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyt.2020.00071
- Cuthbert BN, Insel TR. Toward the future of psychiatric diagnosis: the seven pillars of RDoC. BMC Med (2013) 11:126. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-126
- Steiner J, Bogerts B, Sarnyai Z, Walter M, Gos T, Bernstein H-G, et al. Bridging the gap between the immune and glutamate hypotheses of schizophrenia and major depression: Potential role of glial NMDA receptor modulators and impaired blood-brain barrier integrity. World J Biol Psychiatry (2012) 13(7):482–92. doi: 10.3109/15622975.2011.583941
- Bernstein H-G, Steiner J, Guest PC, Dobrowolny H, Bogerts B. Glial cells as key players in schizophrenia pathology: Recent insights and concepts of therapy. Schizophr Res (2015) 161(1):4–18. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.03.035
- 15. Cai HQ, Catts VS, Webster MJ, Galettli C, Liu D, O'Donell M, et al. Increased macrophages and changed brain endothelial cell gene expression in the frontal cortex of people with schizophrenia displaying inflammation. *Mol Psychiatry* (2018) 25, 761–75. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0235-x
- 16. Bogerts B, Winopal D, Schwarz S, Schlaaff K, Dobrowolny H, Mawrin C, et al. Evidence of neuroinflammation in subgroups of schizophrenia and mood disorder patients: A semiquantitative postmortem study of CD3 and CD20 immunoreactive lymphocytes in several brain regions. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res* (2017) 23:2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.npbr.2016.11.001
- Bechter K. Mild encephalitis underlying psychiatric disorders-a reconsideration and hypothesis exemplified on Borna disease. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res* (2001) (9):55–70.
- Bechter K. Updating the mild encephalitis hypothesis of schizophrenia. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry (2013) 42:71–91. doi: 10.1016/ j.pnpbp.2012.06.019
- Graus F, Dalmau J. CNS autoimmunity: New findings and pending issues. Lancet Neurol (2012) 11(1):17–9. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(11)70280-0

- Pollak TA, Pruess H, Tebartz van Elst L, Vincent A, Najjar S, Bechter K. Autoimmune Psychosis. Correspondence: Authors reply. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2020) (7):122–5. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30527-9
- Pollak TA, Lennox BR, Müller S, Benros ME, Pruess H, Tebartz van Elst L, et al. Autoimmune psychosis: an international consensus on an approach to the diagnosis and management of psychosis of suspected autoimmune origin. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2020) 7:93–108. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19) 30290-1
- Al-Diwani A, Pollak TA, Langford AE, Lennox BR. Synaptic and Neuronal Autoantibody-Associated Psychiatric Syndromes: Controversies and Hypotheses. Front Psychiatry (2017) 8:1–11. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00013
- Bechter K, Deisenhammer F. Psychiatric syndromes other than dementia. Handb Clin Neurol (2017) 146:285–96. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-804279-3.00017-4
- Najjar S, Steiner J, Najjar A, Bechter K. A clinical approach to new-onset psychosis associated with immune dysregulation: the concept of autoimmune psychosis. J Neuroinflamm (2018) 15(1):40. doi: 10.1186/ s12974-018-1067-y
- Najjar S, Pahlajani S, Sanctis V, de Stern JNH, Najjar A, Chong D. Neurovascular Unit Dysfunction and Blood–Brain Barrier Hyperpermeability Contribute to Schizophrenia Neurobiology: A Theoretical Integration of Clinical and Experimental Evidence. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:1–11. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00083
- Najjar S, Pearlman DM, Hirsch S, Friedman K, Strange J, Reidy J, et al. Brain biopsy findings link major depressive disorder to neuroinflammation, oxidative stress, and neurovascular dysfunction: A case report. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75(12):e23–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.041
- Najjar S, Pearlman D, Zagzag D, Golfinos J, Devinsky O. Glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibody syndrome presenting as schizophrenia. *Neurologist* (2012) 18(2):88–91. doi: 10.1097/NRL.0b013e318247b87d
- Endres D, Perlov E, Feige B, Altenmüller D-M, Venhoff N, van Tebartz Elst L. Schizophrenia Associated with Epileptiform Discharges without Seizures Successfully Treated with Levetiracetam. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:1–5. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00012
- Endres D, Perlov E, Stich O, Meyer PT, Lützen N, van Tebartz Elst L. Case report: Low-titre anti-Yo reactivity in a female patient with psychotic syndrome and frontoparieto-cerebellar atrophy. *BMC Psychiatry* (2015) 15:1–5. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0486-x
- Endres D, Perlov E, Riering AN, Maier V, Stich O, Dersch R, et al. Steroid-Responsive Chronic Schizophreniform Syndrome in the Context of Mildly Increased Antithyroid Peroxidase Antibodies. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:1–6. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00064
- 31. Endres D, Vry MS, Dykierek P, Riering AN, Lüngen E, Stich O, et al. Plasmapheresis Responsive Rapid Onset Dementia with Predominantly Frontal Dysfunction in the Context of Hashimoto's Encephalopathy. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:1–7. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00212
- 32. Bechter K. Borna Disease Virus: Mögliche Ursache neurologischer und psychiatrischer Störungen des Menschen. Steinkopff: Darmstadt (1998).
- Bechter K, Herzog S, Fleischer B, Schüttler R, Rott R. Magnetic resonance imaging in psychiatric patients with and without serum antibodies against Borna disease. *Nervenarzt* (1987) (58):617–24.
- Bechter K, Herzog S, Behr W, Schüttler R. Investigations of cerebrospinal fluid in Borna disease virus seropositive psychiatric patients. *Eur Psychiatry* (1995) 10(5):250–8. doi: 10.1016/0924-9338(96)80302-6
- Bechter K, Herzog S, Schuettler R. Borna disease virus- possible causal agent in psychiatric and neurological disorders in two families. *Psychiatry Res* (1992) (42):291–4. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(92)90121-I
- Richt JA, Pfeuffer I, Christ M, Frese K, Bechter K, Herzog S. Borna disease virus infection in animals and humans. *Em Infect Dis* (1997) 3(3):343–52. doi: 10.3201/eid0303.970311
- Herzog S. Molecular characterization of Borna disease virus from naturally infected animals and possible links to human disorders. *Arch Virol* (1997) 13 (Suppl):183–90. doi: 10.1007/978-3-7091-6534-8_17
- Rott R, Herzog S, Fleischer B, Winokur A, Amsterdam J, Dyson W, et al. Detection of serum-antibodies to Borna disease virus in patients with psychiatric disorders. *Science* (1985) 228:755–6. doi: 10.1126/science.3922055
- Rott R, Herzog S, Bechter K, Frese K. Borna disease, a possible hazard for man? Arch Virol (1991) 118:143–9. doi: 10.1007/BF01314025

- Rott O, Herzog S, Cash E. T cell memory specific for self and non-self antigens in rats persistently infected with Borna disease virus. *Clin Exp Immunol* (1993) 93:370–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.1993.tb08187.x
- Korn K, Coras R, Bobinger T, Herzog SM, Luecking H, Stoehr R, et al. Fatal Encephalitis Associated with Borna Disease Virus 1. *N Engl J Med* (2018) 379 (14):1375–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1800724
- Schlottau K, Forth L, Angstwurm K, Hoeper D, Zecher D, Liesche F, et al. Fatal Encephalitic Borna Disease Virus 1 in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients. N Engl J Med (2018) 379(14):1377–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1803115
- 43. Niller HH, Angstwurm K, Rubbenstroth D, Schlottau K, Ebinger A, Giese S, et al. Zoonotic spillover infections with Borna disease virus 1 leading to fatal human encephalitis, 1999–2019: an epidemiological investigation. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2020) 20(4):467–77. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(19)30546-8
- 44. Venkatesan A, Tunkel AR, Bloch KC, Lauring AS, Sejvar J, Bitnun A, et al. Case definitions, diagnostic algorithms, and priorities in encephalitis: Consensus statement of the international encephalitis consortium. *Clin Infect Dis* (2013) 57(8):1114–28. doi: 10.1093/cid/cit458
- Deisenhammer F, Teunissen CE, Tumani H. Cerebrospinal fluid in neurologic disorders. Elsevier: Amsterdam, Kidlington, Cambridge, MA (2017).
- Wollinsky KH. CSF filtration is an effective treatment of Guillain-Barre syndrome: a randomized clinical trial. *Neurology* (2001) (57):774–80. doi: 10.1212/WNL.57.5.774
- Bechter K. Borna disease virus-related therapy-resistant depression improved after cerebrospinal fluid filtration. J Psychiatr Res (2000) (34):393–6. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3956(00)00033-9
- Bechter K, Herzog S, Schreiner V, Wollinsky KH, Schüttler R. Cerebrospinal fluid filtration in a case of schizophrenia related to 'subclinical' Borna disease virus encephalitis. In: Müller N, editor. *Psychiatry, Psychoneuroimmunology* and Viruses. Key Top Brain Res Wien. (1999). p. 19–3519–35.
- Bechter K, Schreiner V, Herzog S, Breitinger N, Wollinsky KH, Brinkmeier H, et al. Liquorfiltration als experimentelle Therapie bei therapieresistenten Psychosen Borna-Disease-Virus-seropositiver Patienten. *Psychiatr Prax* (2003) 30(Suppl 2):216–20. doi: 10.1055/s-2003-39747
- Bechter K, Herzog S, Schreiner V, Wollinsky KH, Schüttler R. Cerebrospinal fluid filtration in Borna-disease-virus-encephalits-related schizophrenia: A new therapeutic perspective? *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res* (1998) (6):85–6.
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Celucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol* (2016) 15 (4):391–404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00401-9
- Kreye J, Wenke NK, Chayka M, Leubner J, Murugan R, Maier M, et al. Human cerebrospinal fluid monoclonal N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor autoantibodies are sufficient for encephalitis pathogenesis. *Brain* (2016) 139(Pt 10):2641–52. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww208
- Dalmau J. Autoimmunity: The good, the bad, and the ugly. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm (2015) 2(6):1–3. doi: 10.1212/NXI.000000 0000000181
- Coutinho E, Harrison P, Vincent A. Do neuronal autoantibodies cause psychosis? A neuroimmunological perspective. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75 (4):269–75. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.040
- Dalmau J, Tüzün E, Wu H, Masjuan J, Rossi JE, Voloschin A, et al. Paraneoplastic Anti–N-methyl-D-aspartate Receptor Encephalitis Associated with Ovarian Teratoma. *Ann Neurol* (2007) 61(1):25–36. doi: 10.1002/ ana.21050
- Prüss H. Postviral autoimmune encephalitis: manifestations in children and adults. Curr Opin Neurol (2017) 30(3):327–33. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000445
- Dalmau J. NMDA receptor encephalitis and other antibody-mediated disorders of the synapse. *Neurology* (2016) 87:2471–82. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000003414
- Zuliani L, Zoccarato M. Open issues in antibody-mediated encephalitis. *Future Neurol* (2020) 15(2):FNL40. doi: 10.2217/fnl-2019-0026
- Riedmüller R, Müller S. Ethical Implications of the Mild Encephalitis Hypothesis of Schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:1–14. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyt.2017.00038
- Bechter K. Research strategies in 'slow' infections in psychiatry_History of Psychiatry. *History Psychiatry* (1995) (6):503–11. doi: 10.1177/0957154X9500602407
- Müller N, Bechter K. The mild encephalitis concept for psychiatric disorders revisited in the light of current psychoneuroimmunological findings. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res* (2013) 19(3):87–101. doi: 10.1016/j.npbr.2013.04.004

- Zusso M, Stokes L, Moro S, Giusti P. Editorial: Neuroinflammation and Its Resolution: From Molecular Mechanisms to Therapeutic Perspectives. *Front Pharmacol* (2020) 11:1–4. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00480
- Fernandes BS, Borgwardt S, Carvalho AF, Steiner J. Editorial: Back to the Future: On the Road Towards Precision Psychiatry. *Front Psychiatry* (2020) 11:112. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00112
- 64. Halaris A, Leonard BE. Unraveling the complex interplay of immunometabolic systems that contribute to the neuroprogression of psychiatric disorders. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res* (2019) 32:111-21. doi: 10.1016/j.npbr.2019.05.005
- 65. Berk M, Kapczinski F, Andreazza AC, Dean OM, Giolandeo F, Maes M, et al. Pathways underlying neuroprogression in bipolar disorder: focus on inflammation, oxidative stress and neurotrophic factors. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2011) 35(3):804–17. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.10.001
- 66. Swedo SE, Seidlitz J, Kovacevic M, Latimer ME, Hommer R, Lougee L, et al. Clinical presentation of pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infections in research and community settings. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol* (2015) 25(1):26–30. doi: 10.1089/ cap.2014.0073
- Swedo SE, Frankovich J, Murphy TK. Overview of Treatment of Pediatric Acute-Onset Neuropsychiatric Syndrome. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol (2017) 27(7):562–5. doi: 10.1089/cap.2017.0042
- Bechter K, Bindl A, Horn M, Schreiner V. Therapieresistente Depression mit Fatigue. Fall einer vermutlichen streptokokkenassoziierten Autoimmunkrankheit. Der Nervenarzt (2007) 78(3):338–41. doi: 10.1007/s00115-006-2178-8
- Platt MP, Agalliu D, Cutforth T. Hello from the Other Side: How Autoantibodies Circumvent the Blood–Brain Barrier in Autoimmune Encephalitis. Front Immunol (2017) 8:1–15. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00442
- Breitschwerdt EB, Greenberg R, Maggi RG, Mozayeni BR, Lewis A, Bradley JM. Bartonella henselae Bloodstream Infection in a Boy With Pediatric Acute-Onset Neuropsychiatric Syndrome. J Cent Nerv Syst Dis (2019) 11:1179573519832014. doi: 10.1177/1179573519832014
- Caldwell LJ, Subramaniam S, MacKenzie G, Shah DK. Maximising the potential of neuroimmunology. *Brain Behav Immun* (2020) 87:189–92. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.010
- Medzhitov R. Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. *Nature* (2008) 454(7203):428–35. doi: 10.1038/nature07201
- Wohleb ES, McKim DB, Sheridan JF, Godbout JP. Monocyte trafficking to the brain with stress and inflammation: A novel axis of immune-to-brain communication that influences mood and behavior. *Front Neurosci* (2014) 8:447. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00447
- Berk M. Neuroprogression: pathways to progressive brain changes in bipolar disorder. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* (2009) 12(4):441–5. doi: 10.1017/ S1461145708009498
- Davis J, Moylan S, Harvey BH, Maes M, Berk M. Neuroprogression in schizophrenia: Pathways underpinning clinical staging and therapeutic corollaries. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2014) 48(6):512–29. doi: 10.1177/0004867414533012
- Davis J, Maes M, Andreazza A, McGrath JJ, Tye SJ, Berk M. Towards a classification of biomarkers of neuropsychiatric disease: From encompass to compass. *Mol Psychiatry* (2015) 20(2):152–3. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.139
- Müller N. Neuroprogression in Schizophrenia and Psychotic Disorders: The Possible Role of Inflammation. *Mod Trends Pharmacopsychiatry* (2017) 31:1–9. doi: 10.1159/000470802
- Becher B, Spath S, Goverman J. Cytokine networks in neuroinflammation. Nat Rev Immunol (2017) 17(1):49–59. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.123
- Frühbeis C, Fröhlich D, Krämer-Albers E-M. Emerging roles of exosomes in neuron-glia communication. *Front Physiol* (2012) 3:119. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2012.00119
- Kawikova I, Askenase PW. Diagnostic and therapeutic potentials of exosomes in CNS diseases. *Brain Res* (2015) 1617:63–71. doi: 10.1016/ j.brainres.2014.09.070
- Pusic AD, Pusic KM, Kraig RP. What are exosomes and how can they be used in multiple sclerosis therapy? *Expert Rev Neurother* (2014) 14(4):353–5. doi: 10.1586/14737175.2014.890893
- Street JM, Barran PE, Mackay CL, Weidt S, Balmforth C, Walsh T, et al. Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human cerebrospinal fluid. J Transl Med (2012) 10:5. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-10-5

- Bechter K. The peripheral cerebrospinal fluid outflow pathway physiology and pathophysiology of CSF recirculation: A review and hypothesis. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res* (2011) 17(3):51–66. doi: 10.1016/j.npbr.2011.06.003
- Bechter K, Hof PR, Benveniste H. On the flow dynamics of cerebrospinal fluid. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res* (2015) 21(2):96–103. doi: 10.1016/ j.npbr.2015.01.001
- Benveniste H, Hof PR, Nedergaard M, Bechter K. Modern cerebrospinal fluid flow research and Heinrich Quincke's seminal 1872 article on the distribution of cinnabar in freely moving animals. J Comp Neurol (2015) 523 (12):1748–55. doi: 10.1002/cne.23758
- Haarman BCMB, Burger H, Doorduin J, Renken RJ, Sibelijn-Kuiper AJ, Marsman JBC, et al. Volume, metabolites and neuroinflammation of the hippocampus in bipolar disorder - A combined magnetic resonance imaging and positron emission tomography study. *Brain Behav Immun* (2016) 56:21–33. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.09.004
- Haarman BCMB, Riemersma-Van der Lek RF, de Groot JC, Ruhe HGE, Klein H, Zandstra T, et al. Neuroinflammation in bipolar disorder - A (11)C-(R)-PK11195 positron emission tomography study. *Brain Behav Immun* (2014) 40:219–25. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.03.016
- Gibney SM, Drexhage HA. Evidence for a dysregulated immune system in the etiology of psychiatric disorders. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* (2013) 8 (4):900–20. doi: 10.1007/s11481-013-9462-8
- Drexhage RC, Hoogenboezem TH, Versnel MA, Berghout A, Nolen WA, Drexhage HA. The activation of monocyte and T cell networks in patients with bipolar disorder. *Brain Behav Immun* (2011) 25(6):1206–13. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2011.03.013
- Bechter K. Encephalitis, Mild Encephalitis, Neuroprogression, or Encephalopathy-Not Merely a Question of Terminology. *Front Psychiatry* (2018) 9:782. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00782
- Pollak TA, Pruess H, Tebartz van Elst L, Vincent A, Najjar S, Bechter K. Author's reply. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2020) 7:123–5. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366 (19)30527-9
- Zuliani L, Graus F, Giometto B, Bien C, Vincent A. Central nervous system neuronal surface antibody associated syndromes: Review and guidelines for recognition. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2012) 83(6):638–45. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2011-301237
- Irani SR, Bera K, Waters P, Zuliani L, Maxwell S, Zandi M, et al. N-methyl-daspartate antibody encephalitis: Temporal progression of clinical and paraclinical observations in a predominantly non-paraneoplastic disorder of both sexes. *Brain* (2010) 133(6):1655–67. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq113
- 94. Dalmau J, Lancaster E, Martinez-Hernandez E, Rosenfeld MR, Balice-Gordon R. Clinical experience and laboratory investigations in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol* (2011) 10(1):63–74. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70253-2
- Armangue T, Titulaer MJ, Málaga I, Bataller L, Cabilondo I, Graus F, et al. Pediatric Anti-NMDAR encephalitis-Clinical analysis and novel findings in a series of 20 patients. J Pediatr (2013) 162(4):850–6.e2. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpeds.2012.10.011
- Armangue T, Leypoldt F, Dalmau J. Auto-immune encephalitis as differential diagnosis of infectious encephalitis. *Curr Opin Neurol* (2014) 27(3):361–8. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000087
- Dalmau J. The case for autoimmune neurology. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm (2017) 4(4):1. doi: 10.1212/NXI.0000000000373
- Irani SR, Gelfand JM, Al-Diwani A, Vincent A. Cell-surface central nervous system autoantibodies: Clinical relevance and emerging paradigms. *Ann Neurol* (2014) 76(2):168–84. doi: 10.1002/ana.24200
- Lang K, Prüss H. Frequencies of neuronal autoantibodies in healthy controls: Estimation of disease specificity. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* (2017) 4(5):1–8. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000386
- 100. Steiner J, Schiltz K, Bernstein H-G, Bogerts B. Antineuronal antibodies against neurotransmitter receptors and synaptic proteins in schizophrenia: Current knowledge and clinical implications. CNS Drugs (2015) 29(3):197– 206. doi: 10.1007/s40263-015-0233-3
- 101. Hammer C, Stepniak B, Schneider A, Papiol S, Tantra M, Begemann M, et al. Neuropsychiatric disease relevance of circulating anti-NMDA receptor autoantibodies depends on blood-brain barrier integrity. *Mol Psychiatry* (2014) 19(10):1143–9. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.110

- 102. Pan H, Steixner-Kumar AA, Seelbach A, Deutsch N, Ronnenberg A, Tapken D, et al. Multiple inducers and novel roles of autoantibodies against the obligatory NMDAR subunit NR1: a translational study from chronic life stress to brain injury. *Mol Psychiatry* (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41380-020-0672-1
- 103. Hammer C, Zerche M, Schneider A, Begemann M, Nave K-A, Ehrenreich H. Apolipoprotein E4 carrier status plus circulating anti-NMDAR1 autoantibodies: Association with schizoaffective disorder. *Mol Psychiatry* (2014) 19(10):1054–6. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.52
- 104. Hensley K. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's Disease: Mechanisms, Pathologic Consequences, and Potential for Therapeutic Manipulation. J Alzheimers Dis (2010) 21(1):1–14. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-1414
- 105. Marlatt MW, Bauer J, Aronica E, van Haastert ES, Hoozemans JJM, Joels M, et al. Proliferation in the Alzheimer Hippocampus Is due to Microglia, Not Astroglia, and Occurs at Sites of Amyloid Deposition. *Neural Plast* (2014) 2014:1–12. doi: 10.1155/2014/693851
- 106. Marttinen M, Paananen J, Neme A, Mitra V, Takalo M, Natunen T, et al. A multiomic approach to characterize the temporal sequence in Alzheimer's disease-related pathology. *Neurobiol Dis* (2019) 124:454–68. doi: 10.1016/ j.nbd.2018.12.009
- 107. Shen Y, Yang L, Li R. What does complement do in Alzheimer's disease? Old molecules with new insights. *Transl Neurodegener* (2013) 2:21. doi: 10.1186/ 2047-9158-2-21
- Miklossy J. Alzheimer's disease a neurospirochetosis. Analysis of the evidence following Koch's and Hill's criteria. J Neuroinflamm (2011) 8:90. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-90
- 109. Glaab E, Trezzi J-P, Greuel A, Jäger C, Hodak Z, Drzezga A, et al. Integrative analysis of blood metabolomics and PET brain neuroimaging data for Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* (2019) 124:555–62. doi: 10.1016/ j.nbd.2019.01.003
- 110. Chataway J, de Angelis F, Connick P, Parker RA, Plantone D, Doshi A, et al. Efficacy of three neuroprotective drugs in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (MS-SMART): a phase 2b, multiarm, double-blind, randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2020) 19:214–25. doi: 10.1016/ S1474-4422(19)30485-5
- 111. Wildemann B, Reiber H, Oschmann P. Laboratory diagnosis in neurology. Stuttgart, editor. Thieme: New York (2010).
- 112. Britton PN, Eastwood K, Paterson B, Durrheim DN, Dale RC, Cheng AC, et al. Consensus guidelines for the investigation and management of encephalitis in adults and children in Australia and New Zealand. *Intern Med J* (2015) 45(5):563–76. doi: 10.1111/imj.12749
- Reiber H. Proteins in cerebrospinal fluid and blood Barriers, CSF flow rate and source-related dynamics. *Restorative Neurol Neurosci* (2003) 21 (3-4):79-96.
- Reiber H. Dynamics of brain-derived proteins in cerebrospinal fluid. Clin Chim Acta (2001) 310(2):173–86. doi: 10.1016/S0009-8981(01)00573-3
- 115. Stich O, Rauer S, Kaiser R, Liquordiagnostik. Neurologie compact. Für Klinik und Praxis: Liquordiagnostik. 6th. Hufschmidt A, Lücking CH, Rauer S, editors. Stuttgart: Thieme Stuttgart (2013).
- 116. van Tebartz Elst L, Bechter K, Prüss H, Hasan A, Steiner J, Leypoldt F, et al. Autoantikörper-assoziierte schizophreniforme Psychosen: Pathophysiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie. *Der Nervenarzt* (2019) 90(7):745–61. doi: 10.1007/ s00115-019-0735-1
- 117. Reiber H. Polyspecific antibodies without persisting antigen in multiple sclerosis, neurolupus and Guillain-Barré syndrome: immune network connectivity in chronic diseases. Arq Neuropsiquiatr (2017) 75(8):580–8. doi: 10.1590/0004-282X20170081
- 118. Hottenrott T, Dersch R, Berger B, Rauer S, Huzly D, Stich O. The MRZ reaction in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Fluids Barriers CNS* (2017) 14:1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12987-016-0049-7
- 119. Jézéquel J, Rogemond V, Pollak T, Lepleux M, Jacobson L, Grea H, et al. Celland Single Molecule-Based Methods to Detect Anti-N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Autoantibodies in Patients With First-Episode Psychosis From the OPTiMiSE Project. *Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 82(10):766–72. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2017.06.015
- 120. Bechter K. CSF diagnostics in psychiatry present status future projects. Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res (2016) 22(2):69–74. doi: 10.1016/ j.npbr.2016.01.008

- 121. Bechter K, Reiber H, Herzog S, Fuchs D, Tumani H, Maxeiner HG. Cerebrospinal fluid analysis in affective and schizophrenic spectrum disorders: Identification of subgroups with immune responses and blood-CSF barrier dysfunction. J Psychiatr Res (2010) 44(5):321–30. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychires.2009.08.008
- 122. Endres D, Perlov E, Baumgartner A, Hottenrott T, Dersch R, Stich O, et al. Immunological findings in psychotic syndromes: A tertiary care hospital's CSF sample of 180 patients. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2015) 9:1–11. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2015.00476
- 123. Maxeiner H-G, Marion Schneider E, Kurfiss S-T, Brettschneider J, Tumani H, Bechter K. Cerebrospinal fluid and serum cytokine profiling to detect immune control of infectious and inflammatory neurological and psychiatric diseases. *Cytokine* (2014) 69(1):62–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2014.05.008
- 124. Kuehne LK, Reiber H, Bechter K, Hagberg L, Fuchs D. Cerebrospinal fluid neopterin is brain-derived and not associated with blood-CSF barrier dysfunction in non-inflammatory affective and schizophrenic spectrum disorders. J Psychiatr Res (2013) 47(10):1417–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2013.05.027
- 125. Maxeiner H-G, Rojewski MT, Schmitt A, Tumani H, Bechter K, Schmitt M. Flow cytometric analysis of T cell subsets in paired samples of cerebrospinal fluid and peripheral blood from patients with neurological and psychiatric disorders. *Brain Behav Immun* (2009) 23(1):134–42. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbi.2008.08.003
- 126. Endres D, Prüss H, Rauer S, Süß P, Venhoff N, Feige B, et al. Probable Autoimmune Catatonia With Antibodies Against Cilia on Hippocampal Granule Cells and Highly Suspicious Cerebral FDG-Positron Emission Tomography Findings. *Biol Psychiatry* (2020) 87(9):e29–31. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2019.12.020
- 127. Schmitt SE, Pargeon K, Frechette ES, Hirsch LJ, Dalmau J, Friedman D. Extreme delta brush: a unique EEG pattern in adults with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. *Neurology* (2012) 79(11):1094–100. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3182698cd8
- 128. Endres D, Leypoldt F, Bechter K, et al. Autoimmune encephalitis as a differential diagnosis of schizophreniform psychosis: clinical symptomatology, pathophysiology, diagnostic approach, and therapeutic considerations. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci (2020). doi: 10.1007/ s00406-020-01113-2
- 129. Hufschmidt A, Lücking CH, Rauer S eds. Neurologie compact Für Klinik und Praxis: Neuroradiologische Diagnostik und Praxis. 1st ed. Stuttgart: Thieme (2013).
- 130. Peer M, Prüss H, Ben-Dayan I, Paul F, Arzy S, Finke C. Functional connectivity of large-scale brain networks in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational study. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2017) 4 (10):768–74. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30330-9
- 131. Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangue T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-N-Methyl-D-Aspartate (NMDA) receptor encephalitis: A cohort study. *Lancet Neurol* (2013) 12(2):157–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12) 70310-1
- 132. van Tebartz Elst L, Maier S, Fangmeier T, Endres D, Mueller GT, Nickel K, et al. Disturbed cingulate glutamate metabolism in adults with high-functioning autism spectrum disorder: evidence in support of the excitatory/inhibitory imbalance hypothesis. *Mol Psychiatry* (2014) 19 (12):1314–25. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.62
- 133. Cramer SP, Modvig S, Simonsen HJ, Frederiksen JL, Larsson HBW. Permeability of the blood-brain barrier predicts conversion from optic neuritis to multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2015) 138(Pt 9):2571-83. doi: 10.1093/brain/awv203
- 134. Nickel K, van Tebartz Elst L, Holovics L, Feige B, Glauche V, Fortenbacher T, et al. White Matter Abnormalities in the Corpus Callosum in Acute and Recovered Anorexia Nervosa Patients-A Diffusion Tensor Imaging Study. *Front Psychiatry* (2019) 10:490. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00490
- Heine J, Prüss H, Bartsch T, Ploner CJ, Paul F, Finke C. Imaging of autoimmune encephalitis–Relevance for clinical practice and hippocampal function. *Neuroscience* (2015) 309:68–83. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.05.037
- Hellwig S, Domschke K. Update on PET imaging biomarkers in the diagnosis of neuropsychiatric disorders. *Curr Opin Neurol* (2019) 32(4):539–47. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000705

- Baumgartner A, Rauer S, Mader I, Meyer PT. Cerebral FDG-PET and MRI findings in autoimmune limbic encephalitis: correlation with autoantibody types. J Neurol (2013) 260(11):2744–53. doi: 10.1007/s00415-013-7048-2
- Herken J, Prüss H. Red Flags: Clinical Signs for Identifying Autoimmune Encephalitis in Psychiatric Patients. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:1–9. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00025
- 139. Konsman JP, Reyes TM. The lost cause of not being mechanistic enough? A perspective inspired by philosophy of science. *Brain Behav Immun* (2020) 84:1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2019.10.002
- 140. Gable MS, Sheriff H, Dalmau J, Tilley DH, Glaser CA. The frequency of autoimmune N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis surpasses that of individual viral etiologies in young individuals enrolled in the California Encephalitis Project. *Clin Infect Dis* (2012) 54(7):899–904. doi: 10.1093/cid/ cir1038
- 141. Endres D, Perlov E, Stich O, Rauer S, Maier S, Waldkircher Z, et al. Hypoglutamatergic state is associated with reduced cerebral glucose metabolism in anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: A case report. BMC Psychiatry (2015) 15:1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0552-4
- 142. Mack A, Pfeiffer C, Schneider EM, Bechter K. Schizophrenia or Atypical Lupus Erythematosus with Predominant Psychiatric Manifestations over 25 Years: Case Analysis and Review. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:1–9. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00131
- Moises HW, Wollschläger D, Binder H. Functional genomics indicate that schizophrenia may be an adult vascular-ischemic disorder. *Transl Psychiatry* (2015) 5(8):e616. doi: 10.1038/tp.2015.103
- 144. Benros ME, Eaton WW, Mortensen PB. The epidemiologic evidence linking autoimmune diseases and psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2014) 75(4):300–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.09.023
- 145. Benros ME, Mortensen PB, Eaton WW. Autoimmune diseases and infections as risk factors for schizophrenia. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2012) 1262:56-66. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06638.x
- 146. Benros ME, Waltoft BL, Nordentoft M, Ostergaard S, Eaton WW, Krogh J, et al. Autoimmune diseases and severe infections as risk factors for mood disorders: A nationwide study. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70(8):812–20. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.1111
- 147. Nielsen PR, Benros ME, Mortensen PB. Hospital contacts with infection and risk of schizophrenia: A population-based cohort study with linkage of

Danish national registers. *Schizophr Bull* (2014) 40(6):1526–32. doi: 10.1093/ schbul/sbt200

- 148. Nielsen PR, Kragstrup TW, Deleuran BW, Benros ME. Infections as risk factor for autoimmune diseases - A nationwide study. J Autoimmun (2016) 74:176–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2016.05.013
- 149. Berk M, Conus P, Kapczinski F, Andreazza AC, Yücel M, Wood S, et al. From neuroprogression to neuroprotection: implications for clinical care. *Med J Aust* (2010) 193(4 Suppl):S36–40.
- 150. Kroken RA, Sommer IE, Steen VM, Dieset I, Johnsen E. Constructing the Immune Signature of Schizophrenia for Clinical Use and Research; An Integrative Review Translating Descriptives Into Diagnostics. Front Psychiatry (2018) 9:753. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00753
- 151. Di Biase MA, Zalesky A, O'keefe G, Laskaris L, Baune B, Weickert CS, et al. PET imaging of putative microglial activation in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis, recently diagnosed and chronically ill with schizophrenia. *Transl Psychiatry* (2017) 7(8):e1225. doi: 10.1038/tp.2017.193
- 152. Cropley VL, Pantelis C. Using longitudinal imaging to map the 'relapse signature' of schizophrenia and other psychoses. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci* (2014) 23(3):219–25. doi: 10.1017/S2045796014000341
- 153. Whitford TJ, Wood SJ, Yung A, Cocchi L, Berger G, Shenton M, et al. Structural abnormalities in the cuneus associated with Herpes Simplex Virus (type 1) infection in people at ultra high risk of developing psychosis. *Schizophr Res* (2012) 135(1-3):175–80. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.11.003
- 154. Pollak TA, Lennox BR. Time for a change of practice: the real-world value of testing for neuronal autoantibodies in acute first-episode psychosis. *BJPsych Open* (2018) 4(4):262–4. doi: 10.1192/bjo.2018.27

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Bechter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

